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Preface

AN INNOVATIVE APPROACH

Financial Accounting: An Integrated Statements Approach is an innovative text that uses
a unique pedagogical approach to enhance student learning of financial accounting.
Designed for a one-term financial accounting course, the text is written for either
undergraduate students at two- or four-year colleges and universities or by first-year
MBA (Masters of Business Administration) students with no prior accounting back-
ground. The text combines a thorough understanding of accounting concepts, princi-
ples, and reporting with applications to actual business settings. The text emphasizes
the “why” rather than just “how” generally accepted accounting principles are applied.

Using a unique Integrated Financial Statements (IFS) Approach, the text describes and
illustrates the integrated nature of the financial statements, how transactions affect the
statements, and the importance of using all the financial statements in analyzing and
interpreting a company’s performance and financial condition. The IFS approach is
composed of IFS exhibits, IFS spreadsheets, and IFS margin notations.

The text uses a simple to complex approach that first allows students to better
grasp basic financial accounting concepts before advancing to more complex topics.
For example, Financial Accounting does not introduce debits and credits until students
have a solid understanding of how to prepare financial statements, how to analyze
transactions, how to record transactions, and how to interpret the integrated nature of
transactions.

By carefully structuring its illustrations, Financial Accounting also explains and illus-
trates why the accrual basis of accounting is required by generally accepted account-
ing principles. Rather than covering the statement of cash flows late in the text, Financial
Accounting integrates the statement of cash flows and its importance throughout the
text. The early coverage of the statement of cash flows is enhanced by the IFS Approach,
which reduces its complexity. The authors describe and illustrate each of the preced-
ing characteristics of Financial Accounting next.

THE INTEGRATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS APPROACH

The Integrated Financial Statements (IFS) Approach focuses on enhancing student under-
standing of the integrated nature of the financial statements and how transactions
affect the statements. The IFS Approach is composed of IFS exhibits, IFS spreadsheets,
and IFS margin notations.

IFS Exhibits

The IFS Approach is first introduced in Chapter 1 in Exhibit 8 as shown at the top of
the following page.



Preface

Exhibit 8

Integrated Financial Statements

Assets = Liabilities + Stockhcflders
Equity
Cash$ 55 . .
. . $3,469 Retained Earnings
$3,797 = $2,708 + $1,089
$3,797
Total Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Hershey Foods Corporation Hershey Foods Corporation Hershey Foods Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows Income Statement Retained Earnings Statement
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004 For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004 For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004
Operating act. $ 797 (“?D Revenues $4,429 @ Retained earnings, Jan. 1 $3,264 @)
Investing act. (363) Expenses 3,838 _,—> Add: Net income $591
Financing act. (494) Net income $ 591 Less: Dividends 386 205
Decrease in cash $ (60) Retained earnings, Dec. 31 $3,469 ——
Cash, Jan. 1 115
Cash, Dec. 31 $ 55

FROM PAGE 20

The preceding exhibit illustrates how the financial statements are integrated (or
linked) together. Specifically, the exhibit illustrates how the statement of cash flows is
linked to the balance sheet by the amount of cash at the end of the period. The income
statement and retained earnings statement are linked by the net income (or net loss)
for the period. In turn, the retained earnings statement and balance sheet are linked by
the amount of retained earnings at the end of the period.

To reinforce the importance of the integrated nature of the financial statements, the
authors include IFS exhibits similar to that shown above each time financial statements
are prepared or illustrated. Such IFS exhibits appear in Chapters 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5.

IFS Spreadsheets

Financial Accounting uses a specially designed IFS spreadsheet to record transactions
before the introduction of debits and credits. An example of the IFS spreadsheet is
shown at the top of the next page.

Since each transaction affects at least two elements of the balance sheet, the bal-
ance sheet in an accounting equation format appears in the top center of the IFS
spreadsheet. A statement of cash flows column is shown below the cash account col-
umn of the balance sheet. Each transaction affecting cash is shown as an increase or
decrease in the balance sheet cash account as well as an increase or decrease in oper-
ating, investing, or financing cash flows in the statement of cash flows column. The ef-
fect of the transaction on the two statements is shown with a connecting colored arrow.

An income statement column is shown below the retained earnings account col-
umn of the balance sheet. Each income statement transaction is shown affecting the
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Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Notes Capital Retained
+ Land Payable + Stock + Earnings

Balances 12,000 10,000
d. Fees earned 5,500 5,500 d.
12,000 10,000 6,000 5,500

Balances

Income Statement

d. 5,500 Fees earned

FROM PAGE 59 I

balance sheet retained earnings account as well as a revenue or expense account in the
income statement column.

The IFS spreadsheet highlights the integrated nature of how transactions affect the
financial statements. In addition, the IFS spreadsheet provides an effective tool for
summarizing transactions and facilitating student preparation of the financial state-
ments. An example of an IFS summary spreadsheet is shown below.

The financial statements can easily be prepared from the IFS summary spread-
sheet. The balance sheet is prepared from the last row of ending balances for the period.

Exhibit 6

Family Health Care Summary of Transactions for October

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Notes Capital Retained
Cash =F Land Payable Stock + Earnings

Balances, Oct. 1 5,100 12,000 10,000 6,000 1,100

a. Fees earned
b. Paid expenses
c. Paid dividends

Balances, Oct. 31

Income Statement

a. 6,400 Fees earned

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL b. —1,370 Wages expense

—950 Rent expense

STATEMENT FRAMEWORK ~540 Utiities expense

—100 Interest expense
—220 Misc. expense

3,220 Net income

FROM PAGE 67
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The income statement is prepared from the income statement column, and the state-
ment of cash flows is prepared from the statement of cash flows column.

The IFS summary spreadsheet also illustrates the dynamic nature of the balance
sheet as it changes over time with the recording of transactions. Specifically, as trans-
actions occur and are recorded, the beginning balances change until the end of the pe-
riod. While the balance sheet is prepared as a point-in-time statement, the IFS summary
spreadsheet illustrates its dynamic nature.

IFS Margin Notations

Financial Accounting uses IFS spreadsheets to record transactions before the intro-
duction of debits and credits. Accounting systems including the rules of debits and
credits are described and illustrated in Chapter 4. With the introduction of debits
and credits, journal entries and ledger (T) accounts are used to record transactions.
In order to emphasize the integrated nature of the effects of transactions on the fi-
nancial statements, a specially designed IFS margin notation accompanies each
journal entry throughout the text. An example of an IFS margin notation is shown

below.
Nov. 5 Land 20,000
Cash 20,000
10 Supplies 1,350
Accounts Payable 1,350
18 Cash 7,500
Fees Earned 7,500
30 Wages Expense 2,125
Rent Expense 800
Utilities Expense 450
Miscellaneous Expense 275
Cash 3,650
ol - _ 30 Accognt; Payable 950 050
as

Fl . 30 Dividends 2,000
[ alsel ] fend 2 000

FROM PAGE 159

The IFS margin notation illustrates with arrows what elements of the statement of
cash flows, balance sheet, and income statement are affected by a transaction. Upward
pointing arrows indicate increases in the element, and downward pointing arrows
indicate decreases. In addition, the columns of the IFS margin notation are shown in
colors corresponding to the colors of the statements on the IFS spreadsheet and the
formal statements.

The combined effect of the IFS exhibits, IFS spreadsheets, and IFS margin nota-
tions is that students will have a better understanding of the integrated nature of the
financial statements and effects of transactions on the financial statements. In turn,
this understanding will enhance the student’s ability to analyze and interpret finan-
cial statements.
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THE STRUCTURING OF TRANSACTIONS
AND EXAMPLES

Financial Accounting uses a simple to complex pedagogy that allows students to better
grasp basic financial accounting concepts before advancing to more complex topics.
The result is that students find it easier to learn and understand financial accounting.
Examples of this pedagogy taken from the first four chapters of Financial Accounting
are described below.

Chapter 1

The objective of Chapter 1, “The Role of Accounting in Business,” is to introduce
students to the nature of business and the role of accounting in business. The financial
statements of Hershey Foods Corporation are illustrated in a simplified form by
adapting Hershey’s statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The authors illustrate the integrated nature of Hershey’s statements by using the IFS
exhibit shown previously. The authors also begin laying the foundation for recording
transactions and interpreting the financial statements by describing eight basic account-
ing concepts.

Chapter 2

After exposing students to financial statements, Chapter 2 introduces the recording
of transactions using the IFS spreadsheet. The Family Health Care illustrations in
Chapter 2 are carefully structured so that only cash transactions occur. This is done for
the following reasons:

1. Students often have difficulty determining whether an event (transaction) should
be recorded. By using only cash transactions in Chapter 2, students don’t have this
difficulty. That is, if cash is received or paid, then the transaction must be recorded.

2. Students understand cash transactions since they have checking accounts and
enter into cash transactions daily.

3. By using only cash transactions in Chapter 2, no adjustments are necessary for
preparing the financial statements. Thus, the discussion of adjustments is delayed
until the students have a solid foundation of recording transactions using the IFS
spreadsheet and preparing financial statements.

4. By using only cash transactions in Chapter 2, the statement of cash flows can be
easily prepared. This is important since the statement of cash flows is an integral
financial statement.

5. By using only cash transactions in Chapter 2, net cash flows from operations on
the statement of cash flows equals net income. Thus, the integration of the state-
ment of cash flows, the retained earnings statement, and the income statement can
easily be shown in an IFS exhibit. This facilitates explaining in Chapter 3 why net
cash flows from operations is normally notf equal to net income.

Chapter 3

After exposing students to recording and preparing financial statements for only cash
transactions, Chapter 3 introduces accrual accounting concepts. At this point, students
have a solid foundation of how to use the IFS spreadsheet to record transactions and
how to prepare financial statements from the IFS summary spreadsheets. Continuing
with the Family Health Care illustration, accrual accounting transactions are described,

Xv
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illustrated, and recorded in IFS spreadsheets. After recording transactions for
November, the necessity of making adjustments is described and illustrated. One of
the learning outcomes from Chapters 2 and 3 is that students understand that adjust-
ments (adjusting entries) are required only under the accrual basis of accounting.
This is a learning outcome that is missed by students using the traditional pedagogical
approaches that begin with accrual accounting transactions.

Chapter 3 contains an IFS exhibit illustrating the integration of the financial state-
ments under the accrual basis of accounting. The difference between the cash and
accrual bases of accounting is discussed. As exemplified in the next section, one of the
important learning outcomes from this discussion is that students learn why the accrual
basis of accounting is required by generally accepted accounting principles.

Chapter 4

Chapter 4 introduces debits and credits, journal entries, and ledger accounts. At this
point, students have a solid understanding of the following:

1. How to record transactions using the IFS spreadsheet.

2. How to record adjustments using the IFS spreadsheet.

3. How to prepare financial statements from IFS summary spreadsheets.

4. Why the accrual basis of accounting is required by generally accepted accounting
principles (see the next section for how this is done).

The only new material that is added in Chapter 4 is the description of the double-
entry accounting system using debits and credits, journal entries, and ledger accounts.
The double-entry accounting is described and illustrated using the hypothetical
company Online Solutions. The Online Solutions illustration is designed so that the
concepts discussed in Chapters 1 through 3 are reviewed and reinforced.

The IFS margin notation is also introduced in Chapter 4 to aid the student’s tran-
sition from recording transactions using IFS spreadsheets to double-entry accounting
with journal entries and accounts. The IFS margin notation accompanies each journal
entry throughout the remainder of text.

WHY IS ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING
REQUIRED BY GAAP?

An understanding of why the accrual basis of accounting is required by generally ac-
cepted accounting principles (GAAP) is an important learning outcome for students
using Financial Accounting: An Integrated Statements Approach. Traditional pedagogical
approaches simply begin with accrual accounting without ever explaining or illustrat-
ing why accrual accounting is required by GAAP.

Financial Accounting explains and illustrates why accrual accounting is required by
GAAP by carefully structuring the illustration of Family Health Care in Chapters 2 and
3. Specifically, Chapter 2 illustrates the recording of transactions and the preparation
of financial statements for September and October using only cash transactions. As a
result, net cash flows from operations equals net income for September and October.
Chapter 3 illustrates the recording of transactions and the preparation of financial
statements for November using accrual transactions. At the end of Chapter 3, the fol-
lowing table is presented:
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Net Cash Flow

from Operations Net Income
September $ 2,600 $2,600
October 3,220 3,220
November (1,690) 6,390

FROM PAGE T T 5 1

This chart clearly shows students that if the cash basis had been used for all three
months, a net loss of $(1,690) would have been reported in November. Students can
see that, if cash basis had been used, the financial statements might misrepresent the
financial performance of Family Health Care, which is actually a successful, rapidly ex-
panding business. This is illustrated by the net income under the accrual basis of ac-
counting of $6,390 for November. In other words, students learn that the accrual basis
of accounting is a better indicator of the financial performance of a business than is
cash flows; this is why the accrual basis of accounting is required by GAAP.

While illustrating and explaining why the accrual basis of accounting is required
by GAAP, the authors also emphasize the importance of the statement of cash flows
and net cash flows from operations. For example, a business cannot survive in the
long-term without positive cash flows from operations.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows is described and illustrated throughout Chapters 1-5. In
addition, end-of-chapter exercises and problems allow instructors the choice of as-
signing homework that requires students to prepare the statement of cash flows.

The importance of communicating the effects of financing, investing, and operat-
ing business activities through the statement of cash flows is described in Chapter 1.
In addition, Chapter 1 includes exercises and problems that require the preparation of
the statement of cash flows from summary data.

Chapter 2 uses only cash transactions to illustrate the recording of transactions
using IFS spreadsheets. As noted earlier, the statement of cash flows can easily be pre-
pared from the IFS summary spreadsheets.

Although Chapter 3 introduces the accrual basis of accounting, the statement of
cash flows can easily be prepared from the IFS summary spreadsheets. An appendix
at the end of Chapter 3 gives instructors the option of covering the reconciliation of
net cash flows from operations with net income under the accrual basis.

Chapters 4 and 5 also provide additional chapter illustrations of the statement of
cash flows. In addition, both chapters provide appendices that illustrate how the state-
ment of cash flows is prepared by analyzing the cash account under a double-entry
accounting system. These chapter appendices allow instructors to continue their cov-
erage and discussion of the statement of cash flows. Both chapters contain appendix
exercises and problems for instructors who want to assign statement of cash flows
homework.

Chapters 6 through 12 contain boxed statement of cash flows items that further
explain how more complex accounting topics impact the statement of cash flows.
Chapter 13 is a traditional statement of cash flows chapter, illustrating the indirect and
direct methods of cash flows from operating activities. However, instructors who cover
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the statement of cash flows in earlier chapters may choose to omit Chapter 13 or cover
it in an overview manner. Instructors who choose to cover Chapter 13 in depth will
find that students will have an easier time grasping and understanding the statement
of cash flows.

SARBANES-OXLEY

Because of the importance of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Chapter 7, “Sarbanes-Oxley,
Internal Control, Cash,” has been revised to include a discussion of Sarbanes-Oxley
and its importance for business. The coverage of Sarbanes-Oxley naturally leads into
the discussion of internal controls. Chapter 7 concludes with a discussion of how inter-
nal controls are applied to cash.

-
NEW TO THIS EDITION

e New Co-Author Dr. Jonathan Duchac of Wake Forest University. Dr. Duchac
brings a fresh perspective to the accounting profession with his teaching awards
and professional involvements. His contributions to every chapter in the second
edition have given the text effective pedagogy and real world relevance.

e Unique Approach! The second edition utilizes the Integrated Financial Statement
Framework to clearly show the impact of transactions on the balance sheet, income
statement, and the statement of cash flows, while showing the interrelationship
among these financial statements. This approach provides students with a sound
understanding of how the financial statements work together to provide a picture
of a company’s financial performance, while at the same time teaching students
the impact of transactions on the financial statements. This helps students get to
the “ah-ha” moment in accounting sooner by focusing on how the financial state-
ments come together before introducing debits and credits.

e Basic accounting concepts are introduced in Chapter 2 using only cash transac-
tions and the integrated financial statements framework. Accrual accounting con-
cepts and transactions are introduced in Chapter 3 using the integrated financial
statement framework. Debits and credits are not introduced until Chapter 4, when
students have a firm understanding of basic and accrual accounting concepts. The
authors gradually move first to cash, and then to accrual, making it easier for
students to first pick up the basic framework of accounting, and then move on to
the more complicated material of accrual accounting.

e Added coverage of Sarbanes-Oxley and Responsible Reporting to enhance
students” understanding of how the information in this course can be applied in
the real world, with real regulations and real consequences. Chapter 1 has a new
section on “Responsible Reporting” analyzing how individual character, firm
culture, and laws and enforcement contribute to accounting fraud. A new chart
summarizes “Accounting Fraud in the 2000’s,” illustrating how 11 companies vio-
lated accounting concepts and highlighting the result of their fraudulent actions.
Chapter 7, “Sarbanes-Oxley, Internal Control, and Cash,” has been revised and
begins with a discussion of Sarbanes-Oxley.

e Emphasis on Ethics Featured in the “Integrity, Objectivity, and Ethics in Business”
boxed items throughout the chapters. The ethics boxed feature emphasizes the
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INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY, AND ETHICS IN BUSINESS l[]

Integrity and Honesty Make a Difference

Herb Kelleher, chairman and former chief executive of
Southwest Airlines, is known for his honesty and integrity
among Southwest employees. In the mid-1990s, Kelleher ne-
gotiated a 10-year union contract with Southwest pilots in
which the pilots agreed to freeze their wages for the first five
years of the contract. A primary reason Kelleher was able to
successfully negotiate the contract was that he constantly
worked at building trust among his employees. When he was
negotiating the contract, he told the pilots he would freeze his

own pay for the same five years. The pilots’ union believed
him, knowing that Kelleher wouldn’t ask them to do something
he wouldn’t do. Jackie Freiberg, co-author of the book, Nuts!
Southwest Airlines’ Crazy Recipe for Business and Personal
Success, says: “Kelleher is a man of his word. He thinks straight
and talks straight, so people respect and trust him.”

Source: Steve Watkins, “Leaders and Success,” Investor’s Business
Daily, November 5, 2004.

Xix
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importance of not only knowing how to apply accounting concepts learned in
the course, but also how to apply those concepts ethically, with integrity and
objectivity.

e New Chapter Openers Each chapter opens with a unique company scenario re-
vised to speak directly to student interests and experiences. The chapter openers
tie directly to the chapter topics providing students with the invaluable experience
of seeing how theory translates into real practice. The revised opening scenarios
are written to relate to students, using real-life examples, such as playing football,
receiving birthday money, subscribing to magazines, and organizing music on an
MP3 player.

e “How Businesses Make Money” boxed feature Formerly called “Strategy in
Business,” this feature emphasizes practical ways in which businesses generate
profits and make money. The boxes help generate student interest in business and

accounting.

Most businesses cannot be all things to all people. Busi-
nesses must seek a position in the marketplace to serve
a unique customer need. Companies that are unable
to do this can be squeezed out of the marketplace.
The mall-based department sfore has been under pres-
sure from both ends of the retail spectrum. At the dis-
count store end of the market, Wal-Mart has been a
formidable competitor. At the high end, specialty re-
tailers have established a strong presence in identi-
fiable niches, such as electronics and apparel. Over
a decade ago, JCPenney abandoned its “hard
goods,” such as electronics and sporting goods, in favor of

providing “soft goods” because of the emerging strength of spe-
cialty retailers in the hard goods segments. JCPenney
is positioning itself against these forces by “exceed-
ing the fashion, quality, selection, and service com-
ponents of the discounter, equaling the merchandise
intensity of the specialty store, and providing the se-
lection and ‘under one roof’ shopping convenience
of the department store.” JCPenney merchandise
emphasis is focused toward customers it terms the
“modern spender” and “starting outs.” It views these
segments as most likely to value its higher-end mer-
chandise offered under the convenience of “one roof.”

FROM P A GE 2 T 3 /5
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e New Chapter Organization Chapter 2 is now “Basic Accounting Concepts.”
Chapter 3 has been renamed “Accrual Accounting Concepts.” Chapter 6 is now
“Inventories” (formerly Chapter 8). Chapter 7 (formerly Chapter 6) has been re-
named “Sarbanes-Oxley, Internal Control, and Cash” to reflect the new emphasis
on Sarbanes-Oxley. Chapter 8 is “Receivables” (formerly Chapter 7). The chap-
ters have been reorganized and renamed to facilitate an improved learning pro-
gression.

e New charts, tables, and illustrations Numerous summary charts and tables have
been added, along with new illustrative diagrams and infographics. Margin nota-
tions reflective of the “Integrated Financial Statement Framework” are included
for each journal entry. The new charts, tables, and illustrations effectively sum-
marize important material for students to assist with visualizing accounting
processes and concepts. The “Integrated Financial Statement Framework” margin
notations facilitate student understanding of the impact of each transaction on the
financial statements. This reinforces the integrated financial statement emphasis in
the early chapters of the text.

- 3 Dec. 31 Supplies Expense 2,040

Supplies 2,040
_ - = 31 Insurance Expense 100

Prepaid Insurance 100
_ - rRT 31 Unearned Rent 120

Rent Revenue 120
_ - = 31 Wages Expense 250

Wages Payable 250
_ - rRT 31 Accounts Receivable 500

Fees Earned 500
_ - = 31 Depreciation Expense 50

Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 50

FROM PAGE 165

e In Chapter 8, “Receivables,” the discussion of the direct write-off method now pre-
cedes the discussion of the allowance method. Both methods have been signifi-
cantly revised and expanded to include more examples, summary charts, and two
new end-of-chapter exercises comparing the methods. This is a more student-
friendly presentation, moving from simple to complex. Method comparisons also
help students to discern the advantages and disadvantages of each method.

RETAINED FEATURES

e International Coverage! An “International” margin item is included where ap-
propriate to describe global issues related to business and accounting, exposing
students to the considerations and complexities of international concepts as they
relate to accounting today. Accounting does not function in a vacuum—everything
that happens in a company’s accounting department is connected with every other
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department. As businesses become increasingly global, students need to under-
stand how accounting practices affect the global economy. The international icons
encourage students to think about how accounting actions play out globally.

e Analytical Focus! An “Analysis” section is included in each chapter, generally at
the end of each section of discrete topical material. This feature helps develop stu-
dents’ analytical thinking skills. By including an “Analysis” section at the end of
each chapter, the student is challenged to utilize concepts learned within the chap-
ter to answer difficult business questions.

International Perspective

ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEM

QA o

O/ “Illustrative Accounting Application Problem” This feature has been retained for

the second edition. Each “Illustrative Application Problem” is patterned after an
end-of-chapter problem and assists students in reviewing chapter content and
preparing them for end-of-chapter homework assignments.

e Check for Understanding! A “Question and Answer” is included in the margins
at appropriate points within each chapter to ensure that students grasp the con-
cepts as they proceed through the chapter. The questions are designed as a check-
point and serve to reinforce accounting concepts within the chapter.

IBM’s balance sheet as
of December 31, 2004,
reported assets of
$109,183 million and lia-
bilities of $79,436 million.
What is IBM’s stockhold-
ers’ equity as of December

31, 20042 e Cash Flow Connection! A “Focus on Cash Flow” box is included in Chapters 6-12
as a vehicle for students to make the connection between cash flows and the spe-
$29,747 million cific chapter topic. The Cash Flow Connection reinforces the concept of cash flow

($109,183 million —
$79,436 million)

FOCUS ON CASH FLOW

Inventories and Cash Flows

and how it affects accounting activities and components.

WRTYEN( 2

Feb. 26, 2005

(in millions)
For the Fiscal Year Ended

Operating activities:

If a company increases its inventory balances from period to pe-
riod, then the amount of cash invested in inventory is increas-
ing. In contrast, if the inventory balances are decreasing, cash
is being returned to the business. This is why companies use in-

. : > . Net income $ 984

ventory reduction strategies, such as quick response, in order to Depreciation 459
capture oneime cash benefits from reducing inventory. On the Other adiustments to net income 33)
other hand, if management grows inventory in anticipation of Changes in o;J)erating assets and liabilities:
sales that do not materialize, then cash will be used. Receivables ) (30)

The impact of changes in inventory balances is shown in Merchandise inventories (240)
the operating activities section of the statement of cash flows. Liabilities 391
For example, Best Buy reported the following (in millions): Other operating activities (190)
Net income $ 984 Total cash provided by operating activities $1,841
Inventory, February 28, 2004 2,611
Inventory, February 26, 2005 2,851 As you can see, the increase in inventory from $2,611 to

The operating section of the statement of cash flows is re-
produced for Best Buy below, with the shaded area showing
the impact of inventory changes.

$2,851 is reflected as a use of $240 cash on the statement of
cash flows. Best Buy is a growing business; thus, using cash to
increase inventories would be expected.

FROM P A GE 2 8 3 /5
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e Chapter Review for Students! A Chapter Review section includes a Summary of
Learning Goals, a Glossary, an Illustrative Accounting Application Problem, Self-
Study Questions (five per chapter), and Discussion Questions. The review sum-
marizes the learning goals and key achievement benchmarks presented throughout
the chapter. It provides the student with an opportunity to reinforce key concepts
through self-study questions and questions for discussion.

e Skills-Based End-of-Chapter Material! The end-of-chapter materials include:

e Summary of Learning Goals

Glossary

Ilustrative Accounting Application Problem

Self-Study Questions and Answers

Discussion Questions

Exercises

Accounting Application Problems

Alternate Accounting Application Problems,

Financial Analysis and Reporting Cases

e DBusiness Activities and Responsibility Issues

The end-of-chapter materials provide the student with the opportunity to review

key material in a variety of ways, including exercises, problems, cases, group ac-

tivities, general ledger, and Excel spreadsheet activities.

~Thomson

INNOVATIVE TECHNOLOGY!

Your Course. Your Time. Your Way.

Introducing ThomsonNOW for Duchac/Reeve/Warren: Financial Accounting: An
Integrated Statements Approach.  This powerful and fully integrated on-line teach-
ing and learning system provides you with flexibility and control, saves valuable time,
and improves outcomes. Your students benefit by having choices in the way they learn
through our unique personalized learning path. All this is made possible by
ThomsonNOW!

e Homework e Test Delivery

e Integrated eBook e Course Management Tools, including
e Personalized Learning Path Grade Book

e Interactive Course Assignments e WebCT & Blackboard Integration

e Assessment Options

General Ledger Network Disks (0-324-37443-7).  This network resource helps stu-
dents understand the use of general ledger software in an accounting environment.
Selected assignments, identified by icons in the text, may be completed using the gen-
eral ledger software.

General Ledger Software (0-324-37442-9).  This resource helps students understand
the use of general ledger software in an accounting environment. Selected assign-
ments, identified by icons in the text, may be completed using the general ledger soft-
ware.

WebTutor® Toolbox on WebCT® or Blackboard® (0-534-27488-9 and 0-534-27489-7).
Available on both platforms, this course management product is a specially designed
extension of the classroom experience that enlivens the course by leveraging the power
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of the Internet. Instructors or students can use these resources along with those on the
Product Web Site to supplement the classroom experience. Use this effective resource
as an integrated solution for your distance learning or web-enhanced course! Contact
your local sales representative for details! http://webtutor.swlearning.com.

Text Web Site

http://duchac.swlearning.com.  The web site for the text offers an array of teaching
and learning resources for instructors and students. Among the many elements avail-
able, without charge, to students, are:

® Quizzes with feedback
e Check figures for selected assignments
e Enhanced Excel® Templates

For instructors, in addition to full access to the student resources listed above, a
password-protected section of the web site contains a number of resource files, including;:

e Online quizzing
e Supplemental material including:
e Instructor’s Solutions Manual
e Instructor’s Manual
e PowerPoint® slides
e Enhanced Excel® Templates and Solutions

All instructor material is password-protected.

OTHER HELPFUL SUPPORT MATERIALS

For Students

Enhanced Excel® Templates (0-324-37450-X).  These templates are provided for se-
lected long or complicated end of chapter exercises and problems, and provide assis-
tance to the student as they set up and work the problem. Certain cells are coded to
display a red asterisk when an incorrect answer is enter, which helps students stay on
track. Selected problems that can be solved using these templates are designated by an
icon.

Working Papers (0-324-37438-0).  The Working Papers contain forms for prepar-
ing solutions for end-of-chapter materials. This handy book provides all the forms stu-
dents will need when manually preparing the homework assignments from the text.

For Instructors

Instructor’s Solutions Manual (0-324-37445-3).  Prepared by the text authors, the
Instructor’s Solutions Manual provides solutions for all end-of-chapter material. The
Instructor’s Solutions Manual will also be available on the Instructor’s Resource CD-ROM
and text website.

Instructor’s Manual (0-324-37447-X ).  Written by Dr. Jonathan Duchac, the printed
Instructor’s Manual features a chapter overview, teaching opportunities, and end-of-
chapter activities grouped by learning goal. The second edition of the Instructor’s
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Manual also features a comprehensive outline, including page numbers, for each
chapter, as well as hints and tips for teaching the Integrated Financial Statement
Framework approach. The Instructor’s Manual is also available on the IRCD and web site.

Inspector CD (0-324-37563-8). The Inspector CD, available on the Instructor’s
Resource CD, benefits instructors by allowing them to check students” work in General
Ledger.

Test Bank (0-324-37457-7).  The printed test bank features a variety of question for-
mats such as multiple-choice, true/false, essay, problems, and cases. In addition, ques-
tions are correlated to the individual chapter’s learning objectives, as well as ranked
by difficulty based on a clearly described categorization. The second edition test bank
also classifies each question according to its related AACSB and AICPA standard.
Through this helpful output, making a test that is comprehensive and well-balanced is
a snap!

Algorithmic Test Bank (0-324-37775-4).  For each quantitative learning objective, this
additional test bank provides several algorithmic formats drawn from the textbook’s
end of chapter material and printed test bank. Each algorithmic structure can create
hundreds of variations for each exercise, effectively providing a limitless bank of ques-
tions for instructor use when creating quizzes or exam materials.

ExamView" (0-324-42090-0).  This electronic testing software makes it easy to edit
questions and customize exams. Containing the same questions as the printed Test
Bank, the questions are correlated to the individual chapter’s learning objectives and
ranked by difficulty. This correlation is reflected in the general information for the
question, so it’s easy to sort by learning objective or level of difficulty through
ExamView®. This software requires PC compatibility.

Enhanced Excel® Templates (0-324-37449-6).  The Instructor Spreadsheet Templates,
available on the web site and IRCD, provide solutions to Excel exercises for students.
Excel templates with validations are provided on the web site for solving selected end-
of-chapter exercises and problems that are identified in the text with a spreadsheet icon.

PowerPoint® slides (0-324-37458-5).  The PowerPoint® slides provide an interesting
and visually stimulating outline of each chapter in the text. They are designed to use
both as instructor lecture tools and student study templates.

Instructor’s Resource CD-ROM (0-324-37444-5).  Contains electronic files for all the
resources an instructor needs to teach from this text. It includes the computerized test
bank in ExamView® format and the ExamView® testing software, as well as the
Microsoft Word files for the Instructor’s Manual, printed Test Bank, and Solutions
Manual. Finally, this handy reference contains the Instructor PowerPoint Presentations
and Excel® Template Solutions.

Solutions Transparencies (0-324-42091-9).  The solutions transparencies provide the
majority of material found in the Instructor’s Solutions Manual and give instructors a
platform for classroom lecture.

Innovate and Motivate (0-324-37776-2). JoinIn on Turning Point is interactive
PowerPoint®, simply the best classroom response system available today! JoinIn allows
lectures to be transformed into powerful, two-way experiences. This lecture tool makes
full use of the Instructor’s PowerPoint® presentation but moves it to the next level with
interactive questions that provide immediate feedback on the students” understanding of
the topic at hand. Visit http:/turningpoint.thomsonlearningconnections.com/index.html
to find out more!
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Business & Company

RESOURCE CENTER

THOMSON GALE

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING
RESOURCES

Acquire, Assess, and Apply!

Financial Statement Analysis: Blue Company—An Interactive Approach (0-324-
37764-9). Prepared by Larry Rankin and Dan Wiegand (Miami University), this pow-
erful hands-on tool allows students to interact directly with financial statement
elements. At the conslusion of the financial statement analysis exercises, students are
asked to complete an Annual Report Project. Students receive a printed booklet with
instructions for setup, and exercises that demonstrate vertical, horizontal, and ratio
analysis as well as financial modeling.

A grading CD-ROM for instructors (0-324-37867-X) allows for automatic batch
grading of each student’s Annual Report Project.

Drive Real-World Experience Into the Classroom via the Business & Company
Resource Center. Put a complete business library at your fingertips with The
Business & Company Resource Center. The BCRC is a premiere online business research
tool that allows seamless searches of thousands of periodicals, journals, references,
financial information, industry reports, company histories, and much more. For more
information, visit http://bcrc.swlearning.com.
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To the Student:

Whether you become an accountant, businessperson, or just someone who interacts
with businesses, you will inevitably encounter accounting. Your ability to interpret
and understand accounting will be a critical element in determining your ability to be
successful and achieve your life-long goals.

Even now, accounting is all around you. You are probably already familiar with
simple elements of accounting, such as your checkbook, credit card statement, and
bank statement. Using accounting systems, individuals and businesses are able to
measure how much money they have and how that money has changed over time. In
fact, learning about business and accounting is fascinating. Thus, we believe the study
of accounting should be fun.

With the objective of making your study of accounting exciting and fun, we have
written this text with you in mind. We have designed the text by building a solid foun-
dation of basic concepts before moving into more complex topics. Our foundation is
what we term the “Integrated Financial Statement Framework.” This framework is used
throughout the text and is designed to help you understand the world of accounting
in a new and innovative way. The framework is our strategy for linking the elements
of accounting together so that you can more easily understand how accounting works,
how it is used in business, and how it can be used to help you both in this course and
in your future business experiences.

We wish you the best of success with this course and your future endeavors.

Jon Duchac
Jim Reeve
Carl Warren
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Hershey Foods Corporation

When two teams pair up for a game of football,
there is often a lot of noise. The band plays, the
fans cheer, and fireworks light up the score-
board. Obviously, the fans are committed and
care about the outcome of the game. Just like
fans at a football game, the owners of a busi-
ness want their business to “win” against their
competitors in the marketplace. While having
our football team win can be a source of pride,
winning in the marketplace goes beyond pride
and has many tangible benefits. Companies that
are winners are better able to serve customers,
provide good jobs for employees, and make
more money for the owners.

An example of such a successful company
is the Hershey Foods Corporation, founded by
Milton Hershey in the early 1900s. Hershey
Foods Corporation is America’s leading choco-
late manufacturer, producing more than a
billion pounds of chocolate products each year.
In addition to Hershey chocolate bars, the
company sells candy under such brands as
Reese’s, Twizzlers®, York®, Almond Joy®, and
Kit Kat®.

The success of Hershey Foods brought
wealth to the Hershey family. So what did
Milton and his wife do with their wealth? First,
they built a model town that included com-
fortable homes and an inexpensive public
transportation system for their employees.
Although Milton and his wife, Catherine, had
no children of their own, they established a
school for orphan boys. Following Catherine’s
premature death in 1918, Milton endowed the
school with his stock in the Hershey Chocolate
Company. Today, the 10,000-acre school nur-
tures over 1,300 financially needy boys and girls
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in grades K-12. Through the Hershey Trust
Company, the school controls 78% of the vot-
ing shares of Hershey Foods Corporation. Thus,
when Hershey Foods wins, so does the Hershey
School.

As we begin our study of accounting in this
chapter, we will first discuss the nature, types,
and activities of businesses, such as Hershey’s.
In doing so, we describe business stakeholders,
such as the owners, customers, and employees.
We conclude the chapter by discussing the role
of accounting in business, including financial
statements, basic accounting concepts, and how
to use financial statements to evaluate a busi-
ness’s performance.



Chapter 1  The Role of Accounting in Business

@

Describe the types and
forms of businesses, how
businesses make money,
and business stakeholders.

THE NATURE OF BUSINESS

You are familiar with many large companies, such as General Motors, Barnes &
Noble, and AT&T. You are also familiar with many local businesses, such as gas sta-
tions, grocery stores, and restaurants. You may work for one of these businesses. But
what do they have in common that identifies them as businesses?

In general, a business is an organization in which basic resources (inputs), such as
materials and labor, are assembled and processed to provide goods or services (out-
puts) to customers.! Businesses come in all sizes, from a local coffee house to General
Motors, which sells several billion dollars worth of cars and trucks each year. The cus-
tomers of a business are individuals or other businesses who purchase goods or ser-
vices in exchange for money or other items of value. In contrast, a church is not a
business because those who receive its services are not obligated to pay for them.

The objective of most businesses is to maximize profits by providing goods or ser-
vices that meet customer needs. Profit is the difference between the amount received
from customers for goods or services provided and the amount paid for the inputs used
to provide the goods or services. Some businesses operate with an objective other than
to maximize profits. The objective of such not-for-profit businesses is to provide some
benefit to society, such as medical research or conservation of natural resources. In other
cases, governmental units such as cities operate water works or sewage treatment
plants on a not-for-profit basis. Our focus in this text will be on businesses operated to
earn a profit. However, many of the concepts and principles also apply to not-for-profit
businesses.

Types of Businesses

There are three different types of businesses that are operated for profit: manufac-
turing, merchandising, and service businesses. Each type of business has unique
characteristics.

Manufacturing businesses change basic inputs into products that are sold to indi-
vidual customers. Examples of manufacturing businesses and some of their products
are shown below.

Manufacturing Business Product

General Motors Automobiles, trucks, vans
General Mills Breakfast cereals

Boeing Jet aircraft

Nike Athletic shoes

Coca-Cola Beverages

Sony Stereos, televisions, radios

Merchandising businesses also sell products to customers. However, they do not
make the products but purchase them from other businesses (such as manufacturers).
In this sense, merchandisers bring products and customers together. Examples of mer-
chandising businesses and some of the products they sell are shown below.

Merchandising Business Product

Wal-Mart General merchandise
Toys”R"Us Toys

Barnes & Noble Books

Best Buy Consumer electronics
Amazon.com Books

1 A glossary of terms appears at the end of each chapter in the text.
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Service businesses provide services rather than products to customers. Examples
of service businesses and the types of services they offer are shown below.

Service Business Service

Disney Entertainment

Delta Air Lines Transportation
Marriott Hospitality and lodging
Merrill Lynch Financial

Google Internet search

Forms of Business

A business is normally organized as one of three different forms: proprietorship, part-
nership, corporation, or limited liability company. A proprietorship is owned by one
individual. More than 70% of the businesses in the United States are organized as pro-
prietorships. The popularity of this form is due to the ease and low cost of organizing.
The primary disadvantage of proprietorships is that the financial resources available
to the business are limited to the individual owner’s resources. Small local businesses
such as hardware stores, repair shops, laundries, restaurants, and maid services are of-
ten organized as proprietorships.

As a business grows and requires more financial and managerial resources, it may
become a partnership. A partnership is owned by two or more individuals. Like propri-
etorships, small local businesses such as automotive repair shops, music stores, beauty
shops, and men’s and women’s clothing stores may be organized as partnerships.
Currently, about 10% of the businesses in the United States are organized as partnerships.

Like proprietorships, a partnership may outgrow its ability to finance its opera-
tions. As a result, it may become a corporation. A corporation is organized under state
or federal statutes as a separate legal entity. The ownership of a corporation is divided
into shares of stock. A corporation issues the stock to individuals or other businesses,
who then become owners or stockholders of the corporation.

A primary advantage of the corporate form is the ability to obtain large amounts
of resources by issuing shares of stock, which are ownership rights in the corporation.
For this reason, most companies that require large investments in equipment and
facilities are organized as corporations. For example, Toys”R”Us has raised over $800
million by issuing shares of common stock to finance its operations. Other examples
of corporations include Yahoo!, Ford, Apple Computer, Coca-Cola, and Starbucks.

About 20% of the businesses in the United States are organized as corporations.
However, since most large companies are organized as corporations, over 90% of the to-
tal dollars of business receipts are received by corporations. Thus, corporations have a
major influence on the economy.

A limited liability company (LLC) combines attributes of a partnership and a cor-
poration in that it is organized as a corporation, but it can elect to be taxed as a part-
nership. In addition, its owners’ (or members’) liability is limited to their investment
in the business.

In addition to the ease of formation and ability to raise large amounts of capital,
the legal liability, taxes, and limitation on life are important considerations in choos-
ing a form of business organization. For sole proprietorships and partnerships, the
owners have unlimited liability to creditors and for other debts of the company. For
corporations and limited liability companies, the owner’s liability is limited to the
amount invested in the company. Corporations are taxed as separate legal entities,
while the income of sole proprietorships, partnerships, and limited liability companies
is passed through to the owners and taxed on the owners’ tax returns. As separate legal
entities, corporations also continue on, regardless of the lives of the individual own-
ers. In contrast, sole proprietorships, partnerships, and limited liability companies may
terminate their existence with the death of an individual owner.
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The characteristics of sole proprietorships, partnerships, corporations, and limited
liability companies discussed in this section are summarized below.

Limitation Access
Organizational Ease of Legal on Life of to
Form Formation Liability Taxation Entity Capital
Proprietorship Simple No Nontaxable Yes Limited
limitation (pass-through)
entity
Partnership Simple No Nontaxable Yes Average
limitation (pass-through)
entity
Corporation Complex Limited Taxable entity No Extensive
liability
Limited Moderate Limited Nontaxable Yes Average
Liability liability (pass-through)
Company entity by
election

The three types of businesses we discussed earlier—manufacturing, merchandis-
ing, and service—may be either proprietorships, partnerships, corporations, or limited
liability companies. However, businesses that require a large amount of resources,
such as many manufacturing businesses, are corporations. Likewise, most large retail-
ers such as Wal-Mart, Sears, and JCPenney are corporations. Because most large busi-
nesses are corporations, they tend to dominate the economic activity in the United
States. For this reason, we focus our attention in this text on the corporate form of or-
ganization. However, many of the concepts and principles that we discuss also apply
to proprietorships and partnerships.

How Do Businesses Make Money?

The goal of a business is to make money by providing goods or services to customers.
How does it decide which products or services to offer its customers? For example,
should Best Buy offer warranty and repair services to its customers? Many factors in-
fluence this decision. Ultimately, however, the decision is based on how the business
plans to gain an advantage over its competitors, and in doing so, make money and
maximize its profits. Profits are the excess of revenues from selling services or prod-
ucts over the cost of providing those services or products as illustrated below.

é
b6 66
b6 b6 0@

REVENUES COSTS PROFITS

Businesses try to maximize their profits by generating high revenues, low costs,
and thus high profits. However, a business’s competitors are also trying to do the same
and, thus, a business can only maximize its profits by gaining an advantage over its
competitors. So, how can a business accomplish this?
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INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY, AND ETHICS IN BUSINESS fl[1]

A Good Corporate Citizen

Many argue that it is good business for a company to be a
good corporate citizen and contribute to the welfare of the so-
ciety and the local communities in which it operates. Hershey
Foods has a long history of such involvement that includes the
establishment and operation of the Milton Hershey School for
disadvantaged children. The school is funded by an endow-
ment of over $5 billion of Hershey Foods’ stock. In addition,
Hershey gives nonprofit, charitable organizations cash awards
of $200 for each employee that can document 100 hours of

volunteer work for the organization. Hershey also recently do-
nated $500,000 over five years to scholarships for minority
students in south-central Pennsylvania. The money will be used
to fund scholarships of $5,000 a year for 20 students living
within the region.

Sources: Bill Sutton, “Donations to Aid Minority Students,” The Patriot-
News, November 12, 2004, and “Hershey Throws Greenline a Kiss,”
The Commercial Appeal, September 26, 2004.

Generally, businesses gain an advantage over their competitors by using either a
low-cost or a premium-price emphasis. Under a low-cost emphasis, a business designs
and produces products or services at a lower cost than its competitors. Wal-Mart and
Southwest Airlines are examples of businesses with a low-cost emphasis. Such busi-
nesses sell no-frills, standardized products and services.

Under a premium-price emphasis, a business tries to design and produce products or
services that serve unique market needs, allowing it to charge premium prices. For ex-
ample, customers may perceive a product or service as unique based upon quality, re-
liability, image, or design. John Deere, Tommy Hilfiger, and BMW are examples of
businesses that charge premium prices for their products. To illustrate, John Deere
emphasizes the reliability of its lawn equipment, Tommy Hilfiger emphasizes the
unique image of its clothing, and BMW emphasizes the unique driving style and pres-
tige of its automobiles.

Since businesses are highly competitive, it is difficult for them to sustain a competi-
tive advantage over time. For example, a primary concern of a business using a low-cost
emphasis is that a competitor may copy its low-cost methods or develop technological
advances that enable it to achieve even lower costs. A primary concern of a business us-
ing a premium-price emphasis is that a competitor may develop products with charac-
teristics perceived as more desirable by customers.

Examples of how businesses use the low-cost and premium-price emphases to try
to gain advantages over one another include the following:

e Local pharmacies try to develop personalized relationships with their customers. By
doing so, they are able to charge premium (higher) prices. In contrast, Wal-Mart’s
pharmacies use the low-cost emphasis and compete on cost.

e Grocery stores such as Kroger and Safeway also try to develop personalized rela-
tionships with their customers. One way they do this is by issuing magnetic cards
to preferred customers to establish brand loyalty. The cards also allow the stores to
track consumer preferences and buying habits for use in purchasing and advertis-
ing campaigns. In doing so, Kroger and Safeway hope to compete on a premium-
price basis against Wal-Mart Supercenters which use a low-cost emphasis.

e Honda advertises the reliability and quality ratings of its automobiles and is thus
able to charge premium prices. Similarly, Volvo’s premium-price emphasis uses
safety as the unique characteristic of its automobiles. In contrast, Hyundai and Kia
use a low-cost emphasis.

e Harley-Davidson emphasizes that its motorcycles are “Made in America” and pro-
motes its “rebel” image in implementing a premium-price emphasis. This allows
Harley-Davidson to charge higher prices for its motorcycles than does Honda,
Yamaha, or Suzuki.
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Some well-known businesses struggle to find their competitive advantages. For ex-
ample, JCPenney and Sears have difficulty competing on low costs against Wal-Mart,
Goody’s Family Clothing, Kohl’s, T.J. Maxx, and Target. At the same time, JCPenney
and Sears have difficulty charging premium prices for their merchandise against com-
petitors such as The Gap, Old Navy, Eddie Bauer, and Talbot’s. Likewise, Delta and
United Airlines have difficulty competing against low-cost airlines such as Southwest
and JetBlue. At the same time, Delta and United don’t offer any unique services for
which their passengers are willing to pay a premium price.

Exhibit 1 summarizes the characteristics of the low-cost and premium-price em-
phases. Common examples of businesses that employ each emphasis are also listed.

Exhibit 1 Industry
Busi Emohasi Business Financial
usiness ”,’p asis Emphasis Airline Freight Automotive Retail Services Hotel
and Industries : ;
Low cost Southwest Union Saturn Sam’s Ameritrade Super 8
Pacific Clubs
Premium price  Virgin Federal BMW Talbot's  Morgan Ritz-
Atlantic Express Stanley Carlton

Business Stakeholders

A company’s business emphasis, often termed a strategy, directly affects its economic
performance. For example, Kmart was unsuccessful in implementing a business em-
phasis that would allow it to compete effectively against Wal-Mart. The result was that
Kmart filed for bankruptcy protection in early 2002, and Kmart stakeholders, includ-
ing employees, creditors, and stockholders, suffered.

A business stakeholder is a person or entity that has an interest in the economic
performance and well-being of a business. For example, stockholders, suppliers, cus-
tomers, and employees are all stakeholders in a corporation. Business stakeholders can
be classified into one of the four categories illustrated in Exhibit 2 and the top of page 10.

Capital market stakeholders provide the major financing for a business in order
for it to begin and continue its operations. Banks and other long-term creditors have
an economic interest in recovering the amount they loaned the business plus interest.

HaPTNATE

In future years, holiday shoppers won't find as
many seasonal products as they have in the past.
For example, Hershey Foods has decided not to
rely as heavily on seasonal products such as
Christmas-colored candies. Hershey and other
retailers don’t want to be stuck with excess sea-
sonal, time-limited products that they might have to
discount heavily in afferholiday sales. Instead, re-
tailers are using “limited edition” items during the
year that don’t have natural time boundaries.

Customers are often willing to pay premium prices
for such limited editions, which also increases de-
mand for the original brands and showcases inno-
vative products. For example, Hershey's sales rose
last year with the aid of limited edition white choco-
late Reese’s and inside-out Reese’s.

Source: Pallavi Gogoi, “Avoiding Retail’s Post-Holiday
Blues,” BusinessWeek Online, November 23, 2004.
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Business Stakeholder Interest in the Business Examples
Capital market Providers of major financing for the Banks, owners,
stakeholders business stockholders
Product or service Buyers of products or services and Customers and
market stakeholders vendors to the business suppliers
Government Collect taxes and fees from the Federal, state, and
stakeholders business and its employees city governments
Internal stakeholders Individuals employed by the business Employees and
managers

Owners and stockholders want to maximize the economic value of their investments.
Capital market stakeholders expect to receive a return on their investments propor-
tionate to the degree of risk they are taking. Since banks and long-term creditors have
first preference to the assets in case the business fails, their risk is less than that of the
owners, thus, their overall return is lower.

Product or service market stakeholders include customers who purchase the busi-
ness’s products or services as well as the vendors who supply inputs to the business.
Customers have an economic interest in the continued success of the business. For
example, in the early 2000s, customers of the Internet provider @home.com were ini-
tially unable to retrieve their e-mail or connect with the Internet when @home.com
declared bankruptcy. Customers who purchase advance tickets on Delta Air Lines have
an economic interest in whether Delta will continue in business. Similarly, suppliers
are stakeholders in the continued success of their customers. Suppliers may invest in
technology or other capital equipment to meet a customer’s buying and manufacturing
specifications. If a customer fails or cuts back on purchases during downturns, sup-
pliers may see their business decline also. This has been the case for Delphi, a major
supplier to General Motors, during GM’s downturn in 2005.

Various governments have an interest in the economic performance of businesses.
As a result, city and state governments often provide incentives for businesses to locate
within their jurisdictions. City, county, state, and federal governments collect taxes
from businesses within their jurisdictions. The better a business does, the more taxes
the government can collect. In addition, workers are taxed on their wages. In contrast,
workers who are laid off and unemployed can file claims for unemployment compen-
sation, which results in a financial burden for the government.

Internal stakeholders include individuals employed by the business. The managers
are those individuals who the owners have authorized to operate the business.
Managers are primarily evaluated on the economic performance of the business. The
managers of businesses that perform poorly are often fired by the owners. Thus, man-
agers have an incentive to maximize the economic value of the business. Owners may
offer managers salary contracts that are tied directly to how well the business per-
forms. For example, a manager might receive a percent of the profits or a percent of
the increase in profits.

Employees provide services to the company they work for in exchange for pay.
Thus, employees have an interest in the economic performance of the business because
their jobs depend upon it. During business downturns, it is not unusual for a business
to lay off workers for extended periods of time. In the extreme, a business may fail and
the employees may lose their jobs permanently. Employee labor unions often use the
good economic performance of a business to argue for wage increases. In contrast,
businesses often use poor economic performance to argue for employee concessions
such as wage decreases.
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Describe the three business
activities of financing,
investing, and operating.

International Perspective
While Hershey’s main
market is in the United
States, the company also
exports chocolates to over
90 countries around the
globe.
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Stakeholders

Employees/
Managers

Suppliers
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Business

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Regardless of whether the company is Microsoft or General Electric, all businesses are
engaged in the activities of financing, investing, and operating, as shown at the top of
page 11. First, a business must obtain the necessary funds to finance the costs to organize,
pay legal fees, and pay other startup costs. Next, a business must invest funds in the
necessary assets such as buildings and equipment to begin operations. For example,
Milton Hershey invested in the German chocolate-making machinery he saw at the
Chicago International Exposition. Finally, a business must utilize its assets and resources
to implement its business emphasis. Milton Hershey’s business emphasis was to mass-
produce chocolate candies at an affordable cost.

As we will discuss later in this chapter, a major role of accounting is to provide
stakeholders with information on the financing, investing, and operating activities of
businesses. Financial statements are one source of such information.

Financing Activities

Financing activities involve obtaining funds to begin and operate a business.
Businesses seek financing through the use of capital markets. This financing may take
the form of borrowing or issuing shares of ownership. Most major businesses use both
means of financing.
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Business Activities
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Business

Bank and/or
Owners

Purchasing

Customers and
Suppliers

When a business borrows money, it incurs a liability. A liability is a legal obliga-
tion to repay the amount borrowed according to the terms of the borrowing agree-
ment. For example, when you use your credit card, you incur an obligation to pay the
issuer (bank). When a business borrows from a vendor or supplier, the liability is
called an account payable. In such cases, the business is buying on credit and promis-
ing to pay according to the terms set forth by the vendor or supplier. Most vendors
and suppliers require payment within a relatively short time, such as 30 days. As of
December 31, 2004, Hershey Foods Corporation reported approximately $472 million
of accounts payable.

A business may borrow money by issuing bonds. Bonds are sold to investors and
normally require repayment with interest at a specific time in the future. Bonds are a
type of long-term financing, with a face amount that is normally due after several years
have passed. In contrast, the interest on bonds is normally paid semiannually. Bond
obligations are reported as bonds payable, and any interest that is due is reported as
interest payable. Examples of well-known companies that have bonds outstanding
include American Telephone and Telegraph (AT&T), John Deere, and Xerox.

Most large corporations also borrow money by issuing a note payable. A note
payable requires payment of the amount borrowed plus interest. Notes payable may
be issued either on a short-term or a long-term basis.

A business may finance its operations by issuing shares of ownership. For a cor-
poration, shares of ownership are issued in the form of shares of stock. Although cor-
porations may issue a variety of different types of stock, the basic type of stock issued
to owners is called common stock. For our purposes, we will use the term capital stock
to include all the types of stock a corporation may issue.” Investors who purchase the
stock are referred to as stockholders.

2 Types of stock are discussed in Chapter 11, “Stockholders” Equity: Capital Stock and Dividends.”
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The claims of creditors and stockholders on the corporation’s resources are differ-
ent. The resources owned by a business (corporation) are called its assets. In case of a
corporation’s liquidation or bankruptcy, creditors have first claim on its assets. Only
after the creditors’ claims are satisfied can the stockholders obtain corporate assets. In
addition, while creditors expect to receive timely payments of their claims, which may
include interest, stockholders are not entitled to regular payments. However, many
corporations distribute earnings to stockholders on a regular basis as long as the claims
of creditors are being satisfied. These distributions of earnings to stockholders are
called dividends.

Investing Activities

Once financing has been obtained, a business uses investing activities to obtain the
necessary assets to start and operate the business. Depending upon the nature of the
business, a variety of different assets must be purchased. For example, Milton Hershey
purchased the German chocolate-making machinery and later con-
structed a building to house the Hershey operations. In addition to
machinery and buildings, other assets could include computers, office
furnishings, trucks, and automobiles. Although most assets have physi-
cal characteristics, such as equipment, some assets are intangible in
nature. For example, a business may purchase patent rights for use in a
manufacturing process or product.

A business may acquire assets through financing activities when the
business acquires cash through borrowing or issuing shares of stock.
Cash is used to purchase assets through investing activities, such as in
the preceding paragraph. Finally, assets may be acquired through oper-
ating activities, as we will describe in the next section.

Assets may take a variety of different forms. For example, tangible
assets include cash, land, property, plant, and equipment. Assets may
also include intangible items, such as rights to patents and rights to pay-
ments from customers. Rights to payments from customers are called
accounts receivable. Other intangible assets, such as goodwill, copy-
rights, or patents, are often grouped together and reported as intangible
assets. A business may also prepay for items such as insurance or rent.
Such items, which are assets until they are consumed, are normally re-
ported as prepaid expenses.

© JANIS CHRISTIE/PHOTODISC/GETTY IMAGES

LS

Operating Activities

Once resources have been acquired, a business uses operating activities to implement
its business emphasis. Hershey’s emphasis was to mass-produce and distribute choco-
late candies at affordable prices. When Hershey sold its chocolates, it received revenue
from its customers. Revenue is the increase in assets from selling products or services.
Revenues are often identified according to their source. For example, revenues received
from selling products are called sales. Revenues received from providing services are
called fees.

To earn revenue, a business incurs costs, such as wages of employees, salaries of
managers, rent, insurance, advertising, freight, and utilities. Costs used to earn rev-
enue are called expenses. Depending upon the nature of the cost, expenses may be
identified in a variety of ways. For example, the cost of products sold is often referred
to as the cost of merchandise sold, cost of sales, or cost of goods sold. Other expenses are
often classified as either selling expenses or administrative expenses. Selling expenses
include those costs directly related to the selling of a product or service. For example,
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selling expenses include such costs as sales salaries, sales commissions, freight, and
advertising costs. Administrative expenses include other costs not directly related to
the selling, such as officer salaries and other costs of the corporate office.

As we will discuss later in this chapter, by comparing the revenues for a period
with the related expenses, you can determine whether the business earned net income
or incurred a net loss. A net income results when revenues exceed expenses. A net loss
results when expenses exceed revenues.

®

Define accounting
and describe its role
in business.

WHAT IS ACCOUNTING AND
ITS ROLE IN BUSINESS?

How do stakeholders get information about the financing, investing, and operating
activities of a business? This is the role of accounting. Accounting provides informa-
tion for managers to use in operating the business. In addition, accounting provides
information to other stakeholders to use in assessing the economic performance and
condition of the business.

In a general sense, accounting can be defined as an information system that pro-
vides reports to stakeholders about the economic activities and condition of a business.
We will focus our discussions in this text on accounting and its role in business.
However, many of the concepts in this text also apply to individuals, governments,
and other types of organizations. For example, individuals must account for activities
such as hours worked, checks written, and bills due. Stakeholders for individuals in-
clude creditors, dependents, and the government. A main interest of the government
is making sure that individuals pay the proper taxes.

Accounting is sometimes called the “language of business.” This is because ac-
counting is the means by which business information is communicated to the stake-
holders. For example, accounting reports summarizing the profitability of a new
product help Coca-Cola’s management decide whether to continue offering the new
product for sale. Likewise, financial analysts use accounting reports in deciding
whether to recommend the purchase of Coca-Cola’s stock. Banks use accounting re-
ports in deciding the amount of credit to extend to Coca-Cola. Suppliers use account-
ing reports in deciding whether to offer credit for Coca-Cola’s purchases of supplies
and raw materials. State and federal governments use accounting reports as a basis for
assessing taxes on Coca-Cola.

As we described above, accounting serves many purposes for business. A primary
purpose is to summarize the financial performance of the firm for external users, such
as banks and governmental agencies. The branch of accounting that is associated with
preparing reports for users external to the business is termed financial accounting.
Accounting also can be used to guide management in making decisions about the busi-
ness. This branch of accounting is called managerial accounting. Financial and manage-
rial accounting overlap in many areas. For example, financial reports for external users
are often used by managers in considering the impact of their decisions.

In this text, we focus on financial accounting. The two major objectives of financial
accounting are:

1. To report the financial condition of a business at a point in time.
2. To report changes in the financial condition of a business over a period of time.

The relationship between the two financial accounting objectives is shown in Exhibit 3.
You may think of the first objective as a still photograph (snapshot) of the business and
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Objectives of Financial
Accounting
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Financial Condition Financial Condition
at January 1, 2007 at December 31, 2007

Change in
Financial Condition
for Year Ending
December 31, 2007

1

the second objective as a moving picture (video) of the business. The first objective mea-
sures the financial status of a business. This measure is used by stakeholders to evaluate
the business’s financial health at a point in time. The second objective measures the
change in the financial condition of a business for a period of time. This measure is used
by stakeholders to predict how a business may perform in the future.

The objectives of accounting are satisfied by (1) recording the economic events af-
fecting a business and then (2) summarizing the impact of these events on the business
in financial reports, called financial statements. We will describe and illustrate the
basic financial statements next.

@

Describe and illustrate the
basic financial statements
and how they interrelate.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial statements report the financial condition of a business at a point in time and
changes in the financial condition over a period of time. The four basic financial state-
ments and their relationship to the two objectives of financial accounting are listed below.?

Financial Statement Financial Accounting Objective
Income statement Reports change in financial condition
Retained earnings statement Reports change in financial condition
Balance sheet Reports financial condition
Statement of cash flows Reports change in financial condition

The income statement is normally prepared first, followed by the retained earn-
ings statement, the balance sheet, and the statement of cash flows. The nature of each
statement is described below.

e Income statement—A summary of the revenue and the expenses for a specific
period of time, such as a month or a year.

3 Instead of the retained earnings statement, companies often prepare a statement of stockholders” equity.
This statement reports changes in retained earnings as well as changes in other stockholders’ equity items.
We describe and illustrate the statement of stockholders’ equity in a later chapter, after we have discussed
stockholders’ equity in more detail.
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e Retained earnings statement—A summary of the changes in the earnings
retained in the corporation for a specific period of time, such as a month or a year.

e Balance sheet—A list of the assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity as of a spe-
cific date, usually at the close of the last day of a month or a year.

e Statement of cash flows—A summary of the cash receipts and cash payments for
a specific period of time, such as a month or a year.

In the next section, we describe and illustrate the preceding four financial state-
ments for Hershey Foods Corporation. Our objective in this section is to introduce you
to the financial statements that we will be studying throughout this text. In later chap-
ters, we will expand upon these concepts and terminology. The four financial state-
ments are illustrated in Exhibits 4-7. The data for the statements were adapted from
the annual report of Hershey Foods Corporation.*

Income Statement

The income statement reports the change in financial condition due to the operations
of a business. The time period covered by the income statement may vary depending
upon the needs of the stakeholders. Public corporations are required to file quarterly
and annual income statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The in-
come statement shown in Exhibit 4 for Hershey Foods Corporation is for the year
ended December 31, 2004.

Since the focus of business operations is to generate revenues, the income state-
ment begins by listing the revenues for the period. During 2004, Hershey Foods
Corporation generated sales of over $4.4 billion. These sales are listed under the rev-
enue caption. You should note that the numbers shown in Exhibit 4 are expressed in
millions of dollars. It is common for large corporations to express their financial state-
ments in thousands or millions of dollars.

Following the revenues, the expenses that were used in generating the revenues
are listed. For Hershey Foods, these expenses include cost of sales, selling and admin-
istrative, interest, and income taxes. By reporting the expenses and the related rev-
enues for a period, the expenses are said to be matched against the revenues. This is
known in accounting as the matching concept. We will further discuss this concept later
in this chapter.

When revenues exceed expenses for a period, the business has net income. If ex-
penses exceed revenues, the business has a net loss. Reporting net income means that
the business increased its net assets through its operations. That is, the assets created

Hershey Foods Corporation
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (in millions)

Revenues:

Sales $4,429
Expenses:

Cost of sales $2,679

Selling and administrative 847

Interest 67

Income taxes 245 3,838
Net income $ 591

4 The financial statements for Hershey Foods Corporation can be found at http:/www.hersheys.com by
clicking on “Investor Relations.”
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For 2004, General
Motors reported net sales
of $193,517 million and
net income of $2,805 mil-
lion. What were General

Motors’ total expenses for
20042

$190,712 million
($193,517 million —
$2,805 million)

OfA

I

Apple Computer
Corporation’s refained
earnings were $2,670 mil-
lion and $2,394 million
as of September 26, 2004
and 2003, respectively. If
Apple earned a net in-
come of $276 million dur-
ing 2004, did Apple pay
any dividends during
20042

No. The increase in
retained earnings of $276
million is due entirely to
the net income of $276
million.

Exhibit 5

Retained Earnings
Statement: Hershey
Foods Corporation

Chapter 1

The Role of Accounting in Business

by the revenues coming into the business exceeded the assets used in generating the
revenues. The objective of most businesses is to maximize net income or profit. A net
loss means that the business decreased its net assets through its operations. While a
business might survive in the short run by reporting net losses, in the long run a busi-
ness must report net income to survive.

During 2004, Hershey Foods earned net income of almost $600 million dollars. Is this
good or bad? Certainly, net income is better than a net loss. However, the stakeholders
must assess the economic performance of the corporation according to their own stan-
dards. For example, a creditor might be satisfied that the net income is sufficient to as-
sure that it will be repaid. On the other hand, a stockholder might not be satisfied if the
corporation’s profitability is less than its competitors’ profitability. Throughout this text,
we describe various methods of assessing corporate performance.

Retained Earnings Statement

The retained earnings statement reports changes in financial condition due to changes
in retained earnings during a period. Retained earnings is the portion of a corpora-
tion’s net income that is retained in the business. A corporation may retain all of its
net income for use in expanding operations, or it may pay a portion or all of its net in-
come to stockholders as dividends. For example, high-growth companies like Google
Inc. and Sirius Satellite Radio do not distribute dividends to stockholders; instead,
they retain profits for future expansion. In contrast, more mature corporations like
Coca-Cola or General Electric routinely pay their stockholders a regular dividend.
Thus, investors such as retirees who desire the comfort of a routine dividend payment
might invest in Coca-Cola or General Electric. In contrast, younger and more aggres-
sive growth-oriented investors might invest in Google or Sirius.

Since retained earnings depend upon net income, the time period covered by the
retained earnings statement is the same period as the income statement. Thus, the
retained earnings statement for Hershey Foods Corporation shown in Exhibit 5 is for
the year ended December 31, 2004.

You should note that dividends are reported in Hershey’s retained earnings state-
ment rather than in the income statement. This is because dividends are not an ex-
pense, but are a distribution of net income to stockholders. During 2004, Hershey
distributed (declared) dividends of $386 million and retained $205 million of its net in-
come in the business. Thus, Hershey’s retained earnings increased from $3,264 million
to $3,469 million during 2004.

Balance Sheet

The balance sheet reports the financial condition as of a point in time. This is in con-
trast to the income statement, the retained earnings statement, and the statement of cash
flows that report changes in financial condition. The financial condition of a business as

Hershey Foods Corporation
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (in millions)

Retained earnings, January 1, 2004 $3,264
Add net income $591
Less dividends 386
Increase in retained earnings 205
Retained earnings, December 31, 2004 $3,469
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Q. IBM’s balance sheet as
of December 31, 2004,
reported assets of
$109,183 million and lia-
bilities of $79,436 million.
What is IBM's stockhold-
ers’ equity as of December
31, 20042

A. $29,747 million
($109,183 million —
$79,436 million)

Exhibit 6

Balance Sheet: Hershey
Foods Corporation
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of a point in time is measured by its total assets and claims or rights to those assets.
Thus, the financial condition of a business can be represented as follows:

Assets = Claims (Rights to the Assets)

The claims on a business’s assets consist of rights of creditors who have loaned
money or extended credit to the business and the rights of stockholders who have in-
vested in the business. As we discussed earlier, the rights of creditors are liabilities.
The rights of stockholders are referred to as stockholders’ equity, which is sometimes
referred to as owners’ equity. Thus, the assets and the claims on those assets can be
presented in equation form as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity

This equation is called the accounting equation. As we shall discover in later
chapters, accounting information systems are developed using this equation as their
foundation.

The balance sheet, sometimes called the statement of financial condition, is pre-
pared using the framework of the accounting equation. That is, assets are listed first
and added to arrive at total assets. Liabilities are then listed and added to arrive at to-
tal liabilities. Stockholders” equity items are listed next and added to arrive at total
stockholders” equity. Finally, the total assets must equal the combined total liabilities
and stockholders” equity. In other words, the accounting equation must balance; hence,
the name balance sheet. The balance sheet for Hershey Foods Corporation as of
December 31, 2004, is shown in Exhibit 6.

Assets
Cash $ 55
Accounts receivable 409
Inventories 557
Prepaid expenses 161
Property, plant, and equipment 1,683
Intangibles 589
Other assets 343
Total assets $ 3,797
Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 149
Accrued liabilities 472
Notes and other debt 1,716
Income taxes 371

Total liabilities $ 2,708

Stockholders’ Equity

Capital stock $ 388
Retained earnings 3,469
Repurchased stock and other equity items (2,768)

Total stockholders’ equity $ 1,089
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 3,797
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Exhibit 7

Statement of Cash
Flows: Hershey Foods
Corporation
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As of December 31, 2004, Hershey had total assets of $3.8 billion, of which creditors
had claims of $2.7 billion and stockholders had claims of $1.1 billion. One use of the bal-
ance sheet by creditors is to determine whether the corporation’s assets are sufficient to
ensure that they will be paid their claims. In Hershey’s case, as of December 31, 2004, the
assets of the corporation exceed the creditors’ claims by $1.1 billion. Therefore, the cred-
itors are reasonably assured that their claims will be repaid.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows reports the change in financial condition due to the
changes in cash during a period. During 2004, Hershey’s net cash decreased by $60
million, as shown in Exhibit 7.

Earlier in this chapter, we discussed the three business activities of financing,
investing, and operating. Any changes in cash must be related to one of these three
activities. Thus, the statement of cash flows is organized by reporting the changes in
each of these three activities, as shown in Exhibit 7.

In the statement of cash flows, the net cash flows from operating activities is re-
ported first, because cash flows from operating activities are a primary analysis focus
for most business stakeholders. For example, creditors are interested in determining
whether the company’s operating activities are generating enough positive cash flow
to repay their debts. Likewise, stockholders are interested in the company’s ability to
pay dividends. A business cannot survive in the long term unless it generates positive
cash flows from operating activities. Thus, employees, managers, and other stake-
holders interested in the long-term viability of the business also focus upon the cash
flows from operating activities. During 2004, Hershey’s operations generated a positive
net cash flow of $797 million.

Because of the impact investing activities have on the operations of a business, the
cash flows from investing activities are presented following the cash flows from operat-
ing activities section. Any cash receipts from selling property, plant, and equipment
would be reported in this section. Likewise, any purchases of property, plant, and equip-
ment would be reported as cash payments. Companies that are expanding rapidly, such

Hershey Foods Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (in millions)

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 797
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investments in property, plant, and equipment $(363)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (363)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash receipts from financing activities, including debt $ 411
Dividends paid to stockholders (205)
Repurchase of stock (617)
Other, including repayment of debt (83)
Net cash flows used in financing activities $(494)
Net decrease in cash during 2004 $ (60)
Cash as of January 1, 2004 115

Cash as of December 31, 2004 55
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Hershey Foods
Corporation’s balance
sheet in Exhibit 6 reports
cash of $55 million
and retained earnings of
$3,469 million. In what
other Hershey exhibits do
these numbers also
appear?

Cash of $55 million
also appears in
Exhibit 7, Statement of
Cash Flows; retained earn-
ings of $3,469 million
also appears in Exhibit 5,
Retained Earnings
Statement.

Chapter 1

The Role of Accounting in Business

as startup companies, will normally report negative net cash flows from investing activ-
ities. In contrast, companies that are downsizing or selling segments of the business may
report positive net cash flows from investing activities.

As shown in Exhibit 7, Hershey reported negative net cash flows from investing ac-
tivities of $363 million. This negative net cash flow was from the purchase of property,
plant, and equipment. Thus, it appears that Hershey is expanding operations.

Cash flows from financing activities are reported next. Any cash receipts from
issuing debt or stock would be reported in this section as cash receipts. Likewise,
paying debt or dividends would be reported as cash payments. Business stakeholders
can analyze cash flows from financing activities to determine whether a business is
changing its financing policies.

Hershey paid dividends of $205 million and repaid debt of $83 million. Cash of
$411 million was received from financing activities that included additional borrowing
from creditors. Finally, Hershey purchased its own stock at a cost of $617 million. A
company may purchase its own stock if the corporate management believes its stock
is undervalued or for providing stock to employees or managers as part of an incen-
tive (stock option) plan.’

The statement of cash flows is completed by determining the increase or decrease in
cash flows for the period by adding the net cash flows from operating, investing, and
financing activities. Hershey reported a net decrease in cash of $60 million. This increase
or decrease is added to or subtracted from the cash at the beginning of the period to
determine the cash as of the end of the period. Thus, Hershey began the year with
$115 million in cash and ended the year with $55 million in cash.

So what does the statement of cash flows reveal about Hershey Foods Corporation
during 2004? The statement reveals that Hershey generated over $797 million in cash
flows from its operations while using cash to expand its operations and pay dividends
to stockholders. Overall, Hershey appears to be in a strong operating position to gen-
erate cash and pay its creditors.

Integrated Financial Statements

As we mentioned earlier, financial statements are prepared in the order of the income
statement, retained earnings statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows.
Preparing them in this order is important because the financial statements are inte-
grated. Based upon Hershey Foods Corporation’s financial statements in Exhibits 4-7,
this integration is shown in Exhibit 8 as follows:*

1. The income and retained earnings statements are integrated. The net income or net
loss appearing on the income statement also appears on the retained earnings state-
ment as either an addition (net income) to or deduction (net loss) from the begin-
ning retained earnings. To illustrate, Hershey’s net income of $591 million is also
reported on the retained earnings statement as an addition to the beginning retained
earnings.

2. The retained earnings statement and the balance sheet are integrated. The retained
earnings at the end of the period on the retained earnings statement also appears on
the balance sheet as a part of stockholders’ equity. To illustrate, Hershey’s retained
earnings of $3,469 million as of December 31, 2004, is also reported on the balance
sheet.

5 We will discuss the accounting for a company’s purchase of its own stock in a later chapter.

6 Depending upon the method of preparing cash flows from operating activities, net income may also
appear on the statement of cash flows. This link and the method of preparing the statement of cash flows,
called “the indirect method,” is illustrated in a later chapter. In addition, as we will illustrate in Chapter 2,
cash flows from operating activities may equal net income.
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Integrated Financial Statements

Assets = Liabilities + Stockhqlders
Equity
Cash§ 55 . o
. . $3,469 Retained Earnings
$3,797 = $2,708 + $1,089
$3,797
Total Liabilities + Stockholders' Equity

Hershey Foods Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004

Operating act. $ 797
Investing act. (363)
Financing act. _(494)
Decrease in cash $ (60)
Cash, Jan. 1 115
Cash, Dec. 31 $ 5

Hershey Foods Corporation
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004

Hershey Foods Corporation
Income Statement
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004

(3) Revenues $4,429 @ Retained earnings, Jan. 1 $3,264 CZ)
Expenses 3,838 _,—> Add: Net income $591
Net income $ 591 Less: Dividends 386 205
- Retained earnings, Dec. 31 $3,469 ——

3. The balance sheet and statement of cash flows are integrated. The cash on the bal-
ance sheet also appears as the end-of-the-period cash on the statement of cash flows.
To illustrate, the cash of $55 million reported on Hershey’s balance sheet is also
reported as the end-of-the-period cash on the statement of cash flows.

The preceding integration is important in analyzing financial statements and the
possible impact of economic events or transactions on a business. In addition, this inte-
gration serves as a check on whether the financial statements have been prepared cor-
rectly. For example, if the ending cash on the statement of cash flows doesn’t agree with
the balance sheet cash, then an error exists.

®

Describe eight accounting
concepts underlying
financial reporting.

ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS

In the preceding section, we described and illustrated the four basic corporate financial
statements. Just as the rules of football determine the proper manner of scoring touch-
downs, accounting “rules,” called generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
determine the proper content of financial statements. GAAP are necessary so that stake-
holders can compare the financial condition and operating results across companies and
across time. If the management of a company could prepare financial statements as they
saw fit, the comparability between companies and across time periods would be diffi-
cult, if not impossible. In other words, this would be like allowing a football team to
determine the point-count for a touchdown every time it scored.
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Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP)

*

Accounting Concepts

® Business Entity Concept e Objectivity Concept

e Cost Concept e Unit of Measure Concept

e Going Concern Concept e Adequate Disclosure Concept
e Matching Concept e Accounting Period Concept

As shown above, GAAP supports and determines the content of the financial state-
ments. GAAP are established in the United States by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB).” In establishing GAAP, the FASB publishes Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards. The FASB establishes GAAP by relying on eight sup-
porting accounting concepts.

Understanding these concepts that support the FASB pronouncements is essential
for analyzing and interpreting financial statements. We discuss these concepts next. We
conclude this section by describing recent financial reporting frauds, the accounting
concepts that were violated, and underlying contributing factors.

Business Entity Concept

A business entity could be an individual, a not-for-profit organization such as a church,
or a for-profit company such as a real estate agency. The business entity concept applies
accounting to a specific entity for which stakeholders need economic data. Once the entity
is identified, the accountant can determine which economic data and activities should be
analyzed, recorded, and summarized in the financial statements for stakeholders.

The accounting for Hershey Foods Corporation, a for-profit corporation, is sepa-
rated from the accounting for other entities. For example, the accounting for transac-
tions and events of individual stockholders, creditors, or other Hershey stakeholders
are not included in Hershey Foods Corporation’s financial statements. Only the
transactions and events of the corporation as a separate entity are included in
Hershey’s financial statements.

7 The Securities and Exchange Commission also has authority to set accounting principles for publicly
held corporations. In almost all cases, the SEC adopts the principles established by the FASB.
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Cost Concept

The cost concept determines the amount initially entered into the accounting records
for purchases. For example, assume that Hershey purchased land for $2 million as a
site for a future plant. The cost of the land to Hershey is the amount that would be en-
tered into the accounting records. The seller may have been asking $2.3 million for the
land up to the time of the sale. The land may have been assessed for property tax pur-
poses at $1.5 million. A month after purchasing the land, Hershey may have received
an offer of $2.4 million for the land. The only amount that affects the accounting
records and the financial statements is the $2 million purchase price.

Going Concern Concept

In most cases, the amount of time that a business will be able to continue in operation
is not known, so an assumption must be made. A business normally expects to
continue operating for an indefinite period of time. This is called the going concern
concept.

The going concern concept affects the recording of transactions and thus affects the
financial statements. For example, the going concern concept justifies the use of the cost
concept for recording purchases, such as the land purchased by Hershey in the preced-
ing example. In this example, Hershey plans to build a plant on the land. Since Hershey
does not plan to sell the land, reporting changes in the market value of the land is irrel-
evant. That is, the amount Hershey could sell the land for if it discontinued operations or
went out of business is not important because Hershey plans to continue its operations.

If, however, there is strong evidence that a business is planning to discontinue its
operations, then the accounting records should show the values expected to be received.
For example, the assets and liabilities of businesses in receivership or bankruptcy are
valued from a quitting concern or liquidation point of view, rather than from the going
concern point of view.

Matching Concept

In accounting, revenues for a period are matched with the expenses incurred in gen-
erating the revenues. Under this matching concept, revenues are normally recorded at
the time of the sale of the product or service. This recording of revenues is often re-
ferred to as revenue recognition. At the point of sale, the sale price has been agreed upon,
the buyer acquires ownership of the product or acquires the service, and the seller has
a legal claim against the buyer for payment.

The following excerpt from the notes to Hershey’s annual report describes when
Hershey records sales:

... The Corporation records sales when ... a ... customer order with a fixed price
has been received . . . the product has been shipped . .. there is no further obligation
to assist in the resale of the product, and collectibility (of the account receivable) is
reasonably assured.

Objectivity Concept

The objectivity concept requires that entries in the accounting records and the data re-
ported on financial statements be based on objective evidence. If this concept is ignored,
the confidence of users of the financial statements cannot be maintained. For example,
evidence such as invoices and vouchers for purchases, bank statements for the amount
of cash in the bank, and physical counts of supplies on hand support the accounting
records. Such evidence is objective and verifiable. In some cases, judgments, estimates,
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and other subjective factors may have to be used in preparing financial statements. In
such situations, the most objective evidence available should be used.

Unit of Measure Concept

In the United States, the unit of measure concept requires that all economic data be
recorded in dollars. Other relevant, nonfinancial information may also be recorded,
such as terms of contracts. However, it is only through using dollar amounts that the
various transactions and activities of a business can be measured, summarized, re-
ported, and compared. Money is common to all business transactions and thus is the
unit of measurement for reporting.

Adequate Disclosure Concept

Financial statements, including related footnotes and other disclosures, should contain
all relevant data a reader needs to understand the financial condition and performance
of a business. This is called the adequate disclosure concept. Nonessential data should
be excluded in order to avoid clutter. For example, the balance of each cash account is
usually not reported separately. Instead, the balances are grouped together and re-
ported as one total.

Accounting Period Concept

The process in which accounting data are recorded and summarized in financial state-
ments is a period process. Data are recorded, and the income statement, retained earn-
ings statement, and statement of cash flows are prepared for a period of time such as
a month or a year. The balance sheet is then prepared as of the end of the period. After
the accounting process is completed for one period, a new period begins and the
accounting process is repeated for the new period. This process is based on the
accounting period concept. Hershey’s financial statements shown in Exhibits 4-7
illustrate the accounting period concept for the year ending December 31, 2004.

The financial history of a business may be shown by a series of balance sheets and
income statements. If the life of a business is expressed by a line moving from left to
right, this series of financial statements may be graphed as follows:

FINANCIAL HISTORY OF A BUSINESS

£C. 31
> 2008

2007

Income statement
for the year ended
Dec. 31, 2008

Income statement
for the year ended
Dec. 31, 2007

Balance sheet
Dec. 31, 2008

Balance sheet
Dec. 31, 2007

Balance sheet
Dec. 31, 2006

Responsible Reporting

The reliability of the financial reporting system is important to the economy and for the
ability of businesses to raise money from investors. That is, stockholders and creditors
require accurate financial reporting before they will invest their money. Scandals and
financial reporting frauds in the early 2000s threatened the confidence of U.S. investors.
Exhibit 9 is a partial list of some of the financial reporting frauds and abuses.
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The companies listed in Exhibit 9 were caught in the midst of ethical lapses that
lead to fines, firings, and criminal or civil prosecution. The second column of Exhibit 9
identifies the accounting concept that was violated in committing these unethical busi-
ness practices. For example, the WorldCom fraud involved reporting various expense
items as though they were assets. This is a violation of the matching concept and
resulted in overstating income and assets. The third column of the table identifies some
of the results of these events. In most cases, senior and mid-level executives lost their
jobs and were sued by upset investors. In some cases, the executives also were crimi-

The Role of Accounting in Business

nally prosecuted and are serving prison terms.

Accounting Fraud in the 2000s

Company Concept Violated Result
Adelphia Business Entity Concept: Rigas family Bankruptcy, Rigas family members
treated the company assets as their own. convicted of fraud and lost their
investment in the company.
AlG Business Entity Concept: Compensation CEO (Chief Executive Officer) resigned.

AOL and PurchasePro

Computer Associates

Enron

Fannie Mae

HealthSouth

Qwest

Tyco

WorldCom

Xerox

transactions with an off-shore company that
should have been disclosed on AIG’s books.

Matching Concept: Back-dated
contracts to inflate revenues.

Matching Concept: Fraudulently
inflating revenues.

Business Entity Concept: Treated transactions
as revenue, when they should have
been treated as debt.

Accounting Period Concept: Managing
earnings by shifting expenses between
periods.

Matching Concept: $4 billion in false
entries to overstate revenues.

Matching Concept: Improper
recognition of $3 billion in revenue.

Adequate Disclosure Concept: Failure to
disclose secret loans to executives that were
subsequently forgiven.

Matching Concept: Improperly treated
expenses as assets.

Matching Concept: Recognized $3
billion in revenue in periods earlier
than should have been recognized.

AIG paid $126 million in fines.

Civil charges filed against senior
executives of both companies.
$500 million fine.

CEO and senior executives indicted.
Five executives pled guilty. $225
million fine.

Bankruptcy. Criminal charges against
senior executives, over $60 billion in
stock market losses.

CEO and CFO fired. $9 billion in restated
earnings.

Senior executives face regulatory and
civil charges.

CEO and six other executives charged
with “massive financial fraud.” $250
million SEC fine.

CEO forced to resign and was convicted
in criminal proceedings.

Bankruptcy. Criminal conviction of CEO
and CFO. Over $100 billion in stock
market losses. Directors fined $18 million.

$10 million fine to SEC. Six executives
fined $22 million.
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What went wrong for these companies and executives? The answer to this ques-
tion involves the following three factors:

1. Individual character
2. Firm culture
3. Laws and enforcement

Individual Character.  Executives often face pressures from senior managers to
meet company and analysts” expectations. In many of the cases in Exhibit 9, executives
initially justified small violations to avoid such pressures. However, these small lies
became big lies as the hole was dug deeper and deeper. By the time the abuses were
discovered, the misstatements became sufficient to wreck lives and ruin businesses.
For example, David Myers, the former controller of WorldCom, in testifying about his
recording of improper transactions, stated the following:

“I didn’t think that it was the right thing to do, but I had been asked by Scott
(Sullivan, the VP of Finance) to do it . . 8

Individual character is important. It embraces honesty, integrity, and fairness in
the face of pressure to hide the truth.

Firm Culture. By their behavior and attitude, senior managers of a
company set the firm culture. As explained by one author, when the
leader of a company is put on a pedestal, “they begin to believe they and
their organizations are one-of-a-kind, that they’re changing the face of
the industry. They desire entitlements beyond any other C.E.O.’s (chief
executive officers).”® In most of the firms shown in Exhibit 9, the senior
managers created a culture of greed and indifference to the truth. This
culture flowed down to lower-level managers creating an environment
of short-cuts, greed, and lies that ultimately resulted in financial fraud.

Laws and Enforcement. = Many blamed the lack of laws and enforce-
ment for contributing to the financial reporting abuses described in
Exhibit 9. For example, Elliott Spitzer, attorney general of New York,
stated the following:

“...akey lesson from the recent scandals is that the checks on the system simply have
not worked. The honor code among CEOs didn’t work. Board oversight didn't work. Self-
regulation was a complete failure.”*°

As a result, Congress enacted new laws, and enforcement efforts have increased
since the early 2000s. For example, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) was enacted.
SOX established a new oversight body for the accounting profession, called the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB). In addition, SOX established stan-
dards for independence, corporate responsibility, enhanced financial disclosures, and
corporate accountability.

8 Susan Pulliam, “Crossing the Line: At Center of Fraud, WorldCom Official Sees Life Unravel,” The Wall
Street Journal, March 24, 2005, p. Al.

9 Tim Race, “New Economy Executives are Smitten, and Undone by Their Own Images,” New York Times,
July 7, 2002. Quote attributed to Professor Jay A. Conger.

10 Eliot Spitzer, “Strong Law Enforcement Is Good for the Economy,” The Wall Street Journal, April 5, 2005, p. A18.
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®

Describe and illustrate how
horizontal analysis can

be used to analyze and
evaluate a company’s
performance.

International Perspective
Infernational Accounting
Standards (IASs) are the
accounting rules that deter-
mine the content of certain
international financial state-
ments. Beginning in 2005,
publicly listed companies in
the European Union are
required to use IASs in
preparing their financial
statements.

Exhibit 10

Comparative Income
Statements Using
Horizontal Analysis:
Hershey Foods
Corporation

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS

The basic financial statements illustrated in this chapter are a primary source of in-
formation that financial analysts use in evaluating a company’s performance. One
method of analyzing financial performance is to compute percentage increases and
decreases in related items in comparative financial statements. This type of analysis,
called horizontal analysis, compares each item on the most recent financial statement
with the related item on one or more earlier statements. The amount of the increase or
decrease in each item is shown along with the percent increase or decrease.

To illustrate, income statements for Hershey Foods Corporation will be used for
the years ending December 31, 2004 and 2003. For analysis purposes, the income state-
ments have been condensed and adapted to emphasize the operating aspects of
Hershey’s performance. For example, other expenses, interest expense, and income
taxes have been omitted from the income statements. This allows us to focus on the
basic operating aspects of Hershey’s business without being distracted by unusual
items, such as other expenses related to asset impairments. The exclusion of income
taxes helps simplify the analysis and also recognizes that the amount of income taxes
is largely beyond the operating control of the business. Interest expense is omitted,
since it deals more with the financing rather than the operating aspects of the business.
The resulting comparative income statements are shown in Exhibit 10.

The income statements shown in Exhibit 10 report gross profit as sales less the
cost of sales. Gross profit represents the amount that Hershey marked up the cost of
its products in selling them to its customers. Gross profit is a useful performance
measure in analyzing the profitability of the company’s products from one period to
the next.

Did Hershey improve its operations during the year ending December 31, 2004?
Exhibit 10 indicates that Hershey was able to increase its sales by 6.1%, while the cost
of sales increased by a lesser amount, 5.3%. This combination of sales increasing faster
than cost of sales caused gross profit to increase by 7.5%. Selling and administrative
expenses increased only 1.9%, which is probably related to headquarter’s efficiency
efforts. The overall impact on operating income before taxes is an increase of 13.3%.
This would generally be considered a favorable change in operating performance.
However, before arriving at a final conclusion on Hershey’s operating results for 2004,

Hershey Foods Corporation
Income Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in millions)

Increase (Decrease)

2004 2003 Amount Percent

Sales $4,429 $4,173 $256 6.1%
Cost of sales 2,679 2,545 134 5.3
Gross profit $1,750 $1,628 $122 7.5
Selling and administrative

expenses 847 831 16 1.9
Operating income

before taxes $ 903 $ 797 $106 13.3
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additional analyses as well as comparisons with the operating results of competitors
should be performed, as discussed at the end of Chapter 14."

11 Additional financial statement analyses will be discussed and illustrated throughout the remainder of this

text.

SUMMARY OF LEARNING GOALS

@ Describe the types and forms of businesses, how

businesses make money, and business stakeholders.
The three types of businesses operated for profit include
manufacturing, merchandising, and service businesses. Such
businesses may be organized as proprietorships, partnerships,
corporations, and limited liability companies. A business may
make money (profits) by gaining an advantage over its com-
petitors using a low-cost or a premium-price emphasis. Under
a low-cost emphasis, a business designs and produces products
or services at a lower cost than its competitors. Under a
premium-price emphasis, a business tries to design products or
services that possess unique attributes or characteristics for
which customers are willing to pay more. A business’s eco-
nomic performance is of interest to its stakeholders. Business
stakeholders include four categories: capital market stakehold-
ers, product or service market stakeholders, government
stakeholders, and internal stakeholders.

Describe the three business activities of financing,

investing, and operating. All businesses engage in
financing, investing, and operating activities. Financing
activities involve obtaining funds to begin and operate a
business. Investing activities involve obtaining the necessary
resources to start and operate the business. Operating activi-
ties involve using the business’s resources according to its
business emphasis.

@ Define accounting and describe its role in business.
Accounting is an information system that provides re-

ports to stakeholders about the economic activities and con-
dition of a business. Accounting is the “language of business.”

Describe and illustrate the basic financial statements

and how they interrelate. The principal financial
statements of a corporation are the income statement, the
retained earnings statement, the balance sheet, and the state-
ment of cash flows. The income statement reports a period’s
net income or net loss, which also appears on the retained
earnings statement. The ending retained earnings reported
on the retained earnings statement is also reported on the
balance sheet. The ending cash balance is reported on the
balance sheet and the statement of cash flows.

@ Describe eight accounting concepts underlying finan-

cial reporting. The eight accounting concepts discussed
in this chapter include the business entity, cost, going con-
cern, matching, objectivity, unit of measure, adequate disclo-
sure, and accounting period concepts.

@ Describe and illustrate how horizontal analysis can

be used to analyze and evaluate a company’s perfor-
mance. One method of analyzing financial performance is to
compute percentage increases and decreases in related items
in comparative financial statements. This type of analysis,
called horizontal analysis, compares each item on the most
recent financial statement with the related item on one or
more earlier statements.

GLOSSARY

Account payable The liability created when a business bor-
rows from a vendor or supplier.

Accounting An information system that provides reports to
stakeholders about the economic activities and condition of a
business.

Accounting equation Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’
Equity.

Accounting period concept A concept of accounting in

which accounting data are recorded and summarized in a
periodic process.

Accounts receivable Rights to payments from customers.

Adequate disclosure concept A concept of accounting
that requires that the financial statements include all relevant
data a reader needs to understand the financial condition and
performance of a business.

Assets The resources owned by a business.
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Balance sheet A list of the assets, liabilities, and stockholders’
equity as of a specific date, usually at the close of the last day of
a month, a quarter, or a year.

Bonds payable A type of long-term debt financing with a
face amount that is due in the future with interest that is nor-
mally paid semiannually.

Business An organization in which basic resources (inputs),
such as materials and labor, are assembled and processed to
provide goods or services (outputs) to customers.

Business entity concept A concept of accounting that
limits the economic data in the accounting system to data
related directly to the activities of a specific business or entity.

Business stakeholder A person or entity who has an in-
terest in the economic performance of a business.

Capital stock Types of stock a corporation may issue.

Common stock The basic type of stock issued to stock-
holders of a corporation.

Corporation A business organized under state or federal
statutes as a separate legal entity.

Cost concept A concept of accounting that determines the
amount initially entered into the accounting records for
purchases.

Dividends Distributions of earnings of a corporation to
stockholders.

Expenses Costs used to earn revenues.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) The
authoritative body that has the primary responsibility for
developing accounting principles.

Financial statements Financial reports that summarize
the effects of events on a business.

Financing activities Business activities that involve ob-
taining funds to begin and operate a business.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) Rules
for how financial statements should be prepared.

Going concern concept A concept of accounting that
assumes a business will continue operating for an indefinite
period of time.

Gross profit Sales less the cost of sales.

Horizontal analysis A method of analyzing financial per-
formance that computes percentage increases and decreases
in related items in comparative financial statements.

Income statement A summary of the revenue and ex-
penses for a specific period of time, such as a month or a year.

Intangible assets Assets that are rights to future benefits
such as patent or copyright rights.

Interest payable A liability to pay interest on a due date.

The Role of Accounting in Business

Investing activities Business activities that involve
obtaining the necessary resources to start and operate the
business.

Liabilities The rights of creditors that represent a legal obli-
gation to repay an amount borrowed according to terms of
the borrowing agreement.

Limited liability company (LLC) A business form
consisting of one or more persons or entities filing an operat-
ing agreement with a state to conduct business with limited
liability to the owners, yet treated as a partnership for tax
purposes.

Manufacturing A type of business that changes basic inputs
into products that are sold to individual customers.

Matching concept A concept of accounting in which
expenses are matched with the revenue generated during a
period by those expenses.

Merchandising A type of business that purchases products
from other businesses and sells them to customers.

Net income The excess of revenues over expenses.
Net loss The excess of expenses over revenues.

Note payable A type of short- or long-term financing that
requires payment of the amount borrowed plus interest.

Objectivity concept A concept of accounting that requires
accounting records and the data reported in financial state-
ments to be based on objective evidence.

Operating activities Business activities that involve using
the business’s resources to implement its business emphasis.

Owners’ equity The rights of the owners of a company.
Partnership A business owned by two or more individuals.

Prepaid expenses An asset resulting from the prepayment
of a future expense such as insurance or rent.

Proprietorship A business owned by one individual.
Retained earnings Net income retained in a corporation.

Retained earnings statement A summary of the changes
in the retained earnings in a corporation for a specific period of
time, such as a month or a year.

Revenue The increase in assets from selling products or
services to customers.

Service A type of business that provides services rather than
products to customers.

Statement of cash flows A summary of the cash receipts
and cash payments for a specific period of time, such as a month
or a year.

Stockholders Investors who purchase stock in a corporation.

Stockholders’ equity The rights of the owners of a
corporation.

Unit of measure concept A concept of accounting requir-
ing that economic data be recorded in dollars.
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ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEM

The financial statements at the end of Spratlin Consulting’s first month of operations are shown

below.

Spratlin Consulting
Income Statement
For the Month Ended June 30, 2007

Fees earned
Operating expenses:

Wages expense $12,000
Rent expense 7,640
Utilities expense (a)
Miscellaneous expense 1,320
Total operating expenses
Net income

Spratlin Consulting
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended June 30, 2007

Net income for June
Less dividends

Retained earnings, June 30, 2007

$36,000

$(0)
_(d)
$(e)

Assets
Cash
Land
Total assets
Liabilities

Accounts payable

Stockholders’ Equity

Capital stock
Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 5,600
50,000

$ 0

$ 1,920

(9)
(h)

$ @
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Spratlin Consulting
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended June 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers $36,000
Deduct cash payments for operating expenses (k)

Net cash flows from operating activities $14,800
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payments for acquisition of land 0]
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash received from issuing capital stock $48,000

Deduct dividends 7,200

Net cash flows from financing activities (m)

Net cash flow and June 30, 2007, cash balance $ (n)

Instructions

By analyzing how the four financial statements are integrated, determine the proper amounts
for (a) through (n).

Solution

Utilities expense, $2,160 ($23,120 — $12,000 — $7,640 — $1,320)

Net income, $12,880 ($36,000 — $23,120)

Net income, $12,880 (same as b)

Dividends, $7,200 (from statement of cash flows)

Retained earnings, $5,680 ($12,880 — $7,200)

Total assets, $55,600 ($5,600 + $50,000)

Capital stock, $48,000 (from the statement of cash flows)

Retained earnings, $5,680 (same as e)

Total stockholders’ equity, $53,680 ($48,000 + $5,680)

Total liabilities and stockholders” equity, $55,600 ($1,920 + $53,680) (same as f)
Cash payments for operating expenses, $21,200 ($36,000 — $14,800)

Cash payments for acquisition of land, $50,000 (from balance sheet)

Net cash flows from financing activities, $40,800 ($48,000 — $7,200)

Net cash flow and June 30, 2007, cash balance, $5,600 ($14,800 — $50,000 + $40,800)

B RTISQ R0 AN TR

SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS Answers at end of chapter

1. A profit-making business operating as a separate legal C. the accounting equation.
entity and in which ownership is divided into shares of D. stockholders’ equity.
stock is known as a:

3. Alisting of a business entity’s assets, liabilities, and
stockholders” equity as of a specific date is:

a balance sheet.

an income statement.

the retained earnings statement.

a statement of cash flows.

A. proprietorship. C. partnership.
B. service business. D. corporation.

2. The resources owned by a business are called:
A. assets.
B. liabilities.
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If total assets are $20,000 and total liabilities
are $12,000, the amount of stockholders’

equity is:

A. $32,000.
B. ($32,000).
C. (%8,000).
D. $8,000.

The Role of Accounting in Business

If revenue was $45,000, expenses were $37,500, and
dividends were $10,000, the amount of net income or
net loss would be:

A. $45,000 net income.

B. $7,500 net income.

C. $37,500 net loss.

D. $2,500 net loss.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

10.
11.

What is the objective of most businesses?

What is the difference between a manufacturing busi-
ness and a merchandising business? Give an example of
each type of business.

What is the difference between a manufacturing busi-
ness and a service business? Is a restaurant a manufac-
turing business, a service business, or both?

Why are most large companies like Microsoft, Pepsi,
Caterpillar, and AutoZone organized as corporations?
Both KIA and Porsche produce and sell automobiles.
Describe and contrast the business emphasis of KIA
and Porsche.

Assume that a friend of yours operates a family-owned
pharmacy. A Super Wal-Mart is scheduled to open in
the next several months that will also offer pharmacy
services. What business emphasis would your friend
use to compete with the Super Wal-Mart pharmacy?
What services does eBay offer to its customers?

A business’s stakeholders can be classified into capital
market, product or service market, government, and
internal stakeholders. Will the interests of all the stake-
holders within a classification be the same? Use bankers
and stockholders of the capital market as an example in
answering this question.

The three business activities are financing, investing,
and operating. Using United Airlines, give an example
of a financing, investing, and operating activity.

What is the role of accounting in business?

Briefly describe the nature of the information provided
by each of the following financial statements: the income

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

statement, the retained earnings statement, the balance
sheet, and the statement of cash flows. In your descrip-
tions, indicate whether each of the financial statements
covers a period of time or is for a specific date.

For the year ending January 31, 2004, The Limited Inc.
had revenues of $8,934 million and total expenses of
$8,217 million. Did The Limited (a) incur a net loss or
(b) realize net income?

What particular item of financial or operating data ap-
pears on both the income statement and the retained
earnings statement? What item appears on both the bal-
ance sheet and the retained earnings statement? What
item appears on both the balance sheet and statement
of cash flows?

Deana Moran is the owner of First Delivery Service.
Recently, Deana paid interest of $3,600 on a personal
loan of $60,000 that she used to begin the business.
Should First Delivery Service record the interest pay-
ment? Explain.

On July 10, Elrod Repair Service extended an offer of
$100,000 for land that had been priced for sale at
$120,000. On July 25, Elrod Repair Service accepted the
seller’s counteroffer of $112,000. Describe how Elrod
Repair Service should record the land.

Land with an assessed value of $300,000 for property
tax purposes is acquired by a business for $500,000.
Seven years later, the plot of land has an assessed value
of $400,000 and the business receives an offer of $600,000
for it. Should the monetary amount assigned to the land
in the business records now be increased?

EXERCISES

Exercise 1-1

Types of businesses

1 1. Alcoa
2. AT&T
3. Boeing
4. Caterpillar
5. Citigroup

Indicate whether each of the following companies is primarily a service, merchandise, or manu-
facturing business. If you are unfamiliar with the company, you may use the Internet to locate
the company’s home page or use the finance Web site of Yahoo.com.

6. CVS
7. Dow Chemical
8. FedEx

9. First Republic Bank
10. Ford Motor
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11. The Gap 14. Procter & Gamble
12. Hilton Hotels 15. Sears Roebuck
13. H&R Block Inc.

Exercise 1-2 Identify the primary business emphasis of each of the following companies as (a) a low-cost em-
phasis or (b) a premium-price emphasis. If you are unfamiliar with the company, you may use
the Internet to locate the company’s home page or use the finance Web site of Yahoo.com.

Business emphasis

1 1. BMW 7. Home Depot
2. Charles Schwab 8. Maytag
3. Circuit City Stores 9. Nike
4. Coca-Cola 10. Office Depot
5. Dollar General 11. Sara Lee
6. Goldman Sachs Group 12. Southwest Airlines
Exercise 1-3 The total assets and total liabilities of Coca-Cola and PepsiCo are shown below.
Accounting equation .Coca.-C'.‘ola . Pep.si'Co
(in millions) (in millions)
4
Assets $31,327 $27,987
Coca-Cola, $15,935 Liabilities 15,392 14,464
Determine the stockholders” equity of each company.
Exercise 1-4 The total assets and total liabilities of Toys”R”Us Inc. and Estée Lauder Inc. are shown
below.
Accounting equation i
Toys"R"Us Estée Lauder Inc.
4 (in millions) (in millions)
Toys“R"”Us, $4,222 Assets $10,218 $3,708
Liabilities 5,996 1,974

Determine the stockholders” equity of each company.

Exercise 1-5 Determine the missing amount for each of the following:
Accounting equation Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
4 a. X = $25,000 + $71,500
b. $82,750 = X + $15,000
a. $96,500 C. $37,000 = $17,500 + X
Exercise 1-6 Determine the missing amounts (in millions) for the balance sheets (summarized below) for
The Limited Inc., FedEx Corporation, and Ford Motor Co.
Accounting equation
FedEx Ford
4 The Limited Corporation Motor Co.
a. $2,607 Assets $7,873 $ (b) $292,654
Liabilities (a) 6,727 276,609

Stockholders’ equity 5,266 5,478 (c)



Exercise 1-7

Net income and dividends

4

Exercise 1-8

Net income and stockholders’
equity for four businesses

4

Company O: Net loss,
($50,000)

Exercise 1-9

Accounting equation and
income statement

4
1. $2,956,252

Exercise 1-10

Balance sheet items

4
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The income statement of a corporation for the month of January indicates a net income of
$112,750. During the same period, $128,000 in cash dividends were paid.

Would it be correct to say that the business incurred a net loss of $15,250 during the month?
Discuss.

Four different proprietorships, M, N, O, and P, show the same balance sheet data at the begin-
ning and end of a year. These data, exclusive of the amount of owners” equity, are summarized
as follows:

Total Total

Assets Liabilities
Beginning of the year $ 750,000 $300,000
End of the year 1,200,000 650,000

On the basis of the above data and the following additional information for the year, de-
termine the net income (or loss) of each company for the year. (Hint: First determine the amount
of increase or decrease in stockholders” equity during the year.)

Company M: No additional capital stock was issued, and no dividends were paid.
Company N: No additional capital stock was issued, but dividends of $60,000 were paid.
Company O: Capital stock of $150,000 was issued, but no dividends were paid.
Company P: Capital stock of $150,000 was issued, and dividends of $60,000 were paid.

Staples, Inc., is a leading office products distributor, with retail stores in the United States,
Canada, Asia, Europe, and South America. The following financial statement data were taken
from Staples’ financial statements as of January 29, 2005 and 2004:

2005 2004
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Total assets $ 7,071,448 $6,503,046
Total liabilities (1) 2,840,146
Total stockholders’ equity 4,115,196 (2)
Retained earnings 2,818,163 2,209,302
Sales $14,448,378

Cost of goods sold 10,343,643

Operating and other expenses 2,989,163

Income tax expense 407,184

a. Determine the missing data indicated for (1) and (2).
. Using the income statement data for 2005, determine the amount of net income or loss.
c. Did Staples pay any dividends to stockholders during 2005? [Hint: Compare the change in
retained earnings to your answer for (b).]

From the following list of selected items taken from the records of Ishmael Appliance Service as
of a specific date, identify those that would appear on the balance sheet.

1. Supplies 6. Fees Earned

2. Wages Expense 7. Supplies Expense
3. Cash 8. Accounts Payable
4. Land 9. Capital Stock

5. Utilities Expense 10. Wages Payable
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Exercise 1-11

Income statement items

4

Exercise 1-12

Financial statement items

4

Exercise 1-13

Retained earnings statement
4

Retained earnings, April 30,
2006: $358,200

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 1-14

Income statement

4
Net income: $89,320
SPREADSHEET

Exercise 1-15

Missing amounts from balance
sheet and income statement
data

4
(a) $156,300
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Based on the data presented in Exercise 1-10, identify those items that would appear on the in-
come statement.

Identify each of the following items as (a) an asset, (b) a liability, (c) revenue, (d) an expense, or
(e) a dividend:

=

Amounts due from customers
Amounts owed vendors

Cash on hand

Cash paid to stockholders

Cash sales

Equipment

Note payable owed to the bank

Rent paid for the month

Sales commissions paid to salespersons
Wages paid to employees

O P NGk BN

—_
e

Financial information related to Madras Company for the month ended April 30, 2006, is as
follows:

Net income for April $ 73,000
Dividends during April 12,000
Retained earnings, April 1, 2006 297,200

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the month ended April 30, 2006.

Hercules Services was organized on November 1, 2006. A summary of the revenue and expense
transactions for November follows:

Fees earned $232,120
Wages expense 100,100
Miscellaneous expense 3,150
Rent expense 35,000
Supplies expense 4,550

Prepare an income statement for the month ended November 30.

One item is omitted in each of the following summaries of balance sheet and income statement
data for four different corporations, A, B, C, and D.

A B C D

Beginning of the year:

Assets $720,000 $125,000 $160,000 $ ()

Liabilities 432,000 65,000 121,600 150,000
End of the year:

Assets 894,000 175,000 144,000 310,000

Liabilities 390,000 55,000 128,000 170,000
During the year:

Additional issue of capital stock (a) 25,000 16,000 50,000

Dividends 48,000 8,000 (0 75,000

Revenue 237,300 (b) 184,000 140,000

Expenses 129,600 32,000 196,000 160,000

Determine the missing amounts, identifying them by letter. [Hint: First determine the amount of
increase or decrease in owners’ (stockholders’) equity during the year.]



Exercise 1-16

Balance sheets, net income

4
b. $36,340

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 1-17

Financial statements

4

Exercise 1-18

Statement of cash flows

4

Exercise 1-19

Statement of cash flows

3

Exercise 1-20

Statement of cash flows
4

Net cash flows from
operating activities, $24,240

SPREADSHEET
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Financial information related to Derby Interiors for October and November 2006 is as follows:

October 31, 2006

November 30, 2006

Accounts payable $12,320
Accounts receivable 27,200
Capital stock 15,000
Retained earnings ?

Cash 48,000
Supplies 2,400

$13,280
31,300
15,000
?
81,600
2,000

Prepare balance sheets for Derby Interiors as of October 31 and as of November 30, 2006.
Determine the amount of net income for November, assuming that no additional capital

stock was issued and no dividends were paid

during the month.

Determine the amount of net income for November, assuming that no additional capital
stock was issued but dividends of $10,000 were paid during the month.

Each of the following items is shown in the financial statements of ExxonMobil Corporation.
Identify the financial statement (balance sheet or income statement) in which each item would

appear.

SR Mmoo an e

Accounts payable
Cash equivalents
Crude oil inventory
Equipment
Exploration expenses
Income taxes payable
Investments
Long-term debt

emgrET e

Marketable securities
Notes and loans payable
Operating expenses
Prepaid taxes

Retained earnings

Sales

Selling expenses

Indicate whether each of the following cash activities would be reported on the statement of cash
flows as (a) an operating activity, (b) an investing activity, or (c) a financing activity.

1.

Aol N

Sold excess office equipment 6.
Paid rent 7.
Paid for office equipment 8.
Issued capital stock 9.
Sold services 10.

Paid for advertising
Paid officers’ salaries
Issued a note payable
Paid rent

Paid dividends

Indicate whether each of the following activities would be reported on the statement of cash
flows as (a) an operating activity, (b) an investing activity, or (c) a financing activity.

1.

2.
3.
4

Cash received from fees earned
Cash paid for land

Cash received from investment by stockholders

Cash paid for expenses

Hoist Inc. was organized on March 1, 2007. A summary of cash flows for March is shown below.

Cash receipts:
Cash received from customers
Cash received for capital stock
Cash received from note payable

Cash payments:
Cash paid out for expenses

Cash paid out for purchase of equipment

Cash paid as dividends

$ 37,600
144,000
16,000

$ 13,360
120,000
8,000

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the month ended March 31, 2007.
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Exercise 1-21

Using financial statements

4

Exercise 1-22

Financial statement items

4

Exercise 1-23

Income statement

4
Net income, $390,559
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A company’s stakeholders often differ in their financial statement focus. For example, some
stakeholders focus primarily on the income statement, while others may focus primarily on the
statement of cash flows or the balance sheet. For each of the following situations, indicate which
financial statement would be the likely focus for the stakeholder. Choose either the income state-
ment, balance sheet, or the statement of cash flows and justify your choice.

Situation One: Assume that you are considering investing in eBay (capital market
stakeholder).

Situation Two: Assume that you are considering purchasing a personal computer from Dell.

Situation Three: Assume that you are a banker for Citigroup (capital market stakeholder),
considering whether to grant a major credit line (loan) to Wal-Mart. The credit line will allow
Wal-Mart to borrow up to $400 million for a five-year period at the market rate of interest.

Situation Four: Assume that you are employed by Sara Lee Corporation (product market
stakeholder) and are considering whether to extend credit for a 60-day period to a new
grocery store chain that has recently opened throughout the Midwest.

Situation Five: Assume that you are considering taking a job (internal stakeholder) with either
Sears or JCPenney.

Starbucks Corporation purchases and roasts high-quality whole bean coffees and sells them,
along with fresh, rich-brewed coffees and a variety of other complementary items, primarily
through company-operated retail stores.

The following items were adapted from the annual report of Starbucks Corporation for the
period ending October 3, 2004:

In thousands

1. Accounts payable $ 199,346
2. Accounts receivable 140,226
3. Accrued expenses payable 356,317
4. Additions to property, plant, and equipment 412,537
5. Inventories 422,663
6. Cost of sales 2,191,440
7. General and administrative expenses 304,293
8. Income tax expense 231,754
9. Net cash provided by operating activities 826,209
10. Net sales 5,294,247
11. Other income (loss) 74,797
12. Other operating expenses 460,830
13. Property, plant, and equipment 1,551,416
14. Retained earnings (October 3, 2004) 1,448,899
15. Store operating expenses 1,790,168

Using the following notations, indicate on which financial statement you would find each of the
above items. (Note: An item may appear on more than one statement.)

1S Income statement

RE Retained earnings statement
BS Balance sheet

SCF Statement of cash flows

Based on the Starbucks Corporation financial statement data shown in Exercise 1-22, prepare
an income statement for the year ending October 3, 2004.
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Retained earnings statement

4

Exercise 1-25

Financial statement items

4

Exercise 1-26

Financial statements
4

Correct amount of total
assets is $48,750
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Based on the Starbucks Corporation financial statement data shown in Exercise 1-22, prepare a
retained earnings statement for the year ending October 3, 2004. The retained earnings as of
October 4, 2003, was $1,058,340, and Starbucks paid no dividends during the year.

Though the McDonald’s menu of hamburgers, cheeseburgers, the Big Mac®, Quarter Pounder®, the
Filet-O-Fish®, and Chicken McNuggets® is easily recognized, McDonald’s financial statements
may not be as familiar. The following items were adapted from a recent annual report of
McDonald’s Corporation:

1. Accounts payable 11. Net income
2. Accrued interest payable 12. Net increase in cash
3. Capital stock outstanding 13. Notes payable
4. Cash 14. Notes receivable
5. Cash provided by operations 15. Occupancy and rent expense
6. Food and packaging costs used in 16. Payroll expense
operations 17. Prepaid expenses not yet used in
7. Income tax expense operations
8. Interest expense 18. Property and equipment
9. Inventories 19. Retained earnings
10. Long-term debt payable 20. Sales

Identify the financial statement on which each of the preceding items would appear. An item
may appear on more than one statement. Use the following notations:

1S Income statement

RE Retained earnings statement
BS Balance sheet

SCF Statement of cash flows

Americana Realty, organized October 1, 2007, is owned and operated by Marlene Laney. How
many errors can you find in the following financial statements for Americana Realty, prepared
after its first month of operations? Assume that the cash balance on October 31, 2007, is $11,650
and that cash flows from operating is reported correctly.

Americana Realty
Income Statement
October 31, 2007

Sales commissions $77,100
Operating expenses:
Office salaries expense $43,150
Rent expense 7,800
Miscellaneous expense 550
Automobile expense 1,975
Total operating expenses 53,475

Net income $33,625
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Marlene Laney
Retained Earnings Statement
October 31, 2006

Net cash flow and cash balance as of
October 31, 2007

Retained earnings, October 1, 2007 $ 4,450
Less dividends during October 3,000
$ 1,450
Net income for the month 33,625
Retained earnings, October 31, 2007 $35,075
Balance Sheet
For the Month Ended October 31, 2007
Assets
Cash $11,650
Accounts payable 3,125
Land 15,000
Total assets $29,775
Liabilities
Accounts receivable $20,300
Prepaid expenses 1,800
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $25,000
Retained earnings 35,075 60,075
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $82,175
Statement of Cash Flows
October 31, 2007
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers $56,800
Cash paid for operating expenses 52,150
Net cash flow from operating activities $ 4,650
Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash received from issuance of capital stock $25,000
Dividends paid to stockholders (3,000)
Net cash flow from financing activities 22,000
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Accounting concepts

4

Exercise 1-28

Business entity concept

5
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Match each of the following statements with the appropriate accounting concept. Some concepts
may be used more than once, while others may not be used at all. Use the notations below to
indicate the appropriate accounting concept.

Accounting Concept Notation

Accounting period concept
Adequate disclosure concept
Business entity concept

Cost concept

Going concern concept
Matching concept
Objectivity concept

Unit of measure concept

COZO0NwWU

Statements
1. This concept justifies recording only transactions that are expressed in dollars.
2. Material litigation involving the corporation is described in a footnote.
3. If this concept was ignored, the confidence of users in the financial statements could not
be maintained.
4. Personal transactions of owners are kept separate from the business.
5. Changes in the use of accounting methods from one period to the next are described in
the notes to the financial statements.
6. This concept supports relying on an independent actuary (statistician), rather than the
chief operating officer of the corporation, to estimate a pension liability.
7. July utilities costs are reported as expenses along with the July revenues.
8. The changes in financial condition are reported for November.
9. Land worth $800,000 is reported at its original purchase price of $220,000.
10. Assume that a business will continue forever.

Bechler Sports sells hunting and fishing equipment and provides guided hunting and fishing
trips. Bechler Sports is owned and operated by Lefty Wisman, a well-known sports enthusi-
ast and hunter. Lefty’s wife, Betsy, owns and operates Eagle Boutique, a women'’s clothing
store. Lefty and Betsy have established a trust fund to finance their children’s college educa-
tion. The trust fund is maintained by First Montana Bank in the name of the children, Jeff and
Steph.

For each of the following transactions, identify which of the entities listed should record the

transaction in its records.

@

NS ok

Entities

B Bechler Sports

F First Montana Bank
E Eagle Boutique

X None of the above

Lefty paid a local doctor for his annual physical, which was required by the workmen’s
compensation insurance policy carried by Bechler Sports.

Lefty received a cash advance from customers for a guided hunting trip.

Betsy purchased two dozen spring dresses from a Billings (MT) designer for a special
spring sale.

Betsy deposited a $2,000 personal check in the trust fund at First Montana Bank.

Lefty paid for an advertisement in a hunters’ magazine.

Betsy purchased mutual fund shares as an investment for the children’s trust.

Lefty paid for dinner and a movie to celebrate their twentieth wedding anniversary.
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8. Betsy donated several dresses from inventory for a local charity auction for the benefit of
a women’s abuse shelter.
9. Betsy paid her dues to the YWCA.
10. Lefty paid a breeder’s fee for an English springer spaniel to be used as a hunting guide dog.

ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Problem 1-1A

Income statement, retained
earnings statement, and
balance sheet

4
Net income: $55,550

SPREADSHEET

Problem 1-2A

Missing amounts from
financial statements

4
j. $40,440

SPREADSHEET

The amounts of the assets and liabilities of Chickadee Travel Service at April 30, 2006, the end
of the current year, and its revenue and expenses for the year are listed below. The retained earn-
ings were $35,000, and the capital stock was $15,000 at May 1, 2005, the beginning of the current
year. Dividends of $30,000 were paid during the current year.

Accounts payable $ 12,200
Accounts receivable 31,350
Cash 53,050
Fees earned 263,200
Miscellaneous expense 2,950
Rent expense 37,800
Supplies 3,350
Supplies expense 7,100
Taxes expense 5,600
Utilities expense 22,500
Wages expense 131,700

Instructions

1. Prepare an income statement for the current year ended April 30, 2006.
2. Prepare a retained earnings statement for the current year ended April 30, 2006.
3. Prepare a balance sheet as of April 30, 2006.

The financial statements at the end of Ameba Realty’s first month of operations are shown below.

Ameba Realty
Income Statement
For the Month Ended June 30, 2006

Fees earned $18,800
Operating expenses:

Wages expense $ (a)

Rent expense 1,920

Supplies expense 1,600

Utilities expense 1,080

Miscellaneous expenses 660

Total operating expenses 9,560

Net income $ (b)
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Ameba Realty
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended June 30, 2006

Net income for June $ (0

Less dividends (d)

Retained earnings, June 30, 2006 $ (e)
Ameba Realty

Balance Sheet
June 30, 2006

Assets
Cash $11,800
Supplies 800
Land ()
Total assets $ (9)
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 960
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $ (h)
Retained earnings (i) ()
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ k)
Ameba Realty
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended June 30, 2006

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ W

Deduct cash payments for expenses and

payments to creditors 9,400

Net cash flows from operating activities $ (m)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payments for acquisition of land 28,800
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash received from issuing capital stock $36,000

Deduct dividends 4,800

Net cash flows from financing activities (n)
Net cash flow and June 30, 2006, cash balance $ (o)

Instructions

1. Would you classify a realty business like Ameba Realty as a manufacturing, merchandis-
ing, or service business?

2. By analyzing the interrelationships between the financial statements, determine the
proper amounts for (a) through (0).

a1
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Income statement, retained
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The following financial data were adapted from the annual report of Best Buy Inc. for the period

ending February 28, 2004:

. In millions

earnings statement, and

balance sheet Accounts payable $ 2,535

4 Accrued liabilities 1,598

Capital stock 954

Net income, $705 Cash 2,600

Cost of goods sold 18,350

SPREADSHEST Income taxes 496

Interest expense and other items 103

Inventories 2,607

Goodwill and other intangible assets 514

Other assets 344

Other liabilities 1,097

Property, plant, and equipment 2,244

Receivables 343

Sales 24,547

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 4,893

Instructions

1. Prepare Best Buy’s income statement for the year ending February 28, 2004.

2. Prepare Best Buy’s retained earnings statement for the year ending February 28, 2004.
(Note: The retained earnings at February 28, 2003, was $1,893. During the year, Best Buy
paid dividends of $130.)

3. Prepare a balance sheet as of February 28, 2004, for Best Buy.

The following cash data were adapted from the annual report of Apple Computer Inc. for
the period ended September 25, 2004. The cash balance as of September 26, 2003, was $3,396
(in millions).

Problem 1-4A

Statement of cash flows
In millions
4

Net decrease in cash, $427 Receipts from issuing capital stock . $ 427
Payments for property, plant, and equipment 176
SPREADSHEET Payments for purchase of other investments 1,312
Payments for long-term debt 300
Net cash flows from operating activities 934

Problem 1-5A

Financial statements, including
statement of cash flows

Instructions

Prepare Apple’s statement of cash flows for the year ended September 25, 2004.

Conwell Corporation began operations on January 1, 2007, as an online retailer of computer soft-
ware and hardware. The following financial statement data were taken from Conwell’s records

at the end of its first year of operations, December 31, 2007.

Accounts payable $ 42,000

4 Accounts receivable 67,200

1. Net income, $315,000 Capital stock 350,000
Cash ?

SPREADSHEET Cash payments for operating activities 980,000

Cash receipts from operating activities 1,171,800

Cost of sales 560,000

Dividends 35,000

Income tax expense 196,000

Income taxes payable 28,000

Interest expense 21,000
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Inventories $ 126,000
Note payable (due in 2015) 140,000
Property, plant, and equipment 529,200
Retained earnings ?

Sales 1,239,000
Selling and administrative expense 147,000

Instructions

1. Prepare an income statement for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Prepare a balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2007.

LN

ALTERNATE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Alternate Problem
1-1B

Financial statements

4

Net income: $71,400

SPREADSHEET

Alternate Problem
1-2B

Missing amounts from finan-

cial statements

4
j. $30,000

SPREADSHEET

Following are the amounts of the assets and liabilities of Greco Travel Agency at December 31,
2006, the end of the current year, and its revenue and expenses for the year. The retained earn-
ings were $8,700, and the capital stock was $7,500 on January 1, 2006, the beginning of the cur-
rent year. During the current year, dividends of $47,000 were paid.

Accounts payable $ 5,120 Rent expense $36,000

Accounts receivable 31,200 Supplies 3,000

Cash 11,520 Supplies expense 4,500

Fees earned 188,000 Utilities expense 16,500

Miscellaneous expense 2,800 Wages expense 56,800
Instructions

1. Prepare an income statement for the current year ended December 31, 2006.
2. Prepare a retained earnings statement for the current year ended December 31, 2006.
3. Prepare a balance sheet as of December 31, 2006.

The financial statements at the end of Zeppelin Realty’s first month of operations are shown
below and on the next page.

Zeppelin Realty
Income Statement
For the Month Ended November 30, 2006

Fees earned $ (@)
Operating expenses:
Wages expense $8,500
Rent expense 3,200
Supplies expense (b)
Utilities expense 1,800
Miscellaneous expense 1,100

Total operating expenses
Net income

17,600
$12,400
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Zeppelin Realty
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended November 30, 2006

Net income for November $ (@
Less dividends 6,000
Retained earnings, November 30, 2006 $ (d)
Zeppelin Realty
Balance Sheet
November 30, 2006
Assets
Cash $ 5,800
Supplies 2,200
Land 40,000
Total assets $ (e)
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 1,600
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $ )
Retained earnings (9) (h)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ ()
Zeppelin Realty
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended November 30, 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers $ ()
Deduct cash payments for expenses and
payments to creditors 18,200
Net cash flows from operating activities $ (k)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash payments for acquisition of land

Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash received from issuing capital stock $ (m)
Deduct cash dividends (n)
Net cash flows from financing activities

Net cash flow and November 30, 2006, cash balance

)

(o)
$ (p)
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Instructions

1. Would you classify a realty business like Zeppelin Realty as a manufacturing, merchan-
dising, or service business?

2. By analyzing the interrelationships among the four financial statements, determine the
proper amounts for (a) through (p).

Alternate Problem The following financial data were adapted from the annual report of Home Depot for the
1-3B period ended February 1, 2004.
Income statement, retained In millions

earnings statement, and

balance sheet Accounts paye?ble $ 7.764
Accounts receivable 1,097

4 Capital stock 2,727

1. Net income, $4,304 Cash 2,826
Cost of goods sold 44,236

SPREADSHEET Dividends 595
Income taxes 2,539

Interest expense 62

Inventories 9,076

Long-term debt 2,332

Other assets 1,375

Other expense 27

Other liabilities 1,934

Property, plant, and equipment 20,063

Sales 64,816

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 13,648

Instructions

1. Prepare Home Depot’s income statement for the year ended February 1, 2004.

2. Prepare Home Depot’s retained earnings statement for the year ended February 1, 2004.
(Note: The retained earnings at February 2, 2003, was $15,971.)

3. Prepare a balance sheet as of February 1, 2004, for Home Depot.

Alternate Problem The following cash data were adapted from the annual report of Harley-Davidson, Inc., for
1-4B the period ended December 31, 2004. The cash balance as of January 1, 2004, was $329,329 (in
thousands).

Statement of cash flows

4 In thousands
Net decrease in cash, $54,170 Cash receipts from |ssu.|ng debt $ 305,047
Cash payments for capital stock repurchases 501,961
SPREADSHEET Cash payments for dividends 119,232
Cash from investing activities 1,189
Cash payments for investments 495,389
Cash payments for property, plant, and equipment 213,550
Net cash flows from operating activities 969,726
Instructions

Prepare Harley-Davidson’s statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Alternate Problem
1-5B

Financial statements, including
statement of cash flows

4
1. Net income, $243,000

SPREADSHEET
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Shiver Corporation began operations on September 1, 2006, as an online retailer of camping and
outdoor recreational equipment. The following financial statement data were taken from Shiver’s
records at the end of its first year of operations, August 31, 2007:

Accounts payable $ 32,400
Accounts receivable 51,840
Cash ?

Cash receipts from operating activities 903,960
Cash payments for operating activities 756,000
Capital stock 270,000
Cost of sales 432,000
Dividends 27,000
Income tax expense 151,200
Income taxes payable 21,600
Interest expense 16,200
Inventories 97,200
Note payable (due in 2015) 108,000
Property, plant, and equipment 408,240
Retained earnings ?

Sales 955,800
Selling and administrative expense 113,400

Instructions

=

Ll e N

Prepare an income statement for the year ended August 31, 2007.

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ended August 31, 2007.
Prepare a balance sheet as of August 31, 2007.

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ended August 31, 2007.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND REPORTING

Case 1-1

Hershey’s annual report

Case 1-2

Income statement analysis

The financial statements of Hershey Foods Corporation are shown in Exhibits 4 through 7 of
this chapter. Based upon these statements, answer the following questions.

1
2.
3.
4
5

6.

What are Hershey’s sales (in millions)?

What is Hershey’s cost of sales (in millions)?

What is Hershey’s net income (in millions)?

What is Hershey’s percent of the cost of sales to sales? Round to one decimal place.

The percent that a company adds to its cost of sales to determine the selling price is called
a markup. What is Hershey’s markup percent? Round to one decimal place.

What is the percentage of net income to sales for Hershey? Round to one decimal
place.

The following data (in thousands of dollars) were adapted from the December 31, 2004, financial
statements of Tootsie Roll Industries Inc.:

=

Sales $420,110
Cost of goods sold 244,501
Net income 64,174

What is Tootsie Roll’s percent of the cost of sales to sales? Round to one decimal place.
The percent a company adds to its cost of sales to determine selling price is called a
markup. What is Tootsie Roll’s markup percent? Round to one decimal place.



Case 1-3

Horizontal analysis

Case 1-4

Horizontal analysis

SPREADSHEET
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What is the percentage of net income to sales for Tootsie Roll? Round to one decimal
place.

Compare your answers to (2) and (3) with those of Hershey Foods Corporation in Case 1-1.
What are your conclusions?

The following data (in millions of dollars) were adapted from the January 29, 2005 and 2004
financial statements of The GAP Inc.:

For year ending 2005 2004
Sales $16,267 $15,854
Cost of sales 9,886 9,885
Operating expenses 4,296 4,068

Prepare a horizontal analysis income statement for GAP that includes gross profit and
operating income before taxes. Round to one decimal place.
Comment on the results of your horizontal analysis of GAP.

The telecommunications industry suffered a severe business downturn during the early part of
this decade. Lucent Technologies Inc. is one of the major equipment providers to this industry.
Below are the comparative income statements for Lucent Technologies for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2004 and 2003.

Lucent Technologies Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
For the Years Ended September 30, 2004 and 2003
In millions
2004 2003
Revenues $ 9,045 $ 8,470
Costs of revenues 5,266 5,818
Gross profit $ 3,779 $ 2,652
Operating expenses:
Selling, general, and administrative $ 1,296 $ 1,509
Research and development 1,270 1,488
Total operating expenses $ 2,566 $ 2,997
Operating income (loss) $1,213 $ (345)
Other income (expense)—net 246 (305)
Interest expense (396) (353)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
income tax (expense) benefit $ 1,063 $ (1,003)
Income tax (expense) benefit 939 233
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 2,002 $ (770)

1.
2.

Prepare a horizontal analysis income statement for Lucent Technologies.
Interpret your analysis.
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Case 1-5

Financial analysis of Enron
Corporation

Case 1-6

Horizontal revenue analysis
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Enron Corporation, headquartered in Houston, Texas, provides products and services for
natural gas, electricity, and communications to wholesale and retail customers. Enron’s opera-
tions are conducted through a variety of subsidiaries and affiliates that involve transporting gas
through pipelines, transmitting electricity, and managing energy commodities. The following
data were taken from Enron’s December 31, 2000, financial statements.

In millions
Total revenues $100,789
Total costs and expenses 98,836
Operating income 1,953
Net income 979
Total assets 65,503
Total liabilities 54,033
Total stockholders’ equity 11,470
Net cash flows from operating activities 4,779
Net cash flows from investing activities (4,264)
Net cash flows from financing activities 571
Net increase in cash 1,086

At the end of 2000, the market price of Enron’s stock was approximately $83 per share. As of
April 17, 2005, Enron’s stock was selling for $0.03 per share.

Review the preceding financial statement data and search the Internet for articles on
Enron Corporation. Briefly explain why Enron’s stock dropped so dramatically in such a short
time.

United Parcel Service provides parcel delivery services around the world. The following table
shows the various revenue sources for the comparative years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003:

2004 2003
Revenue (in millions):
U.S. domestic package:
Next Day Air $ 6,040 $ 5,580
Two-to-Three Day Air 3,161 2,982
Ground 17,409 16,460
Total U.S. domestic package $26,610 $25,022
International package:
Domestic $ 1,346 $ 1,134
Export 4,944 4,001
Cargo 472 426
Total international package $ 6,762 $ 5,561
Non-package:
UPS Supply Chain Solutions (consulting services) $ 2,346 $ 2,126
Other 864 776
Total non-package $ 3,210 $ 2,902
Total $36,582 $33,485

1. Provide a horizontal analysis of UPS revenues.

2.  Why is the total percentage change not equal to the sum of the percentage changes for
each of the major subcategories (U.S. domestic, international, and non-package)?

3. Interpret the horizontal analysis.



BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND

Activity 1-1

Integrity, objectivity, and
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RESPONSIBILITY ISSUES

The management of Hershey Foods has asked union workers in two of their highest cost
Pennsylvania plants to accept higher health insurance premiums and take a wage cut. The
worker’s portion of the insurance cost would double from 6% of the premium to 12%. In addi-
tion, workers hired after January 2000 would have their hourly wages cut by $4, which would
be partially offset by a 2% annual raise. Management says that the plants need to be more cost
competitive. The management has indicated that if the workers accept the proposal that the com-
pany would invest $30 million to modernize the plants and move future projects to the plants.
Management, however, has refused to guarantee more work at the plants if the workers approve
the proposal. If the workers reject the proposal, management implies that they would move
future projects to other plants and that layoffs might be forthcoming. Do you consider
management’s actions ethical?

Source: Susan Govzdas, “Hershey to Cut Jobs or Wages,” Central Penn Business Journal, September 24, 2004.

Sue Alejandro, president of Tobago Enterprises, applied for a $300,000 loan from First National
Bank. The bank requested financial statements from Tobago Enterprises as a basis for granting
the loan. Sue has told her accountant to provide the bank with a balance sheet. Sue has decided
to omit the other financial statements because there was a net loss during the past year.

In groups of three or four, discuss the following questions:

1. Is Sue behaving in a professional manner by omitting some of the financial statements?
2. a. What types of information about their businesses would owners be willing to provide
bankers? What types of information would owners not be willing to provide?
b. What types of information about a business would bankers want before extending a
loan?
c¢.  What common interests are shared by bankers and business owners?

Assume that you are the chief executive officer for Gold Kist Inc., a national poultry producer.

The company’s operations include hatching chickens through the use of breeder stock and feed-

ing, raising, and processing the mature chicks into finished products. The finished products

include breaded chicken nuggets and patties and deboned, skinless, and marinated chicken.

Gold Kist sells its products to schools, military services, fast food chains, and grocery stores.
In groups of four or five, discuss the following business emphasis and risk issues:

1. Ina commodity business like poultry production, what do you think is the dominant
business emphasis? What are the implications in this dominant emphasis for how you
would run Gold Kist?

2. Identify at least two major business risks for operating Gold Kist.

3. How could Gold Kist try to differentiate its products?

On January 3, 2007, Dr. Rosa Smith established First Opinion, a medical practice organized as a
professional corporation. The following conversation occurred the following August between
Dr. Smith and a former medical school classmate, Dr. Brett Wommack, at an American Medical
Association convention in Nassau.

Dr. Wommack: Rosa, good to see you again. Why didn’t you call when you were in Las Vegas?
We could have had dinner together.

Dr. Smith: Actually, I never made it to Las Vegas this year. My husband and kids went up to
our Lake Tahoe condo twice, but I got stuck in New York. I opened a new consulting
practice this January and haven’t had any time for myself since.

Dr. Wommack: I heard about it . . . First . .. something . .. right?

Dr. Smith: Yes, First Opinion. My husband chose the name.
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Dr. Wommack: I've thought about doing something like that. Are you making any money?
I mean, is it worth your time?

Dr. Smith: You wouldn’t believe it. I started by opening a bank account with $60,000, and
my July bank statement has a balance of $240,000. Not bad for seven months—all
pure profit.

Dr. Wommack: Maybe I'll try it in Las Vegas. Let’s have breakfast together tomorrow and you
can fill me in on the details.

Comment on Dr. Smith’s statement that the difference between the opening bank balance
($60,000) and the July statement balance ($240,000) is pure profit.

Obtain the annual reports for three well-known companies, such as Ford Motor Co., General
Motors, IBM, Microsoft, or Amazon.com. These annual reports can be obtained from a library or
the company’s 10-K filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission at http://www.sec.gov/
edgar.shtml.

To obtain annual report information, click on “Search for Company Filings.” Next, click on
“Search EDGAR Historical Archives.” Key in the company name. EDGAR will list the reports
available for the company. Click on the 10-K (or 10-K405) report for the year you want to down-
load. If you wish, you can save the whole 10-K report to a file and then open it with your word
processor.

Examine the balance sheet for each company and determine the total assets, liabilities, and
stockholders” equity. Verify that total assets equal the total of the liabilities plus stockholders’
equity.

By satisfying certain specific requirements, accountants may become certified as public accoun-
tants (CPAs), management accountants (CMAs), or internal auditors (CIAs). Find the certifi-
cation requirements for one of these accounting groups by accessing the appropriate Internet
site listed below.

Site Description

This site lists the address and/or Internet link for each

state’s board of accountancy. Find your state’s requirements.
This site lists the requirements for becoming a CMA.
This site lists the requirements for becoming a CIA.

http://www.ais-cpa.com

http://www.imanet.org
http://www.theiia.org

ANSWERS TO SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS

1. D A corporation, organized in accordance with state or
federal statutes, is a separate legal entity in which ownership
is divided into shares of stock (answer D). A proprietorship
(answer A) is an unincorporated business owned by one
individual. A service business (answer B) provides services to
its customers. It can be organized as a proprietorship, part-
nership, or corporation. A partnership (answer C) is an unin-
corporated business owned by two or more individuals.

2. A The resources owned by a business are called assets
(answer A). The debts of the business are called liabilities
(answer B), and the equity of the owners is called stockhold-
ers’ equity (answer D). The relationship between assets, liabil-
ities, and stockholders’ equity is expressed as the accounting
equation (answer C).

3. A The balance sheet is a listing of the assets, liabilities,
and stockholders’ equity of a business at a specific date
(answer A). The income statement (answer B) is a summary
of the revenue and expenses of a business for a specific period
of time. The retained earnings statement (answer C) summa-
rizes the changes in retained earnings during a specific period
of time. The statement of cash flows (answer D) summarizes
the cash receipts and cash payments for a specific period of
time.

4. D The accounting equation is:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity


http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml
http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml
http://www.ais-cpa.com
http://www.imanet.org
http://www.theiia.org

Therefore, if assets are $20,000 and liabilities are $12,000,
stockholders” equity is $8,000 (answer D), as indicated in the

following computation:

Assets

Chapter 1  The Role of Accounting in Business

Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

+$20,000
+$20,000 — $12,000
+$8,000

+$12,000 + Stockholders’ Equity
= Stockholders’ Equity
= Stockholders’ Equity

5. B Netincome is the excess of revenue over expenses, or
$7,500 (answer B). If expenses exceed revenue, the difference
is a net loss. Dividends are the opposite of the stockholders
investing in the business and do not affect the amount of net
income or net loss.
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Learning Goals

Describe the basic elements of a financial accounting
system.

Analyze, record, and summarize transactions for a
corporation’s first period of operations.

Prepare financial statements for a corporation’s first
period of operations.

(4]
(5]
(6]

Analyze, record, and summarize transactions for a
corporation’s second period of operations.

Prepare financial statements for a corporation’s second
period of operations.

Describe and illustrate how vertical analysis can be used
to analyze and evaluate a company’s performance.




Suppose you were to receive $100 as a result of
some event. Would it make a difference what
the event was? Yes it would! If you received
$100 for your birthday, it’s a gift. If you re-
ceived $100 as a result of working part time for
a week, then it’s the result of your effort. If you
received $100 as a loan, then it’'s money that
you would have to pay back in the future. If
you received $100 as a result of selling your
stereo, then it’s the result of giving up some-
thing tangible. Thus, we see that the $100 re-
ceived can be associated with different types of
events, and that these events have different
meanings to you. You’'d much rather receive a
$100 gift than a $100 loan, given the choice.
Likewise, a company would also view events
such as these differently.

For example,
receives money in return for providing a very
simple, but widely used product: chewing gum.
So, what'’s the attraction of gum?

Scientific studies have shown that chewing
gum relaxes nerves and muscles, eases ten-
sion, facilitates concentration, helps keep one
alert, helps keep teeth clean, and freshens
breath. Even ancient civilizations recognized
the benefits of gum. For example, the populace
of early Greek civilizations chewed gum made
from the bark of the mastic tree.

In addition to its gum, Wrigley is famous
for its corporate headquarters building on
North Michigan Avenue, along the north bank
of the Chicago River. The Wrigley Building is a
symbol of Chicago and has appeared in nu-
merous articles, books, movies, and television
programs, including ER, My Best Friend’s
Wedding, and While You Were Sleeping.

Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company’s history is part
of the lore of Chicago. As the company moves
forward, its stakeholders are interested in its fu-
ture financial condition and success. As we dis-
cussed in Chapter 1, the financial condition and
changes in financial condition of a business are
assessed through analyzing financial statements.

Image not available due to copyright restrictions

In this chapter, we continue our discussion of fi-
nancial statements. We begin by describing the
basic elements of a financial accounting system
that will enable the preparation of financial state-
ments. We then distinguish types of accounting
systems and illustrate the simplest form of an ac-
counting system based upon a cash basis. In do-
ing so, this chapter will serve as foundation for
our later discussions of modern day accounting
systems and financial reporting.
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®

Describe the basic
elements of a financial
accounting system.

QA

Q. The receipt of cash for
capital stock affects what
elements of the accounting
equation?

Total assets (cash)
increases, and stockhold-
ers’ equity (capital stock)
increases.

ELEMENTS OF AN ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

A financial accounting system is designed to produce financial statements. You should
recall from Chapter 1 that the basic financial statements are the income statement,
retained earnings statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows. So what are
the basic elements of an accounting system that will enable the preparation of these
statements?

The basic elements of a financial accounting system include (1) a set of rules for
determining what, when, and the amount that should be recorded for economic
events, (2) a framework for preparing financial statements, and (3) one or more con-
trols to determine whether errors may have arisen in the recording process. These basic
elements are found in all financial accounting systems—from a local retailer or
hardware store to Microsoft, Sony, Boeing, and Wrigley.

Rules

A set of rules for determining what, when, and the amount that should be recorded
for an entity’s economic events are derived from the eight concepts we discussed in
Chapter 1. These concepts form the foundation for generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. Throughout this text, we describe and illustrate generally accepted accounting
principles based upon these eight concepts.

A transaction is an economic event that under generally accepted accounting
principles affects an element of the financial statements and, therefore, must be
recorded. A transaction may affect one, two, or more elements of the financial state-
ments. For example, equipment purchased for cash affects only assets. That is, one as-
set (equipment) increases while another asset (cash) decreases. If, on the other hand,
the equipment is purchased on credit, both assets (equipment) and liabilities (accounts
or notes payable) increase.

Framework

In order to prepare financial statements, transactions must be analyzed, recorded, and
summarized using a framework. The accounting equation provides a starting point for
designing such a framework. You should recall from Chapter 1 that the accounting
equation is expressed as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity

We use an integrated financial statement approach for analyzing, recording, and summa-
rizing transactions by expanding the accounting equation as shown in Exhibit 1. We
do this by including columns for the statement of cash flows, balance sheet, and in-
come statement.

The left-hand column in Exhibit 1 shows the effects of transactions on the state-
ment of cash flows. Each cash transaction is recorded and classified into operating, in-
vesting, and financing activities as a basis for preparing the statement of cash flows.
The cash amount at the beginning of the period plus or minus the cash flows from op-
erating, investing, and financing activities equals the end of the period cash. This end
of the period cash amount is reported as an asset on the balance sheet. Thus, the state-
ment of cash flows is integrated with the balance sheet.

The far right-hand column in Exhibit 1 records and summarizes revenue and ex-
pense transactions as a basis for preparing the income statement. Recall, net income,
which is revenue less expenses, affects retained earnings. Thus, revenue and expense
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Integrated Financial Statement Framework

Balance Sheet

e — Income
Assets Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement
Assets Liabilities aF Capital Stock =F Retained Earnings

XXX
Income Statement
Revenues XXX
Expenses XXX

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL = fetincomeorloss
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK

transactions are also recorded under the retained earnings column of the balance sheet.
By doing so, the balance sheet is integrated with the income statement.

Exhibit 1 also illustrates the importance of the balance sheet as the connecting link
between the statement of cash flows and the income statement.' Later in this chapter,
we illustrate the use of this integrated financial statement approach for analyzing,
recording, and summarizing transactions.

You will find the integrated financial statement approach, shown in Exhibit 1, an
invaluable aid in analyzing the financial condition and changes in financial condition
of a company. This is because, without understanding how a company’s financial
statements are prepared and integrated, you may miss important trends or events. To
illustrate, assume a company reports net income (profits) on its income statement. This
might lead you to mistakenly conclude that the company’s operations are doing well
and no major changes are necessary. In fact, if the company has negative net cash flows
from operations, it may be headed toward bankruptcy. This is why it is essential to an-
alyze all the financial statements and why we emphasize the integrated financial state-
ment approach throughout this text.

Controls

The integrated financial statement approach shown in Exhibit 1 has built-in controls
that transactions are analyzed, recorded, and summarized correctly. Specifically, the
accounting equation ensures that total assets must equal total liabilities plus total

1 In Chapter 3, we describe and illustrate how balance sheet elements can be used to reconcile net cash
flows from operating activities with net income.
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Facing a slumping market for sugared chewing gum, such as

gum and a gum that would provide dental benefits, such as

Juicy Fruit and Doublemint, Wm. Wrigley Jr.
Company is reinventing itself by expanding its
product lines and introducing new chewing gum
applications. Wrigley’s new products include sug-
arless breath mints and more powerful flavored
mint chewing gum, like Extra Polar Ice. In addition,
Wrigley is experimenting with health-care applica-
tions of chewing gum. Wrigley’s Health Care
Division has already developed Surpass, an
antacid chewing gum to compete with Rolaids and

whitening teeth and reducing plaque. Given that
the U.S. population is aging, the company figures
that people might prefer chewing gum to taking
pills E)r sore throats, colds, or the ﬂu. The effects of
these new initiatives will ultimately be reflected in
Wrigley's financial statements.

Source: Adapted from “A Young Heir Has New Plans
at Old Company,” by David Barboza, The New York

Mylanta. Wrigley is also developing a cold-relief chewing

Times, August 28, 2001.

OnA

o

When $3,000 of cash
was received for fees
earned, it was erroneously
recorded as an increase
in cash of $300 and an
increase in retained earn-
ings (fees earned) of
$3,000. Will the
accounting equation
balance?

No. Total assets will be
less than total liabilities
plus stockholders’ equity
by $2,700.

stockholders” equity on the balance sheet. If at the end of the period this equality does
not hold, then an error has occurred in either recording or summarizing transactions.
For example, if a $10,000 purchase of equipment for cash is incorrectly recorded as an
increase in both equipment and cash, the total assets will exceed the total liabilities and
stockholders” equity by $20,000 at the end of the period. Likewise, if equipment was
increased by $10,000, but cash was not decreased by $10,000, the total assets will ex-
ceed total liabilities and stockholders” equity by $10,000 at the end of the period. In
both cases, the inequality of the equation will indicate that an error has occurred in the
recording process.

The equality of the equation at the end of the period doesn’t necessarily mean that
no errors have occurred. For example, assume that a business purchased $10,000 of
equipment on credit and recorded the transaction as an increase in equipment of
$10,000. However, instead of increasing the liabilities by $10,000, the transaction was
recorded as a $10,000 decrease in cash. In this case, the accounting equation still bal-
ances, even though cash and liabilities are understated by $10,000.

The integrated financial statement approach provides two additional controls.
First, the ending cash amount shown in the statement of cash flows column must agree
with the end of the period cash amount shown under assets in the balance sheet col-
umn. Second, the net income or loss from the income statement column must agree
with the net effects of revenues and expenses on retained earnings.?

@

Analyze, record, and sum-
marize transactions for a
corporation’s first period
of operations.

RECORDING A CORPORATION'’S FIRST
PERIOD OF OPERATIONS

Using the integrated financial statement framework shown in Exhibit 1, we will illus-
trate the recording of transactions for a corporation’s first period of operations. We
will assume that on September 1, 2007, Lee Landry, M.D., organizes a professional
corporation to practice general medicine. The business is to be known as Family
Health Care, P.C, where P.C. refers to professional corporation. We describe each

2 We discuss additional accounting controls in Chapter 7.
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transaction or group of similar transactions during September, the first
month of operations. We then illustrate how Exhibit 1 can be used to
analyze, record, and summarize the effects of these transactions on the
financial statements. We begin with Dr. Landry’s investment to estab-
lish the business.

Transaction a.  Dr. Landry deposits $6,000 in a bank account in the
name of Family Health Care, P.C., in return for shares of stock in the
corporation. We refer to stock issued to owners (stockholders) such as
Lee Landry as capital stock. The effect of this transaction is to increase
cash from financing activities by $6,000 under the statement of cash flows column.
Increases are recorded as positive numbers, while decreases are recorded as negative
numbers. In addition, the transaction increases assets (cash) in the left side of the ac-
counting equation under the balance sheet column by $6,000. To balance the equation,
the stockholders” equity (capital stock) on the right side of the equation is increased by
the same amount. Since no revenues or expenses are affected, there are no entries un-
der the income statement column. The effect of this transaction on Family Health
Care’s financial statements is shown below:

Statement of e L — Income
Cash Flows Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Cash + Capital Stock
a. Investment by Dr. Landry | 6,000 6,000

Statement of Cash Flows

a. Financing 6,000

Note that the equation relates only to the business, Family Health Care, P.C. Lee
Landry’s personal assets (such as a home or a personal bank account) and personal
liabilities are excluded from the equation. The business is treated as a separate entity,
with cash of $6,000 and stockholders’” equity of $6,000.

Transaction b. Family Health Care’s next transaction is to borrow $10,000 from
First National Bank to finance its operations. To borrow the $10,000, Lee Landry signed
a note payable in the name of Family Health Care. The note payable is a liability or a
claim on assets that Family Health Care must satisfy (pay) in the future. In addition,
the note payable requires the payment of interest of $100 per month until the note is
due in full on September 30, 2012. At the end of September, we will record the pay-
ment of $100 of interest.

The effect of this transaction is to increase cash from financing activities by $10,000
under the statement of cash flows column. In addition, cash is increased and liabilities
(notes payable) are increased under the balance sheet columns. Observe how this
transaction changed the mix of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet but did
not change Family Health Care’s stockholders’ equity. That is, assets minus liabili-
ties still equals stockholders” equity of $6,000 on the balance sheet. Since no rev-
enues or expenses are affected, no entries are made under the income statement
column. The effect of this transaction on Family Health Care’s financial statements
follows.



58

Statement of
Cash Flows

Balances
b. Loan from bank

Balances
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Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities Stockholders' Equity Statement
Cash Notes Payable Capital Stock
6,000 6,000
10,000 10,000
16,000 10,000 6,000

Statement of Cash Flows

b. Financing

10,000

Transaction c.  Next, Family Health Care buys land for $12,000 cash. The land is
located near a new suburban hospital that is under construction. Lee Landry plans to
rent office space and equipment for several months. When the hospital is completed,
Family Health Care will build on the land.

The effect of this transaction is an outflow of cash as an investing activity. Thus, a
negative $12,000 is entered in the statement of cash flows column as an investing ac-
tivity. On the balance sheet, the purchase of the land changes the makeup of the as-
sets, but it does not change the total assets. That is, cash is decreased and land is
increased by $12,000. The effect of this transaction on Family Health Care’s financial

statements is shown below:

Statement of

Cash Flows Assets
Cash F Land
Balances 16,000
c. Purchase of land —12,000 12,000
Balances 4,000 12,000

Balance Sheet

Notes Payable

Income

Liabilities Stockholders” Equity Statement
Capital Stock

10,000 6,000

10,000 6,000

Statement of Cash Flows

c. Investing —12,000

INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY, AND ETHICS IN BUSINESS fil | 3UIFF)
A History of Ethical Conduct

The Wrigley Company has a long history of integrity, ob-
jectivity, and ethical conduct. When pressured to become part
of a cartel, known as the Chewing Gum Trust, the company
founder, William Wrigley Jr., said, “We prefer to do business
by fair and square methods or we prefer not to do business at
all.” In 1932, Phillip K. Wrigley, called “PK” by his friends,
became president of the Wrigley Company after his father,
William Wrigley Jr., died. PK also was president of the Chicago
Cubs, which played in Wrigley Field. He was financially

e
\

generous to his players and frequently gave them advice on
and off the field. However, as a man of integrity and high eth-
ical standards, PK docked (reduced) his salary as president of
the Wrigley Company for the time he spent working on Cubs
related activities and business.

Source: St. Louis Post-Dispatch, “Sports—Backpages,” January 26,
2003.
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Transactions (b) and (c) have not improved the stockholders” equity of Family Health
Care. They have simply changed the mix of assets and increased the liability, notes
payable. However, the objective of businesses is to improve stockholders’ equity
through operations.

Transaction d.  During the first month of operations, Family Health Care earns pa-
tient fees of $5,500, receiving the amount in cash. The effect of this transaction is an in-
flow of cash flows from operating activities of $5,500. Thus, a positive $5,500 is entered
in the statement of cash flows column as an operating activity. Since cash has been
received, cash is increased by $5,500 under the balance sheet column for assets.
Fees earned of $5,500 is a revenue item that is entered in the income statement col-
umn as a positive amount. Since net income retained in the business increases stock-
holders’ equity (retained earnings) and since revenues contribute to net income,
$5,500 is also entered as an increase in retained earnings in the stockholders’ equity
column of the balance sheet. Entering the increases of $5,500 for cash and retained
earnings in the balance sheet columns retains the equality of the accounting equation.
The effect of this transaction on Family Health Care’s financial statements is summa-
rized below:

Balance Sheet

Statement of Income
Cash Flows Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity Statement
Notes Capital Retained
+ Land Payable Stock + Earnings
Balances 4,000 12,000 10,000 6,000
d. Fees earned 5,500 5,500 d.
Balances 9,500 12,000 10,000 6,000 5,500
Statement of Cash Flows Income Statement
d. Operating 5,500 d. 5,500 Fees earned

Transaction e.  For Family Health Care, the expenses paid during the month were
as follows: wages, $1,125; rent, $950; utilities, $450; interest, $100; and miscellaneous,
$275. Miscellaneous expenses include small amounts paid for such items as postage
due and newspaper and magazine purchases.

The effect of this transaction is an outflow of cash of $2,900 for operating activi-
ties. Thus, a negative $2,900 is entered in the statement of cash flows column as an op-
erating activity. Expenses have the opposite effect as revenues on net income and
retained earnings. As a result, each of the expenses is listed as a negative amount in
the income statement column. Finally, a negative $2,900 is also entered in the cash and
retained earnings columns of the balance sheet. The effect of this transaction on Family
Health Care’s financial statements is summarized on the next page.

Transaction f. At the end of the month, Family Health Care pays $1,500 to stock-
holders (Dr. Lee Landry) as dividends. Dividends are distributions of business earn-
ings to stockholders.
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Balance Sheet

Liabilities

Stockholders’ Equity

Notes Capital Retained

Payable Stock + Earnings
12,000 10,000 5,500
e. Paid expenses —2,900 —2,900
12,000 10,000 6,000 2,600

Balances

Balances

Income
Statement

Income Statement

e. —1,125 Wages expense
—950 Rent expense
—450 Utilities expense
—100 Interest expense
—275 Misc. expense

The effect of this transaction is an outflow of cash of $1,500 for financing activities.
Thus, a negative $1,500 is entered in the statement of cash flows column as a financ-
ing activity. In addition, the cash and retained earnings are decreased under the bal-
ance sheet column, by $1,500. The effect of this transaction on Family Health Care’s

financial statements is summarized below.

Balance Sheet

Assets Liabilities

Stockholders’ Equity

Retained
Earnings

Notes Capital
Cash + Land Payable Stock +

12,000 10,000
f. Paid dividends —1,500 —1,500
12,000 10,000 6,000 1,100

Balances

Balances

Income
Statement

You should be careful not to confuse dividends with expenses. Dividends do not rep-
resent assets consumed or services used in the process of earning revenues. The de-
crease in stockholders” equity from dividends is listed in the equation under
“Retained Earnings.” This is because dividends are considered a distribution of earn-

ings to the owners.

The transactions of Family Health Care are summarized in Exhibit 2. The transac-
tions are identified by letter, and the balances are shown as of the end of September.
You should note that under the balance sheet columns the accounting equation bal-
ances. That is, total assets of $17,100 ($5,100 + $12,000) equals total liabilities plus

stockholders” equity of $17,100 ($10,000 + $6,000 + $1,100).



International Perspective
International Accounting
Standards (IASs) require the
same four general financial
statements that are required
under U.S. GAAP. How-
ever, IAS only requires one
year of historical financial
information, while public
companies in the United
States are required to
present three years of
comparative financial infor-
mation (two years for
balance sheet information).
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In reviewing the preceding illustration and Exhibit 2, you should note the follow-

ing, which apply to all types of businesses:

N

The balance sheet reflects the accounting equation (assets = liabilities + stockholders’
equity).

The two sides of the balance sheet (accounting equation) are always equal.

Every transaction affects (increases or decreases) one or more of the balance sheet
elements—assets, liabilities, or stockholders’ equity.

A transaction may or may not affect (increase or decrease) an element of the state-
ment of cash flows or the income statement. Some transactions affect elements of
both statements, some transactions affect only one statement and not the other,
and some transactions affect neither statement.

The effect of every cash transaction increases or decreases the asset cash on the
balance sheet. Every cash transaction also increases or decreases an operating,
investing, or financing activity on the statement of cash flows.

The net increase or decrease in cash for the period shown in the statement of cash
flows ($5,100 in Exhibit 2) agrees with the ending cash balance shown on the
balance sheet. In this illustration, this resulted because it was the entity’s first pe-
riod of operations. In future periods, the net increase (decrease) in cash will be

Family Health Care Summary of Transactions for September

. Investment by Dr. Landry
b. Loan from bank

¢. Purchase of land
d. Fees earned

e. Paid expenses

f. Paid dividends
Balances, Sept. 30

Cash

Balance Sheet Income

Assets Liabilities + Statement

Stockholders’ Equity

Retained
Earnings

Notes
Payable

Capital

+ Land Stock +

10,000 10,000
—12,000 12,000
5,500 5500 | d.
—2,900 —2,900 | e
—1,500 —1,500

Income Statement
d. +5,500 Fees earned

e. —1,125 Wages expense
—950 Rent expense
—450 Utilities expense
—100 Interest expense
—275 Misc. expense
2,600 Net income

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK
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Effects of Transactions
on Stockholders’ Equity
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added to (subtracted from) the beginning cash balance to equal the ending cash bal-
ance. This ending cash balance will appear in both the statement of cash flows and
balance sheet.

7. The stockholders’ equity is increased by amounts invested by stockholders (capi-
tal stock).

8. Revenues increase stockholders’ equity (retained earnings) and expenses
decrease stockholders’ equity (retained earnings). The effects of revenue and ex-
pense transactions are also shown in the income statement column.

9. Stockholders’ equity (retained earnings) is decreased by dividends distributed to
stockholders.

10. The change in retained earnings for the period is the net income minus dividends.
For a net loss, the change in retained earnings is the net loss plus dividends.

11. The statement of cash flows is linked to the balance sheet through cash (an asset).

12. The income statement is linked to the balance sheet through revenues and ex-
penses (net income or loss), which affects retained earnings.

Exhibit 3 summarizes the effects of the various transactions affecting stockholders’
equity.

I STOCKHOLDERS’' EQuUITY I

Capital Stock Retamed Earnmgs —
REASEY &ASEa CREASE
| Stockholders’ 5
investments 0 Dividends
+ —/ (]

®

Prepare financial state-
ments for a corporation’s

first period of operations.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR A CORPORATION’S
FIRST PERIOD OF OPERATIONS

In Exhibit 2, the September transactions for Family Health Care are listed in the order that
they occurred. This exhibit, however, is not very user-friendly in that it does not group
and summarize like transactions together. As we described and illustrated in Chapter 1,
the accounting reports that provide this summarized information are financial
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statements. Such financial statements can easily be prepared from the integrated
financial statement framework shown in Exhibit 2.

The September financial statements for Family Health Care are illustrated in
Exhibit 4. The data for the statements were taken from Exhibit 2.

Exhibit 4 Family Health Care, P.C.
Family Health Care Income Statement
Financial Statements For the Month Ended September 30, 2007
for September
Fees earned $5,500
Operating expenses:
Wages expense $1,125
Rent expense 950
Utilities expense 450
Interest expense 100
Miscellaneous expenses 275
Total operating expenses 2,900
Net income $2,600

Family Health Care, P.C.
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended September 30, 2007

Net income for September $2,600
Less dividends 1,500
Retained earnings, September 30, 2007 $1,100

Assets
Cash $ 5,100
Land 12,000
Total assets $17,100
Liabilities
Notes payable $10,000
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $6,000
Retained earnings 1,100 7,100

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $17,100
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Family Health Care, P.C.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended September 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 5,500

Deduct cash payments for expenses 2,900

Net cash flow from operating activities $ 2,600
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payments for acquisition of land (12,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash received from sale of capital stock $ 6,000

Cash received from notes payable 10,000 $16,000

Deduct cash dividends 1,500

Net cash flow from financing activities 14,500
Net increase in cash $ 5,100
September 1, 2007, cash balance 0
September 30, 2007, cash balance $ 5,100

The income statement is normally prepared first using the income statement col-
umn of Exhibit 2. The income statement is prepared first because the net income or loss
is needed to prepare the retained earnings statement. The retained earnings statement
is prepared next because the ending balance of retained earnings is needed for prepar-
ing the balance sheet. The retained earnings statement is prepared using the income
statement and the amount recorded for dividends for the period. The balance sheet is
prepared next using the balances as of September 30 shown in Exhibit 2. The statement
of cash flows is normally prepared last using the statement of cash flows column of
Exhibit 2. You should note that each financial statement is identified by the name of
the business, the title of the statement, and the date or period of time.

Income Statement

As shown in Exhibit 4, the income statement for Family Health Care reports fees
earned of $5,500, total operating expenses of $2,900, and net income of $2,600. The
$5,500 of fees earned was taken from the income statement column of Exhibit 2.
Likewise, the expenses were summarized from the income statement column of
Exhibit 2 and reported under the heading “Operating expenses.” The expenses were
listed in order of size, beginning with the largest expense. Miscellaneous expense is
usually shown as the last item, regardless of the amount. The total operating expenses
were then subtracted from the fees earned to arrive at the net income of $2,600. The
effect of this net income will be to increase retained earnings and stockholders’” equity.

Retained Earnings Statement

Since Family Health Care has been in operation for only one month, it has no retained
earnings at the beginning of September. The ending September balance is the change
in retained earnings that results from net income and dividends. This change, $1,100,
will be the beginning retained earnings balance for October.



At January 1, 2007,
total assets and total liabil-
ities were $600,000 and
$380,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2007, total
assets and total liabilities
were $950,000 and
$580,000, respectively. If
dividends of $75,000
were paid in 2007, what

was the net income or

$225,000 [($950,000 —
$580,000] — ($600,000 —
$380,000) + $75,000]
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Balance Sheet

The amounts of Family Health Care’s assets, liabilities, and stockholders” equity as of
September 30 appear on the last line of the balance sheet columns of Exhibit 2. The bal-
ance sheet is prepared as shown in Exhibit 4.

In the liabilities section of Family Health Care’s balance sheet, notes payable is the
only liability. When there are two or more categories of liabilities, each should be listed
and the total amount of liabilities reported. Liabilities should be presented in the or-
der that they will be paid in cash. Thus, the notes payable due in 2012 will be listed
after the obligations that are due in shorter time periods.

For Family Health Care, the September 30, 2007, stockholders” equity consists of
$6,000 of capital stock and retained earnings of $1,100. The retained earnings amount
is also reported on the retained earnings statement.

Statement of Cash Flows

Family Health Care’s statement of cash flows for September is prepared from the state-
ment of cash flows column of Exhibit 2. Cash increased from a zero balance at the be-
ginning of the month to $5,100 at the end of the month. This $5,100 increase in cash
was a result of cash flows from operating activities of $2,600.

In addition to cash inflows of $2,600 from operating activities, Family Health Care
spent $12,000 of cash for investing activities involving the purchase of land. This cash out-
flow related to investing activities was financed by an increased investment of $6,000 by
Dr. Landry and $10,000 borrowed through a note payable at First National Bank. Family
Health Care also distributed $1,500 in cash dividends during September.

Integration of Financial Statements

Exhibit 5 shows the integration of Family Health Care’s financial statements for
September. The ending cash balance of $5,100 on the balance sheet equals the ending
cash balance reported on the statement of cash flows. The net income of $2,600 is re-
ported on the income statement and the retained earnings statement. The ending re-
tained earnings of $1,100 is reported in the retained earnings statement and the balance
sheet. The cash flows from operating activities of $2,600 reported on the statement of
cash flows equals the net income on the income statement. However, as we illustrate
and explain in the next chapter, while cash flows from operating activities and net in-
come are related they are normally not equal.

Analyze, record, and sum-
marize the transactions
for a corporation’s second

RECORDING A CORPORATION’S SECOND
PERIOD OF OPERATIONS

To reinforce your understanding of recording transactions and preparing financial
statements, we continue with Family Health Care’s October transactions. During
October, Family Health Care entered into the following transactions:

a. Received fees of $6,400 in cash.

b. Paid expenses in cash, as follows: wages, $1,370; rent, $950; utilities, $540; interest,
$100; and miscellaneous, $220.

c. Paid dividends of $1,000 in cash.
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Family Health Care Integrated Financial Statements for September

Family Health Care
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended Sept. 30, 2007

Operating act.
Investing act.
Financing act.
Increase in cash
and Sept. 30 cash

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Notes Capital Retained
Cash + Land = Payable + Stock +  Earnings
$5,100 12,000 $10,000 $6,000 $1,100
$17,100 $17,100
Total Assets = Total Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

Family Health Care
Income Statement
For the Month Ended Sept. 30, 2007

Family Health Care
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended Sept. 30, 2007

$ 2,600 Revenues $5,500 —> Net income $2,600
(12,000) Expenses 2,900 Less dividends 1,500
14,500 —>» Net income $2,600 RE, Sept. 30 $1,100 ——
$ 5,100 ——

The preceding October transactions have been analyzed and entered into a summary
of transactions for October, as shown in Exhibit 6. You should note that the balance
sheet columns of Exhibit 6 begin with the ending balances as of September 30, 2006.
This is because the balance sheet reports the cumulative total of the entity’s assets,
liabilities, and stockholders’ equity since its inception. In other words, as of October 1,
Family Health Care has cash of $5,100, land of $12,000, notes payable of $10,000, capital
stock of $6,000, and retained earnings of $1,100. In contrast, the statement of cash flows
and the income statement report only transactions for the period.

®

Prepare financial state-

ments for a corporation’s

second period of
operations.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR A CORPORATION’S
SECOND PERIOD OF OPERATIONS

Family Health Care’s financial statements for October are shown in Exhibit 7. These
statements were prepared from the integrated financial statement framework shown
in Exhibit 6.

The income statement for October reports net income of $3,220. This is an increase
of $620, or 23.8% ($620/$2,600), from September’s net income of $2,600. This increase
in net income was due to fees increasing from $5,500 to $6,400, a $900, or 16.4%
($900/$5,500), increase from September. At the same time, total operating expenses



Chapter 2  Basic Accounting Concepts 67

Exhibit 6

Family Health Care Summary of Transactions for October

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity Statement

[ Capital Retained
Cash + Land EVEL] Stock i Earnings

Balances, Oct. 1 5,100 12,000 10,000 6,000 1,100

a. Fees earned
b. Paid expenses

c. Paid dividends

Balances, Oct. 31

Income Statement

a. 6,400 Fees earned

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL PR s expense

—950 Rent expense

STATEMENT FRAMEWORK ~540 Utiiies expense

—100 Interest expense
—220 Misc. expense

3,220 Net income

increased only $280, or 9.7% ($280/$2,900). This suggests that Family Health Care’s op-
erations are profitable and expanding.

The retained earnings statement reports an increase in retained earnings of $2,220.
This increase is the result of net income ($3,220) less the dividends ($1,000) paid to
Dr. Landry.

The balance sheet shows that total assets increased from $17,100 on September 30,
2007, to $19,320 on October 31. This increase of $2,220 was due to an increase in cash
from operations of $3,220 less the dividends of $1,000 that were paid to Dr. Landry.

Exhibit 7 Family Health Care, P.C.
Family Health Care Income Statement
Financial Statements For the Month Ended October 31, 2007
for October
Fees earned $6,400
Operating expenses:
Wages expense $1,370
Rent expense 950
Utilities expense 540
Interest expense 100
Miscellaneous expenses 220
Total operating expenses 3,180

Net income $3,220
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Family Health Care, P.C.
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended October 31, 2007

Retained earnings, October 1, 2007 $1,100
Net income for October $3,220

Less dividends 1,000 2,220
Retained earnings, October 31, 2007 $3,320

Assets
Cash $ 7.320
Land 12,000
Total assets $19,320
Liabilities
Notes payable $10,000
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $6,000
Retained earnings 3,320 9,320
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $19,320

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 6,400

Deduct cash payments for expenses 3,180

Net cash flow from operating activities $ 3,220
Cash flows from investing activities 0
Cash flows from financing activities:

Deduct cash dividends (1,000)
Net increase in cash $ 2,220
October 1, 2007, cash balance 5,100
October 31, 2007, cash balance $ 7,320

Total liabilities remained the same, but retained earnings and stockholders” equity in-
creased by $2,220.

The statement of cash flows shows net cash receipts from operations of $3,220 and a
cash payment for dividends of $1,000. The ending cash balance of $7,320 also appears on
the October 31 balance sheet. The integration of these statements is shown in Exhibit 8.
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Family Health Care Integrated Financial Statements for October

Assets
Cash + Land
§7.320 12,000
$19,320
Total Assets

= Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Notes Capital Retained
= Payable +  Stock + Earnings
$10,000 $6,000 $3,320
$19,320

= Total Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

Family Health Care
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended Oct. 31, 2007

Family Health Care
Income Statement
For the Month Ended Oct. 31, 2007

Family Health Care
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended Oct. 31, 2007

Operating act. $ 3,220 Revenues $6,400 RE, Oct. 1 $ 1,100
Investing act. 0 Expenses 3,180 4,—> Net income 3,220
Financing act. (1,000) —> Net income $3,220 Dividends (1,000)
Increase in cash $ 2,220 - RE, Oct. 31 $ 3,320
Cash, Oct. 1 5,100 -
Cash, Oct. 31 $ 7,320 ——

®

Describe and illustrate how
vertical analysis can be
used to anoK/ze and
evaluate a company’s
performance.

© TIM BOYLE/GETTY IMAGES

VERTICAL ANALYSIS

The basic financial statements illustrated in this and the preceding chapter are primary
sources of information that financial analysts and other stakeholders use in evaluating
a company’s performance. In Chapter 1, we illustrated horizontal analysis as one
method of analyzing financial performance. Another method of analyzing comparative
financial statements is to compute percentages of each item within a statement to a
total within the statement. These percentages can then be compared
across years. This type of analysis is called vertical analysis.

In vertical analysis of the balance sheet, each asset item is stated as
a percent of the total assets. Each liability and stockholders’ equity item
is stated as a percent of total liabilities and stockholders” equity. To il-
lustrate, Exhibit 9 shows comparative balance sheets for Wm. Wrigley
Jr. Company, using vertical analysis.?

3 These financial statements have been adapted, based upon Securities and Exchange Commission filings.
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Exhibit 9

Comparative Balance
Sheets Using

Vertical Analysis:
Wm. Wrigley Jr.
Company

Exhibit 10

Comparative Income
Statements Using
Vertical Analysis:
Wm. Wrigley Jr.
Company for Years
Ending December 31,
2003 and 2004

Chapter 2  Basic Accounting Concepts

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 629 19.9% $ 505 20.0%
Short-term investments 23 0.7 23 0.9
Accounts receivable 356 11.2 329 13.0
Inventories 398 12.6 350 13.9
Property, plant, and equipment 1,143 36.1 956 37.8
Other assets 618 19.5 365 14.4
TOTAL ASSETS $3,167 100.0% $2,528 100.0%
Liabilities:
Current liabilities $ 718 22.7% $ 472 18.7%
Long-term liabilities 270 8.5 235 9.3
Total liabilities $ 988 31.2% $ 707 28.0%
Stockholders’ equity:
Total stockholders’ equity $2,179 68.8% $1,821 72.0%
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $3,167 100.0% $2,528 100.0%

To simplify, the current liabilities and stockholders’ equity are shown as a single
amount. A review of Exhibit 9 reveals the liabilities as a percent of total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity increased by 3.2 (31.2% — 28.0%) percentage points, while the stock-
holders’ equity decreased by 3.2 (72.0% — 68.8%) percentage points between the com-
parative years. Other than this minor change, no major changes occurred in the makeup
of Wrigley’s December 31 balance sheets for 2004 and 2003.

In vertical analysis of the income statement, each item is stated as a percent of sales.
To illustrate, Exhibit 10 shows comparative income statements of Wm. Wrigley Jr.
Company, using vertical analysis.

Exhibit 10 reveals a slight decline in overall net income as a percent of sales from
14.6% to 13.6% between the two years. Gross profit as a percent of sales declined over
a full percentage point from 57.1% to 55.9%. In addition, selling and administrative
expenses increased slightly as a percent of sales from 35.9% to 36.1%. As a result,

2004 2003

Amount Amount

(millions) Percent (millions) Percent
Net sales $3,649 100.0% $3,069 100.0%
Cost of sales 1,610 441 1,317 429
Gross profit $2,039 55.9% $1,752 57.1%
Selling and administrative expenses 1,319 _36.1 1,102 359
Operating income $ 720 19.8% $ 650 21.2%
Other income (expense) — _ 0.0 2 _ 0.1
Income before income taxes $ 720 19.8% $ 652 21.3%
Income taxes 227 _ 6.2 206 _ 6.7
Net income $ 493 _13.6% $ 446 _14.6%
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operating income decreased from 21.2% to 19.8% of sales. Other income and expense
remained approximately the same, while income taxes decreased from 6.7% to 6.2% of
sales. Overall, operating costs increased as a percent of sales with a slight offset in
taxes, causing net income as a percent of sales to decline.

SUMMARY OF LEARNING GOALS

@ Describe the basic elements of a financial accounting
system. The basic elements of a financial accounting
system include (1) a set of rules for determining what,
when, and the amount that should be recorded for economic
events, (2) a framework for facilitating preparation of
financial statements, and (3) one or more controls to determine
whether errors may have arisen in the recording process.

@ Analyze, record, and summarize transactions for a

corporation’s first period of operations. Using the
integrated financial statement framework, September
transactions for Family Health Care are recorded and
summarized in Exhibit 2.

@ Prepare financial statements for a corporation’s first
period of operations. The financial statements for
Family Health Care for September, its first period of opera-

tions, are shown in Exhibit 4.

@ Analyze, record, and summarize transactions for
a corporation’s second period of operations. Using

the accounting equation as a basic framework, October
transactions for Family Health Care are recorded and
summarized in Exhibit 6. The financial statements for
Family Health Care for October, its second period of
operations, are shown in Exhibit 7.

@ Prepare financial statements for a corporation’s

second period of operations. The financial statements
for Family Health Care for October, its second period of
operations, are shown in Exhibit 7.

Describe and illustrate how vertical analysis can be
used to analyze and evaluate a company’s performance.
Vertical analysis is a method of analyzing comparative
financial statements in which percentages are computed for
each item within a statement to a total within the statement.
In vertical analysis of the balance sheet, each asset item is
stated as a percent of the total assets. Each liability and
stockholders’ equity item is stated as a percent of total
liabilities and stockholders’ equity. In vertical analysis of
the income statement, each item is stated as a percent of sales.

GLOSSARY

Financial accounting system A system that includes (1)
a set of rules for determining what, when, and the amount
that should be recorded for economic events, (2) a framework
for facilitating preparation of financial statements, and (3) one
or more controls to determine whether errors may have arisen
in the recording process.

Transaction An economic event that under generally
accepted accounting principles affects an element of the
accounting equation and, therefore, must be recorded.

Vertical analysis A method of analyzing comparative
financial statements in which percentages are computed for
each item within a statement to a total within the statement.

ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEM

Beth Sumner established an insurance agency on April 1, 2007, and completed the following

transactions during April:

a. Opened a business bank account in the name of Sumner Insurance, Inc., with a deposit of
$15,000 in exchange for capital stock.

P e

Borrowed $8,000 by issuing a note payable.

Received cash from fees earned, $11,500.

Paid rent on office and equipment for the month, $3,500.

Paid automobile expenses for month, $650, and miscellaneous expenses, $300.
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Solution
1)

. Investment

b. Issued note payable
Balances

c. Fees earned
Balances

d. Rent expense
Balances

e. Paid expenses
Balances

f. Paid salary expense
Balances

g. Paid interest expense
Balances

h. Purchased land
Balances

i. Paid dividends

Balances, April 30

Chapter 2  Basic Accounting Concepts

Paid office salaries, $1,400.

Paid interest on the note payable, $60.
Purchased land as a future building site, $20,000.
Paid dividends, $1,000.

s

Instructions

1. Indicate the effect of each transaction and the balances after each transaction, using the
integrated financial statement framework.

2. Prepare an income statement and retained earnings statement for April.

Prepare a balance sheet as of April 30, 2007.

4. Prepare a statement of cash flows for April.

d

Balance Sheet Income

Assets Liabilities + Statement

Stockholders’ Equity

Retained
Earnings

Notes Capital

Cash + Land Payable Stock +

15,000 15,000
8,000 8,000

23,000 8,000 15,000

11,500 11500 | c
34,500 8,000 15,000 11,500
~3,500 ~3,500 | d.
31,000 8,000 15,000 8,000
—950 -950 | e.
30,050 8,000 15,000 7,050
—1,400 —1,400 | f.
28,650 8,000 15,000 5,650

—60 60 | g.
28,590 8,000 15,000 5,590
—20,000 20,000

8,590 20,000 8,000 15,000 5,590
~1,000 ~1,000

Income Statement

. 11,500 Fees earned

. —3,500 Rent expense
—650 Auto expense
—300 Misc. expense

—1,400 Salary expense

__—60 Interest expense
5,590 Net income

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK

@ -~ @ 2 0
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(2)
Sumner Insurance, Inc.
Income Statement
For the Month Ending April 30, 2007
Revenues:
Fees earned
Expenses:

Rent expense

Salaries expense

Automotive expense

Interest expense

Miscellaneous expense
Total expenses

Net income
Sumner Insurance, Inc.
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ending April 30, 2007
Net income

Less dividends
Retained earnings, April 30, 2007

®)

$3,500
1,400
650
60
300

$11,500

$5,590
1,000

$4,590

Assets
Cash
Land
Total assets
Liabilities

Note payable

Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock
Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$15,000
4,590

$ 7,590
20,000

$27,590

$ 8,000

19,590
$27,590
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Sumner Insurance, Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ending April 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash receipts from operating activities
Cash payments for operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities

$ 11,500
5,910

$ 5,590

Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payments for land

(20,000)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash receipts from issuing capital stock
Cash receipts from note payable

Cash payments for dividends

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net increase in cash during April

Cash as of April 1, 2007
Cash as of April 30, 2007

SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS

$15,000

8,000

(1,000)
22,000

$ 7,590

$ 7,590

The purchase of land for $50,000 cash was incorrectly

recorded as an increase in land and an increase in

notes payable. Which of the following statements is

correct?

A. The accounting equation will not balance because
cash is overstated by $50,000.

B. The accounting equation will not balance because
notes payable are overstated by $50,000.

C. The accounting equation will not balance because
assets will exceed liabilities by $50,000.

D. Even though a recording error has been made, the
accounting equation will balance.

The receipt of $8,000 of cash for fees earned was

recorded by Langley Consulting as an increase in cash

of $8,000 and a decrease in retained earnings (revenues)

of $8,000. What is the effect of this error on the

accounting equation?

A. Total assets will exceed total liabilities and
stockholders” equity by $8,000.

B. Total assets will be less than total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity by $8,000.

C. Total assets will exceed total liabilities and
stockholders” equity by $16,000.

D. The error will not affect the accounting equation.

3.

Answers at end of chapter

If total assets increased $20,000 during a period and
total liabilities increased $12,000 during the same
period, the amount and direction (increase or decrease)
of the change in stockholders” equity for that period is:
a $32,000 increase.

a $32,000 decrease.

an $8,000 increase.

an $8,000 decrease.

SnEp

If revenue was $45,000, expenses were $37,500, and
dividends were $10,000, the amount of net income or
net loss would be:

A. $45,000 net income.
B. $7,500 net income.
C. $37,500 net loss.

D. $2,500 net loss.

Which of the following transactions changes only
the mix of assets and does not affect liabilities or
stockholders” equity?

Borrowed $40,000 from First National Bank
Purchased land for cash

Received $3,800 for fees earned

Paid $4,000 for office salaries

9pwp
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. What are the basic elements of a financial accounting 8.

system? Do these elements apply to all businesses from
a local restaurant to General Motors? Explain.

2. Provide an example of a transaction that affects (a) only
one element of the accounting equation, (b) two
elements of the accounting equation, (c) three elements
of the accounting equation.

3. Indicate whether the following error would cause the 9.

accounting equation to be out of balance and, if so, in-
dicate how it would be out of balance. The payment of
wages of $6,750 was recorded as a decrease in cash of
$6,750 and a decrease in retained earnings (wages
expense) of $6,570.

4. For each of the following errors, indicate whether the
error would cause the accounting equation to be out
of balance, and if so, indicate how it would be out of

balance. (a) The purchase of land for $50,000 cash was 10.

recorded as an increase in land of $50,000 and a de-
crease in cash of $5,000. (b) The receipt of $7,500
for fees earned was recorded as an increase in cash of
$7,500 and an increase in liabilities of $7,500.

5. What is a primary control for determining the accuracy
of a business’s record keeping?

6. Fathom Consulting Services acquired land three years

ago for $25,000. Fathom recently signed an agreement 11.

to sell the land for $80,000. In accordance with the sales
agreement, the buyer transferred $80,000 to Fathom’s
bank account on October 6. How would elements of the

accounting equation be affected by the sale? 12.

7. (a) How does the payment of dividends of $30,000 affect
the three elements of the accounting equation? (b) Is
net income affected by the payment of dividends?
Explain.

Assume that Donahue Consulting erroneously recorded
the payment of $11,500 of dividends as salary expense.
(a) How would this error affect the equality of

the accounting equation? (b) How would this

error affect the income statement, retained earnings
statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash

flows?

Assume that Kilgore Realty, Inc., borrowed $80,000
from First City Bank and Trust. In recording the
transaction, Kilgore erroneously recorded the receipt
of $80,000 as an increase in cash, $80,000, and an
increase in fees earned, $80,000. (a) How would this
error affect the equality of the accounting equation?
(b) How would this error affect the income statement,
retained earnings statement, balance sheet, and
statement of cash flows?

Assume that as of January 1, 2007, Milliken Consulting
has total assets of $562,500 and total liabilities of
$350,000. As of December 31, 2007, Milliken has total
liabilities of $375,000 and total stockholders” equity of
$281,250. (a) What was Milliken’s stockholders” equity
as of December 31, 2006? (b) Assume that Milliken did
not pay any dividends during 2007. What was the
amount of net income for 2007?

Using the January 1 and December 31, 2007, data given
in Question 10, answer the following question. If
Milliken paid $22,500 of dividends during 2007, what
was the amount of net income for 2007?

In Chapter 1, we described and illustrated

horizontal analysis. (a) What is the difference between
horizontal and vertical analysis? (b) Can horizontal
and vertical analysis be used together in analyzing a
company?

EXERCISES

Exercise 2-1 Determine the missing amount for each of the following:
. . Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Accounting equation
] a. X = $50,000 + $143,000
b. $165,500 X + $30,000
a. $193,000 ¢ $74,000 $35,000 + X
Exercise 2-2 The Walt Disney Company had the following assets and liabilities (in millions) as of September
30, 2003.
Accounting equation
Assets $49,988
1 Liabilities 26,197

a. $23,791
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Exercise 2-3

Accounting equation

1
a. $387

Exercise 2-4

Accounting equation

1
a. $423,239

Exercise 2-5

Accounting equation

1
b. $310,000

Chapter 2  Basic Accounting Concepts

0

Determine the stockholders” equity of Walt Disney as of September 30, 2003.

If assets increased by $3,914 and stockholders’ equity increased by $2,290, what was the
increase or decrease in liabilities for the year ending September 30, 2004?

What were the total assets, liabilities, and stockholders” equity as of September 30, 2004?
Based upon your answer to (c), does the accounting equation balance?

Campbell Soup Co. had the following assets and liabilities (in millions) as of August 3, 2003.

g

Assets $6,205
Liabilities 5,818

Determine the stockholders” equity of Campbell Soup as of August 3, 2003.

If assets increased by $470 and liabilities decreased by $17, what was the increase or
decrease in stockholders” equity for the year ending August 1, 2004?

What were the total assets, liabilities, and stockholders” equity as of August 1, 2004?
Based upon your answer to (c), does the accounting equation balance?

One item is omitted in each of the following summaries of balance sheet and income statement
data (in millions) for General Motors and Coca-Cola as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.

General Coca-
Motors Cola
December 31, 2003:
Assets $448,507 (e)
Liabilities (a) (f)
Stockholders’ equity (b) $14,090
Increase (Decrease) in assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity
during 2004:
Assets $ 31,096 (9)
Liabilities 28,638 $ 2,140
Stockholders’ equity 2,458 (h)
December 31, 2004:
Assets (c) $31,327
Liabilities $451,877 (i)
Stockholders’ equity (d) 15,935

Determine the amounts of the missing items (a) through (i).

Chris Lund is the sole stockholder and operator of Saluki, a motivational consulting business.
At the end of its accounting period, December 31, 2005, Saluki has assets of $475,000 and liabili-
ties of $200,000. Using the accounting equation and considering each case independently, de-
termine the following amounts:

a.

b.

Stockholders’ equity, as of December 31, 2005.

Stockholders” equity, as of December 31, 2006, assuming that assets increased by $75,000
and liabilities increased by $40,000 during 2006.

Stockholders’ equity, as of December 31, 2006, assuming that assets decreased by $15,000
and liabilities increased by $27,000 during 2006.



Exercise 2-6

Effect of transactions on
stockholders’ equity

2,4

Exercise 2-7

Effect of transactions on
accounting equation

1,3,4,5

Exercise 2-8

Effect of transactions on
accounting equation

1,2, 4

(1) Assets increase $50,000

Exercise 2-9

Effect of transactions on
stockholders’ equity

2,4

Exercise 2-10

Transactions

1,2, 4
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d. Stockholders’ equity, as of December 31, 2006, assuming that assets increased by $125,000
and liabilities decreased by $65,000 during 2006.

e. Net income (or net loss) during 2006, assuming that as of December 31, 2006, assets were
$425,000, liabilities were $105,000, and there were no dividends and no additional capital
stock was issued.

For Kroger Co., indicate whether the following transactions would (1) increase, (2) decrease, or
(3) have no effect on stockholders” equity.

Made cash sales to customers.
Paid interest expense.

Sold store equipment at a loss.
Received interest income.

Paid taxes.

Purchased store equipment.
Paid dividends.

Paid store rent.

Borrowed money from the bank.
Paid creditors.

P an T
T s

Describe how the following business transactions affect the three elements of the accounting
equation.

a. Received cash for services performed. d. Issued capital stock for cash.
b. Borrowed cash at local bank. e. Purchased land for cash.
c¢. Paid for utilities used in the business.

A vacant lot acquired for $50,000, on which there is a balance owed of $30,000, is sold for
$130,000 in cash. The seller pays the $30,000 owed. What is the effect of these transactions on the
total amount of the seller’s (1) assets, (2) liabilities, and (3) stockholders” equity?

Indicate whether each of the following types of transactions will (a) increase stockholders’
equity or (b) decrease stockholders” equity.

Paid cash for rent expense.
Paid cash dividends.
Received cash for fees earned.
Issued capital stock for cash.
Paid cash for utilities expense.

Gk N

Salvo Delivery Service had the following selected transactions during February:

=

Received cash from issuance of capital stock, $35,000.
Received cash for providing delivery services, $15,000.
Paid creditors, $1,800.

Billed customers for delivery services, $11,250.

Paid advertising expense, $750.

Purchased supplies for cash, $800.

Paid rent for February, $2,000.

Received cash from customers on account, $6,740.
Determined that the cost of supplies on hand was $135; therefore, $665 of supplies had
been used during the month.

. Paid dividends, $1,000.

® P NG RN
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Exercise 2-11

Nature of transactions
1,2, 4
b. $4,000

Exercise 2-12

Net income and dividends

3,5

Exercise 2-13

Net income and stockholders’
equity for four businesses

1,3,5

Company G: Net income,
$132,000

Chapter 2  Basic Accounting Concepts

Indicate the effect of each transaction on the accounting equation by listing the numbers
identifying the transactions, (1) through (10), in a vertical column, and inserting at the right of
each number the appropriate letter from the following list:

Increase in an asset, decrease in another asset.
Increase in an asset, increase in a liability.

Increase in an asset, increase in stockholders’ equity.
Decrease in an asset, decrease in a liability.

Decrease in an asset, decrease in stockholders’ equity.

PoaoTe

Mike Renner operates his own catering service. Summary financial data for March are presented
in equation form as follows. Each line designated by a number indicates the effect of a transac-
tion on the balance sheet. Each increase and decrease in owners’ equity, except transaction (4),
affects net income.

Capital Retained

Cash + Land = Liabilities + Stock + Earnings
Bal. 18,000 54,000 5,000 10,000 57,000
1. +25,000 +25,000
2. —10,000 +10,000
3. —16,000 —16,000
4, —3,000 L —3,000
Bal. 14,000 64,000 5,000 10,000 63,000
a. Describe each transaction.
b. What is the amount of net decrease in cash during the month?
c.  What is the amount of net increase in retained earnings during the month?
d. What is the amount of the net income for the month?
e. How much of the net income for the month was retained in the business?
f.  What is the amount of net cash flows from operating activities?
g. What is the amount of net cash flows from investing activities?
h. What is the amount of net cash flows from financing activities?

The income statement of a corporation for the month of October indicates a net income of
$158,250. During the same period, $180,000 in cash dividends were paid.

Would it be correct to say that the business incurred a net loss of $21,750 during the month?
Discuss.

Four different corporations, E, F, G, and H, show the same balance sheet data at the beginning
and end of a year. These data, exclusive of the amount of stockholders’ equity, are summarized
as follows:

Total Total

Assets Liabilities
Beginning of the year $420,000 $176,000
End of the year 776,000 340,000

On the basis of the above data and the following additional information for the year, determine
the net income (or loss) of each company for the year. (Suggestion: First determine the amount
of increase or decrease in stockholders’ equity during the year.)

Company E:  No additional capital stock was issued, and no dividends were paid.
Company F:  No additional capital stock was issued, but dividends of $40,000 were paid.



Exercise 2-14

Missing amounts from balance
sheet and income statement
data

1,3,5
a. $172,500

Exercise 2-15

Net income, retained earn-
ings, and dividends

3,5

a. $388 increase

Exercise 2-16

Balance sheet, net income,
and cash flows

3,5
b. $33,000

SPREADSHEET
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Company G: Capital stock of $60,000 was issued, but no dividends were paid.
Company H: Capital stock of $60,000 was issued, and dividends of $40,000 were paid.

One item is omitted from each of the following summaries of balance sheet and income state-
ment data for four different corporations, O, P, Q, and R.

(0] P Q R

Beginning of the year:

Assets $300,000 $190,000 $100,000 (d)

Liabilities 195,000 90,000 80,000 $450,000
End of the year:

Assets $675,000 $250,000 $120,000 $930,000

Liabilities 375,000 70,000 105,000 510,000
During the year:

Additional issue of capital stock (a) $ 44,000 $ 10,000 $150,000

Dividends $ 30,000 16,000 (c) 225,000

Revenue 187,500 (b) 175,000 420,000

Expenses 135,000 104,000 177,000 480,000

Determine the amounts of the missing items, identifying them by letter. (Suggestion: First
determine the amount of increase or decrease in stockholders” equity during the year.)

Use the following data (in millions) for Campbell Soup Co. for the year ending August 1, 2004,
to answer the following questions.

Retained earnings August 3, 2003 $5,254
Retained earnings August 1, 2004 5,642
Net cash from operating activities 1,106
Net decrease in cash 3

a. Determine the net increase or decrease in retained earnings during 2004.
b. If dividends in 2004 are $259, what was the net income or loss for Campbell Soup for the
year ending August 1, 2004?

Financial information related to Thorstad Interiors for June and July of 2007 is as follows:

June 30, 2007 July 31, 2007
Notes payable $30,000 $45,000
Land 51,000 75,000
Capital stock 18,000 27,000
Retained earnings ? ?
Cash 54,000 81,000

a. Prepare balance sheets for Thorstad Interiors as of June 30 and July 31, 2007.

b. Determine the amount of net income for July, assuming that dividends of $6,000 were
paid.

Determine the net cash flows from operating activities.

d. Determine the net cash flows from investing activities. (continued)

o
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Exercise 2-17

Income statement
3,5
Net income, $22,500

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 2-18

Retained earnings statement
3,5

Retained earnings,
November 30, 2007, $18,500

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 2-19

Balance sheet
3,5
Total assets, $58,500

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 2-20

Statement of cash flows
3,5

Net cash flows from
operating activities, $22,500

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 2-21

Effect of transactions on ac-
counting equation

1,2, 4
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e. Determine the net cash flows from financing activities.
f. Determine the net increase or decrease in cash.

After its first month of operation, the following amounts were taken from the accounting records
of Three Rivers Realty, Inc., as of November 30, 2007.

Capital stock $10,000 Notes payable $30,000
Cash 21,500 Rent expense 6,000
Dividends 4,000 Retained earnings 0
Interest expense 2,000 Salaries expense 9,000
Land 37,000 Sales commissions 49,500
Miscellaneous expense 2,500 Utilities expense 7,500

Prepare an income statement for the month ending November 30, 2007.

Using the financial data shown in Exercise 2-17 for Three Rivers Realty, Inc., prepare a retained
earnings statement for the month ending November 30, 2007.

Using the financial data shown in Exercise 2-17 for Three Rivers Realty, Inc., prepare a balance
sheet as of November 30, 2007.

Using the financial data shown in Exercise 2-17 for Three Rivers Realty, Inc., prepare a statement
of cash flows for the month ending November 30, 2007.

Describe how transactions of Lucent Technologies, Inc., would affect the three elements of the ac-
counting equation.

a. Received cash from issuing stock.
Paid off long-term debt.

c.  Received proceeds from selling a portion of manufacturing operations for a gain on the
sale.

d. Paid dividends.



Exercise 2-22

Statement of cash flows

3,5
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Made cash sales.

Received cash from the issuance of long-term debt.

Paid research and development expenses for the current year.
Paid employee pension expenses for the current year.

Paid taxes.

Purchased machinery and equipment for cash.

Paid officer salaries.

Paid selling expenses.

Based upon the financial transactions for Lucent Technologies, Inc., shown in Exercise 2-21, in-
dicate whether the transaction would be reported in the cash flows from operating, investing,
or financing sections of the statement of cash flows.

ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Problem 2-1A

Transactions and financial
statements

1,2,3
3. Net income, $4,820

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Problem 2-2A

Transactions and financial
statements

1,2,3
1. Net income, $7,350

SPREADSHEET

Debbie Woodall established an insurance agency on July 1, 2007, and completed the following
transactions during July:

a. Opened a business bank account in the name of Woodall Insurance, Inc., with a deposit of
$18,000 in exchange for capital stock.

b. Borrowed $10,000 by issuing a note payable.

c. Received cash from fees earned, $9,500.

d. Paid rent on office and equipment for the month, $2,000.

e. Paid automobile expense for month, $1,000, and miscellaneous expense, $400.

f. Paid office salaries, $1,200.

g. Paid interest on the note payable, $80.

h. Purchased land as a future building site, $19,500.

i. Paid dividends, $2,500.

Instructions

1. Indicate the effect of each transaction and the balances after each transaction, using the
integrated financial statement framework.

2. Briefly explain why the stockholders” investments and revenues increased stockholders’
equity, while dividends and expenses decreased stockholders’ equity.

3. Prepare an income statement and retained earnings statement for July.

4. Prepare a balance sheet as of July 31, 2007.

5. Prepare a statement of cash flows for July.

Chris Darby established Top-Gun Computer Services on January 1, 2007. The effect of each
transaction and the balances after each transaction for January are shown in the integrated fi-
nancial statement framework at the top of the following page.

Instructions

1.

2.
3.
4

Prepare an income statement for the month ended January 31, 2007.

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the month ended January 31, 2007.
Prepare a balance sheet as of January 31, 2007.

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the month ended January 31, 2007.

81
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. Investment

b. Fees earned
Balances

c. Rent expense
Balances

d. Issued notes payable
Balances

e. Purchased land
Balances

f. Paid expenses
Balances

g. Paid salary expense
Balances

i. Paid dividends

Balances, Jan. 31

Problem 2-3A

Financial statements

Goals 4, 5
1. Net income, $115,500

SPREADSHEET

Chapter 2

Cash
25,000
15,000
40,000
—2,500
37,500
10,000
47,500
—30,000
17,500
—1,650
15,850
—3,500
12,350
—1,500

The following amounts were taken from the accounting records of Lisko Services, Inc., as of

Assets

+ Land

30,000
30,000

30,000

30,000

Basic Accounting Concepts

Balance Sheet

Liabilities +

Notes Capital

LEVELE Stock

25,000
25,000
25,000
10,000
10,000 25,000
10,000 25,000
10,000 25,000
10,000 25,000

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK

Stockholders’ Equity

Income
Statement

Retained
+ Earnings

15,000 | b.
15,000
—2,500 | c
12,500

12,500

12,500
—1,650 | f.
10,850
—3,500 | 9-

7,350
—1,500

Income Statement

. 15,000 Fees earned
. —2,500 Rent expense
—950 Auto expense
—700 Misc. expense
. —3,500 Salary expense
_ 7,350 Net income

Qa - - N T

December 31, 2007. Lisko Services began its operations on January 1, 2007.

Capital stock
Cash

Dividends

Fees earned
Interest expense
Land
Miscellaneous expense
Notes payable
Rent expense
Salaries expense
Taxes expense
Utilities expense

$ 14,000
38,500
7,000
321,300
1,680
105,000
9,520
21,000
33,600
91,000
25,200
44,800



Problem 2-4A

Financial statements

5
1. Net income, $128,100

SPREADSHEET

Problem 2-5A

Missing amounts from finan-

cial statements
3,5
a. $19,500

SPREADSHEET
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Instructions

1. Prepare an income statement for the year ending December 31, 2007.

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ending December 31, 2007.
Prepare a balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ending December 31, 2007.

Ll

After its second year of operations, the following amounts were taken from the accounting
records of Lisko Services, Inc., as of December 31, 2008. Lisko Services began its operations on
January 1, 2007 (see Problem 2-3A).

Capital stock $ 35,000
Cash ?

Dividends 21,000
Fees earned 355,740
Interest expense 2,240
Land 196,000
Miscellaneous expense 9,800
Notes payable 28,000
Rent expense 39,200
Salaries expense 98,000
Taxes expense 28,000
Utilities expense 50,400

Instructions

1. Prepare an income statement for the year ending December 31, 2008.

2. Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ending December 31, 2008.

(Note: The retained earnings at January 1, 2008, was $108,500.)

Prepare a balance sheet as of December 31, 2008.

4. Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ending December 31, 2008.
(Hint: You should compare the asset and liability amounts of December 31, 2008, with
those of December 31, 2007, to determine cash used in investing and financing activities.
See Problem 2-3A for the December 31, 2007, balance sheet amounts.)

bl

The financial statements at the end of Sciatic Realty, Inc.’s first month of operation are shown
below. By analyzing the interrelationships between the financial statements, fill in the proper
amounts for (a) through (s).

Sciatic Realty, Inc.
Income Statement
For the Month Ended July 31, 2007

Fees earned $ (a)
Operating expenses:

Wages expense $5,520

Rent expense 3,000

Utilities expense (b)

Interest expense 300

Miscellaneous expense 660

Total operating expenses 11,250

Net income $ ()
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Sciatic Realty, Inc.
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended July 31, 2007

Retained earnings, July 1, 2007 $ (d)
Net income for July $8,250

Less dividends (e) ()
Retained earnings, July 31, 2007 $ (9)

Sciatic Realty, Inc.
Balance Sheet

July 31, 2007
Assets
Cash $ (h)
Land 30,000
Total assets $39,750
Liabilities
Notes payable $18,000

Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $ (i)
Retained earnings (j) (k)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (1)

L5

Sciatic Realty, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended July 31, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 19,500

Deduct cash payments for expenses 11,250

Net cash flows from operating activities $ (m)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payment for purchase of land $(30,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash received from sale of capital stock $15,000

Cash received from notes payable (n) $ (o)

Deduct cash dividends 1,500

Net cash flows from financing activities (p)

Net increase in cash $ (a)
July 1, 2007, cash balance (r)

July 31, 2007, cash balance $ (s)
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Problem 2-6A Crazy Creek Realty, Inc., organized October 1, 2007, is operated by Jane Eckhart. How many
errors can you find in the following financial statements for Crazy Creek Realty, Inc., prepared
after its first month of operation?

Financial statements

3,5

Crazy Creek Realty, Inc.
Income Statement
October 31, 2007

Sales commissions $92,200
Operating expenses:
Office salaries expense $16,300
Rent expense 7,600
Automobile expense 3,500
Dividends 2,000
Miscellaneous expense 1,550
Total operating expenses 30,950
Net income $41,250

Jane Eckhart
Retained Earnings Statement
October 31, 2006

Net income for the month $41,250
Retained earnings, October 31, 2007 $41,250

Balance Sheet
For the Month Ended October 31, 2007

Assets
Cash $ 60,850
Notes payable 20,000
Total assets $ 80,850
Liabilities
Land $ 40,400

Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $20,000
Retained earnings 41,250 61,250

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $101,650
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Crazy Creek Realty, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
October 31, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash receipts from sales commissions $ 92,200
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payments for land (40,400)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash receipts from retained earnings 81,250
Net increase in cash during October $133,050

Cash as of October 1, 2007 0
Cash as of October 31, 2007 $133,050

ALTERNATE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Whitney Tomas established a real estate agency on March 1, 2007, and completed the following
transactions during March:

Alternate Problem
2-1B

Transactions and financial
statements

1,2,3
3. Net income, $6,250

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Alternate Problem
2-2B

Transactions and financial
statements

1,2,3
1. Net income, $6,550

SPREADSHEET

Opened a business bank account in the name of Tomas Realty, Inc., with a deposit of
$25,000 in exchange for capital stock.

b. Borrowed $15,000 by issuing a note payable.

c. Received cash from commissions earned, $11,500.

d. Paid rent on office and equipment for the month, $2,200.

e. Paid automobile expense for month, $1,050, and miscellaneous expense, $500.

f. Paid office salaries, $1,400.

g. Paid interest on the note payable, $100.

h. Purchased land as a future building site, $22,600.

i.  Paid dividends, $1,500.

Instructions

1. Indicate the effect of each transaction and the balances after each transaction, using the in-
tegrated financial statement framework.

2. Briefly explain why the stockholders” investments and revenues increased stockholders’
equity, while dividends and expenses decreased stockholders” equity.

3. Prepare an income statement and retained earnings statement for March.

4. Prepare a balance sheet as of March 31, 2007.

5. Prepare a statement of cash flows for March.

Kay Larsh established Kodiak Architectural Services on October 1, 2007. The effect of each trans-
action and the balances after each transaction for October are shown in the integrated financial
statement framework at the top of the following page.

Instructions

1.

2.
3.
4

Prepare an income statement for the month ended October 31, 2007.

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the month ended October 31, 2007.
Prepare a balance sheet as of October 31, 2007.

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the month ended October 31, 2007.
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Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Notes Capital Retained
(1] + Land LEVELE Stock + Earnings

. Investment 20,000 20,000

b. Fees earned 12,800 12,800 | b.
Balances 32,800 20,000 12,800

c. Rent expense —2,000 —2,000 C.
Balances 30,800 20,000 10,800

d. Issued note payable 18,000 18,000
Balances 48,800 18,000 20,000 10,800

e. Purchased land —27,000 27,000
Balances 21,800 27,000 18,000 20,000 10,800

f. Paid expenses —1,500 —1,500 | f.
Balances 20,300 27,000 18,000 20,000 9,300

g. Paid salary expense —2,750 -2,750 | g.
Balances 17,550 27,000 18,000 20,000 6,550

i. Paid dividends —1,500 —1,500

Balances, Oct. 31

Income Statement

b. 12,800 Fees earned
c. —2,000 Rent expense
f. —1,000 Auto expense
INTEG RATED FINANCIAL f. =500 Misc. expense
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK 9 Z2750 Salary expense
6,550 Net income
Alternate Problem The following amounts were taken from the accounting records of Rainbow Consulting Services,
2-3B Inc., as of July 31, 2007. Rainbow Consulting Services began its operations on August 1, 2006.
Financial statements g:z:tal stock $ gg:ggg
Goals 4, 5 Dividends 50,000
1. Net income, $280,000 Fees earned 676,600
Interest expense 9,600
SPREADSHEET Land 251,000
Miscellaneous expense 15,000
Notes payable 80,000
Rent expense 72,000
Salaries expense 160,000
Taxes expense 60,000

Utilities expense 80,000



Alternate Problem
2-4B

Financial statements
4,5
1. Net income, $160,000

SPREADSHEET

Alternate Problem
2-5B

Missing amounts from
financial statements

3,5
a. $55,500

SPREADSHEET
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Instructions

Ll

Prepare an income statement for the year ending July 31, 2007.

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ending July 31, 2007.
Prepare a balance sheet as of July 31, 2007.

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ending July 31, 2007.

After its second year of operations, the following amounts were taken from the accounting
records of Rainbow Consulting Services, Inc., as of July 31, 2008. Rainbow Consulting Services
began its operations on August 1, 2006 (see Problem 2-3B).

Capital stock $ 40,000
Cash ?

Dividends 40,000
Fees earned 578,000
Interest expense 12,000

Land 342,000

Miscellaneous expense 16,000
Notes payable 100,000
Rent expense 80,000
Salaries expense 180,000
Taxes expense 40,000
Utilities expense 90,000

Instructions

1. Prepare an income statement for the year ending July 31, 2008.

2. Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ending July 31, 2008.

(Note: The retained earnings at August 1, 2007, was $230,000.)
3. Prepare a balance sheet as of July 31, 2008.
4. Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ending July 31, 2008.

(Hint: You should compare the asset and liability amounts of July 31, 2008, with those of
July 31, 2007, to determine cash used in investing and financing activities. See Problem
2-3B for the July 31, 2007, balance sheet amounts.)

The financial statements at the end of Flagstone Consulting, Inc.’s first month of operation are
shown below. By analyzing the interrelationships between the financial statements, fill in the
proper amounts for (a) through (t).

Flagstone Consulting, Inc.
Income Statement
For the Month Ended June 30, 2007

Fees earned $ (a)
Operating expenses:

Wages expense $13,500

Rent expense 8,400

Utilities expense 5,700

Interest expense 600

Miscellaneous expense 1,800

Total operating expenses 30,000

Net income $ (b)
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Flagstone Consulting, Inc.
Retained Earnings Statement

For the Month Ended June 30, 2007

Retained earnings, June 1, 2007 $ (0)
Net income for June $ (d)

Less dividends (e) (f)
Retained earnings, June 30, 2007 $ (9)

Flagstone Consulting, Inc.
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2007

Assets
Cash $ (h)
Land 54,000
Total assets $139,500
Liabilities
Notes payable $ 45,000
Stockholders’ Equity

Capital stock $75,000

Retained earnings (i) (j)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ (k)

Flagstone Consulting, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended June 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ ()

Deduct cash payments for expenses (m)

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 25,500
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payment for purchase of land $(54,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash received from sale of capital stock $(n)

Cash received from notes payable (o) $ (p)

Deduct cash dividends 6,000

Net cash flows from financing activities (q)
Net increase in cash $ ()
June 1, 2007, cash balance (s)

June 30, 2007, cash balance $ (1)
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Alternate Problem Pulmonary Consulting, Inc., organized April 1, 2007, is operated by Dr. Tobin. How many er-
2-6B rors can you find in the following financial statements for Pulmonary Consulting, Inc., pre-
pared after its first month of operation?

Financial statements

3,5

Pulmonary Consulting, Inc.
Income Statement
April 30, 2007

Fees earned $92,500
Operating expenses:
Office salaries expense $42,500
Rent expense 12,500
Automobile expense 8,750
Dividends 5,000
Miscellaneous expense 2,750
Total operating expenses 77,500
Net income $15,000

Pulmonary Consulting, Inc.
Retained Earnings Statement
April 30, 2008

Net income for the month $15,000
Retained earnings, April 30, 2007 $15,000

Dr. Tobin
Balance Sheet
For the Month Ended April 30, 2007

Assets
Cash $ 31,000
Notes payable 50,000
Total assets $ 81,000
Liabilities
Land $ 65,000
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $25,000
Retained earnings 15,000 40,000

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $105,000
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Statement of Cash Flows
April 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash receipts from fees earned $ 92,500

Net cash from operating activities $ 92,500
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash payments for land 65,000
Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash receipts from issuance of capital stock 25,000
Net increase in cash during April $182,500
Cash as of April 1, 2007 0
Cash as of April 30, 2007 $182,500

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND REPORTING CASES

Case 2-1

Accounting equation

Case 2-2

Vertical analysis

SPREADSHEET

Condensed financial statements for Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company for 2004 and 2003 are shown in
Exhibits 9 and 10 of this chapter. Based upon these financial statements, answer the following

questions:

1. Using the accounting equation, Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity, fill in the
amounts for 2003. Express the amounts in millions.

2. If during 2004, assets increased by $646 and liabilities increased by $288, determine the
increase or decrease in stockholders’ equity during 2004.

3. Based upon your answers to (1) and (2), determine the total stockholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2004. Does this amount agree with Wrigley’s balance sheet shown in
Exhibit 9?

4. Based upon Exhibit 9, what percent of Wrigley’s total assets was financed by debt during
2004? Assuming you are a long-term creditor of Wrigley, interpret this percent in terms of
the chances that you will be repaid by Wrigley.

5. Assuming that in (4) you are a short-term creditor of Wrigley, would your interpretation

and analysis of your chances of being repaid change?

The balance sheets (in millions), on the following page, were adapted from the December 31,
2004 and 2003 financial statements of Boeing Co.

Instructions

1.

2.

Prepare a comparative vertical analysis of the balance sheets for 2004 and 2003. Round to
one decimal place.

Based upon (1), what is your analysis of Boeing’s financial condition in 2004 as compared
to 2003?
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Case 2-3

Vertical analysis

Case 2-4

Financial information
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The following income statement data (in millions) for Dell Computer Corporation and Apple

December 31, 2004

December 31, 2003

Assets:

Cash

Receivables

Inventories

Property, plant, and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Prepaid pension cost
Investments

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Accounts payable

Notes payable

Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

$ 3,204
7,260
4,247
8,443
2,903

12,588

$17,989
12,200
12,488
$42,677
11,286

$53,963

$ 4,633
6,430
5,338
8,432
2,948
8,542

12,951
3,761

$53,035

$17,304
14,443
13,149
$44,896
8,139
$53,035

Computer Inc. were taken from their recent annual reports:

Dell Apple
Net sales $49,205 $8,279
Cost of goods sold 40,190 6,020
Gross profit $ 9,015 $2,259
Operating expenses 4,761 1,933
Operating income (loss) $ 4,254 $ 326

Yahoo.com’s finance Internet site provides summary financial information about public companies,
such as stock quotes, recent financial filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
and recent news stories. Go to Yahoo.com'’s financial Web site (http:/finance.yahoo.com/) and
enter Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company’s stock symbol, WWY. Answer the following questions
concerning Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company by clicking on the various items under the tab “More on

Prepare a vertical analysis of the income statement for Dell. Round to one decimal place.
Prepare a vertical analysis of the income statement for Apple. Round to one decimal

place.

Based upon (1) and (2), how does Dell compare to Apple?

WWY.”

Gk WD

At what price did Wrigley’s stock last trade?

What is the 52-week range of Wrigley’s stock?
When was the last time Wrigley’s stock hit a 52-week high?

Over the last six months, has there been any insider selling or buying of Wrigley’s stock?

Who is the president of Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company, and how old is the president?
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Case 2-5

Analyzing financial informa-

tion

Case 2-6

Vertical analysis
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N

10.

What was the salary of the president of Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company?

What is the annual dividend of Wrigley’s stock?

How many current broker recommendations are strong buy, buy, hold, sell, or strong
sell? What is the average of the broker recommendations?

What is the net cash flow from operations for this year?

What is the operating margin for this year?

In the March 30, 2005, issue of The Chicago Sun Times, there is an article by Eric Herman, enti-
tled “Wrigley Opening Facilities Here and Around the World.” Read the article and answer the
following questions:

1.

2.

Is the article favorable, neutral, or unfavorable regarding future prospects for Wm.
Wrigley Jr. Company?

Would you invest in Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company’s stock based only upon this article? If
not, what additional information would you want?

Would it be a prudent investment strategy to only rely upon published financial
statements in deciding to invest in a company’s stock?

What sources do you think financial analysts use in making investment decisions and
recommendations?

The following comparative income statement information was provided by AMR Corp., the par-
ent company of American Airlines for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

December 31, December 31,
(in millions) 2004 2003
Revenues:
Passenger—American Airlines $ 15,021 $14,332
Regional affiliates 1,876 1,519
Cargo 625 558
Other revenues 1,123 1,031
Total operating revenues $ 18,645 $17,440
Expenses:
Wages, salaries, and benefits $ 6,719 $ 7,264
Aircraft fuel 3,969 2,772
Depreciation and amortization 1,292 1,377
Other rentals and landing fees 1,187 1,173
Commissions, booking fees, and credit card expense 1,107 1,063
Maintenance, materials, and repairs 971 860
Aircraft rentals 609 687
Food service 558 611
Other operating expenses 2,366 2,428
Special charges 1" 407
U.S. government grant — (358)
Total operating expenses $ 18,789 $18,284
Operating loss $  (144) $ (844)

=

Provide a vertical analysis for the comparative years.
Interpret your results.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND RESPONSIBILITY ISSUES

Activity 2-1

Business emphasis

GROUP
ACTIVITY

Activity 2-2

Cash accounting

Activity 2-3

Cash flows

Assume that you are considering developing a nationwide chain of women’s clothing stores.
You have contacted a Houston-based firm that specializes in financing new business ventures
and enterprises. Such firms, called venture capital firms, finance new businesses in exchange for
a percentage of the ownership.

1. In groups of four or five, discuss the different business emphases that you might use in
your venture.

2. For each emphasis you listed in (1), provide an example of a real world business using
the same strategy.

3.  What percentage of the ownership would you be willing to give the venture capital firm
in exchange for its financing?

Kristin Stokes and Marikay Blair both graduated from State University in June 2007. After grad-
uation, Marikay took a job as a staff accountant in the Chicago office of PricewaterhouseCoopers,
an international public accounting firm. Kristin began working as a manager in Kleen Electronics,
a wholesale computer hardware and software company, but left after only six months to start
her own consulting business. The following conversation took place between Kristin and Marikay
at their first annual alumni function:

Kristin: Marikay, good to see you again.

Marikay: Yes. It doesn’t seem like it's been almost a year since we graduated.

Kristin: That’s for sure. It seems like only yesterday we were listening to that boring
commencement speaker. I don’t even remember his name . . . Robert somebody. Are you
still working for PricewaterhouseCoopers?

Marikay: Yes, it’s been a great year. I've worked on 13 companies . . . it's been a fantastic
learning experience. Each client has a different culture, management team, problems, and
personality. I've learned something new every day. How about you? Are you still
working for Kleen Electronics?

Kristin: No, I quit after six months. My customers really didn’t know what they needed for
computer systems ... so ... I quit and started a consulting business. I feel like I'm
helping my customers more now than I did before. Besides, I like being my own boss.

Marikay: What's the name of your business?

Kristin: Stokes Consulting. It's been amazing. I started with my savings of $5,000 six months
ago. My last bank statement showed I've got more than $45,000—"pure profit” of $40,000
in only six months.

Marikay: That's unbelievable! If you ever need a CPA firm, keep us in mind.

Kristin: Sure. What are friends for anyway?

Comment on Kristin’s statement that she’s earned $40,000 “pure profit” in only six months.

Amazon.com, an Internet retailer, was incorporated in the early 1990s and opened its virtual
doors on the Web shortly thereafter. On the statement of cash flows, would you expect
Amazon.com’s net cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities to be positive
or negative for its first three years of operation? Use the following format for your answers, and
briefly explain your logic.

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Net cash flows from operating activities negative
Net cash flows from investing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities
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Activity 2-4

Opportunities for accountants

Basic Accounting Concepts

The increasing complexity of the current business and regulatory environment has created an
increased demand for accountants who can analyze business transactions and interpret their ef-
fects on the financial statements. In addition, a basic ability to analyze the effects of transactions is
necessary to be successful in all fields of business as well as in other disciplines, such as law. To

better understand the importance of accounting in today’s environment, search the Internet or
your local newspaper for job opportunities. One possible Internet site is http://www.jobweb.com.

Then do one of the following:

1. Print a listing of at least two ads for accounting jobs. Alternatively, bring to class at least
two newspaper ads for accounting jobs.

2. Print a listing of at least two ads for nonaccounting jobs for which some knowledge of
accounting is preferred or necessary. Alternatively, bring to class at least two newspaper

ads for such jobs.

ANSWERS TO SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS

1. D Even though a recording error has been made, the ac-
counting equation will balance (answer D). However, assets
(cash) will be overstated by $50,000, and liabilities (notes
payable) will be overstated by $50,000. Answer A is incorrect
because although cash is overstated by $50,000, the accounting
equation will balance. Answer B is incorrect because although
notes payable are overstated by $50,000, the accounting equa-
tion will balance. Answer C is incorrect because the account-
ing equation will balance and assets will not exceed liabilities.

2. C Total assets will exceed total liabilities and stockholders’
equity by $16,000. This is because stockholders’ equity (re-
tained earnings) was decreased instead of increased by $8,000.
Thus, stockholders’” equity will be understated by a total of
$16,000.

3. C The accounting equation is:
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity

Therefore, if assets increased by $20,000 and liabili-
ties increased by $12,000, stockholders’ equity must have

increased by $8,000 (answer C), as indicated in the follow-
ing computation:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
+ $20,000 = $12,000 + Stockholders’ Equity
+ $20,000 — $12,000 = Stockholders’ Equity
+ $8,000 = Stockholders’ Equity

4. B Net income is the excess of revenue over expenses, or
$7,500 (answer B). If expenses exceed revenue, the difference
is a net loss. Dividends are the opposite of the stockholders’
investing in the business and do not affect the amount of net
income or net loss.

5. B The purchase of land for cash changes the mix of
assets and does not affect liabilities or stockholders” equity
(answer B). Borrowing cash from a bank (answer A) increases
assets and liabilities. Receiving cash for fees earned (answer C)
increases cash and stockholders’” equity (retained earnings).
Paying office salaries (answer D) decreases cash and stock-
holders” equity (retained earnings).
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Learning Goals

Describe basic accrual accounting concepts, including
the matching concept.

Use accrual concepts of accounting to analyze, record,
and summarize transactions.

Describe and illustrate the end-of-the-period adjustment
process.

Prepare financial statements using accrual concepts
of accounting, including a classified balance sheet.

(5]
(6]
(7]

Describe how the accrual basis of accounting enhances
the interpretation of financial statements.

Describe the accounting cycle for the accrual basis
of accounting.

Describe and illustrate how common-sized financial
statements can be used to analyze and evaluate a
company’s performance.




Do you subscribe to any magazines? Most of us
subscribe to one or more magazines such as
Cosmopolitan, Sports Illustrated, Golf Digest,
Newsweek, or Rolling Stone. Magazines usually
require us to prepay the yearly subscription
price before we receive any issues. When
should the magazine company record revenue
from the subscriptions? As we discussed in
Chapter 2, sometimes revenues are earned and
expenses are incurred at the point cash changes
hands. However, for many transactions, such as
magazine subscriptions, the revenue is earned
when the magazine is delivered. Large corpora-
tions are required to account for revenues and
expense when the benefit is substantially pro-
vided or consumed, which may not necessarily
occur when cash is either received or paid.

For example,
records revenues when cash is received at the
cash register from meal sales. However, the in-
gredient costs associated with each meal are
recorded at the time the meal is sold, not when
the various ingredients are purchased. With
over 4,000 restaurants, Wendy’s has become a
successful company, climbing to the third
largest fast-food chain in the United States.

How did Wendy’s succeed in the highly
competitive fast-food industry? First, through
innovation. Wendy’s was the first restaurant to
feature a salad bar. This was a radical change
in the fast-food industry. Second, the company
created a family-friendly atmosphere by deco-
rating with glass lamps and bentwood chairs.
Third, it emphasized the importance of making
each sandwich fresh, never frozen, and offering
customers a choice of toppings. Fourth, it is
continually responding to customer taste
changes, such as introducing the “combo
choices” program, which lets customers replace
french fries with side dishes such as a baked
potato or chili.

Image not available due to copyright restrictions

In this chapter, we continue our discussion
of financial statements and financial reporting
systems. In doing so, we focus on accrual con-
cepts of accounting that are used by all major
businesses, such as Wendy’s. Our discussions
will include how to record transactions under
accrual accounting concepts, update accounting
records, and prepare accrual financial statements.
Because all large companies, and many small
ones, use accrual concepts of accounting, a thor-
ough understanding of this topic is important
for your business studies and future career.

Sources: Richard Bloom, “Wendy's Strives to Refresh Stale
Brand,” The Globe and Mail, January 6, 2005.
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@

Describe basic accrual
accounting concepts,
including the matching
concept.

OnA

o

J. C. Clark, attorney at
law, drafted a will and
estate documents for Max
Winder on April 30. Clark
billed Winder $1,200 for
these services on May 20
and received payment on
June 4. In what month
should Clark record the
revenue under the accrual
concepts of accounting?

April

BASIC ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS
INCLUDING THE MATCHING CONCEPT

In Chapter 2, we illustrated the recording of transactions for Family Health Care for
the months of September and October. In these illustrations, we used many of the ac-
counting concepts described in Chapter 1. For example, under the business entity con-
cept, we accounted for Family Health Care as a separate entity, independent of the
owner-manager, Dr. Lee Landry. Under the cost concept, we recorded the purchase of
land at the amount paid for it. Consistent with the going concern concept, we did not
revalue the land for increases or decreases in its market value, but retained the land in
the accounting records at its original cost. We also employed the accounting period,
full disclosure, objectivity, and unit of measurement concepts in preparing financial
statements for Family Health Care.

The one accounting concept that we did not emphasize in Chapter 2 was the
matching concept. This is because all the transactions in Chapter 2 were structured so
that cash was either received or paid. We did this to simplify the recording of trans-
actions and the preparation of financial statements. For example, all revenues were re-
ceived in cash at the time the services were rendered and all expenses were paid in
cash at the time they were incurred.

In the real world, cash may be received or paid at a different time from when rev-
enues are earned or expenses are incurred. In fact, companies often earn revenues be-
fore or after cash is received and incur expense before or after cash is paid. For example,
a company might spend months or years developing land for a business complex or
subdivision. During the development of the land, the company has to pay for materi-
als, wages, insurance, and other construction items. At the same time, cash might not
be received until portions of the development are sold. Thus, if revenues were recorded
only when cash is received and expenses recorded only when cash is paid, the com-
pany would report a series of losses on its income statement during the development
of the land. In this case, the income statements would not provide a realistic picture of
the company’s operations. In fact, the development might be highly successful and the
early losses misleading.

Accrual accounting concepts are designed to reflect a company’s financial perfor-
mance during a period and avoid misleading results that could arise from the timing
of cash receipts and payments such as those described in the preceding paragraph. At
the same time, accrual accounting recognizes the importance of reporting cash flows
through its emphasis on preparing and reporting the statement of cash flows.

Under the accrual concepts of accounting, transactions are recorded as they occur
and thus affect the accounting equation (assets, liabilities, and stockholders’” equity).
Since the receipt or payment of cash affects assets (cash), all cash receipts and payments
are recorded in the accounts under accrual concepts. However, under the accrual con-
cepts, transactions are also recorded even though cash is not received or paid until a
later point. For example, Family Health Care may provide services to patients who are
covered by health insurance. It then files a claim with the insurance company for the
payment. In this case, revenue is recognized when the services are provided, and the
services are said to be provided “on account.” Likewise, a business may purchase sup-
plies from a vendor, with terms that allow the business to pay for the purchase within
a time period, such as 10 days. In this case, the supplies are said to be purchased “on
account.” Each of the preceding illustrations represents a business transaction that af-
fects elements of the accounting equation and is therefore recorded under accrual con-
cepts, even though cash is not received or paid at the time of the transaction.

In accounting, we often use the term “recognized” to refer to when a transaction
is recorded. Under accrual concepts of accounting, revenue is recognized when it is earned.



Chapter 3  Accrual Accounting Concepts

N i

Have you ever ordered a hamburger from Wendy’s
and noticed that the meat patty is square? The square
meat patty reflects a business emphasis instilled in
Wendy's by its founder, Dave Thomas. Mr. Thomas
emphasized offering high-quality products at a fair
price in a friendly atmosphere, without “cutting cor-
ners;” hence, the square meat patty. In the highly

competitive fastfood industry, Dave Thomas's ap-
proach has enabled Wendy's to become the third
largest fastfood restaurant chain in the world, with
annual sales of over $7 billion.

Source: Douglas Martin, “Dave Thomas, 69, Wendy's
Founder, Dies,” The New York Times, January 9, 2002.

For Family Health Care, revenue is earned when services have been provided to the
patient. At this point, the revenue earning process is complete, and the patient is
legally obligated to pay for the services.

Under the accrual concepts, the matching concept plays an important role in de-
termining when expenses are recorded. When revenues are earned and recorded, all
expenses incurred in generating the revenues must also be recorded, regardless of
whether cash has been paid. In this way, revenues and expenses are matched and the
net income or net loss for the period can be determined. This is an application of the
matching concept that we discussed in Chapter 1. That is, expenses are recognized
and recorded in the same period as the related revenues that they generated and,
thus, net income (loss) can be accurately determined.

Accrual concepts recognize liabilities at the time the business incurs the obligation
to pay for the services or goods purchased. For example, the purchase of supplies on
account would be recorded when the supplies are received and the business has in-
curred the obligation to pay for the supplies.

@

Use accrual concepts of
accounting to analyze,

record, and summarize

transactions.

USING ACCRUAL CONCEPTS OF ACCOUNTING
FOR FAMILY HEALTH CARE’S NOVEMBER
TRANSACTIONS

To illustrate accrual concepts of accounting, we will use the following November 2007
Family Health Care transactions.

a. On November 1, received $1,800 from ILS Company as rent for the use of Family
Health Care’s land as a temporary parking lot from November 2007 through March
2008.

b. On November 1, paid $2,400 for an insurance premium on a two-year, general
business policy.

c¢. On November 1, paid $6,000 for an insurance premium on a six-month medical
malpractice policy.

d. Dr. Landry invested an additional $5,000 in the business in exchange for capital stock.

Purchased supplies for $240 on account.

f. Purchased $8,500 of office equipment. Paid $1,700 cash as a down payment, with
the remaining $6,800 ($8,500 — $1,700) due in five monthly installments of $1,360
($6,800/5) beginning January 1.

e
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Statement of
Cash Flows

Balances, Nov. 1
a. Received rent in advance

Balances

Statement of Cash Flows

a. Operating

Chapter 3  Accrual Accounting Concepts

Provided services of $6,100 to patients on account.

Received $5,500 for services provided to patients who paid cash.

Received $4,200 from insurance companies, which paid on patients” accounts for
services that have been provided.

Paid $100 on account for supplies that had been purchased.

Expenses paid during November were as follows: wages, $2,790; rent, $800; utili-
ties, $580; interest, $100; and miscellaneous, $420.

1. Paid dividends of $1,200 to stockholders (Dr. Landry).

=

-

o

In analyzing and recording the November transactions for Family Health Care, we
use the integrated financial statement framework that we used in Chapter 2. In so
doing, we record increases and decreases for each financial statement element. These
separate elements are referred to as accounts.

Transaction a.  On November 1, received $1,800 from ILS Company as rent for the use of
Family Health Care’s land as a temporary parking lot from November 2007 through March
2008. In this transaction, Family Health Care entered into a rental agreement for the
use of its land. The agreement required the payment of the rental fee of $1,800 in ad-
vance. The rental agreement also gives ILS Company the option of renewing the agree-
ment for another four months.

How does this transaction affect the accounts (elements) of the balance sheet, and
how should it be recorded? Since cash has been received, cash is increased by $1,800,
but what other account should be increased or decreased? Family Health Care has
agreed to rent the land to ILS Company for five months and thus has incurred a lia-
bility to provide this service—rental of the land. If Family Health Care canceled the
agreement on November 1, after accepting the $1,800, it would have to repay that
amount to ILS Company. Thus, Family Health Care should record this transaction as
an increase in cash and an increase in a liability for $1,800. Because the liability relates
to rent that has been paid in cash, but not yet earned, it is recorded as unearned
revenue, as shown below.

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity Statement
Notes Unearned Capital Retained
+ Land Payable + Revenue Stock + Earnings
12,000 10,000 6,000 3,320
1,800 1,800
9,120 12,000 10,000 1,800 6,000 3,320

Income Statement

1,800

As time passes, the liability will decrease, and Family Health Care will earn rental
revenue. For example, at the end of November, one-fifth of the $1,800 ($360) will have
been earned. Later in this chapter, we will discuss how to record the $360 of earned
rent revenue at the end of November.

You should note that the November 1 balances shown in the preceding integrated
financial statement spreadsheet are the ending balances from October. That is, the cash
balance of $7,320 is the ending cash balance as of October 31, 2007. Likewise, the other



Balances
b. Paid insurance for 2 yrs.

Balances

Balances

Balances

c. Paid insurance for 6 mos.
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balances are carried forward from the preceding month. In this sense, the accounting
equation represents a cumulative history of the financial results of the business. In
addition, the receipt of cash has the effect of increasing cash flows from operating
activities on the statement of cash flows.

Transaction b.  On November 1, paid $2,400 for an insurance premium on a two-year,
general business policy. This insurance policy covers a variety of possible risks to the
business, such as fire and theft. By paying the premium, Family Health Care has pur-
chased an asset, insurance coverage, in exchange for cash. Thus, the mix of assets has
changed and cash flows from operating activities decreases by $2,400. However, the
prepaid insurance coverage is unique in that it expires with the passage of time. At the
end of the two-year period, the asset will have been used up, and the insurance pol-
icy will be completely expired. Such assets are called prepaid expenses or deferred
expenses. Thus, the purchase of the insurance coverage is recorded as prepaid insur-
ance, as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income

Assets Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Prepaid Notes Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Insurance + Land Payable + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

9,120 12,000 10,000 1,800 6,000 3,320
—2,400 2,400
6,720 2,400 12,000 10,000 1,800 6,000 3,320

Income Statement

Later in this illustration, we will discuss how such accounts are updated at the end
of an accounting period to reflect the portion of the asset that has expired.

Transaction c¢.  On November 1, paid $6,000 for an insurance premium on a six-month
medical malpractice policy. This transaction is similar to transaction (b), except that
Family Health Care has purchased medical malpractice insurance that is renewable
every six months. The transaction is recorded as follows:

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Prepaid Notes Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Insurance + Land Payable + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

6,720 2,400 12,000 10,000 1,800 6,000 3,320
—6,000 6,000
720 8,400

12,000 10,000 1,800 6,000 3,320

Income Statement
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Transaction d.  Dr. Landry invested an additional $5,000 in the business in exchange for
capital stock. This transaction is similar to the one in which Dr. Landry initially estab-
lished Family Health Care. It is recorded as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income

Assets Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Prepaid Notes Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Insurance + Land Payable + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 8,400 12,000 10,000 1,800 6,000 3,320
d. Issued capital stock 5,000
Balances 8,400 12,000 10,000 1,800 11,000 3,320

Income Statement

Transaction e.  Purchased supplies for $240 on account. This transaction is similar to
transactions (b) and (c), in that purchased supplies are assets until they are used up in
generating revenue. Family Health Care has purchased and received the supplies, with
a promise to pay in the near future. Such liabilities that are incurred in the normal
operations of the business are called accounts payable. The transaction is recorded by in-
creasing the asset supplies and increasing the liability accounts payable, as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income
Assets Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Prepaid Notes  Accounts Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Insurance + Supplies + Land = Payable + Payable + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 5,720 8,400 12,000 10,000 1,800 11,000 3,320
e. Purchased supplies 240 240
Balances 5,720 8,400 240 12,000 10,000 240 1,800 11,000 3,320

Income Statement

Transaction f.  Purchased $8,500 of office equipment. Paid $1,700 cash as a down payment,
with the remaining $6,800 (8,500 — $1,700) due in five monthly installments of $1,360 ($6,800/5)
beginning January 1. In this transaction, the asset office equipment is increased by $8,500,
cash is decreased by $1,700, notes payable is increased by $6,800, and cash flows from
investing activities is decreased by $1,700. The transaction is recorded as follows:

Balance Sheet Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Insur. + Supp. + Equip. + Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 5720 8,400 240 12,000 10,000 240 1,800 11,000 3,320
f. Purchased office equip. | —1,700 8,500 6,800
Balances 4,020 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 3,320

Income Statement
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Transaction g.  Provided services of $6,100 to patients on account. This transaction is
similar to the revenue transactions that we recorded in September and October, except
that the services have been provided on account. Family Health Care will collect cash
from the patients” insurance companies in the future. Such amounts that are to be col-
lected in the future and that arise from the normal operations of a business are called
accounts receivable. Since a valid claim exists for future collection, accounts receivable
are assets, and the transaction would be recorded as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity IEIENELT

Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+ Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 8,400 240 8500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 3,320
g. Fees earned on acct. 6,100 6,100 g.
Balances 6,100 8,400 240 8500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 9,420

Income Statement

g. 6,100 Fees earned

Transaction h.  Received $5,500 for services provided to patients who paid cash. This
transaction is similar to the revenue transactions that we recorded in September and
October and is recorded as shown below.

Balance Sheet T
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BIELENE

Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
+ Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 6,100 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 9,420
h. Fees earned for cash 5,500 h.
Balances 6,100 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 14,920

Income Statement

h. 5,500 Fees earned

Transaction i.  Received $4,200 from insurance companies, which paid on patients’ ac-
counts for services that have been provided. In this transaction, cash is increased and the
accounts receivable is decreased by $4,200. Thus, only the mix of assets changes, and
the transaction is recorded as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity IELELENT

Accts.  Prepaid (0] {ld] Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 9,520 6,100 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 14,920
i. Collected cash on acct. 4,200 —4,200
Balances 13,720 1,900 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 14,920

Income Statement
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Transaction j.  Paid $100 on account for supplies that had been purchased. This transac-
tion reduces the cash and the accounts payable by $100, as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity [EIGLENENL:

Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+ Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 13,720 1,900 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 240 1,800 11,000 14,920
j- Paid on account —100 —100
Balances 13,620 1,900 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 14,920

Income Statement

oA

Q. Assume that you cancel
a $300 airline ticket that,

though nonrefundable, may ) )
be applied to another ficket Transaction k. Expenses paid during November were as follows: wages, $2,790; rent,

within one year. When $800; utilities, $580; interest, $100; and miscellaneous, $420. This transaction is similar to
should the airline transfer ~ the expense transaction that we recorded for Family Health Care in September and
the $300 from unearned October. It is recorded as shown below.

revenue fo revenue?

A. After one year, or
when the $300 is applied
to another ticket and you
use that ticket.

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders' Equity BLELENGEL
Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings
Balances 13,620 1,900 8,400 240 8500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 14,920
k. Paid expenses —4,690 —4,690 k.

240 140

Balances 8,930 1,900 8,400 8,500 12,000 16,800 1,800 11,000 10,230

Income Statement

k. —2,790 Wages expense
—800 Rent expense
—580 Utilities expense
—100 Interest expense
—420 Misc. expense

Transaction 1. Paid dividends of $1,200 to stockholders (Dr. Landry). This transaction is
similar to the dividends transactions of September and October. It is recorded as
shown on the next page.



Statement of

Cash Flows
Balances 8,930
|. Paid dividends —1,200
Balances 7,730
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Balance Sheet Income

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BEIELENEL

Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

1,900 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 10,230

—1,200
1,900 8,400 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 9,030

Statement of Cash Flows

|. Financing —1,200

Income Statement

®

Describe and illustrate the
end-of-the-period adjust-
ment process.

THE ADJUSTMENT PROCESS

Accrual concepts of accounting require the accounting records to be updated prior to
preparing financial statements. This updating process, called the adjustment process,
is necessary to properly match revenues and expenses. This is an application of the
matching concept.

Adjustments are necessary because, at any point in time, some accounts (elements)
of the accounting equation will not be up to date. For example, as time passes, prepaid
insurance will expire and supplies will be used in operations. However, it is not effi-
cient to record the daily expiration of prepaid insurance or the daily usage of supplies.
Rather, the accounting records are normally updated just prior to preparing the fi-
nancial statements.

You may wonder why we were able to prepare the September and October finan-
cial statements for Family Health Care in Chapter 2 without recording any adjust-
ments. The answer is that in September and October, Family Health Care only entered
into cash transactions. When all of a party’s transactions are cash transactions, no ad-
justments are necessary. However, Family Health Care had accrual transactions in
November. Thus, we must now address the adjustment process.

Deferrals and Accruals

The financial statements are affected by two types of adjustments—deferrals and
accruals. Whether a deferral or an accrual, each adjustment will affect a balance sheet
account and an income statement account.

Deferrals are created by recording a transaction in a way that delays or defers the
recognition of an expense or a revenue. Common examples of deferrals are described
below.

e Prepaid expenses or deferred expenses are items that initially have been recorded
as assets but are expected to become expenses over time or through the normal
operations of the business. For Family Health Care, prepaid insurance is
an example of a deferral that will normally require adjustment. Other exam-
ples include supplies, prepaid advertising, and prepaid interest. McDonald’s
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QA

I

Assume that you take
advantage of an offer by
a local funeral home to
prepay your funeral, bur-
ial, and related expenses.
How would the funeral
home account for the pre-
payment?

Increase cash and de-
ferred (unearned) revenue.

Dave’s Legacy
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Corporation reported over $300 million of prepaid expenses and other current as-
sets on a recent balance sheet.

Unearned revenues or deferred revenues are items that initially have been recorded
as liabilities but are expected to become revenues over time or through the normal
operations of the business. For Family Health Care, unearned rent is an example of
a deferred revenue. Other examples include tuition received in advance by a school,
an annual retainer fee received by an attorney, premiums received in advance by an
insurance company, and magazine subscriptions received in advance by a publisher.
On a recent balance sheet, Microsoft Corporation reported almost $5 billion of de-
ferred revenue related to its software. Likewise, Time-Warner Inc. reported over a
billion dollars of deferred revenue on a recent balance sheet.

Accruals are created when a revenue or expense has been earned or incurred, but

has not been recorded at the end of the accounting period. Accruals are normally the
result of revenue being earned or an expense being incurred before any cash is re-
ceived or paid. One such situation where employees earn wages before the end of
the year, but are not paid until after year-end. For example, employee wages may be
paid and recorded every Friday, but the accounting period may end on a Tuesday.
Thus, at the end of the accounting period, the company owes the employees for their
wages on Monday and Tuesday that will be paid on the following Friday. At the end
of the accounting period, these wages have been incurred by the company, but have
not yet been recorded or paid. Thus, the amount of the wages for Monday and Tuesday
is an accrual. Other examples of accruals are described below.

Accrued expenses or accrued liabilities are expenses that have been incurred but
have not been recorded in the accounts. An example of an accrued expense is accrued
interest on notes payable at the end of a period. Other examples include accrued util-
ity expenses and taxes. On a recent balance sheet, Home Depot reported over $600
million of accrued salaries and related expenses and over a billion dollars of other
accrued expenses.

Accrued revenues or accrued assets are revenues that have been earned but have
not been recorded in the accounts. An example of an accrued revenue is fees for
services that an attorney has provided but has not billed to the client at the end of
the period. Other examples include accrued interest on notes receivable and ac-
crued rent on property rented to others. In notes to a recent balance sheet, General
Motors reported over $1 billion of accrued interest and rent receivables.

When Dave Thomas, founder of Wendy’s, died in 2002, he
left behind a corporate culture of integrity and high ethical
conduct. When asked to comment on Dave’s death, Jack
Schuessler, chairman and chief executive officer of Wendy's,
stated:

“. . . people (could) relate to Dave, that he was honest and
has infegrity and he really cares about people. . . . there is no
replacing Dave Thomas . . . . So you are left with . . . the values
that he gave us . .. and you toze care of the customer every
day like Dave would want us to and good things will happen.”

“. .. he's (Dave Thomas) taught us so much that when we
get stuck, we can always look back and ask ourselves, how
would Dave handle ite”

In a recent discussion of corporate earnings
with analysts, Kerrii Anderson, chief financial of-
ficer of Wendy's, stated: “. .. we're confident
about the future and because of our unwavering
commitment to our core values, such as quality
food, superior restaurant operations, continuous
improvement, and integrity to doing the right
thing (emphasis added).”

Sources: Neil Cavuto, “Wendy's CEO—Interview,” Fox News:
Your World, February 11, 2002; “Q1 2003 Wendy's International
Earnings Conference Call—Final,” Financial Disclosure Wire, April
24, 2003.
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Exhibit 1 Current Future
Deferrals and Accruals Accounting Period Accounting Period

Deferrals Revenue earned or
expense incurred

Cash received or paid

Revenue earned or Accruals
expense incurred

A /

ash received or pai

Exhibit 1 summarizes the nature of deferrals and accruals and the need for ad-
justments in order to prepare financial statements.

Adjustments for Family Health Care

We now analyze the accounts for Family Health Care at the end of November to
determine whether any adjustments are necessary. Specifically, we will focus on the
following adjustment data, which are typical for most businesses.

Deferred expenses:

1. Prepaid insurance expired, $1,100.

2. Supplies used, $150.

3. Depreciation on office equipment, $160.

Deferred revenue:
4. Unearned revenue earned, $360.

Accrued expense:
5. Wages owed but not paid to employees, $220.

Accrued revenue:
6. Services provided but not billed to insurance companies, $750.

Adjustment 1 (Prepaid Insurance).  This first adjustment recognizes that a portion
of the prepaid insurance purchased November 1 expired during November. Family
Health Care prepaid two policies—a general business policy for $2,400 (transaction b)
and a malpractice policy for $6,000 (transaction c). The general business policy is a two-
year policy expiring at a rate of $100 ($2,400 + 24) per month. The malpractice policy
is a six-month policy that expires at a rate of $1,000 (36,000 + 6) per month. The total
expired prepaid insurance is thus $1,100 ($100 + $1,000). This adjustment is recorded
as shown on the next page.
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Balance Sheet

Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BEIELENEL
Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings
Balances 7,730 1,900 8,400 240 8500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 9,030
al. Insurance expense —1,100 —1,100 al.

Balances 7,730 1,900 7300 240 8500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 7,930

Income Statement

al. —1,100 Insurance exp.

%A

Q. As of January 1, $450 . . . . . .
of supplies are on hand. Adjustment 2 (Supplies). This adjustment recognizes the portion of the $240 of

During January, $1,250 of supplies purchased during November that have been used. For November, $150 of the
supplies were purchased on  supplies were used, leaving $90 of supplies remaining for use during the coming
account, and on January months. Thus, after recording the adjustment, the accounting records should show
31, $175 of supplies are supplies expense of $150 for November and supplies on hand (an asset) of $90. The

on hand. What is the sup-  second adjustment is recorded as shown below.
plies expense for January?

A. $1,525 ($450 +
$1,250 — $175)

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BLELENELS
Accts.  Prepaid Office Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. + Supp.+ Equip.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings
Balances 7,730 1,900 7,300 240 8,500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 7,930
a2. Supplies expense —150 —150 a2.

Balances 7,730 1,900 7,300 90 8500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 7,780

Income Statement

a2. —150 Supplies exp.

Adjustment 3 (Depreciation).  This adjustment recognizes that fixed assets such as
office equipment lose their ability to provide service over time. This reduction in the abil-
ity of a fixed asset to provide service is called depreciation. However, it is difficult to ob-
jectively determine the physical decline in the ability of fixed assets to provide service.
For this reason, accountants estimate the amount of the cost of long-term assets that be-
comes expense over the asset’s useful life. In a later chapter, we will discuss methods of
estimating depreciation. In this chapter, we simply assume that the amount of November
depreciation for the office equipment is $160.

To maintain a record of the initial cost of a fixed asset for tax and other purposes,
the fixed asset (office equipment) is not reduced directly. Instead, an offsetting or con-
tra asset account, called accumulated depreciation, is included in the accounting equa-
tion. On the balance sheet, the accumulated depreciation will be subtracted from the
original cost of the fixed asset. Thus, the third adjustment is recorded as shown on the
next page.
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Balance Sheet

Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders' Equity BAELENENL
Accts. Prepaid Office  Acc. Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.— Dep. + Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings
1,900 7,300 90 8,500 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 7,780
—160 —160 as3.

a3. Depreciation exp.

Balances 7,730

Balances 7,730

1,900 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 1,800

11,000 7,620

Income Statement

a3. —160 Depreciation exp.

Note that the accumulated depreciation account is subtracted in determining the
total assets. We should also note three other points related to Adjustment 3. First, land
is not depreciated, since it usually does not lose its ability to provide service. Second,
the cost of the equipment can be thought of as a deferred expense, since it is recog-
nized as an expense over the equipment’s useful life. Third, the cost of the fixed as-
set less the balance of its accumulated depreciation is called the asset’s carrying value
or book value. For example, the carrying value of the office equipment, after the pre-
ceding adjustment, is $8,340 ($8,500 — $160).

Adjustment 4 (Unearned Rent).  This adjustment recognizes that a portion of the un-
earned revenue is earned by the end of November. That is, of the $1,800 received for
rental of the land for five months (November through March), one-fifth, or $360, would
have been earned as of November 30. The fourth adjustment recognizes this decrease in
the unearned revenue and the increase in the rental revenue, as shown below.

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity [IELEUIL:
Accts. Prepaid Office  Acc. Notes Accts. Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.— Dep. + Land = Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings
1,900 7,300 90 8,500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 1,800 11,000 7,620
—360 360 ad.

a4. Rent revenue

Balances 7,730

o%A

Q. During August, wages
expense of $18,950 was
reported. If wages
payable at August 1 was
$1,100, and wages of
$18,500 were paid dur-
ing August, how much
was accrued wages
payable on August 312

1,900 7,300 90 8,500 —160

A. $1,550 ($18,500 —
$1,100 = $17,400;
$18,950 — $17,400 =
$1,550); Or, $1,100 +
$18,950 — $18,500

12,000 16,800 140 1,440 11,000 7,980

Income Statement

a4. 360 Rent revenue

Adjustment 5 (Accrued Wages Expense).  This adjustment recognizes that as of
November 30, employees of Family Health Care may have worked one or more days for
which they have not been paid. It is rare that the employees are paid the same day that
the accounting period ends. Thus, at the end of an accounting period, it is normal
for businesses to owe wages to their employees. This is what we defined as an ac-
crued expense earlier in our discussion. The fifth adjustment is recorded by increasing
wages payable, a liability, and deducting wages expense from retained earnings, as
shown at the top of the next page.
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Balance Sheet Income

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BRIELENEL

Accts. Prepaid Office Acc. Notes Accts. Wages Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+ Equip.—Dep.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 7,730 1,900 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 1,440 11,000 7,980
a5. Wages exp. 220 —220 as.
Balances 7,730 1,900 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 7,760

Income Statement

a5. —220 Wages expense

Adjustment 6 (Accrued Fees Earned).  This adjustment recognizes that Family Health
Care has provided services to patients that have not yet been billed. Such services are usu-
ally provided near the end of the month. This adjustment is recorded by increasing ac-
counts receivable and fees earned, as shown below.

Balance Sheet Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BRIELENED

Accts. Prepaid Office Acc. Notes Accts. Wages Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+ Equip.—Dep.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

Balances 7,730 1,900 7,300 90 8,500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 7,760
ab. Fees earned 750 750 ab.

Balances 7,730 2,650 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 8510

Income Statement

a6. 750 Fees earned

The November transactions and adjustments for Family Health Care are summarized
in Exhibit 2.

@ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepare financial state-

ments usin CT] acerual In Chapter 2, we prepared financial statements for Family Health Care for September

concepts of accounting, and October. In this section, we describe and illustrate financial statements for
including a classified November, using accrual concepts of accounting. These financial statements are shown
balance sheet. in Exhibits 3, 4, 5, and 6. They are based on the summary of transactions and adjust-

ments shown in Exhibit 2.

Income Statement

The income statement is prepared by summarizing the revenue and expense transac-
tions listed under the income statement column of Exhibit 2. The operating income is
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Exhibit 2

Family Health Care Summary of Transactions and Adjustments for November

Balance Sheet

Stockholders’ Income
Assets Liabilities + Equity Statement

Accts.  Prepaid Office Acc. Notes  Accts. Wages Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. + Supp. + Equip. — Dep. + Land Pay. + Pay. + Pay. +Revenue +Stock + Earnings

Balances, Nov. 1 1,320 12,000 10,000 6,000 3,320

a. Rental rev. 1,800 1,800

b. Paid insurance | —2,400 2,400

c. Paid insurance | —6,000 6,000

d. Investment 5,000 5,000

e. Pur. supplies 240 240

f. Pur. off. equip. | —1,700 8,500 6,800

g. Fees earned 6,100 6,100 | 9-
h. Fees earned 5,500 5,500 | h.
i. Collected cash 4,200 —4,200

j. Paid on acct. —100 —100

k. Paid expenses | —4,690 —4,690 | k.
|. Dividends —1,200 —1,200
al. Insurance exp. —1,100 —1,100 |al.
a2. Supplies exp. —150 —150 |a2.
a3. Deprec. exp. —160 —160 |a3.
a4. Rental revenue —360 360 |ad.
a5. Wages exp. 220 —220 | a5.
a6. Fees earned 750 750 | a6.

Balances, Nov. 30 2,650 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000

Income Statement

g. 6,100 Fees earned
h. 5500 Fees earned

k. —2,790 Wages exp.
—800 Rent exp.

—580 Utilities exp.

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL S s
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK o0 e
a2. — upp. exp.

a3. —160 Deprec. exp.
ad. 360 Rental rev.
a5. —220 Wages exp.
a6. 750 Fees earned
6,390 Net income
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Exhibit 3
Family Health Care

Income Statement
for November

Exhibit 4
Family Health Care

Retained Earnings
Statement for
November
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determined by deducting the operating expenses from the fees earned from normal
operations. The other income—rental revenue—is then added to determine the net
income for November.

As reported on the income statement, revenues are a result of providing services or
selling products to customers. Examples of revenues include fees earned, fares earned,
commissions revenue, interest revenue, and rent revenue.

Revenues from the primary operations of the business are normally reported sep-
arately from other revenue. For example, Family Health Care has two types of rev-
enues for November, fees earned and rental revenue. Since the primary operation of
the business is providing services to patients, rental revenue is reported under the
heading of “Other income.”

Expenses on the income statement are assets used up or services consumed in the
process of generating revenues. Expenses are matched against their related revenues
to determine the net income or net loss for a period. Examples of typical expenses in-
clude wages expense, rent expense, utilities expense, supplies expense, and miscella-
neous expense. Expenses not related to the primary operations of the business are
sometimes reported as “Other expense.” Interest expense is an example of an expense
that may be reported separately as an Other expense.

Family Health Care, P.C.
Income Statement
For the Month Ended November 30, 2007

Fees earned $12,350
Operating expenses:

Wages expense $3,010

Insurance expense 1,100

Rent expense 800

Utilities expense 580

Depreciation expense 160

Supplies expense 150

Interest expense 100

Miscellaneous expense 420

Total operating expenses 6,320

Operating income $ 6,030
Other income:

Rental revenue 360
Net income $ 6,390

Family Health Care, P.C.
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended November 30, 2007

Retained earnings, November 1, 2007 $3,320
Net income for November $6,390
Less dividends 1,200 5,190

Retained earnings, November 30, 2007 $8,510




Exhibit 5

Family Health Care
Balance Sheet
for November
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Retained Earnings Statement

The retained earnings statement shown in Exhibit 4 is prepared by adding the
November net income (from the income statement), less the November dividends, to
the beginning amount of retained earnings. This ending amount of retained earnings
is included on the balance sheet.

Balance Sheet

The balance sheet shown in Exhibit 5 is prepared from the ending balances
shown in the Balance Sheet columns of Exhibit 2. The balance sheet shown in Exhibit 3
is a classified balance sheet. As the term implies, a classified balance sheet is
prepared with various sections, subsections, and captions that aid in its interpretation

Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 7,730
Accounts receivable 2,650
Prepaid insurance 7,300
Supplies 920
Total current assets $17,770
Fixed assets:
Office equipment $8,500
Less accumulated depreciation 160 $ 8,340
Land 12,000
Total fixed assets 20,340
Total assets $38,110
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 140
Wages payable 220
Notes payable 6,800
Unearned revenue 1,440
Total current liabilities $ 8,600
Long-term liabilities:

Notes payable 10,000
Total liabilities $18,600
Stockholders’ Equity

Capital stock $11,000
Retained earnings 8,510
Total stockholders’ equity 19,510
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $38,110
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International Perspective
Under International
Accounting Standards
(IASs), noncurrent assets
appear above current as-
sets on the balance sheet,
while current liabilities ap-
pear above noncurrent lia-
bilities. The current asset
and current liability ac-
counts are then netted in
the middle of the balance
sheet on a summary line
called “Net current assets.”
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and analysis. In the following paragraphs, we describe some of these sections and
subsections.

Assets are resources such as physical items or rights that are owned by the busi-
ness. Examples of physical assets include cash, supplies, buildings, equipment, and
land. Examples of rights are patent rights or rights to services (prepaid items). Physical
assets of a long-term nature are referred to as fixed assets. Rights that are long term
in nature are called intangible assets.

Assets are normally divided into classes in preparing a classified balance
sheet. Three of these classes are (1) current assets, (2) fixed assets, and (3) intangible
assets.

Cash and other assets that are expected to be converted to cash or sold or used up
within one year or less, through the normal operations of the business, are called cur-
rent assets. In addition to cash, the current assets normally include accounts receiv-
able, notes receivable, supplies, and other prepaid expenses. Accounts receivable and
notes receivable are current assets because they will usually be converted to cash
within one year or less. Notes receivable are written claims against debtors who
promise to pay the amount of the note and interest at an agreed-upon rate. A note re-
ceivable is the creditor’s view of a note payable transaction. As shown in Exhibit 5,
Family Health Care has current assets of cash, accounts receivable, prepaid insurance,
and supplies as of November 30, 2007.

The fixed assets section may also be labeled as property, plant, and equipment,
or plant assets. Fixed assets include equipment, machinery, buildings, and land. Except
for land, such fixed assets depreciate over a period of time, as we discussed earlier
in this chapter. The cost less accumulated depreciation for each major type of fixed
asset is normally reported on the classified balance sheet. As of November 30, 2007,
Family Health Care’s fixed assets consist of office equipment and land.

Intangible assets represent rights, such as patent rights, copyrights, and goodwill.
Goodwill arises from such factors as name recognition, location, product quality, rep-
utation, and managerial skill. Goodwill is recorded and reported on the balance sheet
when a company purchases another company at a premium price above the normal
cost of the purchased company’s assets. For example, goodwill was recognized when
eBay, Inc., purchased PayPal, Inc. Family Health Care has no intangible assets as of
November 30.

Liabilities are amounts owed to outsiders (creditors). Liabilities are often identi-
fied on the balance sheet by titles that include the word payable. Examples of liabilities
include notes payable and wages payable.

Liabilities are normally divided into two classes on a classified balance sheet.
These classes are (1) current liabilities and (2) long-term liabilities.

Liabilities that will be due within a short time (usually one year or less) and that
are to be paid out of current assets are called current liabilities. The most common
current liabilities are notes payable and accounts payable. Other current liabilities
reported on the classified balance sheet include wages payable, interest payable, taxes
payable, and unearned revenue.

Liabilities that will not be due for a long time (usually more than one year) are
called long-term liabilities. Long-term liabilities are reported below the current lia-
bilities. As long-term liabilities come due and are to be paid within one year, they
are reported as current liabilities. If they are to be renewed rather than paid, they
would continue to be classified as long term. When an asset is pledged as security
for a long-term liability, the obligation may be called a mortgage note payable or a
mortgage payable.

Family Health Care’s current and long-term liabilities as of November 30, 2007, are
shown in Exhibit 5. You should note that $6,800 of the notes payable is due within the
next year and therefore is reported as a current liability. The remainder of the notes
payable, $10,000, is not due until 2012 and thus is reported as a long-term liability.



Exhibit 6

Family Health Care
Statement of Cash
Flows for November
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Family Health Care’s other current liabilities consist of accounts payable, wages
payable, and unearned revenue.

Stockholders’ equity is the stockholders’ rights to the assets of the business. For a
corporation, the stockholders’ equity consists of capital stock and retained earnings.
The stockholders’” equity section of a classified balance sheet reports each of these two
financial statement accounts separately. The capital stock amount on the balance sheet
of $11,000 results from adding the additional investment during November of $5,000
to the beginning amount of capital stock of $6,000. The ending retained earnings of
$8,510 comes from the retained earnings statement.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows shown in Exhibit 6 is prepared by summarizing the cash
transactions shown in the statement of cash flows column of Exhibit 2. The net cash
flow from operations is computed by adding the cash receipts from revenue transac-
tions and subtracting the cash payments for operating transactions. These items are
identified in the statement of cash flows column of Exhibit 2 as operating activities.
The cash received from revenue transactions consists of $9,700 ($5,500 + $4,200) re-
ceived from patients and $1,800 received from rental of the land. The cash payments
for operating transactions of $13,190 ($2,400 + $6,000 + $100 + $4,690) is determined
by adding the negative cash payments related to operating activities shown in the
statement of cash flows column of Exhibit 2. The purchase of the office equipment is
treated as a separate cash outflow from investment activities. The receipt of the addi-
tional investment and the payment of dividends are reported as cash flows from fi-
nancing activities.

Family Health Care, P.C.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended November 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from patients $ 9,700

Cash received from rental of land 1,800 $ 11,500

Deduct cash payments for expenses (13,190)

Net cash flow used in operating activities $ (1,690)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of office equipment (1,700)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Additional issuance of capital stock $ 5,000

Deduct cash dividends (1,200)

Net cash flow from financing activities 3,800
Net increase in cash $ 410
November 1, 2007, cash balance 7,320
November 30, 2007, cash balance $ 7,730

Integration of Financial Statements

Exhibit 7 shows the integration of Family Health Care’s financial statements for
November. The reconciliation of net income and net cash flows from operations is
shown in the appendix at the end of this chapter.
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Exhibit 7

Integrated Financial Statements—Family Health Care

Assets

Cash

$38,110
Total Assets

= Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Capital Retained
Stock Earnings
$18,600 $11,000 $8,510
$38,110
= Total Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

Family Health Care
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended Nov. 30, 2007

—> Operating act. $(1,690)
Investing act. (1,700)
Financing act. 3,800
Increase in cash $ 410
Cash, Nov. 1 7,320
Cash, Nov. 30 $7,730

Family Health Care
Income Statement
For the Month Ended Nov. 30, 2007

Revenues $12,350
Expenses 6,320
Operating income $ 6,030
Other income 360
Net income $ 6,390

Reconciliation
of cash flows from operations

Y

and net income (see appendix
to this chapter)

Family Health Care
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended Nov. 30, 2007

RE, Nov. 1
— Net income
Dividends

RE, Nov. 30

$8510 —

®

Describe how the accrual
basis of accounting
enhances the interpretation
of financial statements.

ACCRUAL AND CASH BASES OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements of Family Health Care for November were prepared under ac-
crual accounting concepts. Entities that use accrual accounting concepts for recording
transactions and preparing financial statements are said to use the accrual basis of
accounting. The accrual basis of accounting is used by large businesses and is required of
publicly held corporations such as Amazon.com, eBay, and Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company.

Entities that record transactions only when cash is received or paid are said to use
the cash basis of accounting. Individuals and small businesses often use the cash basis
of accounting." For example, you probably use a cash basis because your checkbook is

1 Some businesses use modified-cash bases of accounting. These bases of accounting are covered in

advanced accounting texts.
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your primary accounting record. You keep track of your deposits (cash receipts) and
checks (cash payments). Periodically, your bank sends you a statement that you use to

verify the accuracy of your record keeping.

© RYAN MCVAY/PHOTODISC/GETTY IMAGES

Q. On June 30, a lawyer
billed a client for $4,000
for legal services provided
during June. The client
paid $1,500 in July and
$2,500 in August. Under
the cash basis, when are
the fees earned recorded?

Using the Cash Basis of Accounting

Under the cash basis of accounting, a business records only transac-
tions involving increases or decreases of its cash. To illustrate, assume
that a real estate agency sells a $300,000 piece of property on December
28, 2006. In selling the property, the agency earns a commission of 8%
of the selling price. However, the agency does not receive the $24,000
commission check until January 3, 2007. Under the cash basis, the real
estate agency will not record the commission (revenue) until January
3, 2007.

Under the cash basis, expenses are recorded only when cash is paid.
For example, a December cellular phone bill that is paid in January
would be recorded as a January expense, not a December expense.
Thus, under the cash basis, the matching concept does not determine
when expenses are recorded. That is, expenses are recorded when paid
in cash, not necessarily in the period when the revenue is earned. As a

A. June, $0; July, $1,500;
August, $2,500

Exhibit 8

Cash versus Accrual
Accounting

result, adjusting entries are not required under the cash basis.

Using the Accrual Basis of Accounting

Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenue is recorded as it is earned, regardless of
when cash is received. To illustrate, using the preceding example, the real estate
agency would record the commissions (revenue) of $24,000 as earned on December
28, 2006, even though the check (cash) is not received until January 3, 2007. Once
revenue has been earned and recorded, any expenses that have been incurred in gen-

erating the revenue are recorded and thus matched
against that revenue. For example, a December cel-
lular phone bill would be recorded in December as
an increase in expenses and liabilities, even though
it is not paid until January. In this way, the December
phone expense is matched against the revenue it
helped generate in December. We used the accrual
basis of accounting to record the November transac-
tions of Family Health Care. In addition, as we illus-
trated earlier in this chapter, the accrual basis
requires adjusting entries to update the accounting
records at the end of the period. Exhibit 8§ summa-
rizes the basic differences of how revenue and ex-
penses are recorded under the cash and accrual bases
of accounting.

© STOCKBYTE PLATINUM/GETTY IMAGES

Cash Basis Accrual Basis
Revenue is recorded When cash is received When revenue is earned
Expense is recorded When cash is paid When expense is incurred in
generating revenue
Adjusting entries Not required Required in order to prepare

financial statements
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Family Health Care Under the Cash and Accrual
Bases of Accounting

All the transactions for Family Health Care in Chapter 2 involved the receipt or pay-
ment of cash. As a result, the financial statements shown in Chapter 2 for Family
Health Care would be the same as that reported under the cash basis of accounting. In
this chapter, however, Family Health Care entered into transactions that used accrual
accounting concepts. As a result, the November financial statements shown in Exhibits 3
through 6 differ from those prepared using the cash basis of accounting.

One of the major differences in financial statements prepared under the accrual
and cash bases of accounting involves the reporting of net income and net cash flows
from operations. Under the cash basis of accounting, net income and net cash
flows from operations are the same. For example, in Chapter 2, net income and net
cash flows from operations for September and October for Family Health Care were
$2,600 and $3,220. In contrast, under the accrual basis of accounting, net income and
net cash flows from operations may be significantly different. This is shown in Exhibit
3 where Family Health Care reports net income of $6,390 for November while report-
ing net cash flows from operations of ($1,690). This difference is due to the effects of
accrual and deferrals.”

Importance of Accrual Basis of Accounting

The use of the accrual basis of accounting is essential for assessing and interpreting the
financial performance of an entity. To illustrate, we have summarized the net cash
flows from operations and net income for Family Health Care below.

Net Cash Flow

from Operations Net Income
September $ 2,600 $2,600
October 3,220 3,220
November (1,690) 6,390

Under the cash basis, the cash flows from operating activities and the net income
for November would be reported as a negative amount (loss) of $1,690. While this
might be interpreted as an unfavorable trend, the accrual basis better reflects what is
really happening to Family Health Care. Since September, revenues have more than
doubled, increasing from $5,500 to $12,350, and net income has more than doubled.
Thus, the accrual basis reflects Family Health Care as a profitable, rapidly expanding
business. This illustrates why net income is generally a better predictor of the long-
term profitability of a business than is net cash flows from operations.

Such differences between the cash basis and the accrual basis illustrate why gener-
ally accepted accounting principles require the accrual basis for all but the very
smallest businesses. You should recognize, however, that the net cash flow from op-
erating activities is an important amount that is useful to readers of the financial state-
ments. For this reason, generally accepted accounting principles require reporting
cash flows. For example, in the long run, a business will go bankrupt if it continually

2 A formal reconciliation of net cash flows from operations and the net income is shown in the appendix
at the end of this chapter.
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experiences negative cash flows from operations, even though it may report net in-
come. In other words, a business must generate positive cash flows from operations
in order to survive. In the case of Family Health Care, the negative cash flows from
operations for November was due in large measure to prepaying insurance premi-
ums of $8,400. Thus, the negative cash flows from operations is temporary for
Family Health Care and not a matter of major concern. This illustrates why the fi-
nancial statements must be analyzed and interpreted together, rather than individ-
ually and why we use the integrated financial statements approach throughout this
text. For example, long-run profitability is best analyzed by focusing on the net in-
come reported under the accrual basis, while the availability of cash to pay debts as
they become due is best analyzed by focusing on the net cash flows from operating
activities.

®

Describe the accounting
cycle for the accrual basis
of accounting.

THE ACCOUNTING CYCLE

The process that begins with analyzing transactions and ends with preparing the ac-
counting records for the next accounting period is called the accounting cycle. The
most important output of the accounting cycle is the financial statements. The basic
steps in the accounting cycle are listed below.

1. Identifying, analyzing, and recording the effects of transactions on the accounting
equation (financial statement accounts).

2. Identifying, analyzing, and recording adjustment data.

3. Preparing financial statements.

4. Preparing the accounting records for the next accounting period.

The Accounting Cycle

Steps 1 & 2 Step 3 Step 4

Identifying, Preparing Getting Ready
Analyzing, Financial for the
Recording Statements Next Period

We have described and illustrated steps 1-3 in this chapter. In Chapter 4, we com-
plete the discussion of the accounting cycle by describing how the accounting records
are prepared for the next accounting period using closing entries.
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@

Describe and illustrate how
common-sized financial
statements can be used to
analyze and evaluate a
company’s performance.

Exhibit 9

Common-Sized
Financial Statements:
Wendy’s and
McDonald’s

COMMON-SIZED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Common-sized financial statements are often useful in comparing one company
to another. In common-sized financial statements, all items are expressed in
percentages. Such statements are useful in comparing the current period with prior
periods, individual businesses, or one business with industry percentages. Industry
data are often available from trade associations or financial information services.

To illustrate, common-sized income statement and balance sheet data for Wendy’s
and McDonald’s Corporation are shown in Exhibit 9. The income statement data are
expressed as a percent of revenues; thus, Exhibit 9 indicates revenues for both compa-
nies as 100%. This, in turn, allows for analysis of the income statement components on

Income Statements for the Year Ending
December 31, 2004

- [ ]

Revenues 100.0%
Operating expenses 81.4
Operating income 18.6%
Other expenses 1.8
Income before income taxes 16.8%
Income taxes 4.8
Net income 12.0%

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004

B

McDonald's
L |

Current assets:

Cash and equivalents 5.5% 5.0%

Accounts and notes receivable 4.0 2.7

Inventories, prepaid, and other assets 4.8 2.6
Total current assets 14.3% 10.3%
Other long-term assets 12.2 15.4
Property and equipment 73.5 74.3
Total assets 100.0% 100.0%
Total current liabilities 21.5% 12.6%
Other liabilities 24.8 36.3
Total stockholders’ equity 53.7 51.1
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 100.0% 100.0%

3 The financial statements for Wendy’s and McDonald’s shown in Exhibit 9 were adapted from 10-K
Securities and Exchange Commission filings.
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a common basis. Without a common basis, it is difficult to compare companies. For ex-
ample, Wendy’s total operating expenses are $3,408,834,000 compared to McDonald’s
$15,524,200,000. So, does this mean that Wendy’s has an advantage because of its lower
total operating expenses? Exhibit 9 reveals that this is not the case. In fact, Wendy’s
operating expenses are 93.8% of sales in comparison to 81.4% for McDonald’s. As a re-
sult, Wendy’s operating income is significantly less as a percent of sales, 6.2%, com-
pared to McDonald’s 18.6%.

Based upon Exhibit 9, further analyses are called for to determine why Wendy’s
operating expenses as a percent of sales are significantly higher than McDonald’s. For
example, the higher operating expenses may be related to the fact that 19.2% of
Wendy’s revenues come from its franchise restaurants, while 25.4% of McDonald’s
revenues come from franchise restaurants.

Exhibit 9 also reports common-sized balance sheet information for Wendy’s and
McDonald'’s. The balance sheet data are expressed as a percentage of total assets. The
common-sized balance sheets provide information about the relative composition of
balance sheet categories to the total. Exhibit 9 indicates that Wendy’s keeps a higher
percent of its assets in the form of current assets, 14.3%, as compared to 10.3% for
McDonald’s. This can mostly be explained by Wendy’s higher percent of receivables
and inventory compared to McDonald’s. The percent of property and equipment is
nearly the same, while other assets are 12.2% of total assets compared to McDonald’s
15.4%. Exhibit 9 also reveals that Wendy’s finances more of its operations through
stockholders” equity, 53.7%, than does McDonald’s, 51.1%. In addition, the relative
composition of their liabilities is quite different. Wendy’s has current and long-term
liabilities representing 21.5% and 24.8% of total assets, while McDonald’s is 12.6% and
36.3%, respectively. McDonald’s appears to require less relative current liabilities but
more long-term debt to support its operations than does Wendy’s.

As Exhibit 9 shows, common-sized financial statements facilitate company com-
parisons and analyses. Such statements are often a starting point for further investiga-
tion and analyses of major differences between companies in similar industries. For
example, based upon the preceding comparison, further inquiries might be made into
why Wendy’s operating expenses are a higher percent of sales and why Wendy’s
maintains a higher percent of its total assets in accounts receivable and inventory than
does McDonald'’s.

APPENDIX

Reconciliation: Net Cash Flows from Operations
and Net Income*

In Chapter 2, we illustrated financial statements for Family Health Care for September
and October 2007. Because all the September and October transactions were cash trans-
actions, the net cash flows from operating activities shown on the statement of cash
flows equals the net income shown in the income statements. For example, Exhibits 4
and 7 in Chapter 2 report net cash flows from operating activities and net income of
$2,600 and $3,220 for September and October. When all of an entity’s transactions have
cash transactions or when an entity uses the cash basis of accounting, net cash flows
from operating activities will always equal net income. This is not true, however, un-
der the accrual basis of accounting.

4 In a later chapter, this reconciliation will be referred to as the indirect method of reporting cash flows
from operations.
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Exhibit 10

November’s
Reconciliation of Net
Income and Cash
Flows from Operations

Chapter 3  Accrual Accounting Concepts

During November and December, Family Health Care used the accrual basis of ac-
counting. The November financial statements are illustrated in Exhibits 3 through 6 of
this chapter. The December financial statements for Family Health Care are illustrated
in the Illustrative Problem at the end of this chapter. The net cash flows from operat-
ing activities and net income for November and December are shown below.

Net Cash Flows from

Operating Activities Net Income
November $(1,690) $ 6,390
December 8,760 10,825

Under the accrual basis, net cash flows from operating activities will normally not
be the same as net income. The difference can be reconciled by considering the effects
of accruals and deferrals on the income statement. Exhibit 10 illustrates the November
reconciliation of Family Health Care’s net income with operating cash flows from op-
erations.

In Exhibit 10, we begin with net income. We then add or deduct the effects of
accruals or deferrals that influenced net income under the accrual basis but did not
result in the receipt or payment of cash. We thus arrive at net cash flows from operating
activities.

The effect of an accrual or deferral on the income statement and net income is re-
flected in its net increase or decrease during the period. For example, during November,
depreciation expense of $160 was recorded (a deferred expense) and thus deducted in
arriving at net income. Yet, no cash was paid. Thus, to arrive at cash flows from op-
erations, depreciation expense is added back to net income. Likewise, accounts payable
increased during November by $140, and a related expense was recorded. But again,
no cash was paid. Similarly, wages payable increased during November by $220, and
the related wages expense was deducted in arriving at net income. However, the $220
was not paid until the next month. Thus, for November, the increases of $140 in ac-
counts payable and $220 in wages payable are added back to net income.

The increase in unearned revenue of $1,440 represents unearned revenue for four
months for land rented to ILS Company. ILS Company initially paid Family Health
Care $1,800 in advance. Of the $1,800, one-fifth ($360) was recorded as revenue for
November. However, under the cash basis, the entire $1,800 would have been recorded
as revenue. Therefore, $1,440 (the increase in the unearned revenue) is added back to
net income to arrive at cash flows from operations.

During November, accounts receivable increased by $2,650 and thus was recorded
as part of revenue in arriving at net income. However, no cash was received. Thus, this
increase in accounts receivable is deducted in arriving at cash flows from operations.

Net income $ 6,390
Add:

Depreciation expense $ 160

Increase in accounts payable 140

Increase in wages payable 220

Increase in unearned revenue 1,440 1,960
Deduct:

Increase in accounts receivable $(2,650)

Increase in prepaid insurance (7,300)

Increase in supplies (90) (10,040)
Net cash flows from operating activities $ (1,690)
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Reconciling Items
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The increase in prepaid insurance represents an $8,400 payment of cash for insur-
ance premiums. During November, only $1,100 of the premiums is deducted in arriv-
ing at net income. Therefore, the remaining $7,300 (the increase in prepaid insurance)
is deducted in arriving at cash flows from operations. Similarly, the increase in sup-
plies of $90 is deducted.

You may have noticed a pattern in how we reconciled net income to net cash flows
from operations. First, depreciation expense was added. Next, increases in current as-
sets related to operations were deducted, while increases in current liabilities related
to operations were added. The increase in the current liability for notes payable of
$6,800 was not included in the reconciliation. This is because the notes payable is re-
lated to the purchase of office equipment, which, in the statement of cash flows, is an
investing activity rather than an operating activity.

During November, all the current asset and liability accruals and deferrals related
to operations were increases. This was because Family Health Care used the cash ba-
sis during October, so there were no deferrals or accruals at the beginning of November.
In future periods, there would be both increases and decreases in these items. These
increases and decreases would be added or subtracted to arrive at cash flows from op-
erations, as shown in Exhibit 11.

Net income XXX
Add:

Depreciation expense XXX

Increases in current liabilities from operations XXX

Decreases in current assets from operations XXX XXX
Deduct:

Increases in current assets from operations $XXX

Decreases in current liabilities from operations XXX XXX
Net cash flows from operations $XXX

For example, a decrease in accounts receivable implies that cash was collected and
thus would be added. In contrast, a decrease in accounts payable implies that cash was
paid and thus would be deducted.

SUMMARY OF LEARNING GOALS

@ Describe basic accrual accounting concepts,

including the matching concept. Under accrual
concepts of accounting, revenue is recognized when it is
earned. When revenues are earned and recorded, all
expenses incurred in generating the revenues are recorded
so that revenues and expenses are properly matched in
determining the net income or loss for the period. Liabilities
are recorded at the time a business incurs the obligation to
pay for the services or goods purchased.

@ Use accrual concepts of accounting to analyze, record,
and summarize transactions. Using the integrated
financial statement framework, November transactions for
Family Health Care are recorded. Family Health Care’s

November transactions involve accrual accounting
transactions.

@ Describe and illustrate the end-of-the-period adjustment
process. The accrual concepts of accounting require the
accounting records to be updated prior to preparing financial
statements. This updating process, called the adjustment
process, is necessary to match revenues and expenses. The
adjustment process involves two types of adjustments—
deferrals and accruals. Adjustments for deferrals may involve
deferred expenses or deferred revenues. Adjustments for
accruals may involve accrued expenses or accrued revenues.

@ Prepare financial statements using accrual concepts of
accounting, including a classified balance sheet.
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A classified balance sheet includes sections for current as-
sets; property, plant and equipment (fixed assets); and intan-
gible assets. Liabilities are classified as current liabilities or
long-term liabilities. The income statement normally reports
sections for revenues, operating expenses, other income and
expense, and net income.

@ Describe how the accrual basis of accounting
enhances the interpretation of financial statements.
The net cash flows from operating activities and net
income will differ under the accrual basis of accounting.
Under the accrual basis, net income is a better indicator
of the long-term profitability of a business. For this reason,
the accrual basis of accounting is required by generally
accepted accounting principles, except for very small
businesses. The accrual basis reports the effects of
operations on cash flows through the reporting of net cash
flows from operating activities on the statement of cash
flows.

@ Describe the accounting cycle for the accrual basis

of accounting. The accounting cycle is the process
that begins with the analysis of transactions and ends with
preparing the accounting records for the next accounting
period. The basic steps in the accounting cycle are
(1) identifying, analyzing, and recording the effects of
transactions on the accounting equation; (2) identifying,
analyzing, and recording adjustment data; (3) preparing
financial statements; and (4) preparing the accounting records
for the next accounting period.

Describe and illustrate how common-sized financial

statements can be used to analyze and evaluate a
company’s performance. Common-sized financial
statements are often useful in comparing one company to
another. In common-sized financial statements, all items are
expressed in percentages. Such statements are useful in
comparing the current period with prior periods, individual
businesses, or one business with industry percentages.

GLOSSARY

Account A record for summarizing increases and decreases
in a financial statement element.

Accounting cycle The process that begins with the analy-
sis of transactions and ends with preparing the accounting
records for the next accounting period.

Accounts payable A liability for an amount incurred from
purchases of products or services in the normal operations of
a business.

Accounts receivable An asset for amounts due from cus-
tomers in the normal operations of a business.

Accrual basis of accounting A system of accounting in
which revenue is recorded as it is earned and expenses are
recorded when they generate revenue.

Accruals A revenue or an expense that has not been recorded.

Accrued expense An expense that has been incurred at the
end of an accounting period but has not been recorded in the
accounts; sometimes called an accrued liability.

Accrued revenue A revenue that has been earned at the
end of an accounting period but has not been recorded in the
accounts; sometimes called an accrued asset.

Accumulated depreciation An offsetting or contra asset
account used to record depreciation on a fixed asset.

Adjustment process A process required by the accrual
basis of accounting in which the accounts are updated prior
to preparing financial statements.

Cash basis of accounting A system of accounting in
which only transactions involving increases or decreases of
the entity’s cash are recorded.

Classified balance sheet A balance sheet prepared with
various sections, subsections, and captions that aid in its in-
terpretation and analysis.

Common-sized financial statement A financial state-
ment in which all items are expressed in percentages.

Current assets Cash and other assets that are expected to
be converted to cash or sold or used up within one year or
less, through the normal operations of the business.

Current liabilities Liabilities that will be due within a
short time (usually one year or less) and that are to be paid
out of current assets.

Deferrals The delayed recording of an expense or revenue.

Deferred expenses Items that are initially recorded as as-
sets but are expected to become expenses over time or through
the normal operations of the business; sometimes called pre-
paid expenses.

Deferred revenues Items that are initially recorded as lia-
bilities but are expected to become revenues over time or
through the normal operations of the business; sometimes
called unearned revenues.

Depreciation The reduction in the ability of a fixed asset to
provide service.

Fixed assets Physical assets of a long-term nature; some-
times called plant assets.

Intangible assets Assets that are rights of a long-term
nature.
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Liabilities Amounts owed to creditors.

Long-term liabilities Liabilities that will not be due for a
long time (usually more than one year).

Notes receivable Written claims against debtors who
promise to pay the amount of the note plus interest at an
agreed-upon rate.

Prepaid expenses Items that are initially recorded as as-
sets but are expected to become expenses over time or through

the normal operations of the business; often called deferred
expenses.

Stockholders’ equity The stockholders’ rights to the as-
sets of a business.

Unearned revenues Items that are initially recorded as
liabilities but are expected to become revenues over time or
through the normal operation of the business; often called
deferred revenues.

ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEM

Assume that the December transactions for Family Health Care are as follows:

Received cash of $1,900 from patients for services provided on account during November.

Received $6,900 from insurance companies that paid on patients” accounts for services

a.
b. Provided services of $10,800 on account.
c. Received $6,500 for services provided for patients who paid cash.
d. Purchased supplies on account, $400.
e.

that had been previously billed.
f.

Paid $310 on account for supplies that had been purchased.

g. Expenses paid during December were as follows: wages, $4,200, including $220 accrued at
the end of November; rent, $800; utilities, $610; interest, $100; and miscellaneous, $520.
h. Paid dividends of $1,200 to stockholders (Dr. Landry).

Instructions

1. Record the December transactions, using the integrated financial statement framework as
shown below. The beginning balances of December 1 have already been entered. After each
transaction, you should enter a balance for each item. The transactions are recorded simi-
larly to those for November. You should note that in transaction (g), the $4,200 of wages
paid includes wages of $220 that were accrued at the end of November. Thus, only $3,980
($4,200 — $220) should be recorded as wages expense for December. The remaining $220
reduces the wages payable. You should also note that the balance of retained earnings on
December 1, $8,510, is the balance on November 30.

Statement of

Cash Flows Assets

Accts. Prepaid Office Acc.

Balances, Dec. 1 | /7=l Phacin /el 90 8,500 —160

Statement of Cash Flows

Balance Sheet

12,000

Income
Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity IELEQEL

Notes Accts. Retained

Wages Unearned Capital
Cash + Rec. + Insur. +Supp.+Equip.—Dep.+ Land = Pay. + Pay. + Pay. + Revenue + Stock + Earnings

16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 8,510

Income Statement

2. The adjustment data for December are as follows:

Deferred expenses:

1. Prepaid insurance expired, $1,100.

2. Supplies used, $275.

3. Depreciation on office equipment, $160.
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3. DPrepare the December financial statements, including the income statement, retained
earnings statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows.

4. (Appendix) Reconcile the December net income with the net cash flows from
operations. (Note: In computing increases and decreases in amounts, use adjusted
balances.)

Solution

Deferred revenues:
4. Unearned revenue earned, $360.

Accrued expense:
5. Wages owed employees but not paid, $340.

Accrued revenue:

6. Services provided but not billed to insurance companies, $1,050.

Enter the adjustments in the integrated financial statement framework. Identify each

"1

adjustment by “a” and the number of the related adjustment item. For example, the
adjustment for prepaid insurance should be identified as (al).

[Solutions to (1) and (2) are found on page 128. Solution to (3) is found below and on page 127.]

3.

Family Health Care, P.C.
Income Statement

For the Month Ended December 31, 2007

Fees earned

Operating expenses:
Wages expense
Insurance expense
Rent expense
Utilities expense
Supplies expense
Depreciation expense
Interest expense
Miscellaneous expense

Total operating expenses

Operating income
Other income:
Rental revenue

Net income

Family Health Care, P.C.
Retained Earnings Statement

For the Month Ended December 31, 2007

Retained earnings, December 1, 2007
Net income for December
Less dividends

Retained earnings, December 31, 2007

$18,350
$4,320
1,100
800
610
275
160
100
520

7,885

$10,465

360

$10,825

$ 8,510
$10,825

1,200 9,625

$18,135
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from patients
Deduct cash payments for expenses

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Deduct cash dividends

Net increase in cash
December 1, 2007, cash balance

December 31, 2007, cash balance

$15,300
(6,540)

$ 8,760

(1,200)

$ 7,560
7,730

$15,290

Assets

Current assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid insurance
Supplies
Total current assets
Fixed assets:
Office equipment $8,500
Less accumulated depreciation 320
Land
Total fixed assets

Total assets
Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Wages payable

Notes payable

Unearned revenue

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:

Notes payable
Total liabilities

Stockholders’ Equity

Capital stock
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$15,290
5,700
6,200
215

$ 8,180
12,000

$ 230
340
6,800
1,080

$11,000
18,135

$27,405

20,180
$47,585

$ 8,450

10,000
$18,450

29,135
$47,585
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1 and 2. Family Health Care Summary of Transactions and Adjustments for December

Balance Sheet

Stockholders™ <y
Assets Liabilities + Equity Statement
Accts.  Prepaid Office Acc. Notes  Accts. Wages Unearned Capital Retained
Cash + Rec. + Insur. + Supp. + Equip. Dep. + Land Pay. + Pay. + Pay. +Revenue+ Stock +Earnings
Balances, Dec. 1 7,730 2,650 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 8510
a. Collected cash | 1,900 —1,900
Balances 9,630 750 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 8,510
b. Fees earned 10,800 10,800 |b.
Balances 9,630 11,550 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 19,310
c. Fees earned 6,500 6,500 |c.
Balances 16,130 11,550 7,300 90 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 140 220 1,440 11,000 25,810
d. Pur. supplies 400 400
Balances 16,130 11,550 7,300 490 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 540 220 1,440 11,000 25,810
e. Collected cash | 6,900 —6,900
Balances 23,030 4,650 7,300 490 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 540 220 1,440 11,000 25,810
f. Paid accts. pay.| —310 —-310
Balances 22,720 4,650 7,300 490 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 230 220 1,440 11,000 25,810
g. Paid expenses | —6,230 —220 —6,010 | g.
Balances 16,490 4,650 7,300 490 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 230 0 1,440 11,000 19,800
h. Paid dividends | —1,200 —1,200
Balances 15290 4,650 7,300 490 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 230 0 1,440 11,000 18,600
al. Insurance exp. —1,100 —1,100 |af.
Balances 15290 4,650 6,200 490 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 230 0 1,440 11,000 17,500
a2. Supplies exp. —275 —275 |a2.
Balances 15290 4,650 6,200 215 8500 —160 12,000 16,800 230 0 1,440 11,000 17,225
a3. Deprec. exp. —160 —160 |a3.
Balances 15290 4,650 6,200 215 8500 —320 12,000 16,800 230 0 1,440 11,000 17,065
ad. Rental revenue —360 360 |ad.
Balances 15290 4,650 6,200 215 8500 —320 12,000 16,800 230 0 1,08 11,000 17,425
a5. Wages exp. 340 —340 | a5.
Balances 15290 4,650 6,200 215 8500 —320 12,000 16,800 230 340 1,080 11,000 17,085
ab. Fees earned 1,050 1,050 | aé.

Balances, Dec. 31

15,290

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK

11,000

=8

al

18,135

Income Statement

10,800
6,500
—3,980
—800
—610
—100
—520

. —1,100
a2.
a3.
ad.
ab.
ab.

=275
—160
360
—340
1,050
10,825

Fees earned
Fees earned
Wages exp.
Rent exp.
Utilities exp.
Interest exp.
Misc. exp.
Insur. exp.
Supp. exp.
Deprec. exp.
Rental rev.
Wages exp.
Fees earned
Net income
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4. December’s Reconciliation of Net Income with Net Cash Flows from Operations

Net income

Add:
Depreciation expense
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in wages payable

Decrease in prepaid insurance

Deduct:

Increase in accounts receivable

Increase in supplies

Decrease in unearned revenue

Net cash flows from operating activities

Assume that a lawyer bills her clients $15,000 on

June 30, 2007, for services rendered during June. The
lawyer collects $8,500 of the billings during July and the
remainder in August. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, when would the lawyer record the revenue
for the fees?

A. TJune, $15,000; July, $0; and August, $0

B. June, $0; July, $6,500; and August, $8,500

C. June, $8,500; July, $6,500; and August, $0

D. June, $0; July, $8,500; and August, $6,500

On January 24, 2007, Niche Consulting collected

$5,700 it had billed its clients for services rendered

on December 31, 2006. How would you record

the January 24 transaction, using the accrual basis?

A. Increase Cash, $5,700; decrease Fees Earned, $5,700

B. Increase Accounts Receivable, $5,700; increase Fees
Earned, $5,700

C. Increase Cash, $5,700; decrease Accounts
Receivable, $5,700

D. Increase Cash, $5,700; increase Fees Earned, $5,700

Which of the following items represents a deferral?
Prepaid insurance

Wages payable

Fees earned

Accumulated depreciation

OO =»>

$10,825
$ 160
90
120
1,100 1,470
$(3,050)
(125)
(360) (3,535)
$ 8,760

If the supplies account indicated a balance of

$2,250 before adjustment on May 31 and supplies

on hand at May 31 totaled $950, the adjustment

would be:

A. increase Supplies, $950; decrease Supplies Expense,
$950.

B. increase Supplies, $1,300; decrease Supplies
Expense, $1,300.

C. increase Supplies Expense, $950; decrease Supplies,
$950.

D. increase Supplies Expense, $1,300; decrease
Supplies, $1,300.

The balance in the unearned rent account for Jones Co.

as of December 31 is $1,200. If Jones Co. failed to record

the adjusting entry for $600 of rent earned during

December, the effect on the balance sheet and income

statement for December would be:

A. assets understated by $600; net income overstated
by $600.

B. liabilities understated by $600; net income
understated by $600.

C. liabilities overstated by $600; net income
understated by $600.

D. liabilities overstated by $600; net income overstated
by $600.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.

2.

Would General Electric and Xerox use the cash basis or
the accrual basis of accounting? Explain.

How are revenues and expenses reported on the income
statement under (a) the cash basis of accounting and (b)
the accrual basis of accounting?

3. Fees for services provided are billed to a customer

during 2006. The customer remits the amount owed in
2007. During which year would the revenues be
reported on the income statement under (a) the cash
basis? (b) the accrual basis?
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Employees performed services in 2006, but the wages
were not paid until 2007. During which year would the
wages expense be reported on the income statement
under (a) the cash basis? (b) the accrual basis?

Which of the following accounts would appear only in an
accrual basis accounting system, and which could
appear in either a cash basis or an accrual basis account-
ing system? (a) Capital Stock, (b) Fees Earned, (c)
Accounts Payable, (d) Land, (e) Utilities Expense, and (f)
Accounts Receivable.

Is the land balance before the accounts have been ad-
justed the amount that should normally be reported on
the balance sheet? Explain.

. Is the supplies balance before the accounts have been ad-

justed the amount that should normally be reported on
the balance sheet? Explain.

Why are adjustments needed at the end of an accounting
period?

Identify the four different categories of adjustments
frequently required at the end of an accounting period.
If the effect of an adjustment is to increase the balance of
a liability account, which of the following statements de-
scribes the effect of the adjustment on the other account?

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

a. Increases the balance of a revenue account.

b. Increases the balance of an expense account.

c. Increases the balance of an asset account.

If the effect of an adjustment is to increase the balance
of an asset account, which of the following statements
describes the effect of the adjustment on the other
account?

a. Increases the balance of a revenue account.

b. Increases the balance of a liability account.

c. Increases the balance of an expense account.

Does every adjustment have an effect on determining the
amount of net income for a period? Explain.

(a) Explain the purpose of the two accounts: Depreciation
Expense and Accumulated Depreciation. (b) Is it custom-
ary for the balances of the two accounts to be equal? (c)
In what financial statements, if any, will each account ap-
pear?

Describe the nature of the assets that compose the
following sections of a balance sheet: (a) current assets,
(b) property, plant, and equipment.

(a) What are common-sized financial statements?
(b) Why are common-sized financial statements useful in
interpreting and analyzing financial statements?

EXERCISES

Exercise 3-1

Chico Urgent Care is owned and operated by Dr. Janet Scanlon, the sole stockholder. During
July 2007, Chico Urgent Care entered into the following transactions:

Dr. Scanlon invested $10,000 in Chico Urgent Care in exchange for capital stock.

Transactions using accrual
accounting Paid $3,600 for an insurance premium on a one-year policy.
2 Purchased supplies on account, $500.

Exercise 3-2

b O = S A

Paid dividends of $1,000.

Received fees of $18,650 during July.
Paid expenses as follows: wages, $5,240; rent, $2,500; utilities, $1,100; and miscellaneous, $880.

Record the preceding transactions using the integrated financial statement framework. After
each transaction, you should enter a balance for each item.

Adjustment process

3

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 3-3

Financial statements

4

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 3-4

Reconcile net income and net
cash flows from operations.

Appendix

Using the data from Exercise 3-1, record the adjusting entries at the end of July to record the in-
surance expense and supplies expense. There were $280 of supplies on hand as of July 31.
Identify the adjusting entry for insurance as (al) and supplies as (a2).

Using the data from Exercises 3-1 and 3-2, prepare financial statements for July, including income
statement, retained earnings statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows.

Using the income statement and statement of cash flows you prepared in Exercise 3-3, reconcile
net income with the net cash flows from operations.



Exercise 3-5

Accrual basis of accounting

2

Exercise 3-6

Classify accruals and
deferrals

3

Exercise 3-7

Classify adjustments
3
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Neal Hastings established Ember Services, P.C., a professional corporation, on January 1 of
the current year. Ember Services offers financial planning advice to its clients. The effect of
each transaction on the balance sheet and the balances after each transaction for January are
as follows. Each increase or decrease in stockholders” equity, except transaction (h), affects net

income.
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Accounts Accounts Capital Retained

Cash + Receivable + Supplies =  Payable + Stock + Earnings
a. +20,000 +20,000
b. +900 +900
Bal. 20,000 900 900 20,000
C. -775 -775
Bal. 19,225 900 125 20,000
d. +11,500 +11,500
Bal. 30,725 900 125 20,000 11,500
e. —-7,500 —7,500
Bal. 23,225 900 125 20,000 4,000
f. —625 —625
Bal. 23,225 275 125 20,000 3,375
g. +3,000 +3,000
Bal. 23,225 3,000 275 125 20,000 6,375
h. —1,000 —1,000
Bal. 22,225 3,000 275 125 20,000 5,375
a. Describe each transaction.

b. What is the amount of the net income for January?

Classify the following items as (a) deferred expense (prepaid expense), (b) deferred revenue (un-
earned revenue), (c) accrued expense (accrued liability), or (d) accrued revenue (accrued asset).

PNA RN RE

Fees earned but not yet received.

Taxes owed but payable in the following period.

Salary owed but not yet paid.
Supplies on hand.

Fees received but not yet earned.
Utilities owed but not yet paid.

A two-year premium paid on a fire insurance policy.
Subscriptions received in advance by a magazine publisher.

The following accounts were taken from the unadjusted trial balance of Dobro Co., a congres-
sional lobbying firm. Indicate whether or not each account would normally require an adjusting
entry. If the account normally requires an adjusting entry, use the following notation to indicate
the type of adjustment:

AE—Accrued Expense

AR—Accrued Revenue
DR—Deferred Revenue
DE—Deferred Expense

To illustrate, the answers for the first two accounts are shown below.

Account

Answer

Dividends

Accounts Receivable
Accumulated Depreciation
Cash

(continued)

Does not normally require adjustment.
Normally requires adjustment (AR).
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Exercise 3-8

Adjustment for supplies

3
a. $1,715

Exercise 3-9

Adjustment for prepaid
insurance

3

Exercise 3-10

Adjustment for unearned fees

3

Exercise 3-11

Adjustment for unearned
revenue

3

Exercise 3-12

Effect of omitting adjustment

3

Exercise 3-13

Adjustment for accrued
salaries

3
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Account Answer

Interest Payable
Interest Receivable
Land

Office Equipment
Prepaid Insurance
Supplies Expense
Unearned Fees
Wages Expense

Answer each of the following independent questions concerning supplies and the adjustment
for supplies. (a) The balance in the supplies account, before adjustment at the end of the year, is
$2,100. What is the amount of the adjustment if the amount of supplies on hand at the end of
the year is $385? (b) The supplies account has a balance of $675, and the supplies expense ac-
count has a balance of $1,310 at December 31, 2007. If 2007 was the first year of operations, what
was the amount of supplies purchased during the year?

The prepaid insurance account had a balance of $2,750 at the beginning of the year. The account
was increased for $1,500 for premiums on policies purchased during the year. What is the ad-
justment required at the end of the year for each of the following independent situations: (a) the
amount of unexpired insurance applicable to future periods is $3,000? (b) the amount of insur-
ance expired during the year is $1,050? For (a) and (b), indicate each account affected, whether
the account is increased or decreased, and the amount of the increase or decrease.

The balance in the unearned fees account, before adjustment at the end of the year, is $9,750.
What is the adjustment if the amount of unearned fees at the end of the year is $5,600? Indicate
each account affected, whether the account is increased or decreased, and the amount of the in-
crease or decrease.

For the years ending June 30, 2004 and 2003, Microsoft Corporation reported short-term un-
earned revenue of $6,514 million and $7,225 million, respectively. For the year ending June 30,
2004, Microsoft also reported total revenues of $36,835 million. (a) What adjustment for un-
earned revenue did Microsoft make at June 30, 2004? Indicate each account affected, whether the
account is increased or decreased, and the amount of the increase or decrease. (b) What per-
centage of total revenues was the adjustment for unearned revenue?

At the end of February, the first month of the business year, the usual adjustment transferring
rent earned to a revenue account from the unearned rent account was omitted. Indicate which
items will be incorrectly stated, because of the error, on (a) the income statement for February
and (b) the balance sheet as of February 28. Also indicate whether the items in error will be over-
stated or understated.

Townes Realty Co. pays weekly salaries of $15,000 on Friday for a five-day week ending on that
day. What is the adjustment at the end of the accounting period, assuming that the period
ends (a) on Tuesday, (b) on Wednesday? Indicate each account affected, whether the account is
increased or decreased, and the amount of the increase or decrease.



Exercise 3-14

Determine wages paid

3

Exercise 3-15

Effect of omitting adjustment

3

Exercise 3-16

Effect of omitting adjustment

3

Exercise 3-17

Effects of errors on financial
statements

3

Exercise 3-18

Effects of errors on financial
statements

3

Exercise 3-19

Effects of errors on financial
statements

3
b. $175,840
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The balances of the two wages accounts at December 31, after adjustments at the end of the first
year of operations, are Wages Payable, $5,750, and Wages Expense, $133,400. Determine the
amount of wages paid during the year.

Accrued salaries of $2,180 owed to employees for December 30 and 31 are not considered in
preparing the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006. Indicate which items
will be erroneously stated, because of the error, on (a) the income statement for December 2006
and (b) the balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. Also indicate whether the items in error will
be overstated or understated.

Assume that the error in Exercise 3-15 was not corrected and that the $2,180 of accrued salaries
was included in the first salary payment in January 2007. Indicate which items will be erro-
neously stated, because of failure to correct the initial error, on (a) the income statement for
January 2007 and (b) the balance sheet as of January 31, 2007.

For a recent period, Circuit City Stores reported accrued expenses of $202,675 thousand. For the
same period, Circuit City reported a loss before income taxes of $1,240 thousand. If accrued ex-
penses had not been recorded, what would have been the income (loss) before income taxes?

The balance sheet for Ford Motor Company as of December 31, 2004, includes $31,187 million
of accrued expenses as liabilities. Before taxes, Ford Motor Company reported a net income
of $4,853 million. If the accruals had not been recorded at December 31, 2004, how much
would net income or net loss before taxes have been for the year ended December 31, 2004?

The accountant for Glacier Medical Co., a medical services consulting firm, mistakenly omitted ad-
justing entries for (a) unearned revenue earned during the year ($6,900) and (b) accrued wages
($3,740). (a) Indicate the effect of each error, considered individually, on the income statement for
the current year ended December 31. Also indicate the effect of each error on the December 31 bal-
ance sheet. Set up a table similar to the following, and record your answers by inserting the dol-
lar amount in the appropriate spaces. Insert a zero if the error does not affect the item.

Error (a) Error (b)

Over- Under- Over- Under-
stated stated stated stated

1. Revenue for the year would be $ $ $ $

2. Expenses for the year would be $ $ $ $

3. Net income for the year would be $ $ $ $

4. Assets at December 31 would be $ $ $ $

5. Liabilities at December 31 would be $ $ $ $

6. Stockholders’ equity at December 31 would be $ $ $ $

(b) If the net income for the current year had been $172,680, what would be the correct net in-
come if the proper adjustments had been made?
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Exercise 3-20

Adjustment for accrued fees

3

Exercise 3-21

Adjustments for unearned and
accrued fees

3

Exercise 3-22

Effect of deferred revenue

3
a. $234 million

Exercise 3-23

Effect on financial statements
of omitting adjustment

3

Exercise 3-24

Adjustment for depreciation

3

Exercise 3-25

Adjustments
3
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At the end of the current year, $11,310 of fees have been earned but have not been billed to
clients.

a. What is the adjustment to record the accrued fees? Indicate each account affected,
whether the account is increased or decreased, and the amount of the increase or
decrease.

b. If the cash basis rather than the accrual basis had been used, would an adjustment have
been necessary? Explain.

The balance in the unearned fees account, before adjustment at the end of the year, is $67,250.
Of these fees, $18,000 have been earned. In addition, $10,200 of fees have been earned but have
not been billed. What are the adjustments (a) to adjust the unearned fees account and (b) to
record the accrued fees? Indicate each account affected, whether the account is increased or de-
creased, and the amount of the increase or decrease.

Time Warner Inc. reported short-term deferred revenue of $1,497 million and $1,731 million as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. For the year ending December 31, 2004, Time
Warner reported total revenues of $42,089 million. (a) What was the amount of the adjustment
for unearned revenue for 2004? (b) What would have been total revenues under the cash basis
after considering the effect of (a)?

The adjustment for accrued fees was omitted at October 31, the end of the current year.
Indicate which items will be in error, because of the omission, on (a) the income statement for
the current year and (b) the balance sheet as of October 31. Also indicate whether the items
in error will be overstated or understated.

The estimated amount of depreciation on equipment for the current year is $5,000. (a) How is
the adjustment recorded? Indicate each account affected, whether the account is increased or de-
creased, and the amount of the increase or decrease. (b) If the adjustment in (a) was omitted,
which items would be erroneously stated on (1) the income statement for the year and (2) the
balance sheet as of December 31?

The Quasar Company is a consulting firm specializing in pollution control. The following
adjustments were made for The Quasar Company:

Adjustments
Account Increase (Decrease)
Accounts Receivable $ 7,140
Supplies (1,715)
Prepaid Insurance (1,400)
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 2,520
Wages Payable 1,260
Unearned Rent (3,500)
Fees Earned 7,140
Wages Expense 1,260
Supplies Expense 1,715
Rent Revenue 3,500
Insurance Expense 1,400
Depreciation Expense 2,520



Exercise 3-26

Book value of fixed assets

4

Exercise 3-27

Classify assets

4

Exercise 3-28

Balance sheet classification

4

Exercise 3-29

Classified balance sheet

4
Total assets, $126,650

Exercise 3-30

Classified balance sheet

4
Total assets, $1,047,496
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Identify each of the six pairs of adjustments. For each adjustment, indicate the account,
whether the account is increased or decreased, and the amount of the adjustment. No account
is affected by more than one adjustment. Use the following format. The first adjustment is shown
as an example.

Adjustment Account Increase or Decrease Amount
1. Accounts Receivable Increase $7,140
Fees Earned Increase 7,140

Barnes & Noble Inc. reported Property, Plant, and Equipment of $1,677,836,000 and Accumulated
Depreciation of $991,187,000 at January 31, 2004.

a.  What was the book value of the fixed assets at January 31, 2004?
b. Would the book values of Barnes & Noble’s fixed assets normally approximate their fair
market values?

Identify each of the following as (a) a current asset or (b) property, plant, and equipment:

1. Accounts Receivable 4. Office Equipment
2. Building 5. Prepaid Insurance
3. Cash 6. Supplies

At the balance sheet date, a business owes a mortgage note payable of $775,000, the terms of
which provide for monthly payments of $4,150. Explain how the liability should be classified on
the balance sheet.

Tudor Co. offers personal weight reduction consulting services to individuals. After all the ac-
counts have been closed on April 30, 2006, the end of the current fiscal year, the balances of se-
lected accounts from the ledger of Tudor Co. are as follows:

Accounts Payable $ 9,500 Prepaid Insurance $ 7,200
Accounts Receivable 21,850 Prepaid Rent 4,800
Accum. Depreciation—Equipment 21,100 Retained Earnings 74,200
Capital Stock 40,000 Salaries Payable 1,750
Cash ? Supplies 1,800
Equipment 80,600 Unearned Fees 1,200

Prepare a classified balance sheet that includes the correct balance for Cash.

La-Z-Boy Inc. is one of the world’s largest manufacturers of furniture that is best known for its
reclining chairs. The following data (in thousands) were adapted from the 2004 annual report of
La-Z-Boy Inc.:

Accounts payable $122,576
Accounts receivable 337,770
Accumulated depreciation 296,942
Capital stock 269,316

(continued)
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Cash $ 33,882
Intangible assets 96,005
Inventories 250,568
Debt due within one year* 42,563
Long-term debt** 181,807
Other assets* 31,454
Other assets** 85,078
Other liabilities* 118,182
Other long-term liabilities** 60,040
Property, plant, and equipment 509,681
Retained earnings 253,012

For the preceding items, (*) indicates that the item is current in nature, while (**) indicates that
the item is long-term in nature.
Prepare a classified balance sheet as of April 24, 2004.

Exercise 3-31 List the errors you find in the following balance sheet. Prepare a corrected balance sheet.

Balance sheet

4

Warburg Services Co.
Balance Sheet
For the Year Ended May 31, 2006

Assets

Current assets:

Cash $ 4,170

Accounts payable 7,250

Supplies 1,650

Prepaid insurance 2,400

Land 75,000

Total current assets $ 90,470

Property, plant, and equipment:

Building $55,500

Equipment 28,280

Total property, plant, and equipment 104,280
Total assets $194,750
Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Accounts receivable $12,500

Accumulated depreciation—building 23,000

Accumulated depreciation—equipment 16,000

Net loss 10,000
Total liabilities $ 61,500

Stockholders’ Equity

Wages payable $ 1,500
Capital stock 35,000
Retained earnings 96,750
Total stockholders’ equity 133,250

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $194,750
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ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Problem 3-1A Wizard Health Care, Inc., is owned and operated by Dr. Chandra Rains, the sole stockholder.

During January 2007, Wizard Health Care entered into the following transactions:

Accrual basis accounting Jan. 1 Received $8,100 from Goulash Company as rent for the use of a vacant office in

2 Wizard Health Care’s building. Goulash paid the rent six months in advance.
1 Paid $3,600 for an insurance premium on a one-year, general business policy.
SPREADSHEET 4 Purchased supplies of $950 on account.
GENERAL LEDGER 5 Collected $9,000 for services provided to customers on account.

11 Paid creditors $1,600 on account.

18 Invested an additional $45,000 in the business in exchange for capital stock.

20 Billed patients $24,800 for services provided on account.

25 Received $6,800 for services provided to customers who paid cash.

29 Paid expenses as follows: wages, $12,600; utilities, $3,500; rent on medical
equipment, $2,700; interest, $250; and miscellaneous, $650.

29  Paid dividends of $2,000 to stockholders (Dr. Rains).

Instructions

Analyze and record the January transactions for Wizard Health Care, Inc., using the integrated
financial statement framework. Record each transaction by date and show the balance for each
item after each transaction. The January 1, 2007, balances for the balance sheet are shown below.

Stockholders’

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Accts. Pre. Acc. Accts. Un. Wages Notes Capital Ret.
Cash + Rec. + Ins. + Supp. + Building — Dep. + Land = Pay. + Rev. + Pay. + Pay. + Stock + Earn.
Bal., Jan.1 10,400 13,500 360 560 90,000 —7,200 45,000 3,800 0 0 36,000 45,000 67,820

Problem 3-2A

Adjustment process

3

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Problem 3-3A

Financial statements
4, 6
1. Net income, $12,635

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Adjustment data for Wizard Health Care, Inc., for January are as follows:

Insurance expired, $300.

Supplies on hand on January 31, $585.
Depreciation on building, $1,800.

Unearned rent revenue earned, $1,350.

Wages owed employees but not paid, $1,440.
Services provided but not billed to patients, $3,850.

Sk D=

Instructions

Based upon the transactions recorded in January for Problem 3-1A, record the adjustments for
January using the integrated financial statement framework.

Data for Wizard Health Care for January are provided in Problems 3-1A and 3-2A.

Instructions

Prepare an income statement, retained earnings statement, and a classified balance sheet for
January. The notes payable is due in 2013.
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Problem 3-4A

Statement of cash flows
4

Net cash flows from

operating activities, ($1,000)

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Problem 3-5A

Adjustments and errors
3

Corrected net income,
$127,900

SPREADSHEET

Problem 3-6A

Adjustment process and
financial statements

3,4
2. Net income, $123,700

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER
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Data for Wizard Health Care for January are provided in Problems 3-1A, 3-2A, and 3-3A.

Instructions

1. DPrepare a statement of cash flows for January.

2. Reconcile the net cash flows from operating activities with the net income for January.
(Hint: See the appendix to this chapter and use adjusted balances in computing increases
and decreases in accounts.)

At the end of July, the first month of operations, the following selected data were taken from
the financial statements of Kay Lopez, Attorney-at-Law, P.C.

Net income for July $124,350
Total assets at July 31 500,000
Total liabilities at July 31 125,000
Total stockholders’ equity at July 31 375,000

In preparing the financial statements, adjustments for the following data were overlooked:

a. Unbilled fees earned at July 31, $9,600.

b. Depreciation of equipment for July, $3,500.
c¢. Accrued wages at July 31, $1,450.

d. Supplies used during July, $1,100.
Instructions

Determine the correct amount of net income for July and the total assets, liabilities, and stock-
holders” equity at July 31. In addition to indicating the corrected amounts, indicate the effect of
each omitted adjustment by setting up and completing a columnar table similar to the follow-
ing. Adjustment (a) is presented as an example.

Total
Net Total Total Stockholders’
Income Assets Liabilities Equity
Reported amounts $124,350 $500,000 $125,000 $375,000

Corrections:
Adjustment (a) +9,600 +9,600 0 +9,600
Adjustment (b)

Adjustment (c)
Adjustment (d)

Corrected amounts

Adjustment data for Nocturnal Laundry, Inc., for the year ended August 31, 2007, are as follows:

a. Wages accrued but not paid at August 31, $3,200.
b. Depreciation of equipment during the year, $15,000.
c¢. Laundry supplies on hand at August 31, $2,500.

d. Insurance premiums expired, $3,000.

Instructions

1. Using the integrated financial statement framework shown at the top of the following page,
record each adjustment to the appropriate accounts identifying each adjustment by its let-
ter. After all adjustments are recorded, determine the balances.

2. Prepare an income statement and retained earnings statement for the year ended August
31, 2007. The retained earnings balance as of September 1, 2006, was $30,300.
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Balance Sheet

Statement of [ Income
Cash Flows Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity BEIEIENED
Laundry Prepaid Laundry Acc. Accts. Wages  Capital Retained
Cash + Supplies + Insurance + Equip. — Deprec. = Payable + Payable + Stock + Earnings
Balances, Aug. 31, 2007 | &L 6,000 4,800 225,000  —45,000 5,100 0 36,000 174,700
Statement of Cash Flows Income Statement
Operating (Revenues) 280,000 Aug. 280,000 Laundry revenue
Financing (Capital Stock) 10,000 Aug. —77,500 Wages expense
Operating (Expenses) ~ —160,000 Aug. —28,000 Rent expense

Investing (Equipment) ~ —110,000 I N TE G RATE D F I NAN c IAL Aug. —22,600 Utilities expense
Financing (Dividends) —4,000 STAT E M E NT F R AM EWO R K Aug.  —3,500 Misc. expense

Net increase in cash 16,000

Beginning cash balance 9,000
Ending cash balance 25,000

3. Prepare a classified balance sheet as of August 31, 2007.
4. Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ended August 31, 2007.

ALTERNATE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Alternate Problem Tyro Health Care, Inc., is owned and operated by Dr. Ricky Owens, the sole stockholder. During
3-1B March, Tyro Health Care entered into the following transactions:

Mar. 2 Received $10,800 from Mutton Company as rent for the use of a vacant office in
Accrual basis accounting Tyro Health Care’s building. Mutton prepays the rent six months in advance.
2 2 Paid $4,200 for an insurance premium on a one-year, general business policy.
3 Purchased supplies of $1,250 on account.
SPREADSHEET 6  Collected $6,600 for services provided to customers on account.
GENERAL LEDGER 9 Paid creditors $2,750 on account.
8 Invested an additional $15,000 in the business in exchange for capital stock.
23  Billed patients $17,800 for services provided on account.
25 Received $5,800 for services provided to customers who paid cash.
30 Paid expenses as follows: wages, $12,300; utilities, $4,500; rent on medical
equipment, $3,000; interest, $150; and miscellaneous, $400.
31 Paid dividends of $1,000 to stockholders (Dr. Owens).

Instructions

Analyze and record the March transactions for Tyro Health Care, Inc., using the integrated
financial statement framework. Record each transaction by date and show the balance for each ac-
count after each transaction. The March 1, 2007, balances for the balance sheet are shown below.

Stockholders’

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Accts.  Pre. Acc. Accts. un. Wages Notes Capital Ret.
Cash + Rec. + Ins. + Supp. + Building — Dep. + Land = Pay. + Rev. + Pay. + Pay. + Stock + Earn.

Bal., Mar.1 7,000 9,900 360 220 60,000 —4,800 30,000 5,100 0 0 25,000 50,000 22,580
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Alternate Problem

3-2B

Adjustment process

3

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Alternate Problem
3-3B

Financial statements and the
closing process

4,6
1. Net income, $8,040

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Alternate Problem
3-4B

Statement of cash flows
4

1. Net cash flows from
operating activities, ($4,100)

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Alternate Problem
3-5B

Adjustments and errors
3

Corrected net income,
$209,745

SPREADSHEET
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Adjustment data for Tyro Health Care Inc. for March are as follows:

Insurance expired, $360.

Supplies on hand on March 31, $870.

Depreciation on building, $1,200.

Unearned rent revenue earned, $1,800.

Wages owed employees but not paid, $850.
Services provided but not billed to patients, $6,000.

SN

Instructions

Based upon the transactions recorded in March for Problem 3-1B, record the adjustments for
March using the integrated financial statement framework.

Data for Tyro Health Care Inc. for March are provided in Problems 3-1B and 3-2B.

Instructions

Prepare an income statement, retained earnings statement, and a classified balance sheet for
March. The notes payable is due in 2018.

Data for Tyro Health Care for March are provided in Problems 3-1B, 3-2B, and 3-3B.

Instructions

1. DPrepare a statement of cash flows for March.

2. Reconcile the net cash flows from operating activities with the net income for March.
Hint: See the appendix to this chapter and use adjusted balances in computing increases and
decreases in accounts.

At the end of November, the first month of operations, the following selected data were taken
from the financial statements of Jaime McCune, Attorney-at-Law, P.C.

Net income for November $207,320
Total assets at November 30 440,960
Total liabilities at November 30 29,720
Total stockholders’ equity at November 30 411,240

In preparing the financial statements, adjustments for the following data were overlooked:

a. Supplies used during November, $1,025.

b. Unbilled fees earned at November 30, $7,650.

c. Depreciation of equipment for November, $3,100.
d. Accrued wages at November 30, $1,100.

Instructions

Determine the correct amount of net income for November and the total assets, liabilities, and
stockholders” equity at November 30. In addition to indicating the corrected amounts, indicate
the effect of each omitted adjustment by setting up and completing a columnar table similar to
the following. Adjustment (a) is presented as an example.
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Total
Net Total Total Stockholders’
Income Assets Liabilities Equity
Reported amounts $207,320 $440,960 $29,720 $411,240
Corrections:
Adjustment (a) -1,025 -1,025 0 -1,025
Adjustment (b)
Adjustment (c)
Adjustment (d)
Corrected amounts
Alternate Problem Adjustment data for Giddy Laundry, Inc., for the year ended July 31, 2007, are as follows:
3-6B a. Wages accrued but not paid at July 31, $2,000.
b. Depreciation of equipment during the year, $8,000.
Adjustment process and c¢. Laundry supplies on hand at July 31, $1,250.
financial statements d. Insurance premiums expired during the year, $2,100.
Goals 3, 4
2. Net income, $101,050 Instructions
SPREADSHEET 1. Using the integrated financial statement framework shown below, record each adjustment
GENERAL LEDGER to the appropriate accounts identifying each adjustment by its letter. After all adjustments

are recorded, determine the balances.

Balance Sheet

Income
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity Statement

Laundry Prepaid Laundry Acc. Accts. Wages  Capital Retained
Cash + Supplies + Insurance + Equip. — Deprec. = Payable + Payable + Stock + Earnings

Balances, July 31, 2007 20,000 4,800 3,800 180,000  —36,000 4,100 0 30,000 138,500

Income Statement

July 225,000 Laundry revenue
July —65,000 Wages expense

July  —22,500 Rent expense

INTEGRATED FINANCIAL July  —18,000 Utilities expense
STATEMENT FRAMEWORK July  —2,800 Misc. expense

2. Prepare an income statement and retained earnings statement for the year ended July 31,

2007. The retained earnings balance as of August 1, 2006, was $23,800.
3. Prepare a classified balance sheet as of July 31, 2007.
4. Prepare a statement of cash flows for the year ended July 31, 2007.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND REPORTING CASES

Case 3-1

Analysis of income statements

Case 3-2

Cash basis income statement

Walgreen Company and CVS Corporation operate national chains of drugstores that sell pre-
scription drugs, over-the-counter drugs, and other general merchandise such as greeting cards,
beauty and cosmetics, household items, food, and beverages. Walgreen operates 4,579 stores,
while CVS Corporation operates 5,375 stores. The following operating data (in thousands) were
adapted from the 2004 SEC 10-K filings of Walgreen and CVS.

CcvVs Walgreen
Net sales $30,594,300 $37,508,200
Cost of sales 22,563,100 27,310,400
Gross profit $ 8,031,200 $10,197,800
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 6,079,700 8,055,100
Operating income $ 1,951,500 $ 2,142,700
Other income and (expense) (555,100) 33,600
Income before taxes $ 1,396,400 $ 2,176,300
Income taxes 477,600 816,100
Net income $ 918,800 $ 1,360,200

Prepare common-sized income statements for CVS and Walgreen.

Compute the average sales per store for CVS and Walgreen. Round to the thousands.
Analyze and comment on your results in (1) and (2).

Broker recommendations are reported on Yahoo.com’s financial Web site. The recommen-
dations are ranked as follows:

Ll A

Strong Buy
Buy

Hold

Sell

Strong Sell

u b WN =

Based upon your answers to (2) and (3), would you expect the average broker recommen-
dation for CVS to be higher (less favorable), the same, or lower (more favorable) than for
Walgreen? Compare your assessment with the average broker recommendation on
Yahoo.com’s financial Web site (http://finance.yahoo.com/). To find the broker recommen-
dation, enter the stock symbols for CVS (CVS) and Walgreen (WAG) and click on “re-
search.”

The following operating data (in thousands) were adapted from the 2004 SEC 10-K filings of
Walgreen and CVS:

Cvs Walgreen
2004 2003 2004 2003

Accounts receivable $2,007,300 $1,601,700 $1,169,100 $1,017,800
Accounts payable 3,942,600 3,166,000 4,077,900 3,420,500
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Case 3-3

Cash basis vs. accrual basis
financial statements

Case 3-4

Effect of events on financial
statements

Chapter 3  Accrual Accounting Concepts

1. Using the preceding data, adjust the operating income for CVS and Walgreen shown in
Case 3-1 to an adjusted cash basis. (Hint: To convert to a cash basis, you need to compute
the change in each accrual accounting item shown on preceding page and then either add
or subtract the change to the operating income.)

Compute the net difference between the operating income under the accrual and cash bases.
Express the net difference in (2) as a percent of operating income under the accrual basis.
Which company’s operating income, CVS’s or Walgreen’s, is closer to the cash basis?

Do you think most analysts focus on operating income or net income in assessing the long-
term profitability of a company? Explain.

Al ol

The local minor league baseball team, The Hampton Hounds, began their season in late April, with
five home dates (and no road games) in April. The team’s owner is seeking a short-term loan
from the local bank to help fund some improvements. As a result, a statement of cash receipts
and disbursements was prepared for the bank for April.

The owner estimates that the average cash receipts from tickets and concessions is $20,000
per home date. The average operating cash disbursements is $4,000 per home date. Players are
paid the 15th of every month during the regular season (until September 15) at an average rate
of $16,000 per month per player. All 25 players receive their first paycheck on May 15. Rent is
paid on the stadium on the first of every month during the playing season at a rate of $60,000
per month, with the first payment due on May 1 and the last payment due on September 1. In
addition to individual game sales, the Hounds sold 1,000 season tickets during the month of
April at $720 per ticket. There are 160 total games in the season, half of which are home dates.

1. Prepare a statement of cash receipts and disbursements for April.

2. Prepare an accrual basis income statement for April. (Hint: Translate expenses into a per-
game basis and match against the revenue.)

3. Which statement best represents the results of operations for April?

4. Comment on management’s intention to use the statement of cash receipts and disburse-
ments to support the request for the bank loan rather than using an accrual-based income
statement.

On September 11, 2001, two United Airlines aircraft were hijacked and destroyed in terrorist
attacks on the World Trade Center in New York City and in a crash near Johnstown, Pennsylvania.
In addition to the loss of all passengers and crew on board the aircraft, these attacks resulted in
numerous deaths and injuries to persons on the ground and massive property damage. In the
immediate aftermath of the attacks, the FAA ordered all aircraft operating in the United States
grounded immediately. This grounding effectively lasted for three days, and United was able to
operate only a portion of its scheduled flights for several days thereafter. Passenger traffic and
yields on United’s flights declined significantly when flights were permitted to resume,
and United refunded significant numbers of tickets for the period from September 11 to
September 25.

The following data for United were adapted (in millions) from the Securities and Exchange
Commission 10-K filing for the years ending December 31, 2000 and 1999:

Year Ending December 31,

2000 1999
Operating income $ 673 $1,342
Net income 52 1,204
Net cash flows from operating activities 2,358 2,415

1. Based upon the preceding data, develop an expectation of what you believe the operating
income, net income, and net cash flows from operating activities would be for United Airlines
for the year ending December 31, 2001. Use the following format for your answers:
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Year Ending December 31, 2001

Operating income (loss) $
Net income $
Net cash flows from operating activities $

2. Would you report the loss related to the terrorist attacks separately in the income statement?
If so, how?

Case 3-5 The following data (in millions) for 2004, 2003, and 2002 were taken from 10-K filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission:

Analysis of income and cash

flows 2004 2003 2002
Company A
Revenues $21,962 $21,044 $19,564
Operating income 5,698 5,221 5,458
Net income 4,847 4,347 3,050
Net cash flows from operating activities 5,968 5,456 4,742
Net cash flows from investing activities (503) (936) (1,187)
Net cash flows from financing activities (2,261) (3,601) (3,327)
Total assets 31,327 27,342 24,501
Company B
Revenues $15,002 $13,303 $13,305
Operating income (loss) (3,308) (786) (1,309)
Net income (loss) (5,198) (773) (1,272)
Net cash flows from operating activities (1,123) 453 285
Net cash flows from investing activities (220) (260) (1,109)
Net cash flows from financing activities 636 548 583
Total assets 21,801 26,356 24,720
Company C
Revenues $ 6,921 $ 5,264 $ 3,933
Operating income (loss) 440 271 64
Net income (loss) 588 35 (149)
Net cash flows from operating activities 567 392 174
Net cash flows from investing activities (318) 237 (122)
Net cash flows from financing activities 97) (332) 107
Total assets 3,249 2,162 1,990
Company D
Revenues $53,791 $51,760 $50,098
Operating income (loss) 1,374 2,573 2,359
Net income (loss) 315 1,205 1,043
Net cash flows from operating activities 2,215 3,183 2,347
Net cash flows from investing activities (2,026) (1,907) (1,914)
Net cash flows from financing activities (201) (1,266) (433)
Total assets 20,184 20,102 19,087

1. Match each of the following companies with the data for Company A, B, C, or D:

Amazon.com
Coca-Cola Inc.
Delta Air Lines
Kroger

2. Explain the logic underlying your matches.
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Case 3-6 Home Depot and Lowe’s operate national chains of home improvement stores that sell a wide
assortment of building materials and home improvement, lawn, and garden products, such as
lumber, paint, wall coverings, lawn mowers, plumbing, and electrical supplies. Home Depot op-
erates approximately 1,707 stores, while Lowe’s operates approximately 952 stores. The follow-
ing operating data (in millions) were adapted from the 2004 SEC 10-K filings of Home Depot
and Lowe’s:

Analysis of income statements

Home Depot Lowe’s
Net sales $64,816 $30,838
Cost of sales 44,236 21,231
Gross profit $20,580 $ 9,607
Operating expenses 13,734 6,429
Operating income $ 6,846 $ 3,178
Interest expense 62 180
Other income 59 15
Income before taxes $ 6,843 $ 3,013
Income taxes 2,539 1,136
Net income $ 4,304 $ 1,877

Prepare common-sized income statements for Home Depot and Lowe’s.

Compute the average sales per store for Home Depot and Lowe’s. Round to the thousands.
Analyze and comment on your results in (1) and (2).

Broker recommendations are reported on Yahoo.com’s financial Web site. The recommen-
dations are ranked as follows:

LN

Strong Buy
Buy

Hold

Sell

Strong Sell

u b WN =

Based upon your answer to (3), would you expect the average broker recommendation for
Home Depot to be higher (less favorable) or lower (more favorable) than for Lowe’s? Compare
your assessment with the average broker recommendation on Yahoo.com’s financial Web
site (http:/finance.yahoo.com/). To find the broker recommendation, enter the stock symbols
for Home Depot (HD) and Lowe’s (LOW) and click on “research.”

Case 3-7 Comparative income statements for two video game developers, Activision, Inc., and Electronic
Arts, Inc., are provided for a recent fiscal year as follows:

Common-sized statements

SPREADSHEET Activision Electronic Arts
Net revenues $680,094 $2,957,141
Cost of goods sold 397,292 1,102,950
Gross profit $282,802 $1,854,191
Sales and marketing expenses $105,248 $ 370,468
General and administrative expenses 15,407 184,825
Product development expense 25,068 510,858
Other expenses 0 12,443
Operating income $137,079 $ 775,597
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The cost of goods sold represents the total cost of manufacturing and packaging a game,
plus royalties and licenses paid to independent game developers. Product development costs are
the costs incurred to design games.

1. Prepare common-sized income statements for both companies.
2. Interpret the significant differences in these common-sized statements.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND RESPONSIBILITY ISSUES

Activity 3-1

Accrued expense

Activity 3-2

Account for revenue

Activity 3-3

Accrued revenue

Activity 3-4

Adjustments for financial
statements

On December 30, 2006, you buy a Ford Expedition. It comes with a three-year, 36,000-mile war-
ranty. On January 18, 2007, you return the Expedition to the dealership for some basic repairs
covered under the warranty. The cost of the repairs to the dealership is $725. In what year, 2006
or 2007, should Ford Motor Co. recognize the cost of the warranty repairs as an expense?

Omaha College requires students to pay tuition each term before classes begin. Students who
have not paid their tuition are not allowed to enroll or to attend classes.

What accounts do you think would be used by Omaha College to record the receipt of the
students’ tuition payments? Describe the nature of each account.

The following is an excerpt from a conversation between Nathan Cisneros and Sonya Lucas just
before they boarded a flight to Paris on American Airlines. They are going to Paris to attend
their company’s annual sales conference.

Nathan: Sonya, aren’t you taking an introductory accounting course at college?

Sonya: Yes, I decided it’s about time I learned something about accounting. You know, our
annual bonuses are based upon the sales figures that come from the accounting
department.

Nathan: 1 guess I never really thought about it.

Sonya: You should think about it! Last year, I placed a $300,000 order on December 23. But
when I got my bonus, the $300,000 sale wasn’t included. They said it hadn’t been shipped
until January 5, so it would have to count in next year’s bonus.

Nathan: A real bummer!

Sonya: Right! I was counting on that bonus including the $300,000 sale.

Nathan: Did you complain?

Sonya: Yes, but it didn’t do any good. Beth, the head accountant, said something about
matching revenues and expenses. Also, something about not recording revenues until the
sale is final. I figure I'd take the accounting course and find out whether she’s just jerking
me around.

Nathan: I never really thought about it. When do you think American Airlines will record its
revenues from this flight?

Sonya: Mmm . . . I guess it could record the revenue when it sells the ticket ... or ... when the
boarding passes are taken at the door ... or ... when we get off the plane ... or when
our company pays for the tickets ... or ... I don’t know. I'll ask my accounting
instructor.

Discuss when American Airlines should recognize the revenue from ticket sales to properly
match revenues and expenses.

Several years ago, your brother opened Chestnut Television Repair. He made a small initial in-
vestment and added money from his personal bank account as needed. He withdrew money
for living expenses at irregular intervals. As the business grew, he hired an assistant. He is now
considering adding more employees, purchasing additional service trucks, and purchasing the
building he now rents. To secure funds for the expansion, your brother submitted a loan appli-
cation to the bank and included the most recent financial statements (shown at the top of the
following page) prepared from accounts maintained by a part-time bookkeeper.
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Chestnut Television Repair
Income Statement
For the Year Ended August 31, 2006

Service revenue $83,280
Less: Rent paid $20,000

Wages paid 18,500

Supplies paid 5,100

Utilities paid 3,175

Insurance paid 2,400

Miscellaneous payments 2,150 51,325
Net income $31,955

Chestnut Television Repair
Balance Sheet
August 31, 2006

Assets
Cash $11,150
Amounts due from customers 6,100
Truck 30,000
Total assets $47,250
Equities
Stockholders’ equity $47,250

After reviewing the financial statements, the loan officer at the bank asked your brother if
he used the accrual basis of accounting for revenues and expenses. Your brother responded that
he did and that is why he included an account for “Amounts Due from Customers.” The loan
officer then asked whether or not the accounts were adjusted prior to the preparation of the state-
ments. Your brother answered that they had not been adjusted.

1. Why do you think the loan officer suspected that the accounts had not been adjusted
prior to the preparation of the statements?

2. Indicate possible accounts that might need to be adjusted before an accurate set of financial
statements could be prepared.

ACI’iVil’y 3-5 Compare the balance sheets of two different companies, and present to the class a summary of
the similarities and differences of the two companies. You may obtain the balance sheets you
need from one of the following sources:

Compare balance sheets

1. Your school or local library.

2. The investor relations department of each company.

3. The company’s Web site on the Internet.

4. EDGAR (Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval), the electronic archives of fi-
nancial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The EDGAR ad-
dress is http://www.sec.gov/edgarhp.htm. To obtain annual report information, click on
“Search for Company Filings,” then click on “Companies & other Filers.” Type in a company
name on the “EDGAR Company Search” form. EDGAR will list the reports available for the
selected company. A company’s annual report (along with other information) is provided
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in its annual 10-K report to the SEC. Click on the 10-K (or 10-K405) report for the year you
wish to download. If you wish, you can save the whole 10-K report to a file and then open

it with your word processor.

Activity 3-6

Business emphasis

GROUP
ACTIVITY

Assume that you and two friends are debating whether to open an automotive and service re-
tail chain that will be called Auto-Mart. Initially, Auto-Mart will open three stores locally, but
the business plan anticipates going nationwide within five years.

Currently, you and your future business partners are debating whether to focus Auto-Mart
on a “do-it-yourself” or “do-it-for-me” business. A do-it-yourself business emphasizes the sale
of retail auto parts that customers will use themselves to repair and service their cars. A do-it-

for-me business emphasizes the offering of maintenance and service for customers.

1. In groups of three or four, discuss whether to implement a do-it-yourself or do-it-for-me
business emphasis. List the advantages of each emphasis and arrive at a conclusion as to
which emphasis to implement.

2. Provide examples of real world businesses that use do-it-yourself or do-it-for-me business

emphases.

ANSWERS TO SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS

1. A Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are
recorded when the services are rendered. Since the services
were rendered during June, all the fees should be recorded on
June 30 (answer A). This is an example of accrued revenue. Un-
der the cash basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when
the cash is collected, not necessarily when the fees are earned.
Thus, no revenue would be recorded in June, $8,500 of revenue
would be recorded in July, and $6,500 of revenue would be
recorded in August (answer D). Answers B and C are incorrect
and are not used under either the accrual or cash bases.

2. C The collection of a $5,700 accounts receivable is
recorded as an increase in Cash, $5,700, and a decrease in
Accounts Receivable, $5,700 (answer C). The initial recording
of the fees earned on account is recorded as an increase in
Accounts Receivable and an increase in Fees Earned (answer
B). Services rendered for cash are recorded as an increase in
Cash and an increase in Fees Earned (answer D). Answer A
is incorrect and would result in the accounting equation being

out of balance because total assets would exceed total liabili-
ties and stockholders’ equity by $11,400.

3. A Adeferralis the delay in recording an expense already
paid, such as prepaid insurance (answer A). Wages payable
(answer B) is considered an accrued expense or accrued lia-
bility. Fees earned (answer C) is a revenue item. Accumulated
depreciation (answer D) is a contra account to a fixed asset.

4. D Thebalance in the supplies account, before adjustment,
represents the amount of supplies available during the period.
From this amount ($2,250) is subtracted the amount of supplies
on hand ($950) to determine the supplies used ($1,300). The
used supplies is recorded as an increase in Supplies Expense,
$1,300, and a decrease in Supplies, $1,300 (answer D).

5. C The failure to record the adjusting entry increasing
Rent Revenue, $600, and decreasing Unearned Rent, $600,
would have the effect of overstating liabilities by $600 and un-
derstating net income by $600 (answer C).
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Learning Goals

Describe the nature of business information systems.
Describe the nature of accounting information systems.

Describe and illustrate the basic elements of transaction
processing systems.

Describe and illustrate the basic elements of a financial
reporting system.

Describe the accounting cycle for the double-entry
accounting system.

Describe and illustrate the computation and use of
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (EBITDA).




You can organize music within your MP3
player according to various playlists, for exam-
ple, your favorite songs, genre, artist, or album.
Playlists allow you to quickly retrieve music
for listening. Computer files are organized
within folders for the same reason. Information,
like music or digital files, is organized into cat-
egories to simplify retrieval and reporting. In
the same way that you organize your digital in-
formation, a business also needs to organize
their transactions. For example, when you shop
at or , buy gas at an

or B’ station, buy groceries at or
, or buy a ticket to fly on
or , you enter into

a transaction that is captured, processed, and
recorded by the business. At

, for example, most airline tickets are
sold over the Internet through credit card trans-
actions. But the transaction processing doesn’t
stop at this point. The credit card transaction
records the cash received for the ticket and re-
serves space on a future flight. At the time the
ticket is sold, the airline has recorded unearned
revenue, because it still owes the service. When
the passenger boards the plane, the ticket is
scanned, and another transaction is recorded to
earn the revenue.

While all airlines process transactions in
similar ways, this doesn’t mean that all airlines
are created equal. Southwest Airlines has been
one of the few profitable airlines in the United
States. So what has been the key to Southwest’s
success over the years? Southwest, more than
its competitors, has successfully developed a
low-cost model that involves:

a. using only Boeing 737 aircraft to simplify
maintenance and crew training.

b. using secondary airports in major cities to
reduce ground costs.

c. maximizing airplane flying time by mini-
mizing gate time.

d. avoiding commission-based ticket sales to
travel agents.

e. minimizing baggage handling.

For example, Southwest’s average passenger
fare during 2004 was just over $88—and it

© JOSEPH KACZMAREK/AP PHOTO

earned a profit! Indeed, Southwest competes
effectively with bus fares.

As a customer, understanding how trans-
actions are processed by a business’s informa-
tion system is not usually important to you. If
you own a business or work for a business,
however, understanding the accounting infor-
mation system is important. For example, you
need to understand how to interpret and ana-
lyze business reports, which includes under-
standing how the reports were generated and
whether the reports reflect all the relevant
data necessary to make business decisions.

In this chapter, we begin by discussing
the nature of business information systems.
We then describe the nature of accounting in-
formation systems and their subsystems, in-
cluding management reporting, transaction
processing, and financial reporting systems.
Our primary focus in this chapter is on the ele-
ments of transaction processing and financial
reporting systems. The elements of these sys-
tems are the same for Southwest Airlines and
Wal-Mart as for the local convenience store or
hardware store.
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@

Describe the nature of
business information
systems.

Exhibit 1

Business Information
Systems

BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEMS

In prior chapters, we discussed how businesses report their financial condition and
changes in financial condition through financial statements. We described and il-
lustrated how small businesses and individuals often use the cash basis of accounting,
while large, publicly held companies use the accrual basis of accounting. In those
chapters, we used the integrated financial statement framework for recording and
summarizing transactions and generating the resulting financial statements. While this
framework may be used for a small number of transactions, it is not very efficient for
recording millions of transactions daily by large corporations such as Home Depot or
Wal-Mart.

In this chapter, we focus on how accounting information systems are designed to
efficiently record a large number of transactions. We show how basic controls in the
accounting system provide assurance that transactions are accurately recorded. We be-
gin by describing generic business information systems.

A business information system collects and processes data and distributes the
information to stakeholders. All business information systems share common elements
that include data sources, data collection, data processing, database management,
information, and stakeholders. These elements of business information systems are
shown in Exhibit 1.

In designing a business information system, the end users of the information must
first be identified and their information needs determined. Stakeholders can be classi-
fied as internal users, such as managers and operational employees, and external users,
such as creditors, stockholders, regulatory agencies, suppliers, and customers. The in-
formation needs of internal users vary widely throughout the business in both form
and content. In contrast, external users require information in standardized formats,
such as tax forms, regulatory filings, and financial statements.

Once the information needs of users have been determined, the business informa-
tion system must be designed to collect the necessary data and process the data into
the required information. For example, a business’s personnel information system re-
quires data to be collected, such as anticipated and actual work schedules, training
needs, accrued vacation time, sick leave, pay scales, and workmen’s compensation re-
quirements. Controls should be designed into the collection process to ensure that the
data are accurate, timely, and complete. Likewise, controls should be designed into the
information system so that errors in processing data are prevented and detected. For
example, the personnel system should include a processing control that would prevent
an employee from accruing vacation time beyond the total allowable by the business.

In practice, businesses have a variety of information systems. Examples of such
systems include sales order, transportation, human resources, purchasing, and ac-
counting systems. Each system should be linked to the other systems for operational
efficiency and effectiveness. In the remainder of this chapter, we focus on accounting
information systems.

Business Information System

i

Data === Datgq ==s==P Data =====P Database ====P |nformation ===P Stakeholders/
Sources Collection Processing Management Users
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INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY, AND ETHICS IN BUSINESS [ ]

Integrity and Honesty Make a Difference

Herb Kelleher, chairman and former chief executive of
Southwest Airlines, is known for his honesty and integrity
among Southwest employees. In the mid-1990s, Kelleher ne-
gotiated a 10-year union contract with Southwest pilots in
which the pilots agreed to freeze their wages for the first five
years of the contract. A primary reason Kelleher was able to
successfully negotiate the contract was that he constantly
worked at building trust among his employees. When he was
negotiating the contract, he told the pilots he would freeze his

own pay for the same five years. The pilots’ union believed
him, knowing that Kelleher wouldn’t ask them to do something
he wouldn’t do. Jackie Freiberg, co-author of the book, Nuts!
Southwest Airlines’ Crazy Recipe for Business and Personal
Success, says: “Kelleher is a man of his word. He thinks straight
and talks straight, so people respect and trust him.”

Source: Steve Watkins, “Leaders and Success,” Investor’s Business
Daily, November 5, 2004.
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@ BASIC ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS

Describe the nature of
accounting information
systems.

An accounting information system processes financial and operational data into re-
ports useful to internal and external stakeholders. As shown in Exhibit 2, accounting
information systems normally consist of the following three subsystems: (1) the
management reporting system, (2) the transaction processing system, and (3) the fi-
nancial reporting system.

The management reporting system provides internal information to assist man-
agers in making decisions. The form and content of the information will vary, de-
pending upon the decisions. The information may include either financial information,
such as the effects of a proposed acquisition on the financial statements, or nonfinan-
cial information, such as the number of back orders, on-time deliveries, or customer
returns. Examples of such reports could include budgets, variance analyses, cost-
volume-profit analyses, sales mix analyses, and employee turnover. The area of ac-
counting that focuses on developing management reporting systems is called managerial
accounting.

The transaction processing system records and summarizes the effects of financial
transactions on the business. Large businesses enter into thousands and, in some cases,

Exhibit 2

Accounting Information System

‘Stakeholders >
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION SYSTEMS /

Management Reporting System >
Transaction Processing System m—) ‘Stakeholders

Financial Reporting System \
‘Stakeholders >

Financial and
Operational Data

—)
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International Perspective
International Accounting
Standards rely on broad-
based principles, rather
than on detailed account-
ing rules. These rules pro-
vide general guidance on
how transactions should
be recorded, but they re-
quire the preparer to exer-
cise considerable
professional judgment in
recording and reporting
transactions.
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millions of transactions daily. To efficiently process such a large volume of transac-
tions, most businesses group similar, repetitive transactions into transaction cycles.
The most common transaction cycles are the revenue cycle, the purchasing cycle, the
payroll cycle, the inventory cycle, and the treasury cycle.

Revenue cycle transactions involve providing services or selling products. They in-
clude collecting payments for the services or products. The purchasing cycle transac-
tions involve buying assets or services for use in the normal operations of the business.
Included in the purchasing cycle is the payment for the goods or services. Payroll cycle
transactions involve paying employees. [nventory cycle transactions involve buying ma-
terials or finished products that eventually will be sold. Manufacturing businesses con-
vert raw materials into finished products for sale. Merchandising businesses buy
finished products ready for sale. Treasury cycle transactions involve financing the op-
erations of the business. Examples of treasury cycle transactions include issuing capi-
tal stock or long-term debt. Paying dividends and redeeming long-term debt would
also be types of treasury cycle transactions.

The financial reporting system produces financial statements and other reports
for external stakeholders. The financial reporting system is closely interrelated to the
transaction processing system in that the financial statements summarize the effects of
transactions on the financial condition and changes in financial condition of the busi-
ness. The financial reporting system also summarizes transactions for other stake-
holders in reports such as tax returns and other regulatory reports.

Our primary focus in this text is on the transaction processing and financial
reporting systems. In this chapter, we describe and illustrate the basic elements of
these two systems.

®

Describe and illustrate the
basic elements of transac-
tion processing systems.

TRANSACTION PROCESSING SYSTEMS

The basic elements of transaction processing systems have evolved over centuries, be-
ginning with the earliest known economic activity and ending with today’s highly
computerized and integrated information systems. These elements include accounts

HIIFTNA TS

Southwest Airlines uses a simple fare structure, featuring  Southwest minimizes connections, delays, and total trip time.
low, unrestricted, unlimited, everyday coach fares. These fares  Southwest also focuses on serving conveniently located satellite

are made possible by Southwest's use of a point-
to-point, rather than hub-and-spoke, business ap-
L)roqch. United, Delta, and American employ a

ub-and-spoke approach in which an airline estab-
lishes major hubs that serve as connecting links to
other cities. For example, Delta has established ma-
jor connecting hubs in Atlanta, Cincinnati, and Salt
Lake City. In contrast, Southwest focuses on point-
to-point service between selected cities with over

300 one-way, nonstop city pairs with an average length of
500 miles and average flying time of 1.5 hours. As a result,

or downtown airports, such as Dallas Love Field,
Houston Hobby, and Chicago Midway. Because
these airports are normally less congested than hub
airports, Southwest is better able to maintain high
employee productivity and reliable on-time perfor-
mance. This permits the company to achieve high
asset utilization of its fixed assets, such as its 737
aircraft. For example, aircraft are scheduled to spend
only 25 minutes at the gate, thereby reducing the

number of aircraft and gate facilities that would otherwise be
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and rules for recording transactions in accounts, journals, and ledgers. In addition, the
system should include controls to prevent and detect errors in the recording and sum-
marization process.

The Account

In Chapters 2 and 3, we recorded and summarized transactions by using the integrated
financial statement framework. Each financial statement item was represented.
Transactions were recorded as pluses or minuses for each item affected by the trans-
action. Detecting and preventing errors in processing transactions was controlled by
monitoring the equality of the balance sheet (accounting equation). That is, total assets
must equal total liabilities plus stockholders” equity.

While the system illustrated in Chapters 2 and 3 allowed us to record and sum-
marize transactions for a small business with few transactions, it would be inefficient
for a large business. One element in which transactions are recorded efficiently is the
account.

An account, in its simplest form, has three parts. First, each account has a title,
which is the name of the item recorded in the account. Second, each account has a
space for recording increases in the amount of the item. Third, each account has a space
for recording decreases in the amount of the item. The account form presented below
is called a T account because it resembles the letter T. The left side of the account is
called the debit side, and the right side is called the credit side.

TITLE

Left side Right side
Debit Credit

Amounts entered on the left side of an account, regardless of the account title, are
called debits to the account. When debits are entered in an account, the account is said
to be debited (or charged). Amounts entered on the right side of an account are called
credits, and the account is said to be credited. Debits and credits are sometimes abbre-
viated as Dr. and Cr.

In the cash account that follows, transactions involving cash receipts are listed on
the debit side of the account. The transactions involving cash payments are listed on
the credit side. If at any time the total of cash receipts ($10,950) is needed, the entries
on the debit side of the account are added. The total of the cash payments on the credit
side, $6,850 in the example, is determined in a similar manner. Subtracting the pay-
ments from the receipts, $10,950 — $6,850, determines the amount of cash on hand,
$4,100. This amount is called the balance of an account. This balance should be iden-
tified as a debit balance in some way, such as showing the balance on the debit side of
the account or simply listing it as a debit balance.

CASH

3,750 850

4,300 1,400
Debit 2,900 700 Credit
side of 4,100 10,950 2,900 side of
account 1,000 account

/ T 6,850

Total
Balance of account debits
(Total debits — Total credits) Total

credits
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If $500 is debited to
an account, on which side
of the account is it en-
tered? Is the account in-
creased or decreased?

The $500 is entered on
the left side of the ac-
count. Whether the $500
increases or decreases the
account depends on what
kind of account is
involved.
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Rules of Debit and Credit

Why did we record increases in the cash account as debits and decreases as credits?
The simple answer is because of convention. That is, a standardized method of record-
ing increases and decreases in accounts is essential in order that businesses record
transactions in a similar manner. If each business recorded transactions differently, the
result would be chaotic and comparability between companies would be lost.

The standardized rules of debit and credit are incorporated into the accounting
equation as shown in Exhibit 3. These standardized rules are used by all businesses—
from the corner gas station to the largest public corporation.

Exhibit 3 shows three important characteristics of the rules of debit and credit.
First, the normal balance of an account is the side of the account used to record in-
creases. Thus, the normal balance of an asset account is a debit balance, while the nor-
mal balance of a liability account is a credit balance. This characteristic is often useful
in detecting errors in the recording process. That is, when an account normally having
a debit balance actually has a credit balance, or vice versa, an error may have occurred
or an unusual situation may exist.

To illustrate, assume that at the end of the period the cash account has a credit bal-
ance. In this case, either an error has occurred or the company has overdrawn its bank
account. Likewise, if accounts payable has a debit balance, then an error has occurred
or the company has overpaid its accounts payable. On the other hand, a credit balance
in the office equipment or land account can only result from an error in the recording
process. That is, a company cannot have negative office equipment or land. Thus, the
normal balances of accounts provide a degree of control in the recording process.

The second characteristic shown in Exhibit 3 is that accounts on the left side of the
accounting equation (the assets side) are increased by debits and have normal debit
balances, while accounts on the right side of the accounting equation (liability and
stockholders’ equity side) are increased by credits and have normal credit balances. On
the asset (left-hand) side of the equation, the only exception to the preceding relation-
ship is that some asset accounts, called contra asset accounts, are normally increased
by credits and have normal credit balances. As the name contra asset implies, these ac-
counts offset the normal debit balances of asset accounts. For example, accumulated
depreciation, an offset to plant assets, is increased by credits and has a normal credit
balance. Thus, accumulated depreciation is a contra asset account. We will discuss the
concept of depreciation and accumulated depreciation in more depth in Chapter 9.

On the liability and stockholders” equity (right-hand) side of the equation, the only
exceptions to the preceding relationship are the dividend and expense accounts. The
payment of dividends decreases stockholders’ equity (retained earnings); thus, the div-
idends account is increased by debits and has a normal debit balance. In this sense, the
dividends account can be thought of as a type of offset to retained earnings.

Revenue increases stockholders” equity (retained earnings), and thus revenue ac-
counts are increased by credits and have normal credit balances. In contrast, expenses
decrease stockholders’ equity (retained earnings). Thus, expense accounts are increased
by debits and have a normal debit balance. Expense accounts can be thought of as a
type of offset to revenues.

The third characteristic of the rules of debit and credit is that for each transaction the
total debits will equal the total credits. That is, each transaction must be recorded so that
the total debits for the transaction will equal the total credits. For example, assume that
a company pays cash of $500 for supplies. The asset account Supplies will be debited (in-
creased) by $500 and Cash will be credited (decreased) by $500. Likewise, if the company
provides services and receives $2,000 from customers, Cash will be debited (increased)
and Fees Earned will be credited (increased) by $2,000. Debits equaling the credits for
each transaction provides a degree of control in the recording process. In addition, as
shown in Exhibit 3, the equality of debits and credits for each transaction is built into the



Exhibit 3

Rules of Debit and
Credit

QA
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A credit balance in
which of the following
accounts—Cash,
Dividends, or Unearned
Revenue—would indicate
that an error had oc-
curred?

Dividends. If Cash has
a credit balance, the busi-
ness may have overdrawn
its bank account.
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ASSETS LIABILITIES STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CAPITAL STOCK/
= + RETAINED EARNINGS
+ - - + - + -

Increased with Credits
Normal Credit Balance

Increased with Credits
Normal Credit Balance

Increased with Debits
Normal Debit Balance

DIVIDENDS
+ - +

Increased with Debits
Normal Debit Balance

REVENUES
— + -_—

Increased with Credits
Normal Credit Balance

EXPENSES
+ —

Increased with Debits
Normal Debit Balance

accounting equation: Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity. Because of this double
equality, the system is referred to as the double-entry accounting system.

To summarize, each transaction is recorded under the rules shown in Exhibit 3.
Under these rules, the total debits will equal the total credits for each transaction,
because the equality of the debits and credits is built into the accounting equation:
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity.

The Journal

Each transaction is initially entered in chronological order in a record called a journal.
In this way, the journal documents the history of the company. The process of record-
ing transactions in the journal is called journalizing. The specific transaction record
entered in the journal is called a journal entry.

In practice, most journal entries are automated with the transaction processing sys-
tem. However, transactions that are unusual, correcting, or infrequent may require
manual entries. We stress manual entries in this text to help you understand the auto-
mated framework.

A business may use a variety of formats for recording journal entries. It may use one
all-purpose journal, sometimes called a general journal, or it may use several journals. In
the latter case, a special journal is designed to record a single kind of transaction that oc-
curs frequently. To simplify, we will use a basic, two-column general journal in the re-
mainder of this chapter to illustrate the manual journalizing of transactions.

Assume that on November 1, 2007, Janet Moore organizes a corporation that will
be known as Online Solutions. The first phase of Janet’s business plan is to focus on
building a service business that provides assistance to individuals and small businesses
in developing Web pages and in configuring and installing application software. Janet
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INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY, AND ETHICS IN BUSINESS [ ]

Will Journalizing Prevent Fraud?

While journalizing transactions reduces the possibility of fraud,  be hidden within the double-entry bookkeeping system by cre-
it by no means eliminates it. For example, embezzlement can  ating fictitious suppliers to whom checks are issued.

expects this initial phase of the business to last one to two years. During this period,
Janet will gather information on the software and hardware needs of customers. During
the second phase of the business plan, Janet plans to expand Online Solutions into an
Internet-based retailer of software and hardware to individuals and small businesses.

To start the business, Janet deposits $25,000 in a bank account in the name of
Online Solutions in return for shares of stock in the corporation. This first transaction
increases cash and capital stock by $25,000. The transaction is entered in the general
journal by first listing the date, then the title of the account to be debited, and the
amount of the debit. Next, the title of the account to be credited is listed below and to
the right of the debit, followed by the amount to be credited. The resulting journal
entry follows.

2007
Nov. 1 Cash 25,000
Capital Stock 25,000

The increase in the asset, cash, is debited to the cash account. The increase in stock-
holders’ equity (capital stock) is credited to the capital stock account. As other assets are
acquired, the increases are also recorded as debits to asset accounts. Likewise, other in-
creases in stockholders” equity will be recorded as credits to stockholders’ equity accounts.

Online Solutions entered into the following additional transactions during the re-
mainder of November:

Nov. 5 Purchased land for $20,000, paying cash. The land is located in a new busi-
ness park with convenient access to transportation facilities. Janet Moore
plans to rent office space and equipment during the first phase of Online
Solutions’ business plan. During the second phase, Janet plans to build an
office and warehouse on the land.

10 Purchased supplies on account for $1,350.

18  Received $7,500 for services provided to customers for cash.

30 Paid expenses as follows: wages, $2,125; rent, $800; utilities, $450; and
miscellaneous, $275.

30 Paid creditors on account, $950.

30 Paid stockholders (Janet Moore) dividends of $2,000.

The journal entries to record these transactions are shown at the top of the fol-
lowing page.

Effects of Journal Entries on the Financial Statements

Every transaction affects an element of the financial statements and, therefore, must be
recorded. In Chapters 2 and 3, we recorded transactions using the integrated financial
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Nov. 5 Land 20,000
Cash 20,000

10 Supplies 1,350
Accounts Payable 1,350

18 Cash 7,500
Fees Earned 7,500

30 Wages Expense 2,125

Rent Expense 800

Utilities Expense 450

Miscellaneous Expense 275
Cash 3,650

30 Accounts Payable 950
Cash 950

30 Dividends 2,000
Cash 2,000

statement framework. In this chapter, we describe and illustrate the use of journal
entries to record transactions. Both methods of recording transactions and their effects
on the financial statements have advantages and disadvantages.

The integrated financial statement framework we used in Chapters 2-3 illustrates
the effects of transactions on the financial statements and how the financial statements
are integrated. In the real world, however, the double-entry accounting system, in-
cluding journal entries and debits and credits, is used because it is more efficient and
is common practice.

Since the double-entry accounting system is used in virtually all accounting sys-
tems, we use journal entries to record transactions in the remainder of this text.
However, we supplement each journal entry with the following margin notation
adapted from the integrated financial statement framework. We do this so that you can
better see the effects of transactions on the financial statements and how transactions
are integrated in the financial statements.

Statement of Cash
Flows (SCF) Balance Sheet (BS) Income Statement (IS)
Effect Effect Effect

\ \ \

SCF IS
O I F R, E

O—Operating Activity A—Assets R—Revenue
I—Investing Activity L—Liabilities E—Expense
F—Financing Activity SE—Stockholders’ Equity

Upward or downward arrows show increases in each financial statement element.
For example, the November 5 transaction of Online Solutions is accompanied by the
following notation:

SCF Is
N —
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This notation indicates that the transaction has the effect of decreasing cash
from investing activities on the statement of cash flows (W), increasing and decreasing
assets by the same amount on the balance sheet (AN), and that the transaction had no
effect on the income statement (—). Because assets must always equal liabilities plus
stockholders” equity, the effects of transactions on the balance sheet must always be
equal. For example, in the preceding transaction, the increase in assets equals the
decrease in assets.

The November 10 transaction is accompanied by the following margin

notation:

This notation indicates that the transaction has no effect on the statement of cash
flows (—), that assets and liabilities were increased on the balance sheet (AT LT), and
there was no effect on the income statement (—).

The November 18 transaction is accompanied by the following margin

notation:
SCF IS
of rT

This notation indicates that the transaction increased cash from operating activi-
ties on the statement of cash flows (OT), increased assets and stockholders’ equity on
the balance sheet (AT SET), and increased revenues on the income statement (RT).

The journal entries in this chapter and the remainder of this text are accompanied
by similar notation to indicate their effect on the financial statements. We do not show
this notation for closing entries, since closing entries are only used to prepare the
accounting records for the next period and do not reflect underlying transactions.
Closing entries are described and illustrated later in this chapter.

Posting to the Ledger

As we discussed in the preceding section, a transaction is first recorded in the journal.
The journal thus provides a chronological history of transactions. Periodically, the jour-
nal entries must be transferred to the accounts so that financial statements can be pre-
pared. The group of accounts for a business is called its general ledger. The list of
accounts in the general ledger is called the chart of accounts. The accounts are nor-
mally listed in the order in which they appear in the financial statements, beginning
with the balance sheet and concluding with the income statement. The chart of ac-
counts for Online Solutions is shown in Exhibit 4.

The process of transferring the debits and credits from the journal entries to the
accounts in the ledger is called posting. To illustrate the posting process, Online
Solutions” November 1 transaction, along with its posting to the cash and capital stock
accounts, is shown in Exhibit 5.
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Chart of Accounts for
Online Solutions

Exhibit 5

Posting a Journal
Entry
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Cash of $450 was
received on account, but
was recorded as a $540
debit to Cash and a $540
debit to Accounts
Receivable. Would the
trial balance totals be
equal?

No. The debit total
would exceed the credit

total by $1,080.
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Balance Sheet Accounts Income Statement Accounts

Assets Revenue
Cash Fees Earned
Accounts Receivable Rent Revenue
Supplies Expenses

Prepaid Insurance

Office Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation
Land

Wages Expense

Rent Expense
Depreciation Expense
Utilities Expense
Supplies Expense
Insurance Expense
Miscellaneous Expense

Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Wages Payable
Unearned Rent

Stockholders’ Equity
Capital Stock
Retained Earnings

Dividends
—> Nov. 1 Cash 25,000
Capital Stock 25,000 <=—
CASH CAPITAL STOCK
—> Nov. 1 25,000 Nov. 1 25,000 =

The debits and credits for each journal entry are posted to the accounts in the order in
which they occur in the journal. In posting to the accounts, the date is entered followed
by the amount of the entry. After the journal entries are posted, the ledger becomes a
chronological history of transactions by account. The posting of Online Solutions’ re-
maining journal entries is shown in Exhibit 6. Posting is performed automatically in
computerized systems. In Exhibit 6, however, we illustrate the concept by posting
manually.

Trial Balance

How can you be sure that you have not made an error in posting the debits and credits
to the ledger? One way is to make sure that the total of the debit account balances in the
ledger equals the total of the credit account balances. This equality should be proved at
the end of each accounting period, if not more often. Such a proof, called a trial balance,
may be in the form of a computer printout or in the form shown in Exhibit 7, which lists
the balances shown in Exhibit 6.

The trial balance does not provide complete proof of accuracy of the ledger. It in-
dicates only that the debits and the credits are equal. This proof is of value, however,
because errors often affect the equality of debits and credits. If the two totals of a trial
balance are not equal, an error has occurred. In such a case, the error must be located
and corrected before financial statements are prepared.
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EXhibiI’ 6 CASH FEES EARNED
led for Onli Nov. 1 25,000 | Nov. 5 20,000 Nov. 18 7,500
Se Igt?r or N” ’”eb 18 7,500 30 3,650
olutions—November 30 950
30 2,000
30 Bal. 5,900
SUPPLIES WAGES EXPENSE
Nov. 10 1,350 | Nov. 30 2,125 |
LAND RENT EXPENSE
Nov. 5 20,000 | Nov. 30 800 |
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE UTILITIES EXPENSE
Nov. 30 950 | Nov. 10 1,350 Nov. 30 450
30 Bal. 400
CAPITAL STOCK MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE
| Nov. 1 25,000 Nov. 30 275 |
DIVIDENDS
Nov. 30 2,000 |
Exhibit 7 Online Solutions
Trial Balance Trial Balance
November 30, 2007
Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 5,900
Supplies 1,350
Land 20,000
Accounts Payable 400
Capital Stock 25,000
Dividends 2,000
Fees Earned 7,500
Wages Expense 2,125
Rent Expense 800
Utilities Expense 450
Miscellaneous Expense 275
32,900 32,900
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Describe and illustrate
the basic elements of a
financial reporting system.

FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM

In the prior section, we described and illustrated the basic elements of a transaction
processing system. In this section, we continue this illustration to include the basic
elements of a financial reporting system. These elements include adjusting entries,
financial statements, and closing entries.

As a review of transaction processing systems and as a basis for illustrating a
double-entry accounting financial reporting system, we continue our illustration of
Online Solutions. During December, assume that Online Solutions entered into the
following transactions:

Dec. 1 Paid a premium of $2,400 for a comprehensive insurance policy covering
liability, theft, and fire. The policy covers a two-year period.

1 Paid rent for December, $800. The company from which Online Solutions is
renting its store space now requires the payment of rent on the first of each
month, rather than at the end of the month.

1 Received an offer from a local retailer to rent the land purchased on
November 5. The retailer plans to use the land as a parking lot for its em-
ployees and customers. Online Solutions agreed to rent the land to the re-
tailer for three months, with the rent payable in advance. Online Solutions
received $360 for three months’ rent beginning December 1.

4  Purchased office equipment on account from Executive Supply Co. for $1,800.

6 Paid $180 for a newspaper advertisement.

11  Paid creditors $400.

13  Paid a receptionist and a part-time assistant $950 for two weeks” wages.

16  Received $3,100 from fees earned for the first half of December.

16  Earned fees on account totaling $1,750 for the first half of December.

20 Paid $1,800 to Executive Supply Co. on the debt owed from the December 4
transaction.

21 Received $650 from customers in payment of their accounts.

23 Purchased $1,450 of supplies by paying $550 cash and charging the
remainder on account.

27  Paid the receptionist and the part-time assistant $1,200 for two weeks’ wages.

31 Paid $310 telephone bill for the month.

31 Paid $225 electric bill for the month.

31 Received $2,870 from fees earned for the second half of December.

31 Earned fees on account totaling $1,120 for the second half of December.

31 Paid dividends of $2,000 to stockholders.

The journal entries for the December transactions are shown in Exhibit 8. The
posting of the journal entries to the ledger accounts is shown in Exhibit 15 (on pages
170-171).

Adjusting Entries

In Chapter 3, we described and illustrated various adjustments necessary in preparing
financial statements. In this section, we illustrate this process for Online Solutions, us-
ing the double-entry accounting system. However, before we begin this process, we
prepare the trial balance shown in Exhibit 9 (on page 165) to make sure that no error
has occurred in posting December transactions to the general ledger.

The adjustment data for Online Solutions as of December 31, 2007, are as follows:

Supplies on hand at December 31, $760. Used supplies of $2,040 ($2,800 — $760).
Insurance premiums expired during December, $100.
(continued)
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Journal Entries: December Transactions for Online Solutions
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Dec. 1 Prepaid Insurance 2,400
Cash 2,400

1 Rent Expense 800
Cash 800

1 Cash 360
Unearned Rent 360

4  Office EQuipment 1,800
Accounts Payable 1,800

6 Miscellaneous Expense 180
Cash 180

11 Accounts Payable 400
Cash 400

13 Wages Expense 950
Cash 950

16 Cash 3,100
Fees Earned 3,100

16  Accounts Receivable 1,750
Fees Earned 1,750

20 Accounts Payable 1,800
Cash 1,800

21 Cash 650
Accounts Receivable 650

23 Supplies 1,450
Cash 550
Accounts Payable 900

27 Wages Expense 1,200
Cash 1,200

31 Utilities Expense 310
Cash 310

31 Utilities Expense 225
Cash 225

31 Cash 2,870
Fees Earned 2,870

31 Accounts Receivable 1,120
Fees Earned 1,120

31 Dividends 2,000
Cash 2,000

Unearned rent earned during December, $120.

Wages accrued, but not paid at December 31, $250.
Fees revenue earned, but not yet billed, $500.
Depreciation of office equipment during December, $50.

Based upon the preceding adjustment data, the adjusting entries for Online Solutions
are shown in Exhibit 10.

Like other journal entries, Online Solutions” adjusting entries should be posted to
the general ledger, as shown in Exhibit 15 (on pages 170-171). After these entries have
been posted, we compute adjusted balances and prepare an adjusted trial balance prior
to preparing the financial statements. This verifies that no errors have occurred in posting
the adjustments. The adjusted trial balance for Online Solutions is shown in Exhibit 11.
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Online Solutions
Trial Balance
December 31, 2007

Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 2,065
Accounts Receivable 2,220
Supplies 2,800
Prepaid Insurance 2,400
Office EQuipment 1,800
Land 20,000
Accounts Payable 900
Unearned Rent 360
Capital Stock 25,000
Dividends 4,000
Fees Earned 16,340
Wages Expense 4,275
Rent Expense 1,600
Utilities Expense 985
Miscellaneous Expense 455
42,600 42,600
Exhibit 10
Adjusting Entries for Online Solutions
SCF BS Is |
- Al sel ET Dec. 31 Supplies Expense 2,040
Supplies 2,040
_ ) 31 Insurance Expense 100
Prepaid Insurance 100
_ rRT 31 Unearned Rent 120
Rent Revenue 120
_ ) 31 Wages Expense 250
Wages Payable 250
_ rRT 31 Accounts Receivable 500
Fees Earned 500
_ Al SE ) 31 Depreciation Expense 50
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 50

Financial Statements

Using the adjusted trial balance shown in Exhibit 11, the financial statements for
Online Solutions for the two months ending December 31, 2007, can be prepared. The
income statement, retained earnings statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash

flows for Online Solutions are shown in Exhibit 12.

The income statement, retained earnings statement, and balance sheet for Online
Solutions can be prepared directly from the adjusted trial balance shown in Exhibit 11.
The statement of cash flows is more complex and requires additional analysis of
November and December transactions. In the appendix at the end of this chapter, we

describe and illustrate how Online Solutions’ statement of cash flows is prepared.
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Exhibit 11
Adjusted Trial Balance

for Online Solutions

Exhibit 12

Financial Statements
for Online Solutions

Online Solutions

Adjusted Trial Balance

December 31, 2007

Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 2,065
Accounts Receivable 2,720
Supplies 760
Prepaid Insurance 2,300
Office Equipment 1,800
Accumulated Depreciation 50
Land 20,000
Accounts Payable 900
Wages Payable 250
Unearned Rent 240
Capital Stock 25,000
Dividends 4,000
Fees Earned 16,840
Rent Revenue 120
Wages Expense 4,525
Supplies Expense 2,040
Rent Expense 1,600
Utilities Expense 985
Insurance Expense 100
Depreciation Expense 50
Miscellaneous Expense 455
43,400 43,400
Online Solutions
Income Statement
For the Two Months Ended December 31, 2007
Fees earned $16,840
Operating expenses:
Wages expense $4,525
Supplies expense 2,040
Rent expense 1,600
Utilities expense 985
Insurance expense 100
Depreciation expense 50
Miscellaneous expense 455
Total operating expenses 9,755
Operating income $ 7,085
Other income 120
Net income $ 7,205
Online Solutions
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Two Months Ended December 31, 2007
Net income for November and December $7,205
Less dividends 4,000
Retained earnings, December 31, 2007 $3,205
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Exhibit 12

Concluded
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 2,065
Accounts receivable 2,720
Supplies 760
Prepaid insurance 2,300
Total current assets $ 7,845
Property, plant, and equipment:
Office equipment $1,800
Less accumulated depreciation 50 $ 1,750
Land 20,000
Total fixed assets 21,750
Total assets $29,595
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 900
Wages payable 250
Unearned rent 240
Total liabilities $ 1,390
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $25,000
Retained earnings 3,205
Total stockholders’ equity 28,205
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $29,595

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 14,120

Cash received from renting land 360 $14,480

Deduct cash payments for expenses 11,615

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 2,865
Cash flows used for investing activities:

Purchase of land $(20,000)

Purchase of office equipment (1,800)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (21,800)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Issuance of capital stock $ 25,000

Payment of dividends (4,000)

Net cash flows from financing activities 21,000
Net increase in cash $ 2,065
November 1, 2007, cash balance 0
December 31, 2007, cash balance $ 2,065
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Exhibit 13 shows the integration of Online Solutions’ financial statements. The rec-
onciliation of net income and net cash flows from operations is shown in the appen-
dix at the end of this chapter.

Integrated Financial Statements for Online Solutions

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Accts. Accts.  Wages Unearned Capital Retained
Cash Rec. Supplies Pay. Pay. Rent Stock Earnings
$2,065 $2,720 $760 $900 $250 $240 $25,000 $3,205
$29,595 $29,595
Total Assets = Total Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Online Solutions Online Solutions Online Solutions
Statement of Cash Flows Income Statement Retained Earnings Statement
For Two Months Ending Dec. 31, 2007 For Two Months Ending Dec. 31, 2007 For Two Months Ending Dec. 31, 2007
—> Operating act. $ 2,865 Revenues $16,840 —> Net income $7,205
Investing act. (21,800) Expenses 9,755 Less dividends 4,000
Financing act. 21,000 Operating Income $ 7,085 RE, Dec. 31, 2007 $3,205
Increase in cash Other Income 120
and Dec. 31 cash . $ 7.205——
balance $ 2,065 — | —

Reconciliation
of cash flows from operations

> and net income (see appendix
to this chapter)

Fiscal Year

In the Online Solutions” illustration, operations began on November 1 and the ac-
counting period was for two months, November and December. Janet Moore, the sole
stockholder, decided to adopt a calendar-year accounting period. In future years, the
financial statements for Online Solutions will be prepared for 12 months, ending on
December 31 each year.

The annual accounting period adopted by a business is known as its fiscal year.
Fiscal years begin with the first day of the month selected and end on the last day of
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the following twelfth month. The period most commonly used is the calendar year.
Other periods are not unusual, especially for businesses organized as corporations. For
example, a corporation may adopt a fiscal year that ends when business activities have
reached the lowest point in its annual operating cycle. Such a fiscal year is called the
natural business year. At the low point in its operating cycle, a business has more time
to analyze the results of operations and to prepare financial statements. For example,
Wal-Mart, Dell Inc. and The Gap Inc. have natural business years (fiscal periods) that
end at the end of January after the busy holiday season.

Closing Entries

After the adjusting entries have been posted to Online Solutions’ ledger, shown in
Exhibit 15, the ledger is in agreement with the data reported on the financial statements.
The balances of the accounts reported on the balance sheet are carried forward from
period to period. Because the balances are maintained between periods, these accounts
are called permanent accounts. In order for the net income for each period to be deter-
mined, the balances reported on the income statement are not carried forward from
period to period. Likewise, the balance of the dividends account, which is reported in
the retained earnings statement, is not carried forward. Because these accounts report
amounts for only one period, they are called temporary accounts.

To report amounts for only one period, temporary accounts should have zero bal-
ances at the beginning of a period. How are these balances converted to zero? The bal-
ances of revenue, expense, and dividends accounts are transferred to retained earnings.
The entries that transfer these balances to retained earnings are called closing entries.
The transfer process is called the closing process. This closing process is diagrammed
below.

The Closing Process

Present Period End of the Present Period Future Periods

Permanent accounts:

Assets
Liabilities _‘ End of present period
Stockholders’ Equity J balances carried forward

Y

Capital Stock to future periods
Retained Earnings

Temporary accounts: Closing entries:
Revenues Transfer period Zero balances carried forward
Expenses :|—> balances to ———>» to the beginning of the
Dividends Retained Earnings next period.

In a double-entry accounting system, a closing entry is normally prepared for each
of the three categories of accounts that are closed. That is, three separate closing en-
tries are prepared for revenues, expenses, and dividends. For Online Solutions, these
three closing entries are shown in Exhibit 14.

After the closing entries have been posted to the ledger, as shown in Exhibit 15,
the balance of the retained earnings account will agree with the amount reported on
the retained earnings statement and the balance sheet. In addition, the revenue, ex-
pense, and dividends accounts will have zero balances.
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Dec. 31 Fees Earned 16,840
Closing Entries for Rent Revenue 120
Online Solutions Retained Earnings 16,960
31 Retained Earnings 9,755
Wages Expense 4,525
Rent Expense 1,600
Depreciation Expense 50
Utilities Expense 985
Supplies Expense 2,040
Insurance Expense 100
Miscellaneous Expense 455
31 Retained Earnings 4,000
Dividends 4,000
Exhibit 15
Ledger for Online Solutions—December
CASH OFFICE EQUIPMENT
Dec. 1 Balance 5,900 | Dec. 1 2,400 Dec. 4 1,800 |
1 360 1 800
16 3,100 6 180
21 650 1 400 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
31 2,870 13 950 S
20 1,800 | Dec. 31  Adjusting 50
23 550
27 1,200
31 310 LAND
31 225  Dec. 1 Balance 20,000 |
31 2,000
Dec. 31 Balance 2,065
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE Dec. 11 400 | Dec. 1 Balance 400
Dec. 16 1,750 | Dec. 21 650 20 1800 : 1800
= 31 1’120 = 23 200
e Dec. 31  Balance 900
Dec. 31 Balance 2,220
31  Adjusting 50
Dec. 31  Ad;]. Bal. 2,720
WAGES PAYABLE
Dec. 31  Adjusting 250
SUPPLIES
Dec. 1 Balance 1,350 | Dec. 31 Adjusting 2,040
23 1450 | UNEARNED RENT
31 Balance 2800 | Dec. 31 Adjusting 120 | Dec. 1 360
Dec. 31 Adj. Bal. 760 Dec. 31 Adj. Bal. 240
PREPAID INSURANCE
Dec. 1 2,400 | Dec. 31 Adjusting 100 CAPITAL STOCK
Dec. 31 Adj. Bal. 2,300 Dec. 1 Balance 25,000
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Exhibit 15

Concluded
RETAINED EARNINGS SUPPLIES EXPENSE
Dec. 31  Closing 9,755 | Dec. 31  Closing 16,960 Dec. 1 Adjusting 2,040 | Dec. 31  Closing 2,040
31  Closing 4,000 31 Ad]. Bal. 2,040
Dec. 31 Balance 3,205 Dec. 31 Balance 0
DIVIDENDS RENT EXPENSE
Dec. 1 Balance 2,000 | Dec. 31  Closing 4,000 Dec. 1 Balance 800 | Dec. 31  Closing 1,600
31 2,000 1 800
Dec. 31 Balance 4,000 Dec. 31 Balance 1,600
31 Balance 0 Dec. 31 Balance 0
FEES EARNED UTILITIES EXPENSE
Dec. 31 Closing 16,840 | Dec. 1 Balance 7,500 Dec. 1 Balance 450 | Dec. 31 Closing 985
16 3,100 31 310
16 1,750 31 225
31 2,870 Dec. 31 Balance 985
31 1,120 Dec. 31 Balance 0
Dec. 31 Balance 16,340
31  Adjusting 500
Dec. 31 Adj. Bal. 16,840 INSURANCE EXPENSE
Dec. 31  Balance 0 Dec. 31  Adjusting 100 | Dec. 31  Closing 100
Dec. 31 Balance 0
RENT REVENUE
Dec. 31  Closing 120 | Dec. 31  Adjusting 120 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE
Dec. 31  Balance 0 Dec. 31  Adjusting 50 | Dec. 31  Closing 50
Dec. 31 Balance 0
WAGES EXPENSE
Dec. 1 Balance 2,125 | Dec. 31  Closing 4,525 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE
13 950 Dec. 1 Balance 275| Dec. 31 Closing 455
27 1,200 6 180
Dec. 31 Balance 4,275 Dec. 31 Balance 455
31 Adjusting 250 Dec. 31  Balance 0
Dec. 31 Adj. Bal. 4,525
31 Balance 0

Post-Closing Trial Balance

A post-closing trial balance is normally prepared after the closing entries have been
posted to the ledger. This is to make sure that no errors have been made in the post-
ing process and that the ledger is in balance at the beginning of the next period. The
accounts and amounts should agree exactly with the accounts and amounts listed on
the balance sheet at the end of the period. The post-closing trial balance for Online
Solutions is shown in Exhibit 16.
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Post-Closing Trial
Balance for Online
Solutions
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Online Solutions
Post-Closing Trial Balance
December 31, 2007
Debit Credit

Balances Balances
Cash 2,065
Accounts Receivable 2,720
Supplies 760
Prepaid Insurance 2,300
Office EQuipment 1,800
Accumulated Depreciation 50
Land 20,000
Accounts Payable 900
Wages Payable 250
Unearned Rent 240
Capital Stock 25,000
Retained Earnings 3,205
Dividends 0
Fees Earned 0
Rent Revenue 0
Wages Expense 0
Supplies Expense 0
Rent Expense 0
Utilities Expense 0
Insurance Expense 0
Depreciation Expense 0
Miscellaneous Expense 0

29,645 29,645

®

Describe the accounting
cycle for the double-entry
accounting system.

THE ACCOUNTING CYCLE

In Chapter 3, we briefly described the accounting cycle in a general sense as the process
that begins with analyzing transactions, adjusts the accounting records, prepares
financial statements, and ends with preparing the accounting records for the next
period. In this section, we expand our discussion to include features of the double-
entry accounting system. These features include the journal, ledger, unadjusted trial
balance, adjusted trial balance, closing entries, and post-closing trial balance.

The basic steps of the accounting cycle for the double-entry accounting system are
listed below. The accounting cycle begins with transactions that are supported by
source documents and ends with the post-closing trial balance. We completed each of
these steps for Online Solutions in this chapter.

1. Transactions are analyzed from source documents and are recorded in the journal
using the rules of debit and credit.

. Transactions recorded in the journal are posted to the ledger accounts.

An unadjusted trial balance is prepared.

Adjustment data are assembled and analyzed.

. Adjusting entries are prepared and recorded in the journal.

. Adjusting entries recorded in the journal are posted to the ledger accounts.

oW R WN
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7. An adjusted trial balance is prepared.

8. The financial statements are prepared.

9. Closing entries are prepared and recorded in the journal.
10. Closing entries recorded in the journal are posted to the ledger accounts.
11. A post-closing trial balance is prepared.

Describe and illustrate the
computation and use of
earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (EBITDA).

® EBITDA

© TIM SLOAN/AFP/GETTY IMAGES

Bernard J. Ebbers, former WorldCom chief
executive, appeared before the U.S. House
Comnmittee on Financial Services on July 8,
2002. His trial resulted in a conviction and a
25-year prison sentence for fraud, conspiracy,
and false filings with securities regulators.

In this chapter, we have illustrated the basic elements of transaction processing
and financial reporting accounting systems. The financial statements, which are used
by the company’s stakeholders, are the major product of these systems. However,
stakeholders often adjust financial statement data for use in their analyses. Such ad-
justments are called pro forma or “as if” computations. Because these pro forma com-

putations are adjustments to financial statements, they are not
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). However, a company may report non-GAAP pro
forma computations if it explains to investors why the addi-
tional disclosure would be useful to users. One common type
of pro forma computation that is used and reported is earn-
ings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
(EBITDA).

Many companies, such as AT&T, Time Warner, and
Goodyear Tire and Rubber, have debt terms that require them
to maintain some multiple of EBITDA. Thus, financial analysts
often use EBITDA as a rough estimate of operating cash flows
available to pay interest and other fixed charges.

Because the computation of EBITDA is not required by gen-
erally accepted accounting principles, its computation is not
subject to standardized rules, and thus may vary from com-
pany to company. For example, Safeway Stores stated the fol-
lowing regarding its computation of EBITDA in its disclosures
to the Securities and Exchange Commission: “Other companies
may define Adjusted EBITDA differently and, as a result, such
measures may not be comparable to Safeway’s Adjusted
EBITDA.”

173

WorldCom, Inc.

In their public earnings announcements, companies have re-

cently focused on reporting EBITDA to outside investors. This
was done under the belief that EBITDA would be a more real-
istic measure of earning power in some industries with large
depreciation expenses, such as telecommunications. However,
alleged accounting fraud at WorldCom, Inc., has changed
perceptions. WorldCom is alleged to have caused nearly $4

billion in costs to disappear when reporting EBITDA. As stated
recently by Chuck Hill, Director of Research at data provider
Thomson Financial /First Call, “I think the days of having EBITDA
being the focus of an earnings release are probably numbered.”

Source: “"Days May Be Numbered for EBITDA Numbers,” The Wall
Street Journal, July 5, 2002.
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The computations of EBITDA (in millions) for Continental Airlines and Southwest
Airlines for the year ended December 31, 2004, are shown below (in millions).

Southwest Continental
Airlines Airlines
Operating income (loss) before interest and taxes $554 $(229)
Depreciation and amortization 431 414
EBITDA $985 $ 185

The preceding computations reveal that Southwest has a much higher EBITDA
than Continental Airlines, even though Southwest is a smaller airline with $6.5 bil-
lion in revenue compared to Continental’s $9.7 billion in revenue. Southwest is
generating more cash from its operations to pay interest and other fixed charges than
is Continental.

As we pointed out earlier, EBITDA is only used as a rough estimate
of cash flow. You should be careful not to confuse EBITDA with net cash
"B flows from operating activities. For example, Southwest and Continental

reported positive net cash flows from operating activities for 2004 of
g $1,157 million and $236 million, respectively. In contrast, the EBITDA for

——

© RYAN MCVAY/PHOTODISC/GETTY IMAGES

Southwest and Continental was $985 million and $185 million, respec-
tively. These differences reflect that net cash flows from operating activ-
ities is computed using generally accepted accounting principles. These
principles require the consideration of factors other than just interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization in determining cash flows from
operations. For example, increases or decreases in accounts receivable
and inventories affect the amount of cash flows from operations. For this
reason, EBITDA should be interpreted only as a rough estimate of the
cash available to pay interest and other fixed charges, rather than as an
estimate of cash flows from operations.

APPENDIX

The Statement of Cash Flows

The income statement, retained earnings statement, balance sheet, and statement of
cash flows for Online Solutions are shown in Exhibit 12. The income statement, re-
tained earnings statement, and balance sheet can be prepared directly from the ad-
justed trial balance shown in Exhibit 11. Preparing the statement of cash flows, however,
is more complex.

The statement of cash flows for Online Solutions can be prepared by
analyzing the cash account shown in Exhibits 6 and 15. Each of the transactions posted
to the cash account should be classified as affecting cash flows from operating, invest-
ing, or financing activities. This analysis of the cash transactions in chronological or-
der is shown on the following page.
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Cash Flow Activity
Increase (Decrease)

Operating Investing Financing

Date Transaction Description Activity Activity Activity
Nov. 1 Issued capital stock $25,000
5 Purchased land $(20,000)
18 Earned cash fees $7,500
30 Paid $3,650 for:
Wages (2,125)
Rent (800)
Utilities (450)
Miscellaneous (275)
30 Paid creditors on account
for supplies (950)
30 Paid dividends (2,000)
Dec. 1 Paid insurance premiums (2,400)
1 Paid rent (800)
1 Received cash for renting land 360
6 Paid for adverstisement
(misc. expense) (180)
11 Paid creditors on account
for supplies (400)
13  Paid employee wages (950)
16  Earned cash fees 3,100
20  Paid creditors on account for office
equipment (1,800)
21  Received cash from customers on
account for fees earned 650
23 Paid for supplies (550)
27 Paid employee wages (1,200)
31 Paid telephone bill
(utilities expense) (310)
31  Paid electric bill
(utilities expense) (225)
31 Earned cash fees 2,870
31 Paid dividends (2,000)
Totals $2,865 $(21,800) $21,000

The statement of cash flows can be prepared from the preceding analysis by grouping
the cash receipts and payments for each of the cash flow activities. The resulting state-
ment for Online Solutions is shown in Exhibit 17.

You should note that the net cash flows from operating activities of $2,865 is not
the same as the net income of $7,205. As discussed in Chapter 3, this difference is due
to the effect of accruals and deferrals on determining net income under the accrual
basis of accounting. In the appendix to Chapter 3, we showed how the net cash flows
from operations can be reconciled with net income. This reconciliation is illustrated in
Exhibit 18 for Online Solutions.
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Exhibit 17

Statement of Cash
Flows for Online
Solutions

Exhibit 18

Reconciliation of Net

Income with Net Cash
Flows from Operating
Activities
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Online Solutions
Statement of Cash Flows

For the Two Months Ended December 31, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers
Cash received from renting land
Deduct cash payments for expenses

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows used for investing activities:
Purchase of land
Purchase of office equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of capital stock
Payment of dividends
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in cash
November 1, 2007, cash balance

December 31, 2007, cash balance

Computational Notes:
(a) $14,120 = $7,500 + $3,100 + $650 + $2,870
(b) Wages ($2,125 + $950 + $1,200)
Insurance
Supplies ($950 + $400 + $550)
Rent ($800 + $800)
Utilities ($450 + $310 + $225)
Miscellaneous ($275 + $180)

Total cash payments for expenses

Online Solutions

$ 14,120 (a)
360

$(20,000)
(1,800)

$ 25,000
(4,000)

Reconciliation of Net Income
with Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
For the Two Months Ended December 31, 2007

Net income

Add:
Depreciation expense
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in wages payable
Increase in unearned rent

Deduct:
Increase in accounts receivable
Increase in supplies
Increase in prepaid insurance

Net cash flows from operating activities

$ 50
900
250
240

$(2,720)
(760)
(2,300)

$14,480
11,615 (b)
$ 2,865

(21,800)

$7,205

1,440

(5,780)
$2,865
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SUMMARY OF LEARNING GOALS

@ Describe the nature of business information systems.
A business information system collects and processes
data into information that is distributed to stakeholders/
users. Business information systems share common elements
that include data sources, data collection, data processing,
database management, information generation, and stake-

holders/users.
@ Describe the nature of accounting information
systems. An accounting information system is a type
of business information system that processes financial and
operational data into reports useful to internal and external
stakeholders. Accounting information systems consist of the
(1) management reporting system, (2) the transaction pro-
cessing system, and (3) the financial reporting system.

Describe and illustrate the basic elements of trans-
action processing systems. The basic elements of trans-
action processing systems include accounts and rules for
recording transactions in accounts, journals, and ledgers.
In addition, the processing system should include controls
to prevent and detect errors in the recording and summa-
rization process. An account is used to record increases
and decreases in financial statement elements. The rules of
debit and credit are used to determine how increases and
decreases are recorded in the various accounts. A journal is
a chronological record of each transaction. The ledger is the
summary of all the accounts for a business. The trial balance

provides the control that the total of accounts with debit
balances must equal the total of accounts with credit
balances.

Describe and illustrate the basic elements of a finan-

cial reporting system. The basic elements of a financial
reporting system include adjusting entries, financial state-
ments, and closing entries. Adjusting entries are necessary
under the accrual basis of accounting to bring the accounts
up to date for preparing financial statements. Closing en-
tries transfer the balances of the revenue, expense, and
dividend accounts to retained earnings.

@ Describe the accounting cycle for the double-entry
accounting system. The accounting cycle of the
double-entry accounting system includes the journal, ledger,
unadjusted trial balance, adjusted trial balance, closing en-
tries, and post-closing trial balance. The basic steps of the
accounting cycle for the double-entry accounting system

are listed on pages 172 and 173.
@ Describe and illustrate the computation and use of
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and

amortization (EBITDA). Earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) is a type of pro
forma computation used by financial analysts as a rough
estimate of operating cash flows that are available to pay
interest and other fixed charges.

OSSA

Chart of accounts The list of accounts in the general ledger.

Account The element of an accounting system that summarizes
the increases and decreases in each financial statement item.

Accounting information system An information system
that consists of management reporting, transaction process-
ing, and financial reporting subsystems that processes finan-
cial and operational data into reports useful to internal and
external stakeholders.

Adjusted trial balance The trial balance prepared after the
adjusting entries have been posted to the ledger.

Adjusting entries The entries necessary to bring the ac-
counts up to date before preparing financial statements.

Balance of an account The amount of the difference be-
tween the debits and the credits that have been entered into
an account.

Business information system A system that collects and
processes company data into information that is distributed
to users.

Closing entries The entries necessary at the end of an ac-
counting period to transfer the balances of revenue, expense,
and dividend accounts to retained earnings.

Closing process The process of transferring the balances of
revenue, expense, and dividend accounts to retained earnings
in preparation for recording transactions of the next period.

Credits Amounts entered on the right side of an account.
Debits Amounts entered on the left side of an account.

Double-entry accounting system A system of account-
ing for transactions, based on recording increases and de-
creases in accounts so that debits equal credits and Assets =
Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (EBITDA) A type of pro forma computation
used by financial analysts as a rough estimate of operating cash
flows that are available to pay interest and other fixed charges.
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Financial reporting system A subsystem of accounting that
produces financial statements and other reports for external
stakeholders.

Fiscal year The annual accounting period adopted by a
business.

General ledger The group of accounts of a business.

Journal The record in which the effects of transactions are
recorded in chronological order.

Journal entry The transaction record entered in the journal.

Journalizing The process of recording transactions in the
journal.

Management reporting system A subsystem of account-
ing that provides internal information to assist managers in
making decisions.

Natural business year The fiscal year that ends when a busi-
ness’s activities reach their lowest point in the operating cycle.

Normal balance of an account The debit or credit side of
an account used to record increases.

Permanent accounts Accounts that are reported on the
balance sheet and whose balances carry forward from period
to period.

Post-closing trial balance The trial balance prepared after
the closing entries have been posted to the ledger.

Posting The process of transferring the debits and credits
from the journal entries to the accounts in the ledger.

Rules of debit and credit Standardized rules for record-
ing increases and decreases in accounts.

Temporary accounts Revenue, expense, and dividend ac-
counts whose balances are transferred to retained earnings at
the end of the period.

Transaction processing system A subsystem of account-
ing that records and summarizes the effects of financial trans-
actions on the business.

Trial balance A summary listing of the accounts and their
balances in the ledger.

ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEM

J. F. Outz, M.D., has been practicing as a cardiologist for three years in a professional corpora-
tion known as Hearts, P.C. During April 2007, Hearts completed the following transactions.

Purchased X-ray film and other supplies on account, $245.

Apr. 1 Paid office rent for April, $800.
3 Purchased equipment on account, $1,575.
5 Received cash on account from patients, $3,150.
8
9

One of the items of equipment purchased on April 3 was defective. It was returned

with the permission of the supplier, who agreed to reduce the account for the
amount charged for the item, $325.

12 Paid cash to equipment supplier on account, $1,250.

17  Paid cash for renewal of a six-month property insurance policy, $370.

20 Paid cash to laboratory on account, $200.

24  Paid cash for laboratory analysis, $545.

25 Recorded fees charged to patients on account for services performed in April, $5,145.

27  Paid cash dividends, $1,250.

28 Recorded the cash received in payment for services provided to patients during

April, $1,720.

28 Paid salaries of receptionist and nurses, $1,725.
30 Paid various utility expenses, $360.
30 Paid miscellaneous expenses, $132.

Hearts” accounts and balances (all normal balances) as of April 1 are listed as follows: Cash,
$4,123; Accounts Receivable, $4,725; Supplies, $290; Prepaid Insurance, $465; Equipment, $21,745;
Accumulated Depreciation, $3,100; Accounts Payable, $765; Salary Payable; Capital Stock,
$10,000; Retained Earnings, $17,483; Dividends; Professional Fees; Salary Expense; Rent Expense;
Laboratory Expense; Insurance Expense; Utilities Expense; Supplies Expense; Depreciation Ex-

pense; Miscellaneous Expense.

Instructions

1. Enter the April 1 balances in standard T accounts. Identify each amount as “Balance.” (Hint:
Verify the equality of the debit and credit balances in the ledger before proceeding with the

next instruction.)
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N

10.

11.

Journalize each transaction in a two-column journal. Show the effects of each transaction on
the financial statements using the margin notation illustrated in this chapter.

Post the journal entries to the T accounts, placing the date to the left of each amount to iden-
tify the transaction. Determine the account balances after all posting is complete.

Prepare an unadjusted trial balance as of April 30, 2007.

Data necessary to determine the end-of-month adjustments are as follows:

Supplies on hand at April 30, $185.

. Professional fees accrued on April 30, $1,375.

Insurance premiums expired during April, $435.

. Depreciation on equipment during April, $80.

e. Salaries accrued at April 30, $300.

Journalize and post the necessary adjusting entries for April. Identify each adjusting entry in
the account as “Adjusting.” Show the effects of each transaction on the financial statements
using the margin notation illustrated in this chapter. For the adjusted accounts, determine an
adjusted balance.

Prepare an adjusted trial balance as of April 30, 2007.

Prepare an income statement, a retained earnings statement, and a classified balance sheet.
Journalize and post the closing entries for April. Identify each entry in the accounts as
“Closing.”

Prepare a post-closing trial balance as of April 30, 2007.

(Appendix) Prepare a statement of cash flows for April. Note that the April 12 payment of
$1,250 on account was for the equipment purchase. The April 20 payment of $200 on ac-
count was for laboratory expense.

(Appendix) Reconcile net income with net cash flows from operations for April. Note that
only $45 of the increase in Accounts Payable represents operating activities. The remaining
$525 increase in Accounts Payable relates to the purchase of equipment, an investing
activity.

oo o

Solution to Illustrative Problem

2.

Apr. 1 Rent Expense 800
Cash 800

3  Equipment 1,575
Accounts Payable 1,575

5 Cash 3,150
Accounts Receivable 3,150

8 Supplies 245
Accounts Payable 245

9 Accounts Payable 325
Equipment 325

12 Accounts Payable 1,250
Cash 1,250

17  Prepaid Insurance 370
Cash 370

20 Accounts Payable 200
Cash 200

24 Laboratory Expense 545
Cash 545

25 Accounts Receivable 5,145
Professional Fees 5,145

27 Dividends 1,250
Cash 1,250

28 Cash 1,720
Professional Fees 1,720

(continued)
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SCF
ol ET Apr. 28 Salary Expense 1,725
Cash 1,725
ol - BT 30 Utilities Expense 360
Cash 360
ol - BT 30 Miscellaneous Expense 132
Cash 132
1. and 3.
CASH ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
April 1 Balance 4,123 | April 1 800 April 30 Balance 3,100
5 3,150 12 1,250 30 Adjusting 80
28 1,720 17 370 April 30 Adj. Bal. 3,180
20 200
24 545
;; ::’ggg ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
30 360 April 9 325 | April 1 Balance 765
30 132 12 1,250 3 1,575
April 30 Balance 2,361 20 200 8 245
April 30 Balance 810

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
April 1 Balance 4,725 April 5 3,150
25 5,145

April 30 Balance 6,720
30 Adjusting 1,375

SALARY PAYABLE
| April 30  Adjusting 300

CAPITAL STOCK

April 30 Adj. Bal. 8,095
| April 1 Balance 10,000
SUPPLIES
RETAINED EARNINGS
April 1 Balance 290 B . :
3 245 April 30  Closing 4,727 | April 1 Balance 17,483
- - “oooes 30 Closing 1,250 30 Closing 8,240
April 30 Balance 535 | April 30 Adjusting 350 :
- - April 30 Balance 19,746
April 30 Adj. Bal. 185
DIVIDENDS
PREPAID INSURANCE April 27 1,250 | April 30 Closing 1,250
April 1 Balance 465 April 30  Balance 0
17 370
April 30 Balance 835 | April 30 Adjusting 435
April 30 Adj. Bal. 400 PROFESSIONAL FEES
April 25 5,145
28 1,720
EQUIPMENT 30 Balance 6,865
April 1 Balance 21,745 | April 9 325 Y N 30 Adjusting 1,375
3 1,575 April 30 Closing 8,240 April 30 Adj. Bal. 8,240
April 30 Balance 22,995 April 30 Balance 0
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SALARY EXPENSE

UTILITIES EXPENSE

April 28 1725 April 30 360 | April 30 Closing 360
30 Adjusting 300 April 30 Balance 0
April 30 Adj. Bal. 2,025 | April 30 Closing 2,025
April 30 Balance 0 SUPPLIES EXPENSE
RENT EXPENSE April 30  Adjusting 350 April 30 Closing 350
April 1 800 | April 30 Closing 800 April 30 - Balance 0
April 30 Balance 0
DEPRECIATION EXPENSE
LABORATORY EXPENSE April 30 Adjusting 80 | April 30 Closing 80
April 24 545 | April 30 Closing 545 April 30 Balance 0
April 30 Balance 0
INSURANCE EXPENSE MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE
April 30 Adjusting 435 | April 30 Closing 435 April 30 132 | April 30 Closing 132
April 30 Balance 0 April 30 Balance 0
4.
Hearts, P.C.
Unadjusted Trial Balance
April 30, 2007
Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 2,361
Accounts Receivable 6,720
Supplies 535
Prepaid Insurance 835
Equipment 22,995
Accumulated Depreciation 3,100
Accounts Payable 810
Capital Stock 10,000
Retained Earnings 17,483
Dividends 1,250
Professional Fees 6,865
Salary Expense 1,725
Rent Expense 800
Laboratory Expense 545
Utilities Expense 360
Miscellaneous Expense 132
38,258 38,258
| scF BS Is |
- AlSE ET Supplies Expense 350
Supplies 350
_ ATSED R b.  Accounts Receivable 1,375
Professional Fees 1,375
_ AlSEL Er Insurance Expense 435
Prepaid Insurance 435

(continued)
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d. Depreciation Expense 80
Accumulated Depreciation 80
e. Salary Expense 300
Salary Payable 300
6.
Hearts, P.C.
Adjusted Trial Balance
April 30, 2007
Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 2,361
Accounts Receivable 8,095
Supplies 185
Prepaid Insurance 400
Equipment 22,995
Accumulated Depreciation 3,180
Accounts Payable 810
Salary Payable 300
Capital Stock 10,000
Retained Earnings 17,483
Dividends 1,250
Professional Fees 8,240
Salary Expense 2,025
Rent Expense 800
Laboratory Expense 545
Insurance Expense 435
Utilities Expense 360
Supplies Expense 350
Depreciation Expense 80
Miscellaneous Expense 132
40,013 40,013
7.
Hearts, P.C.
Income Statement
For the Month Ended April 30, 2007

Professional fees $8,240
Operating expenses:

Salary expense $2,025

Rent expense 800

Laboratory expense 545

Insurance expense 435

Utilities expense 360

Supplies expense 350

Depreciation expense 80

Miscellaneous expense 132
Total operating expenses 4,727
Net income $3,513
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Hearts, P.C.
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Month Ended April 30, 2007

Retained earnings, April 1, 2007 $17,483
Net income for April $3,513
Less dividends 1,250
Increase in retained earnings 2,263
Retained earnings, April 30, 2007 $19,746

Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 2,361
Accounts receivable 8,095
Supplies 185
Prepaid insurance 400
Total current assets $11,041
Property, plant, and equipment:
Equipment $22,995
Less accumulated depreciation 3,180
Total property, plant, and equipment 19,815
Total assets $30,856
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 810
Salary payable 300
Total liabilities $ 1,110
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $10,000
Retained earnings 19,746
Total stockholders’ equity 29,746
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $30,856
8.
Professional Fees 8,240
Retained Earnings 8,240
Retained Earnings 4,727
Salary Expense 2,025
Rent Expense 800
Laboratory Expense 545
Insurance Expense 435
Utilities Expense 360
Supplies Expense 350
Depreciation Expense 80
Miscellaneous Expense 132
Retained Earnings 1,250

Dividends 1,250
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9.
Hearts, P.C.
Post-Closing Trial Balance
April 30, 2007
Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 2,361
Accounts Receivable 8,095
Supplies 185
Prepaid Insurance 400
Equipment 22,995
Accumulated Depreciation 3,180
Accounts Payable 810
Salary Payable 300
Capital Stock 10,000
Retained Earnings 19,746
34,036 34,036
10.
Hearts, P.C.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended April 30, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $ 4,870 (a)

Deduct cash payments for operating expenses 4,132 (b)
Net cash flows from operating activities $ 738
Net cash flows used for investing activities:

Purchase of equipment (1,250)
Net cash flows used for financing activities:

Payment of dividends (1,250)
Net decrease in cash $(1,762)
April 1, 2007, cash balance 4,123
April 30, 2007, cash balance $ 2,361

Computational Notes:
(a) $3,150 + $1,720
(b) Salary
Rent
Laboratory ($545 + $200)
Utilities
Insurance
Miscellaneous

Total cash payments for expenses

$1,725
800
745
360
370
132

$4,132
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11.

Net income $3,513
Add:

Depreciation $ 80

Decrease in supplies 105

Decrease in prepaid insurance 65

Increase in accounts payable (from operations) 45

Increase in salary payable 300 595
Deduct:

Increase in accounts receivable 3,370
Net cash flows from operating activities $ 738

Answers at end of chapter

=

N

el

SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS

A debit may signify a(n):

A. increase in an asset account.

B. decrease in an asset account.

C. increase in a liability account.

D. increase in the capital stock account.

The type of account with a normal credit balance is:
A. an asset.

B. dividends.

C. arevenue.

D. an expense.

A debit balance in which of the following accounts would
indicate a likely error?

A. Accounts Receivable

B. Cash

C. Fees Earned

D. Miscellaneous Expense

5.

Which of the following entries closes the dividends account

at the end of the period?

A. Debit the dividends account, credit the capital stock
account.

B. Debit the retained earnings account, credit the
dividends account.

C. Debit the capital stock account, credit the dividends
account.

D. Debit the dividends account, credit the retained
earnings account.

Which of the following accounts would not be closed to

the retained earnings account at the end of a period?

A. Fees Earned

B. Wages Expense

C. Rent Expense

D. Accumulated Depreciation

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

. When you registered for this class and paid your tuition,

you interacted with the college’s information systems.
(a) Are the registration and tuition payment systems
business information systems? (b) Which system is part
of the college’s accounting system?

. What is the difference between an account and a ledger?
. Do the terms debit and credit signify increase or de-

crease, or can they signify either? Explain.

What is the effect (increase or decrease) of a debit to an
expense account (a) in terms of stockholders’ equity
and (b) in terms of expense?

. What is the effect (increase or decrease) of a credit to a

revenue account (a) in terms of stockholders’ equity
and (b) in terms of revenue?

6. Regan Company adheres to a policy of depositing all

cash receipts in a bank account and making all pay-
ments by check. The cash account as of August 31 has
a credit balance of $1,200, and there is no undeposited
cash on hand. (a) Assuming that no errors occurred
during journalizing or posting, what caused this un-
usual balance? (b) Is the $1,200 credit balance in the
cash account an asset, a liability, stockholders” equity, a
revenue, or an expense?

. Tull Company performed services in June for a specific

customer for a fee of $2,230. Payment was received the
following July. (a) Was the revenue earned in June or
July? (b) What accounts should be debited and credited
in (1) June and (2) July?

185
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11.
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What proof is provided by a trial balance?

If the two totals of a trial balance are equal, does it mean
that there are no errors in the accounting records? Explain.
Assume that when a purchase of supplies of $1,030 for
cash was recorded, both the debit and the credit were
journalized and posted as $1,300. (a) Would this error
cause the trial balance to be out of balance? (b) Would
the trial balance be out of balance if the $1,030 entry had
been journalized correctly, but the credit to Cash had
been posted as $1,300?

Banks rely heavily upon customers’ deposits as a source
of funds. Demand deposits normally pay interest to the
customer, who is entitled to withdraw at any time
without prior notice to the bank. Checking and NOW
(negotiable order of withdrawal) accounts are the
most common form of demand deposits for banks.
Assume that LaDuke Storage has a checking account at
City Savings Bank. What type of account (asset, liabil-
ity, stockholders’ equity, revenue, expense, dividends)
does the account balance of $15,500 represent from the
viewpoint of (a) LaDuke Storage and (b) City Savings
Bank?

12.

13.

14.

15.
16.

Why are closing entries required at the end of an ac-
counting period?

What is the difference between adjusting entries and
closing entries?

What types of accounts are closed by transferring their
balances (a) as a debit to Retained Earnings, (b) as a
credit to Retained Earnings?

What is the purpose of the post-closing trial balance?
The fiscal years for several well-known companies were
as follows:

Company Fiscal Year Ending
Wal-Mart January 31
JCPenney January 26
Best Buy February 28
The Gap Inc. January 31
Federated Department Stores February 3
The Limited, Inc. January 31

What general characteristic shared by these companies
explains why they do not have fiscal years ending
December 31?

EXERCISES

Exercise 4-1

Chart of accounts

Exercise 4-2

Accounts Payable
Aircraft Fuel Expense

3 Air Traffic Liability

Cargo and Mail Revenue

Commissions

The following accounts appeared in recent financial statements of Continental Airlines:

Flight Equipment

Landing Fees

Passenger Revenue

Purchase Deposits for Flight Equipment
Spare Parts and Supplies

Identify each account as either a balance sheet account or an income statement account. For each
balance sheet account, identify it as an asset, a liability, or stockholders’” equity. For each income
statement account, identify it as a revenue or an expense.

Normal account balances

Exercise 4-3

3

Chart of accounts

3

For each account listed in Exercise 4-1, indicate whether its normal balance is a debit or a credit.

The following accounts have been adapted from recent financial statements of Time Warner:

Accounts Receivable
Accumulated Depreciation
Advertising Revenues

Cable Television Equipment

Compact Discs and DVD Merchandise
Interest Expense

Music Catalogs and Copyrights

Notes Payable (due December 6, 2019)
Property, Plant, and Equipment



Exercise 4-4

Normal account balances

3

Exercise 4-5

Normal entries for accounts

3

Exercise 4-6

Normal balances of accounts

3

Exercise 4-7

Rules of debit and credit
3
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Retained Earnings

Royalties and Programming Costs Payable

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense
Short-Term Investments
Unearned Subscriptions

187

Identify each account as either a balance sheet account or an income statement account. For each
balance sheet account, identify it as an asset, a liability, or stockholders’ equity. For each income
statement account, identify it as a revenue or an expense.

For each account listed in Exercise 4-3, indicate whether its normal balance is a debit or a

credit.

During the month, Gilbert Labs Co. has a substantial number of transactions affecting each of
the following accounts. State for each account whether it is likely to have (a) debit entries only,
(b) credit entries only, or (c) both debit and credit entries.

Accounts Payable
Accounts Receivable
Cash

Fees Earned

LN S

5.
6.
7.

Dividends

Miscellaneous Expense

Supplies Expense

Identify each of the following accounts of Haifa Services Co. as asset, liability, stockholders’
equity, revenue, or expense, and state in each case whether the normal balance is a debit or a

credit.

a. Accounts Payable

b. Accounts Receivable
c. Cash

d. Capital Stock

e. Dividends

T s

Equipment

. Fees Earned
. Rent Expense
Salary Expense

Supplies

The following table summarizes the rules of debit and credit. For each of the items (a) through
(n), indicate whether the proper answer is a debit or a credit.

Normal
Increase Decrease Balance
Balance sheet accounts:
Asset Debit Credit (a)
Liability (b) (c) (d)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Capital Stock (e) (f) Credit
Retained Earnings Credit (9) (h)
Dividends (i) Credit (4)
Income statement accounts:
Revenue (k) Debit (0}
Expense (m) Credit (n)
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Exercise 4-8

Identifying transactions

3,4

Exercise 4-9

Journal entries

3,4

Exercise 4-10

Trial balance

3,4

Exercise 4-11

Classification of accounts,
normal balances

3,4
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Malta Co. is a travel agency. The nine transactions recorded by Malta during February 2006, its
first month of operations, are indicated in the following T accounts:

CASH EQUIPMENT DIVIDENDS
(1) 40,000 (2) 1,800 (3) 24,000 (8) 5,000
(7) 9,500 (3) 9,000
(4) 3,050
(6) 7,500
(8) 5,000
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SERVICE REVENUE
(5) 12,000 | (7) 9,500 (6) 7,500 | (3) 15,000 | (5) 12,000
SUPPLIES CAPITAL STOCK OPERATING EXPENSES
(2) 1,800 (9) 1,050 (1) 40,000 (4) 3,050
(9) 1,050

Indicate for each debit and each credit: (a) whether an asset, liability, stockholders” equity, div-
idends, revenue, or expense account was affected and (b) whether the account was increased (+)
or decreased (-). Present your answers in the following form, with transaction (1) given as an
example:

Account Debited Account Credited
Transaction Type Effect Type Effect
(1) asset + stockholders’ equity +

Based upon the T accounts in Exercise 4-8, prepare the nine journal entries from which the post-
ings were made.

Based upon the data presented in Exercise 4-8, prepare a trial balance, listing the accounts in
their proper order.

The following accounts (in millions) were adapted from the financial statements of Apple
Computer, Inc., for the year ending September 25, 2004:

Accounts Payable $2,680  Other Assets $ 651
Accounts Receivable 1,005 Other Income (net) 57
Capital Stock 2,406  Other Liabilities 294
Cash 2,969 Other Operating Expenses 23
Cost of Sales 6,020 Property, Plant, and Equipment 707
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 122 Research and Development Expenses 489
Income Tax Expense 107 Retained Earnings, September 27, 2003 2,394
Inventories 101  Sales 8,279
Investments 2,495 Selling, General, and Administrative

Expenses 1,421



Exercise 4-12

Trial balance
3,4
Total debit column, $16,110

Exercise 4-13

Income statement, retained
earnings statement

3,4
Net income, $276

Exercise 4-14

Closing entries, post-closing
trial balance

3,4
Total debit column, $8,050

Exercise 4-15

Cash account balance
3,4
b. 7,550

Exercise 4-16

Account balances
3,4
a. $40,550
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(a) Identify each account as either a balance sheet account or an income statement account. (b)
For each balance sheet account, identify it as an asset, a liability, or stockholders” equity. For
each income statement account, identify it as a revenue or an expense. (c) Indicate the normal
balance of the account.

Using the data from Exercise 4-11, prepare a trial balance for Apple Computer, Inc., as of
September 25, 2004. List the accounts in the order they would appear in the ledger of Apple
Computer.

Using the data from Exercises 4-11 and 4-12, prepare (a) an income statement and (b) a retained
earnings statement for the year ending September 25, 2004, for Apple Computer, Inc.

Using the data from Exercises 4-11 and 4-12, (a) journalize the closing entries and (b) prepare a
post-closing trial balance for Apple Computer, Inc.

During the month, Wembley Co. received $212,500 in cash and paid out $183,750 in cash.

a. Do the data indicate that Wembley Co. earned $28,750 during the month? Explain.
b. If the balance of the cash account is $36,300 at the end of the month, what was the cash bal-
ance at the beginning of the month?

a. On April 1, the cash account balance was $7,850. During April, cash receipts totaled $41,850,
and the April 30 balance was $9,150. Determine the cash payments made during April.

b. On July 1, the accounts receivable account balance was $15,500. During July, $61,000 was
collected from customers on account. Assuming the July 31 balance was $17,500, determine
the fees billed to customers on account during July.

c¢.  During January, $40,500 was paid to creditors on account, and purchases on account were
$57,700. Assuming the January 31 balance of Accounts Payable was $38,000, determine the
account balance on January 1.
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Exercise 4-17

Transactions

3,4

Exercise 4-18

Journalizing and posting

3,4

Exercise 4-19

Transactions and T accounts

3,4

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 4-20

Trial balance
3,4
SPREADSHEET
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The Zuni Co. has the following accounts in its ledger: Cash; Accounts Receivable; Supplies;
Office Equipment; Accounts Payable; Capital Stock; Dividends; Fees Earned; Rent Expense;
Advertising Expense; Utilities Expense; Miscellaneous Expense.

Journalize the following selected transactions in a journal. Show the effects of each transac-
tion on the financial statements using the margin notation illustrated in this chapter.

Paid rent for the month, $1,500.

Paid advertising expense, $700.

Paid cash for supplies, $1,050.

Purchased office equipment on account, $7,500.
Received cash from customers on account, $3,600.
Paid creditor on account, $1,150.

Paid dividends, $1,000.

Paid cash for repairs to office equipment, $500.
30 Paid telephone bill for the month, $195.

31 Fees earned and billed to customers for the month, $10,150.
31 Paid electricity bill for the month, $380.

Aug.

—
IO N OB N -

On October 27, 2006, Lintel Co. purchased $1,320 of supplies on account.

a. Journalize the October 27, 2006, transaction.
b. Prepare a T account for Supplies. Enter a debit balance of $585 as of October 1, 2006.
c¢. Prepare a T account for Accounts Payable. Enter a credit balance of $6,150 as of October 1,

2006.
d. Post the October 27, 2006, transaction to the accounts and determine account balances.

The following selected transactions were completed during May of the current year:

1. Billed customers for fees earned, $12,190.

2. Purchased supplies on account, $1,250.

3. Received cash from customers on account, $9,150.

4. Paid creditors on account, $750.

a. Journalize the above transactions in a two-column journal, using the appropriate number

to identify the transactions.

b. Post the entries prepared in (a) to the following T accounts: Cash, Supplies, Accounts
Receivable, Accounts Payable, Fees Earned. To the left of each amount posted in the
accounts, place the appropriate number to identify the transactions.

The accounts in the ledger of Haleakala Park Co. as of March 31, 2006, are listed in alphabetical
order, as follows. All accounts have normal balances. The balance of the cash account has been
intentionally omitted.

Accounts Payable $ 18,710 Notes Payable $ 40,000
Accounts Receivable 37,500 Prepaid Insurance 3,000
Capital Stock 50,000 Rent Expense 60,000
Cash ? Retained Earnings 36,640
Dividends 20,000 Supplies 2,100
Fees Earned 310,000 Supplies Expense 7,900
Insurance Expense 6,000 Unearned Rent 9,000
Land 85,000 Utilities Expense 41,500
Miscellaneous Expense 8,900 Wages Expense 175,000

Prepare a trial balance, listing the accounts in their proper order and inserting the missing figure
for cash.
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Exercise 4-21 Indicate which of the following errors, each considered individually, would cause the trial bal-
ance totals to be unequal:
Effect of errors on trial a. A payment of $7,000 for equipment purchased was posted as a debit of $700 to
balance Equipment and a credit of $700 to Cash.
3,4 b. Payment of a cash dividend of $12,000 was journalized and posted as a debit of $21,000 to

Salary Expense and a credit of $12,000 to Cash.

c. A fee of $1,850 earned and due from a client was not debited to Accounts Receivable or
credited to a revenue account, because the cash had not been received.

d. A payment of $1,475 to a creditor was posted as a debit of $1,475 to Accounts Payable
and a debit of $1,475 to Cash.

e. A receipt of $325 from an account receivable was journalized and posted as a debit of
$325 to Cash and a credit of $325 to Fees Earned.

Exercise 4-22 The following preliminary trial balance of Escalade Co., a sports ticket agency, does not balance:
Errors in trial balance Escalade Co.
3,4 Trial Balance
Total debit column, $181,600 December 31, 2006
R Debit Credit
Balances Balances
Cash 47,350
Accounts Receivable 22,100
Prepaid Insurance 8,000
Equipment 57,000
Accounts Payable 12,980
Unearned Rent 4,520
Capital Stock 25,000
Retained Earnings 57,420
Dividends 10,000
Service Revenue 83,750
Wages Expense 42,000
Advertising Expense 7,200
Miscellaneous Expense 1,425
226,070 152,675

When the ledger and other records are reviewed, you discover the following: (1) the debits and
credits in the cash account total $47,350 and $33,975, respectively; (2) a billing of $2,500 to a cus-
tomer on account was not posted to the accounts receivable account; (3) a payment of $1,800
made to a creditor on account was not posted to the accounts payable account; (4) the balance
of the unearned rent account is $4,250; (5) the correct balance of the equipment account is
$75,000; and (6) each account has a normal balance.

Prepare a corrected trial balance.

Exercise 4-23 The following errors occurred in posting from a two-column journal:
1. A debit of $1,250 to Supplies was posted twice.
Effect of errors on trial 2. A debit of $3,575 to Wages Expense was posted as $3,557.
balance 3. A credit of $4,175 to Accounts Payable was not posted.
3,4 4. A debit of $400 to Accounts Payable was posted as a credit.
5. An entry debiting Accounts Receivable and crediting Fees Earned for $6,000 was not posted.
6. A credit of $350 to Cash was posted as $530.

7. A debit of $1,000 to Cash was posted to Miscellaneous Expense.

Considering each case individually (i.e., assuming that no other errors had occurred), indicate:
(a) by “yes” or “no” whether the trial balance would be out of balance; (b) if answer to (a) is
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Exercise 4-24

Errors in trial balance

3,4

Exercise 4-25

Adjusting entries
3,4

Exercise 4-26

Adjusting entries
3,4

SPREADSHEET
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“yes,” the amount by which the trial balance totals would differ; and (c) whether the debit or
credit column of the trial balance would have the larger total. Answers should be presented in
the following form, with error (1) given as an example:

(a) (b) ()
Error Out of Balance Difference Larger Total
1. yes $1,250 debit

How many errors can you find in the following trial balance? All accounts have normal balances.

Dinero Co.
Trial Balance
For the Month Ending January 31, 2006
Debit Credit

Balances Balances
Cash 7,500
Accounts Receivable 16,400
Prepaid Insurance 3,600
Equipment 50,000
Accounts Payable 1,850
Salaries Payable 1,250
Capital Stock 5,000
Retained Earnings 38,200
Dividends 6,000
Service Revenue 78,700
Salary Expense 32,810
Advertising Expense 7,200
Miscellaneous Expense 1,490

152,750 152,750

On January 31, the end of the current year, the following data were accumulated to assist the
accountant in preparing the adjusting entries for Edsel Realty:

a. The supplies account balance on January 31 is $2,750. The supplies on hand on January 31
are $645.

b. The unearned rent account balance on January 31 is $9,450, representing the receipt of an

advance payment on January 1 of three months’ rent from tenants.

Wages accrued but not paid at January 31 are $2,150.

Fees accrued but unbilled at January 31 are $13,340.

e. Depreciation of office equipment for the year is $2,900.

o n

Journalize the adjusting entries required at January 31.

Ithaca Services Co. offers cleaning services to business clients. The trial balance for Ithaca
Services Co. before adjustments is shown on the next page.
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Adjusting trial balance
3,4
Total debit column, $213

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 4-28

Financial statements
4

Net income, $18

SPREADSHEET
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Ithaca Services Co.
Unadjusted Trial Balance
January 31, 2006

Cash

Accounts Receivable
Supplies

Prepaid Insurance
Land

Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment
Accounts Payable
Wages Payable
Capital Stock
Retained Earnings
Dividends

Fees Earned

Wages Expense

Rent Expense
Insurance Expense
Utilities Expense
Depreciation Expense
Supplies Expense
Miscellaneous Expense

Totals

Debit
Balances

8
50

8
12
50
32

(e]

| N
NOO OO ®o

N
g
o

Credit
Balances

26

20
92

60

The data for year-end adjustments are as follows:

Fees earned but not yet billed, $7.
Supplies on hand, $3.

Insurance premiums expired, $6.
Depreciation expense, $5.

Wages accrued but not paid, $1.

P an T

Prepare the adjusting entries for Ithaca Services Co.

Based upon the data in Exercise 4-26, adjust the account balances shown and prepare an ad-

justed trial balance for Ithaca Services Co.

Based upon the data in Exercise 4-27, prepare an income statement, retained earnings statement,

and balance sheet for Ithaca Services Co.

193
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Exercise 4-29

Closing entries

4

Exercise 4-30

Statement of retained earnings
3,4
SPREADSHEET

Exercise 4-31

Statement of refained
earnings, net loss

3,4
SPREADSHEET

Exercise 4-32

Accounting cycle

5
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Based upon the data in Exercises 4-26 and 4-27, prepare the closing entries for Ithaca Services Co.

Synthesis Systems Co. offers its services to residents in the Dillon City area. Selected accounts
from the ledger of Synthesis Systems Co. for the current fiscal year ended October 31, 2006, are

as follows:
RETAINED EARNINGS
Oct. 31 12,000 | Bal., Nov. 1, 2005 173,750
31 277,150 | Oct. 31 321,400
Bal., Oct. 31, 2006 206,000
DIVIDENDS
Jan. 31 3,000 | Oct. 31 12,000
Apr. 30 3,000
July 31 3,000
Oct. 31 3,000

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ending October 31, 2006.

Selected accounts from the ledger of Bobcat Sports for the current fiscal year ended August 31,
2006, are as follows:

RETAINED EARNINGS

Aug. 31 16,000 | Bal., Sept. 1, 2005 210,300

31 224,900 | Aug. 31 175,250

Bal., Aug. 31, 2006 144,650

DIVIDENDS

Nov. 30 4,000 | Aug. 31 16,000
Feb. 28 4,000
May 31 4,000
Aug. 31 4,000

Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year.

Rearrange the following steps of the accounting cycle in proper sequence.

P an T

TR

Adjusting entries recorded in the journal are posted to the ledger accounts.
Closing entries are prepared and recorded in the journal.

An unadjusted trial balance is prepared.

A post-closing trial balance is prepared.

Transactions are analyzed from source documents and are recorded in the journal using
the rules of debit and credit.

Adjustment data are assembled and analyzed.

Transactions recorded in the journal are posted to the ledger accounts.
Adjusting entries are prepared and recorded in the journal.

The financial statements are prepared.

Closing entries recorded in the journal are posted to the ledger accounts.
An adjusted trial balance is prepared.
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The Digital Express Company disclosed a net income of $12,000 on revenues of $400,000 for fis-
cal year ending December 31, 2007. The company had $500,000 of 6% debt outstanding during
the year. In addition, the company had depreciation and amortization expenses of $32,000. The
company’s 2007 tax rate was 40%. The management believes a pro forma disclosure of EBITDA
would be useful to investors.

a. Determine EBITDA for 2007.
b. Determine net income divided by sales and EBITDA divided by sales for 2007.
c¢.  What disclosure must management provide in addition to the pro forma EBITDA calculations?

Condensed income statements for Comcast Corp., the largest U.S. cable operator, and DirecTV
Group, Inc., a satellite-based entertainment company, for a recent year are provided below (in
millions).

DirecTV

Comcast Corp. Group Inc.
Revenues $20,307 $11,360
Operating expenses (excluding depreciation) $ 7,462 $ 8,668
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 5,314 3,973
Depreciation expense 3,420 670
Amortization expense 1,203 168
Total expenses $17,399 $13,479
Operating income (loss) $ 2,908 $(2,119)
Interest income (expense) (1,112) 359
Income (loss) before tax $ 1,796 $(1,760)
Income tax (expense) benefit (826) 704
Net income $ 970 $ (1,056)

a. Determine EBITDA for each company.
b. Determine EBITDA divided by revenues for each company.
c¢. Compare and contrast Comcast with DirecTV based on your answers to parts (a) and (b).

ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Problem 4-1A

Journal entries and trial
balance

3

3. Total debit column,
$25,000

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

On March 1, 2006, Tim Cochran established Star Realty, which completed the following trans-
actions during the month:

a. Tim Cochran transferred cash from a personal bank account to an account to be used for
the business in exchange for capital stock, $12,000.

Purchased supplies on account, $850.

Earned sales commissions, receiving cash, $12,600.

Paid rent on office and equipment for the month, $2,000.

Paid creditor on account, $450.

Paid dividends, $1,500.

Paid automobile expenses (including rental charge) for month, $1,700, and miscellaneous
expenses, $375.

Paid office salaries, $3,000.

Determined that the cost of supplies used was $605.

E @ mrean o

Instructions

1. Journalize entries for transactions (a) through (i), using the following accounts: Cash;
Supplies; Accounts Payable; Capital Stock; Dividends; Sales Commissions Earned; Office
Salaries Expense; Rent Expense; Automobile Expense; Supplies Expense; Miscellaneous
Expense. Show the effects of each transaction on the financial statements using the margin
notation illustrated in this chapter.

(continued)
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Problem 4-2A

Journal entries and trial
balance

3

3. Total debit column,
$40,880

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Problem 4-3A

Journal entries and trial
balance

4
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2. Post the journal entries to T accounts, placing the appropriate letter to the left of each amount
to identify the transactions. Determine the account balances, after all posting is complete.
3. DPrepare a trial balance as of March 31, 2006.
4. Determine the following;:
a. Amount of total revenue recorded in the ledger.
b. Amount of total expenses recorded in the ledger.
c. Assuming that no adjustments are necessary, what is the amount of net income for

March?

On July 1, 2006, Leon Cruz established an interior decorating business, Ingres Designs. During the
remainder of the month, Leon Cruz completed the following transactions related to the business:

July 1 Leon transferred cash from a personal bank account to an account to be used for
the business in exchange for capital stock, $18,000.
5 Paid rent for the period of July 5 to the end of the month, $1,500.
10 Purchased a truck for $15,000, paying $5,000 cash and giving a note payable for
the remainder.
13 Purchased equpment on account, $4,500.
14  Purchased supplies for cash, $975.
15 Paid annual premiums on property and casualty insurance, $3,000.
15 Received cash for job completed, $4,100.
21  Paid creditor a portion of the amount owed for equipment purchased on July 13,
$2,400.
24  Recorded jobs completed on account and sent invoices to customers, $6,100.
26  Received an invoice for truck expenses, to be paid in August, $580.
27  Paid utilities expense, $950.
27  Paid miscellaneous expense, $315.
29 Received cash from customers on account, $3,420.
30 Paid wages of employees, $2,500.
31 Paid dividends, $2,000.
Instructions

1. Journalize each transaction in a two-column journal, referring to the following chart of
accounts in selecting the accounts to be debited and credited.

Cash Capital Stock
Accounts Receivable Dividends

Supplies Fees Earned

Prepaid Insurance Wages Expense
Equipment Rent Expense

Truck Utilities Expense
Notes Payable Truck Expense
Accounts Payable Miscellaneous Expense

2. Post thejournal to aledger of T accounts. For accounts with more than one posting, determine
the account balance.
3. Prepare a trial balance for Ingres Designs as of July 31, 2006.

Socket Realty acts as an agent in buying, selling, renting, and managing real estate. The account
balances at the end of May 2007 of the current year are as shown at the top of the following

page:
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4. Total debit column, Debit Balances Credit Balances

$97,520 Cash 4,920

SPREADSHEET Accounts Receivable 15,000

GENERAL LEDGER Prepaid Insurance 1,440
Office Supplies 960
Land 0
Office Equipment 10,480
Accumulated Depreciation 2,880
Accounts Payable 640
Salary and Commissions Payable 0
Unearned Fees 1,440
Notes Payable 0
Capital Stock 20,000
Retained Earnings 7,840
Dividends 0
Fees Earned 0
Salary and Commission Expense
Rent Expense
Office Supplies Expense
Advertising Expense
Automobile Expense
Insurance Expense
Depreciation Expense
Miscellaneous Expense

O O OO O o oo

w
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32,800

The following business transactions were completed by Socket Realty during June 2007:

June 1 Paid rent on office for June, $2,000.
2 Purchased office supplies on account, $1,100.
5 Paid annual insurance premiums, $1,920.
8 Received cash from clients on account, $13,040.
10  Purchased land for a future building site for $48,000, paying $4,800 in cash and
giving a non-interest-bearing note payable due in 2009 for the remainder.
16 Paid creditors on account, $640.
18 Returned a portion of the office supplies purchased on June 2, receiving full credit
for their cost, $140.
24 Paid advertising expense, $680.
25 Billed clients for fees earned, $18,800.
27 Paid salaries and commissions, $6,000
28 Paid automobile expense (including rental charges for an automobile), $600.
29  Paid miscellaneous expenses, $200.
30 Received cash from client for fees earned, $2,400.
30 Paid dividends, $800.

Instructions

1. Record the June 1 balance of each account in the appropriate column of a T account. Write
Balance to identify the opening amounts.

2. Journalize the transactions for June in a two-column journal.

3. Post the journal entries to the T accounts, placing the date to the left of each amount to identify
the transaction. Determine the balances for all accounts with more than one posting.

4. DPrepare an unadjusted trial balance of the ledger as of June 30, 2007.
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Problem 4-4A The data necessary to adjust Socket Realty accounts from Problem 4-3A as of June 30, 2007, are
as follows:
Adjusting entries, financial a. Prepaid insurance expired during June, $280.
statements, closing entries b. Office supplies on hand at June 30, $580.
34 c. Depreciation on office equipment, $160.
! d. Unearned fees earned during June, $480.
3. Total debit column, e. Accrued fees as of June 30, $960.
$99,200 f.  Accrued salary and commissions as of June 30, $560.
SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER Instructions
1. Journalize the necessary adjusting entries for June.
2. Post the adjusting entries to T accounts. Identify each adjusting entry as “Adjusting.” For
those accounts that were adjusted, determine an adjusted balance.
3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance as of June 30.
4. Prepare an income statement, a retained earnings statement, and a classified balance sheet.
5. Journalize and post the closing entries for June. Identify each entry as “Closing.” Determine
post-closing balances.
6. Prepare a post-closing trial balance as of June 30, 2007.
7. (Appendix) Prepare a statement of cash flows for June. Note that the June 16 payment on
account of $640 was for a May purchase of supplies on account.
8. (Appendix) Reconcile net income with net cash flows from operations for June.
Problem 4-5A Heritage Company offers legal consulting advice to death-row inmates. Heritage Company pre-

pared the following trial balance at April 30, 2006, the end of the current fiscal year:

Adjustments and financial

statements .
Heritage Company
3,4 Trial Balance

2. Total debit column, April 30[ 2006

$509,720

SPREADSHEET Debit Credit

GENERAL LEDGER Balances Balances
Cash 3,200
Accounts Receivable 10,500
Prepaid Insurance 1,800
Supplies 1,350
Land 50,000
Building 136,500
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 50,700
Equipment 92,700
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 36,300
Accounts Payable 6,500
Unearned Rent 3,000
Capital Stock 50,000
Retained Earnings 162,500
Dividends 10,000
Fees Revenue 191,000
Salaries and Wages Expense 96,200
Advertising Expense 63,200
Utilities Expense 18,000
Repairs Expense 12,500
Miscellaneous Expense 4,050

500,000 500,000
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The data needed to determine year-end adjustments are as follows:

a. Accrued fees revenue at April 30 are $2,800.

b. Insurance expired during the year is $450.

c.  Supplies on hand at April 30 are $650.

d. Depreciation of building for the year is $1,620.

e. Depreciation of equipment for the year is $3,500.

f.  Accrued salaries and wages at April 30 are $1,800.

g. Unearned rent at April 30 is $1,500.

Instructions

1. Prepare the adjusting entries.

2. Based upon (1), prepare an adjusted trial balance.

3. Prepare an income statement for the year ended April 30, 2006.
4. Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ended April 30, 2006.
5. Prepare a classified balance sheet as of April 30, 2006.

6. Prepare the closing entries.

7. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

ALTERNATE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Alternate Problem On January 2, 2006, Lela Peterson established Acadia Realty, which completed the following
4-1B transactions during the month:

a. Lela Peterson transferred cash from a personal bank account to an account to be used for
Journal entries and trial the business in exchange for capital stock, $9,000.

balance b. Paid rent on office and equipment for the month, $2,000.
3 c. Purchased supplies on account, $700.
d. Paid creditor on account, $290.
3. Total debit column, $20,160 e, Earned sales commissions, receiving cash, $10,750.
SPREADSHEET f. Paid automobile expenses (including rental charge) for month, $1,400, and miscellaneous
expenses, $480.
GENERAL LEDGER g. Paid office salaries, $2,500.
h. Determined that the cost of supplies used was $575.
i.  Paid dividends, $1,000.
Instructions

1. Journalize entries for transactions (a) through (i), using the following accounts: Cash;
Supplies; Accounts Payable; Capital Stock; Dividends; Sales Commissions Earned; Rent
Expense; Office Salaries Expense; Automobile Expense; Supplies Expense; Miscellaneous
Expense. Show the effects of each transaction on the financial statements using the margin
notation illustrated in this chapter.

2. DPost the journal entries to T accounts, placing the appropriate letter to the left of each
amount to identify the transactions. Determine the account balances, after all posting is
complete.

3. Prepare a trial balance as of January 31, 2006.

4. Determine the following;:

a. Amount of total revenue recorded in the ledger.

b. Amount of total expenses recorded in the ledger.

c. Assuming that no adjustments are necessary, what is the amount of net income for
January?
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Alternate Problem
4-2B

Journal entries and trial
balance

3
3. Total debit column, $41,425

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Alternate Problem
4-3B

Journal entries and trial
balance

3

4. Total debit column,
$317,300

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER
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On November 2, 2006, Nicole Oliver established an interior decorating business, Devon Designs.
During the remainder of the month, Nicole completed the following transactions related to the
business:

Nov. 2 Nicole transferred cash from a personal bank account to an account to be used for
the business in exchange for capital stock, $15,000.

5 Paid rent for the period of November 5 to end of month, $1,750.
6  Purchased office equipment on account, $8,500.
8 Purchased a used truck for $18,000, paying $10,000 cash and giving a note payable

for the remainder.

10 Purchased supplies for cash, $1,115.

12 Received cash for job completed, $7,500.

15 Paid annual premiums on property and casualty insurance, $2,400.

23 Recorded jobs completed on account and sent invoices to customers, $3,950.

24  Received an invoice for truck expenses, to be paid in December, $600.

29  Paid utilities expense, $750.

29  Paid miscellaneous expenses, $310.

30 Received cash from customers on account, $2,200.

30 Paid wages of employees, $2,700.

30 Paid creditor a portion of the amount owed for equipment purchased on
November 6, $2,125.

30 Paid dividends, $1,400.

Instructions

1. Journalize each transaction in a two-column journal, referring to the following chart of
accounts in selecting the accounts to be debited and credited.

Cash Capital Stock
Accounts Receivable Dividends

Supplies Fees Earned

Prepaid Insurance Wages Expense
Equipment Rent Expense

Truck Utilities Expense
Notes Payable Truck Expense
Accounts Payable Miscellaneous Expense

2. Postthejournal to aledger of T accounts. For accounts with more than one posting, determine
the account balance.
3. DPrepare a trial balance for Devon Designs as of November 30, 2006.

Gypsum Realty acts as an agent in buying, selling, renting, and managing real estate. The ac-
count balances at the end of March 2007 of the current year are as follows:
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Debit Balances Credit Balances

Cash 16,300

Accounts Receivable 57,500

Prepaid Insurance 2,200

Office Supplies 2,100

Land 0

Office Equipment 17,000

Accumulated Depreciation 4,800
Accounts Payable 1,800
Salary and Commissions Payable 0
Unearned Fees 3,000
Notes Payable 0
Capital Stock 20,000
Retained Earnings 65,500
Dividends 0

Fees Earned 0
Salary and Commission Expense
Rent Expense

Office Supplies Expense
Advertising Expense
Automobile Expense

Insurance Expense

Depreciation Expense
Miscellaneous Expense

O O OO O o oo
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95,100

The following business transactions were completed by Gypsum Realty during April 2007:

Apr. 1 Paid rent on office for April, $8,000.
2 Purchased office supplies on account, $2,750.
5 Paid annual insurance premiums, $3,300.
8 Received cash from clients on account, $55,000.
15 Purchased land for a future building site for $150,000, paying $15,000 in cash and

giving a non-interest-bearing note payable due in 2011 for the remainder.

17  Paid creditors of April 2 purchase on account, $1,800.

20 Returned a portion of the office supplies purchased on April 2, receiving full credit
for their cost, $550.

24 Paid advertising expense, $2,200.

25 Billed clients for fees earned, $76,800.

27 Paid salaries and commissions, $23,000.

28 Paid automobile expense (including rental charges for an automobile), $1,430.

29  Paid miscellaneous expense, $430.

30 Received cash from client for fees earned, $10,000.

30 Paid dividends, $4,000.

Instructions

1. Record the April 1 balance of each account in the appropriate column of a T account. Write
Balance to identify the opening amounts.

2. Journalize the transactions for April in a two-column journal.

3. Post the journal entries to the T accounts, placing the date to the left of each amount
to identify the transaction. Determine the balances for all accounts with more than one
posting.

4. Prepare an unadjusted trial balance of the ledger as of April 30.
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Alternate Problem
4-4B

Adjusting entries, financial
statements, closing entries

3,4
3. Total debit column,
$321,850

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER

Alternate Problem
4-5B

Adjustments and financial
statements

3,4

2. Total debit column,
$384,980

SPREADSHEET
GENERAL LEDGER
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The data necessary to adjust Gypsum Realty accounts from Alternate Problem 4-3B as of April
30, 2007, are as follows:

a. Prepaid insurance expired during April, $500.

b. Office supplies on hand at April 30, $1,750.

c. Depreciation on office equipment, $250.

d. Unearned fees earned during April, $1,000.

e. Accrued fees as of April 30, $2,800.

f. Accrued salary and commissions as of April 30, $1,500.

Instructions

1. Journalize the necessary adjusting entries for April.

2. Post the adjusting entries to T accounts. Identify each adjusting entry as “Adjusting.” For
those accounts that were adjusted, determine an adjusted balance.

3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance as of April 30.

4. Prepare an income statement, a retained earnings statement, and a classified balance
sheet.

5. Journalize and post the closing entries for April. Identify each entry as “Closing.” Determine
post-closing balances.

6. Prepare a post-closing trial balance as of April 30, 2007.

7. (Appendix) Prepare a statement of cash flows for April. Note that the April 17 payment on
account of $1,800 was for a March purchase of supplies on account.

8. (Appendix) Reconcile net income with net cash flows from operations for April.

Flamingo Company maintains and repairs warning lights, such as those found on radio towers
and lighthouses. Flamingo Company prepared the following trial balance at July 31, 2006, the
end of the current fiscal year:

Flamingo Company
Trial Balance
July 31, 2006
Debit Credit

Balances Balances
Cash 4,500
Accounts Receivable 13,500
Prepaid Insurance 3,000
Supplies 1,950
Land 70,000
Building 100,500
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 71,700
Equipment 71,400
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 60,800
Accounts Payable 4,100
Unearned Rent 1,500
Capital Stock 5,000
Retained Earnings 50,700
Dividends 4,000
Fees Revenue 181,200
Salaries and Wages Expense 73,200
Advertising Expense 15,500
Utilities Expense 8,100
Repairs Expense 6,300
Miscellaneous Expense 3,050

375,000 375,000
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The data needed to determine year-end adjustments are as follows:

a. Fees revenue accrued at July 31 is $3,500.

b. Insurance expired during the year is $2,000.

c.  Supplies on hand at July 31 are $350.

d. Depreciation of building for the year is $1,520.

e. Depreciation of equipment for the year is $2,160.

f.  Accrued salaries and wages at July 31 are $2,800.

g. Unearned rent at July 31 is $500.

Instructions

1. Prepare the adjusting entries.

2. Based upon (1), prepare an adjusted trial balance.

3. Prepare an income statement for the year ended July 31, 2006.
4. Prepare a retained earnings statement for the year ended July 31, 2006.
5. Prepare a classified balance sheet as of July 31, 2006.

6. Prepare the closing entries.

7. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND REPORTING CASES

Case 4-1 The Gap Inc. is a global specialty retailer operating stores selling casual apparel, personal care,
and other accessories for men, women, and children under The Gap, Banana Republic, and Old
Navy brands. The Gap Inc. designs virtually all of its products, which are manufactured by in-
dependent sources and sold under The Gap’s name brands.

The following operating data (in millions) were adapted from the 2005 SEC 10-K filings of
The Gap Inc. for the years ending January 29, 2005, and January 31, 2004:

2005 2004

Net sales $16,267 $15,854
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold 9,886 9,885

Other expenses 4,509 4,285
Operating income $ 1,872 $ 1,684
Income taxes 722 653
Net income (loss) $ 1,150 $ 1,031
Depreciation and amortization $ 620 $ 675
Interest expense $ 167 $ 234

1. Compute EBITDA for 2005 and 2004.

2. Compute the ratio of EBITDA to interest expense for 2005 and 2004. Round to one decimal
place.

3. Based upon (1) and (2), discuss the trends in EBITDA and the ratio of EBITDA to interest
expense.

4. Is EBITDA normally the same as the amount reported for net cash flows from operating
activities? Explain.
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Case 4-2

Case 4-3

Case 4-4
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Assume that The Gap Inc. has credit agreements that require a long-term liability to EBITDA
ratio that does not exceed 3:1. Financial requirements such as this are called loan or credit
covenants. The violation of a loan or credit covenant can result in the debt becoming due im-
mediately, as well as requirements to pay additional interest and penalties. The long-term
liabilities of The Gap Inc. at the end of 2005 and 2004 were $2,870 and $3,518 respectively.

1. Based upon your answer to Case 4-1, determine whether The Gap Inc. is in compliance with
the loan covenant for 2005 and 2004. Round to one decimal place.

2. Assume that long-term debt does not change during 2006. Also, assume the following
operating data for 2006:

Interest expense $200
Depreciation and amortization 650
Income before income taxes 300

Given this information, will The Gap Inc. violate its loan covenant in 2006? Show your com-
putations. Round to one decimal place.

3. Assuming that during 2006 the long-term debt does not change, how much would EBITDA
have to decline before The Gap Inc. would violate the covenant?

The following income statement (in millions) is adapted from the 2004 10-K filing of Time
Warner:

Revenues $42,089
Cost of revenues 24,449
Gross profit $17,640
Selling, administrative, and other expenses 10,300
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets 626
Other costs and expenses 549
Operating income $ 6,165
Interest expense 1,754
Other nonrecurring income 651
Income before taxes $ 5,062
Income tax expense 1,698
Net income $ 3,364

Included in the preceding income statement is depreciation of property, plant, and equipment
of $6,132.

1. Compute the EBITDA for 2004.

2.  Compute the percentage of EBITDA to total revenues for 2004. Round to one decimal place
after converting to a percentage.

3. Compute the ratio of EBITDA to interest expense for 2004. Round to one decimal place.

4. Compute the ratio of long-term debt to EBITDA for 2004. The long-term debt as of December
31, 2004, was $20,703. Round to one decimal place.

5. Comment on the ability of Time Warner to meet its interest obligations.

The following income statement (in thousands) is from the Securities and Exchange Commission
10-K filing by Amazon.com for the year ending December 31, 2004:
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Net sales
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Fulfillment expenses
Marketing expenses
Technology and content expenses
General and administrative expenses
Stock-based compensation expense
Other operating (income) expense
Total operating expenses

Income from operations before interest and taxes
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$6,921,124

5,319,127

$1,601,997
$590,397
158,022
251,195
112,220
57,702
(7,964)

1,161,572

$ 440,425

Included in the preceding income statement is depreciation and amortization expense of $75,724.

1. Compute the EBITDA for 2004.

2. Based upon (1), comment on Amazon.com’s EBITDA.

WorldCom, Inc., allegedly reported nearly $4 billion as fixed assets on its balance sheet, rather
than as operating expense on its income statement. Of this amount, $3.06 billion should have
been expensed in 2001, rather than debited as a fixed asset. As a result of this discovery,
WorldCom lost credibility with investors, and its common stock lost nearly all of its value.
WorldCom made public disclosures of its net income, as required, but also focused its earning
announcements on EBITDA. The income statement for the year ended December 31, 2001,

reported the following;:

WorldCom, Inc.
Income Statement

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Revenues
Operating expenses:
Line costs
Selling, general, and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total
Operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Miscellaneous income

Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income

(in millions)
$35,179

$14,739
11,046
5,880
$31,665
$ 3,514

(1,533)
447

$ 2,428
927

$ 1,501

1. Determine EBITDA, using the reported figures.

2. Determine EBITDA as it should have been reported in 2001 if costs were properly expensed,

rather than debited as a fixed asset.

3. Assume that fixed assets are depreciated on the straight-line basis for five years. Under this
assumption, what would be the correct net income (loss) before income taxes for 2001?
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Case 4-6 On the Internet, go to the google.com Web site and perform an advanced search for “EBITDA.”
Review the articles for a discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of using EBITDA as a
financial analysis tool. Pick one or more articles, read them, and summarize your findings.

Case 4-7 The income statements for Amazon.com, Google, Inc., and Borders, Inc., for a recent year are
provided below.
Amazon.com Google, Inc. Borders, Inc.

Net sales $6,921 $3,189 $3,903
Cost of sales 5,319 _1,457 2,804
Gross profit $1,602 $1,732 $1,099
Selling, general, and administrative expenses _1,162 1,092 883
Operating income $ 440 $ 640 $ 216
Interest expense (income) 84 __(109 9
Income before income taxes $ 356 $ 650 $ 207
Income taxes expense (benefit) _(232) 251 76
Net income $ 588 $ 399 $ 131

In addition, the statement of cash flows revealed the following line item in the cash flows from
operations section of the statement:

Amazon.com Google, Inc. Borders, Inc.
Depreciation and amortization $76 $148 $113

1. Determine EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) for each
company.

2.  Why is the EBITDA for Amazon.com actually less than the net income?

3.  Would you conclude that the EBITDA performance of Amazon.com is more like an Internet
company such as Google, Inc., or more like a book retailer like Borders, Inc.? Explain.
Hint: Compute EBITDA as a percent of net sales.

4. How is EBITDA different than cash flows from operations?

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND RESPONSIBILITY ISSUES

Activity 4-1 Mohawk Industries is a leading distributor of carpets and rugs in the United States. The com-
pany sells its carpets and rugs to locally owned, independent carpet retailers, home centers such
as Home Depot and Lowe’s, and department stores such as Sears. Mohawk’s carpets are mar-
keted under the brand names that include “Aladdin, Mohawk Home, Bigelow, Custom Weave,
Durkan, Karastan, and Townhouse.”

Business emphasis

1. List some factors that increase the demand for carpet.

2. Do you think Mohawk should view itself as a carpet or floor-covering manufacturer?
Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of Mohawk viewing itself as a floor-covering
manufacturer rather than just a carpet manufacturer.

3. Read Mohawk’s latest 10-K filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission by using
EdgarScan (http://edgarscan.pwcglobal.com). Does Mohawk view itself as a carpet manu-
facturer or as a floor-covering manufacturer? Explain.


http://edgarscan.pwcglobal.com
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Ethics and professional
conduct in business

Activity 4-3

Recording transactions

Activity 4-4

Debits and credits
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At the end of the current month, Ross Heimlich prepared a trial balance for Main Street Motor
Co. The credit side of the trial balance exceeds the debit side by a significant amount. Ross has
decided to add the difference to the balance of the miscellaneous expense account in order to
complete the preparation of the current month’s financial statements by a 5 o’clock deadline.
Ross will look for the difference next week when he has more time.

Discuss whether Ross is behaving in a professional manner.

The following discussion took place between Heather Sims, the office manager of Sedgemoor
Data Company, and a new accountant, Ed Hahn.

Ed: I've been thinking about our method of recording entries. It seems that it’s inefficient.

Heather: In what way?

Ed: Well—correct me if I'm wrong—it seems like we have unnecessary steps in the process.
We could easily develop a trial balance by posting our transactions directly into the
ledger and bypassing the journal altogether. In this way we could combine the recording
and posting processes into one step and save ourselves a lot of time. What do you think?

Heather: We need to have a talk.

What should Heather say to Ed?

The following excerpt is from a conversation between Peter Kaiser, the president and chief
operating officer of Sprocket Construction Co., and his neighbor, Doris Nesmith:

Doris: Peter, I'm taking a course in night school, “Intro to Accounting.” I was wondering—could
you answer a couple of questions for me?

Peter: Well, I will if I can.

Doris: Okay, our instructor says that it’s critical we understand the basic concepts of
accounting, or we’ll never get beyond the first test. My problem is with those rules of
debit and credit . . . you know, assets increase with debits, decrease with credits, etc.

Peter: Yes, pretty basic stuff. You just have to memorize the rules. It shouldn’t be too difficult.

Doris: Sure, I can memorize the rules, but my problem is I want to be sure I understand the
basic concepts behind the rules.

For example, why can’t assets be increased with credits and decreased with debits
like revenue? As long as everyone did it that way, why not? It would seem easier if we
had the same rules for all increases and decreases in accounts.

Also, why is the left side of an account called the debit side? Why couldn’t it be called
something simple . . . like the “LE” for Left Entry? The right side could be called just “RE”
for Right Entry.

Finally, why are there just two sides to an entry? Why can’t there be three or four
sides to an entry?

In a group of four or five, select one person to play the role of Peter and one person to play the
role of Doris.

1. After listening to the conversation between Peter and Doris, help Peter answer Doris’s
questions.

2. What information (other than just debit and credit journal entries) could the accounting sys-
tem gather that might be useful to Peter in managing Sprocket Construction Co.?

The following is an excerpt from a telephone conversation between Pedro Mendoza, president
of Goliath Supplies Co., and Natalie Weich, owner of Flint Employment Co.:

Pedro: Natalie, you're going to have to do a better job of finding me a new computer
programmer. That last guy was great at programming, but he didn’t have any
common sense.
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Natalie: What do you mean? The guy had a master’s degree with straight A’s.

Pedro: Yes, well, last month he developed a new financial reporting system. He said we
could do away with manually preparing financial statements. The computer would
automatically generate our financial statements with “a push of a button.”

Natalie: So what'’s the big deal? Sounds to me like it would save you time and effort.

Pedro: Right! The balance sheet showed a minus for supplies!

Natalie: Minus supplies? How can that be?

Pedro: That's what I asked.

Natalie: So, what did he say?

Pedro: Well, after he checked the program, he said that it must be right. The minuses were
greater than the pluses . ..

Natalie: Didn’t he know that supplies can’t have a credit balance—it must have a debit
balance?

Pedro: He asked me what a debit and credit were.

Natalie: 1 see your point.

1. Comment on (a) the desirability of computerizing Goliath Supplies Co.’s financial reporting
system and (b) the computer programmer’s lack of accounting knowledge.
2. Explain to the programmer why supplies could not have a credit balance.

Assume that you recently accepted a position with the Bozeman National Bank as an assistant
loan officer. As one of your first duties, you have been assigned the responsibility of evaluating
a loan request for $150,000 from Sasquatch.com, a small corporation. In support of the loan ap-
plication, Samantha Joyner, owner, submitted a “statement of accounts” (trial balance) for the
first year of operations ended December 31, 2006.

1. Explain to Samantha Joyner why a set of financial statements (income statement, statement
of retained earnings, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows) would be useful to you in
evaluating the loan request.

2. In discussing the statement of accounts with Samantha Joyner, you discovered that the ac-
counts had not been adjusted at December 31. Analyze the statement of accounts (shown at
the top of the following page) and indicate possible adjusting entries that might be neces-
sary before an accurate set of financial statements could be prepared.

3. Assuming that an accurate set of financial statements will be submitted by Samantha Joyner
in a few days, what other considerations or information would you require before making
a decision on the loan request?
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Sasquatch.com
Statement of Accounts
December 31, 2006

Cash

Billings Due from Others
Supplies (chemicals, etc.)
Trucks

Equipment

Amounts Owed to Others
Investment in Business
Service Revenue

Wages Expense

Utilities Expense

Rent Expense

Insurance Expense
Other Expenses

4,100
30,150
14,950
52,750
16,150

5,700

47,000

147,300
60,100
14,660
4,800
1,400
940

200,000

200,000

ANSWERS TO SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS

1. A A debit may signify an increase in an asset account
(answer A) or a decrease in a liability or capital stock account.
A credit may signify a decrease in an asset account (answer
B) or an increase in a liability or capital stock account (answers
C and D).

2. C Liability, capital stock, and revenue (answer C) ac-
counts have normal credit balances. Asset (answer A), divi-
dends (answer B), and expense (answer D) accounts have
normal debit balances.

3. C Accounts Receivable (answer A), Cash (answer B),
and Miscellaneous Expense (answer D) would all normally

have debit balances. Fees Earned should normally have a
credit balance. Hence, a debit balance in Fees Earned (answer
C) would indicate a likely error in the recording process.

4. B The entry to close the dividends account is to debit
the retained earnings account and credit the dividends account
(answer B).

5. D Since all revenue and expense accounts are closed at
the end of the period, Fees Earned (answer A), Wages Expense
(answer B), and Rent Expense (answer C) would all be closed
to Retained Earnings. Accumulated Depreciation (answer D)
is a contra asset account that is not closed.



Learning Goals

Distinguish the activities and financial statements of a
service business from those of a merchandise business.

Describe and illustrate the financial statements of a mer-
chandising business.

Describe the accounting for the sale of merchandise.

Describe the accounting for the purchase of merchandise.

Describe the accounting for transportation costs and
sales taxes.

llustrate the dual nature of merchandising transactions.
Describe the accounting for merchandise shrinkage.

Describe and illustrate the effects of inventory misstate-
ments on the financial statements.

Describe and illustrate the use of gross profit and operat-
ing income in analyzing a company’s operations.




JCPenney

Twenty years ago, music was purchased at the
“record store.” Not any more. Today, CDs can
be purchased at retail stores such as Best Buy,
Borders, Wal-Mart, Sam Goody’s, and Disc
Exchange; through online retainers such as
CDUniverse and CDNow; and as individual
MP3 downloads from services such as Apple’s
iTunes® and Real’s Rhapsody®. The way we
buy goods (and services) has undergone signif-
icant changes and will continue to change with
consumer tastes and technology. For example,
an established retailer like JCPenney is faced
with a rapidly changing competitive landscape
through the emergence of (1) discount mer-
chandising, (2) category killers, and (3) Internet
retailing.

Over the last two decades, Wal-Mart has
virtually reinvented discount merchandising, thus
becoming the world’s largest retailer. Wal-
Mart’s growth is centered on providing the con-
sumer with everyday discount pricing over a
broad array of household products. Category
killers include Toys“R"”Us (toys), Best Buy (elec-
tronics), Home Depot (home improvement),
and Office Depot (office supplies), which pro-
vide a wide selection of attractively priced
goods within a particular product segment.
Internet retailers, such as Amazon.com and
Lands” End (now part of Sears), allow time-
conscious consumers to shop quickly and
effortlessly.

JCPenney has had to adapt its retailing
model in order to respond to all these changes.
JCPenney is competing with the discounters by
providing more assortment and quality than a
discounter, but at a better price than a specialty
retailer. JCPenney deals with category killers
by eliminating hard goods and focusing on soft
goods, such as clothes. JCPenney has had to
adapt its retailing model in order to respond to
these new competitors. The company’s new
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business emphasis focuses on providing more
assortment and quality than a discounter, but
at a better price than a specialty retailer.

Merchandising will undoubtedly continue
to evolve as consumer lifestyles and technolo-
gies change in the future. In this chapter, we in-
troduce you to the accounting issues unique to
merchandisers. We emphasize merchandisers
at this point in the text because merchandising
is significant in its own right, and because even
nonmerchandisers have similar accounting is-
sues to those discussed in this chapter.
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@

Distinguish the activities
and financial statements of
a service business from
those of a merchandise
business.

QA

Assume that operating
income is $45,000, gross
profit is $100,000, and
the cost of goods sold is
$525,000. What are the
net sales and the total
operating expenses?

Net sales: $625,000
($100,000 + $525,000)
Operating expenses:
$55,000 ($100,000 —
$45,000)

Exhibit 1
H&R Block Income

Statement

MERCHANDISE OPERATIONS

In prior chapters, we described and illustrated how businesses report their financial
condition and changes in financial condition using the cash and accrual bases of ac-
counting. In these prior chapters, we focused on service businesses. In this chapter, we
describe and illustrate the accounting for merchandise operations.

How do the operating activities of a service business, such as a consulting firm,
law practice, or architectural firm, differ from a merchandising business, such as Home
Depot Inc. or Wal-Mart? The differences are best illustrated by focusing on the income
statements of the two types of businesses.

The condensed income statement of H&R Block Inc. is shown in Exhibit 1.' H&R
Block is a service business that primarily offers tax planning and preparation to its
customers.

The condensed income statement of Home Depot is shown in Exhibit 2.> Home
Depot is the world’s largest home improvement retailer and the second largest retailer
in the United States, based on net sales volume.

The revenue activities of a service business involve providing services to customers.
On the income statement for a service business, the revenues from services are reported
as revenues or fees earned. The operating expenses incurred in providing services are
subtracted from the revenues to arrive at operating income. Any other income or expense
is then added or subtracted to arrive at income before taxes. Net income is determined by
subtracting income taxes. Exhibit 1 shows that H&R Block earned operating profits of
$1,052 (in thousands) based upon revenue of $4,420 (in thousands). Adding other income
and subtracting income taxes results in net income of $636 (in thousands).

In contrast, the revenue activities of a merchandising business involve the buying
and selling of merchandise. A merchandise business must first purchase merchandise
to sell to its customers. The revenue received for merchandise sold to customers less
any merchandise returned or any discounts is reported as net sales. The related cost
of merchandise sold is then determined and matched against the net sales. Gross
profit is determined by subtracting the cost of merchandise sold from net sales. Gross
profit gets its name from the fact that it is the profit before deducting operating ex-
penses. Operating expenses are then subtracted in arriving at operating income. Like
a service business, other income or expense is then added or subtracted to arrive at
income before taxes. Subtracting income taxes yields net income.

H&R Block Inc.
Condensed Income Statement
For the Year Ending April 30, 2005
(in thousands)

Revenue $4,420
Operating expenses 3,368
Operating income $1,052
Other income and (expense) (34)
Income before taxes $1,018
Income taxes 382
Net income $ 636

1 Adapted from H&R Block’s 10-K filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

2 Adapted from Home Depot’s 10-K filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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BN

Most businesses cannot be all things to all people. Busi-

nesses must seek a position in the marketplace to serve
a unique customer need. Companies that are unable
to do this can be squeezed out of the marketplace.
The mall-based department store has been under pres-
sure from both ends of the retail spectrum. At the dis-
count store end of the market, Wal-Mart has been a
formidable competitor. At the high end, specialty re-
tailers have established a strong presence in identi-
fiable niches, such as electronics and apparel. Over
a decade ago, JCPenney abandoned its “hard

i

providing “soft goods” because of the emerging strength of spe-

cialty retailers in the hard goods segments. JCPenney
is positioning itself against these forces by “exceed-
ing the fashion, quality, selection, and service com-
ponents of the discounter, equaling the merchandise
intensity of the specialty store, and providing the se-
lection and ‘under one roof’ shopping convenience
of the department store.” JCPenney merchandise
emphasis is focused toward customers it terms the
“modern spender” and “starting outs.” It views these
segments as most likely to value its higher-end mer-

goods,” such as electronics and sporting goods, in favor of

chandise offered under the convenience of “one roof.”

Exhibit 2

Home Depot Income
Statement

Home Depot Inc.
Condensed Income Statement
For the Year Ending January 30, 2005

(in millions)

Net sales $73,094
Cost of merchandise sold 48,664
Gross profit $24,430
Operating expenses 16,504
Operating income $ 7,926
Other income and (expense) (14)
Income before taxes $ 7,912
Income taxes 2,911

Net income $ 5,001

Exhibit 2 shows that Home Depot earned a gross profit of $24,430 million, based
upon net sales of $73,094 million. Operating expenses reduce gross profit to an oper-
ating income of $7,926 million. Adding other income and subtracting income taxes
results in net income of $5,001 million.

In addition to operating and income statement differences, merchandise inventory
on hand (not sold) at the end of the accounting period is reported on the balance sheet
as merchandise inventory. Since merchandise is normally sold within a year, it is re-
ported as a current asset on the balance sheet.

@

Describe and illustrate the
financial statements of a
merchandising business.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR A
MERCHANDISING BUSINESS

In this section, we continue the illustration from Chapter 4, illustrating the financial
statements for Online Solutions after it becomes a retailer of computer hardware and
software. These financial statements are similar to those for a service business.
During 2008, we assume that Janet Moore implemented the second phase of Online
Solutions’ business plan. Accordingly, Janet notified clients that beginning January 1,
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Exhibit 3

Multiple-Step Income
Statement
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2009, Online Solutions would be terminating its consulting services, and changing its
business emphasis to an Internet-based retailer.

Online’s business strategy is to focus on offering customized computer systems to
individuals and small businesses who are upgrading or purchasing new computer sys-
tems. Online’s personal service before the sale will include a no-obligation assessment
of the customer’s needs. By providing tailor-made solutions, personalized service, and
follow-up, Janet feels that Online can compete effectively against larger retailers, such
as Dell Inc. or Gateway. Initially, Janet plans to grow Online Solutions regionally. If
successful, Janet plans to take the company public.

Multiple-Step Income Statement

The 2010 income statement for Online Solutions” second year as an Internet retailer is
shown in Exhibit 3. This form of income statement, called a multiple-step income
statement, contains several sections, subsections, and subtotals.

Online Solutions
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Revenue from sales:

Sales $720,185
Less: Sales returns and allowances $ 6,140
Sales discounts 5,790 11,930
Net sales $708,255
Cost of merchandise sold 525,305
Gross profit $182,950

Operating expenses:
Selling expenses:

Sales salaries expense $56,230
Advertising expense 10,860
Depr. expense—store equipment 3,100
Miscellaneous selling expense 630
Total selling expenses $ 70,820
Administrative expenses:
Office salaries expense $21,020
Rent expense 8,100
Depr. expense—office equipment 2,490
Insurance expense 1,910
Office supplies expense 610
Misc. administrative expense 760
Total administrative expenses 34,890
Total operating expenses 105,710
Income from operations $ 77,240
Other income and (expense):
Rent revenue $ 600
Interest expense (2,440) (1,840)
Income before taxes $ 75,400
Income taxes 15,000
Net income $ 60,400

3 We use the Online Solutions income statement for 2010 as a basis for illustration because, as will be
shown, it allows us to better illustrate the computation of the cost of merchandise sold.
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Assume that sales are
$790,000, sales discounts
are $35,000, and net
sales are $680,000.
What are the sales returns
and allowances?

$75,000 ($790,000 —
$35,000 — $680,000)

OnA

-

Assume that purchases
are $480,000, purchases
returns and allowances are
$25,000, and purchases
discounts are $60,000.
What are the net
purchases?

$395,000
($480,000 — $25,000 —
$60,000)
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Net sales for Online Solutions is determined as follows:

Sales $720,185
Less: Sales returns and allowances $6,140

Sales discounts 5,790 11,930
Net sales $708,255

Sales is the total amount charged customers for merchandise sold, including cash
sales and sales on account. Both sales returns and allowances and sales discounts are
subtracted in arriving at net sales.

Sales returns and allowances are granted by the seller to customers for damaged
or defective merchandise. For example, rather than have a buyer return merchandise,
a seller may offer a $500 allowance to the customer as compensation for damaged mer-
chandise. Sales returns and allowances are recorded when the merchandise is returned
or when the allowance is granted by the seller.

Sales discounts are granted by the seller to customers for early payment of amounts
owed. For example, a seller may offer a customer a 2% discount on a sale of $10,000 if
the customer pays within 10 days. If the customer pays within the 10-day period, the
seller receives cash of $9,800, and the buyer receives a discount of $200 ($10,000 X 2%).
Sales discounts are recorded when the customer pays the bill.

Cost of merchandise sold is the cost of the merchandise sold to customers. To il-
lustrate the determination of the cost of merchandise sold, assume that Online Solutions
purchased $340,000 of merchandise during 2009. If the inventory at December 31, 2009,
the end of the year, is $59,700, the cost of the merchandise sold during 2009 is deter-
mined as shown below.

Purchases $340,000
Less merchandise inventory, December 31, 2009 59,700
Cost of merchandise sold $280,300

As we discussed in the preceding section, sellers may offer customers sales dis-
counts for early payment of their bills. Such discounts are referred to as purchases dis-
counts by the buyer. Purchase discounts reduce the cost of merchandise. A buyer may
return merchandise to the seller (a purchase return), or the buyer may receive a re-
duction in the initial price at which the merchandise was purchased (a purchase
allowance). Like purchase discounts, purchases returns and allowances reduce the cost
of merchandise purchased during a period. In addition, transportation costs paid by
the buyer for merchandise, referred to as transportation in, also increase the cost of mer-
chandise purchased.

To continue the illustration, assume that during 2010 Online Solutions purchased ad-
ditional merchandise of $521,980. It received credit for purchases returns and allowances
of $9,100, took purchases discounts of $2,525, and paid transportation costs of $17,400.
The purchases returns and allowances and the purchases discounts are deducted from
the total purchases to yield the net purchases. The transportation costs are added to the
net purchases to yield the cost of merchandise purchased, as shown below.

Purchases $521,980
Less: Purchases returns and allowances $9,100

Purchases discounts 2,525 11,625
Net purchases $510,355
Add transportation in 17,400
Cost of merchandise purchased $527,755
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Exhibit 4

Cost of Merchandise
Sold

oA

If merchandise avail-
able for sale is
$1,375,000 and the cost
of merchandise sold is
$950,000, what is the
ending merchandise
inventory?

$425,000
($1,375,000 —
$950,000)
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The ending inventory of Online Solutions on December 31, 2009, $59,700, becomes
the beginning inventory for 2010. This beginning inventory is added to the cost of mer-
chandise purchased to yield merchandise available for sale. The ending inventory,
which is assumed to be $62,150, is then subtracted from the merchandise available for
sale to yield the cost of merchandise sold, as shown in Exhibit 4.

Merchandise inventory, January 1, 2010 $ 59,700
Purchases $521,980
Less: Purchases returns and allowances $9,100

Purchases discounts 2,525 11,625
Net purchases $510,355
Add transportation in 17,400

Cost of merchandise purchased 527,755
Merchandise available for sale $587,455
Less merchandise inventory, Dec. 31, 2010 62,150
Cost of merchandise sold $525,305

The cost of merchandise sold was determined by deducting the merchandise on
hand at the end of the period from the merchandise available for sale during the period.
The merchandise on hand at the end of the period is determined by taking a physical
count of inventory on hand. This method of determining the cost of merchandise sold
and the amount of merchandise on hand is called the periodic inventory method of ac-
counting for merchandise inventory. This flow of costs in the periodic inventory method
is illustrated below.

Merchandise
Available
for Sale

Beginning Purchases

Inventory Cost of
ost o

Goods Sold

Ending

Merchandise Inventory

Available for Sale

Under the periodic method, the inventory records do not show the amount avail-
able for sale or the amount sold during the period. In contrast, under the perpetual
inventory method of accounting for merchandise inventory, each purchase and sale of
merchandise is recorded in the inventory and the cost of merchandise sold accounts.
As a result, the amount of merchandise available for sale and the amount sold are
continuously (perpetually) disclosed in the inventory records.

Most large retailers and many small merchandising businesses use computerized
perpetual inventory systems. Such systems normally use bar codes, such as the one on
the back of this textbook. An optical scanner reads the bar code to record merchandise
purchased and sold. Merchandise businesses using a perpetual inventory system re-
port the cost of merchandise sold as a single line on the income statement, as shown
in Exhibit 3 for Online Solutions. Merchandise businesses using the periodic inventory
method report the cost of merchandise sold by using the format shown in Exhibit 4.
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Single-Step Income
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Because of its wide use, we will use the perpetual inventory method throughout the
remainder of this chapter.

Exhibit 3 shows that Online Solutions reported gross profit of $182,950 in 2010.
Operating income, sometimes called income from operations, is determined by sub-
tracting operating expenses from gross profit. Most merchandising businesses classify
operating expenses as either selling expenses or administrative expenses. Expenses
that are incurred directly in the selling of merchandise are selling expenses. They in-
clude such expenses as salespersons’ salaries, store supplies used, depreciation of store
equipment, and advertising. Expenses incurred in the administration or general oper-
ations of the business are administrative expenses or general expenses. Examples of
these expenses are office salaries, depreciation of office equipment, and office supplies
used. Credit card expense is also normally classified as an administrative expense.
Although selling and administrative expenses may be reported separately, as shown
in Exhibit 3, many companies report operating expenses as a single item.

As we will illustrate later in this chapter, operating income is often used in finan-
cial analysis to judge the efficiency and profitability of operations. For example, oper-
ating income divided by total assets or net sales is often used in comparing merchandise
businesses.

Online Solutions’ income statement in Exhibit 3 also reports other income and ex-
pense. Revenue from sources other than the primary operating activity of a business
is classified as other income. In a merchandising business, these items include income
from interest, rent, and gains resulting from the sale of fixed assets.

Expenses that cannot be traced directly to operations are identified as other ex-
pense. Interest expense that results from financing activities and losses incurred in the
disposal of fixed assets are examples of these items.

Other income and other expense are offset against each other on the income state-
ment, as shown in Exhibit 3. If the total of other income exceeds the total of other ex-
pense, the difference is added to income from operations. If the reverse is true, the
difference is subtracted from income from operations.

Deducting income taxes from income before taxes yields the net income. As we il-
lustrated in Chapter 4, net income or loss is closed to Retained Earnings at the end of
the period.

Single-Step Income Statement

An alternate form of income statement is the single-step income statement. As shown
in Exhibit 5, the income statement for Online Solutions deducts the total of all expenses
in one step from the total of all revenues.

Online Solutions
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Revenue:

Net sales $708,255
Expenses:

Cost of merchandise sold $525,305

Operating expenses 105,710

Income taxes 15,000

Other income and expense (net) 1,840 647,855

Net income $ 60,400
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The single-step form emphasizes total revenues and total expenses as the factors
that determine net income. A criticism of the single-step form is that such amounts as
gross profit and income from operations are not readily available for analysis.

Retained Earnings Statement

The retained earnings statement for Online Solutions is shown in Exhibit 6. This
statement is prepared in the same manner that we described previously for a service
business.

Online Solutions
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Retained earnings, January 1, 2010 $128,800
Net income for the year $60,400
Less dividends 18,000
Increase in retained earnings 42,400
Retained earnings, December 31, 2010 $171,200

Balance Sheet

As we discussed and illustrated in previous chapters, the balance sheet may be pre-
sented in a downward sequence in three sections, beginning with the assets. This form
of balance sheet is called the report form.* The 2010 balance sheet for Online Solutions
is shown in Exhibit 7. In this balance sheet, note that merchandise inventory at the end
of the period is reported as a current asset and that the current portion of the note
payable is $5,000.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows for Online Solutions is shown in Exhibit 8. It indicates that
cash increased during 2010 by $11,450. This increase is generated from a positive cash
flow from operating activities of $47,120, which is partially offset by negative cash
flows from investing and financing activities of $12,670 and $23,000, respectively.

Finally, you should note that the December 31, 2010, cash balance reported on the
statement of cash flows agrees with the amount reported for cash on the December 31,
2010, balance sheet shown in Exhibit 7.

Integration of Financial Statements

Exhibit 9 (on page 220) shows the integration of Online Solutions’ financial statements.
The preparation of the “cash flows from operating activities” section of the statement
of cash flows shown in Exhibit 8 is discussed and illustrated in the appendix at the end
of this chapter. This discussion includes the reconciliation of net income and net cash
flows from operations.

4 The balance sheet may also be presented in an account form, with assets on the left-hand side and the
liabilities and stockholders’ equity on the right-hand side.
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Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 52,950
Accounts receivable 76,080
Merchandise inventory 62,150
Office supplies 480
Prepaid insurance 2,650
Total current assets
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land $ 20,000
Store equipment $27,100
Less accumulated depreciation 5,700 21,400
Office equipment $15,570
Less accumulated depreciation 4,720 10,850
Total property, plant, and equipment
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 22,420
Note payable (current portion) 5,000
Salaries payable 1,140
Unearned rent 1,800
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Note payable (final payment due 2020)
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $ 25,000
Retained earnings 171,200

$194,310

52,250
$246,560

$ 30,360

20,000
$ 50,360

196,200
$246,560

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of store equipment

Purchase of office equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Payment of note payable

Payment of dividends

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net increase in cash
January 1, 2010, cash balance

December 31, 2010, cash balance

$ (7,100)
(5,570)

$ (5,000)
(18,000)

$ 47,120

(12,670)

(23,000)

$ 11,450
41,500

$ 52,950
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Integrated Financial Statements for Online Solutions

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
Accts. Accts. Notes Salaries Capital Retained
Cash Rec. °°° Pay. Pay. Pay. °°° Stock Earnings
$52,950 $76,080 $22,420 $25,000 $1,140 $25,000 $171,200
$246,560 $246,560
Total Assets = Total Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

Online Solutions
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2010

Online Solutions
Income Statement
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2010

Online Solutions
Retained Earnings Statement
For the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2010

—> Operating act. $ 47,120 Revenue $708,255 Retained Earnings,
Investing act. (12,670) Expenses 647,855 Jan. 1 $128,800
Financing act. (23,000) > Net income $ 60,400 —————> Net income 60,400
Increase in cash $ 11,450 Dividends _(18,000)
Cash, Jan. 1 41,500 Retained Earnings,
Cash, Dec. 31 $ 52,950 —— Dec. 31 3171,200
Y
Reconciliation
of cash flows from operations
- and net income (see appendix
to this chapter)
® SALES TRANSACTIONS

Describe the accounting
for the sale of
merchandise.

In the remainder of this chapter, we illustrate transactions that affect the financial state-
ments of a merchandising business. These transactions affect the reporting of net sales,
cost of merchandise sold, gross profit, and merchandise inventory.

Sales of merchandise are recorded in a journal and posted to the accounts in a
ledger, using the rules of debit and credit that we illustrated in Chapter 4. The only
difference between the illustrations in Chapter 4 and those in this chapter is that we
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are now focusing on sales of merchandise rather than services. Because the operating
activities of a merchandise business differ from those of a service business, the chart
of accounts will also differ. For example, instead of fees earned, sales of merchandise
are recorded in a sales account.

To illustrate, assume that on January 3 Online Solutions sells merchandise costing
$1,200 for $1,800, with the customer paying in cash. The entry to record the sale of
$1,800 is as follows:

Jan. 3 Cash 1,800
Sales 1,800

Under the perpetual inventory system, the cost of merchandise sold and the re-
duction of merchandise inventory on hand are recorded at the time of sale. In this way,
the merchandise inventory account indicates the amount of merchandise on hand at
all times. Thus, on January 3, Online Solutions also updates the merchandise inventory
account with the following entry:

Jan. 3 Cost of Merchandise Sold 1,200
Merchandise Inventory 1,200

In recent years, a large percentage of retail sales has increasingly been made to
customers who use credit cards such as VISA or MasterCard. How do merchandise
businesses record sales made with VISA or MasterCard? Such sales are recorded as
cash sales. This is because the retailer normally receives payment within a few days of
making the sale. Specifically, such sales are normally processed by a clearing-house
that contacts the bank that issued the card. The issuing bank then electronically trans-
fers cash directly to the retailer’s bank
account. Thus, if the customer in the pre-
ceding sale had used MasterCard to pay
for their purchase, the sale would be
recorded exactly as shown above. Any
fees charged by the clearing-house or is-
suing bank are periodically recorded as
an expense.

Sales of merchandise on account
would be recorded in the same manner
as cash sales, except that Accounts
Receivable rather than Cash is debited
at the time of sale. An individual ac-
count for each customer is maintained
in a subsidiary ledger. The total of the
subsidiary ledger is represented in the
general ledger by a controlling account.
In the case of the accounts receivable
subsidiary ledger, the accounts receiv-
able account is the controlling account.
Likewise, a subsidiary ledger is also

© DON FARRALL/PHOTODISC/GETTY IMAGES
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maintained for other accounts, such as the merchandise inventory and accounts payable
accounts. The relationship between the general ledger, controlling accounts, and
subsidiary ledgers is shown in Exhibit 10 for Online Solutions.

General Lledger, Controlling Accounts, and Subsidiary Ledgers for Online Solutions

GENERAL Controlling Accounts
LEDGER l ¢
Cash Accts. Rec. Supplies Merch. Inv. Accts. Pay. Capital Stock Retained Earn.
Dec. 31 76,080 Dec. 31 62,150 Dec. 31 22,420
Accts. Rec. Merch. Inv. Accts. Pay. \
Subsidiary Subsidiary Subsidiary
Ledger Ledger Ledger
American Samsung ABC
Express Combo Drive Supplies
Dec. 31 7,500 Dec. 31 3,760 Dec. 31 1,000
Jan Cherry Intel Processor Foust Inc.
Y Dec. 31 800 Y Dec. 31 1,560 Dec. 31 540 Y
76,080 - 62,150 - - 22,420
Olson Inc. Win TV Nora Mayo LLC
Dec. 31 1,050 Dec. 31 680 Dec. 31 310

A sale to a customer who uses a credit card that is not issued by a bank, such as
American Express, is recorded as a sale on account. The seller or a clearing-house must
collect the receivable. Upon receiving notice of the sale, the issuing company, such as
American Express, periodically remits the amount of sales less a service fee. The ser-
vice fee is recorded as an expense.

To illustrate, assume that during January Online Solutions sold merchandise cost-
ing $68,000 to American Express customers for $100,000. At the end of January,
Online submitted a bill to American Express and received cash less a 4% service fee
on February 15. The entries to record the sales and the receipt of cash are shown at the
top of the next page.
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| scF BS Is |

- AT sel RT Jan. 31 Accounts Receivable—American Express 100,000
Sales 100,000

_ Al SEd ) 31  Cost of Merchandise Sold 68,000
Merchandise Inventory 68,000

ot ANSEL BT Feb. 15 Cash 96,000

Credit Card Expense 4,000
Accounts Receivable—American Express 100,000

Sales Discounts

The credit terms of a sale on account are normally indicated on the invoice or bill that
the seller sends to the customer. If payment is required on delivery, the terms are cash or
net cash. Otherwise, the buyer is allowed an amount of time, known as the
credit period, in which to pay. The credit period usually begins with the
date of the sale as shown on the invoice. If payment is due within a
stated number of days after the date of the invoice, such as 30 days, the
terms are net 30 days. These terms may be written as 1n/30. If payment is
due by the end of the month in which the sale was made, the terms are
written as n/eom.

As a means of encouraging the buyer to pay before the end of the
credit period, the seller may offer a discount, called a sales discount. For
example, a seller may offer a 2% discount if the buyer pays within 10
days of the invoice date. If the buyer does not take the discount, the total
amount is due within 30 days. These terms are expressed as 2/10, n/30
and are read as 2% discount if paid within 10 days, net amount due within
30 days.

Sales discounts reduce sales and, therefore, the sales account could
be debited. However, managers may want to know the amount of the
sales discounts for a period in deciding whether to change credit terms. For this rea-
son, the seller records the sales discounts in a separate account. The sales discounts
account is a contra (or offsetting) account to Sales.

To illustrate, assume that Online Solutions receives cash within the discount period
from a $1,500 credit sale to Omega Technologies. The sale of merchandise costing $850
was made on January 12, with the terms 2/10, n/30. The initial sale and the receipt of
the cash are recorded as follows:

© PHOTODISC COLLECTION/GETTY IMAGES
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an AT seT RT Jan. 12 Accounts Receivable—Omega Technologies 1,500
Sales 1,500

— AlSEL = 12 Cost of Merchandise Sold 850
Merchandise Inventory 850

ot ANSEL Ry 22 Cash 1,470

Sales Discounts 30
Accounts Receivable—Omega Technologies 1,500

Sales Returns and Allowances

Merchandise that has been sold may be returned to the seller (sales return). In addition,
because of defects or for other reasons, the seller may reduce the initial price at which
the goods were sold (sales allowance). If the return or allowance is for a sale on account,
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INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY, AND ETHICS IN BUSINESS [ ]

The Case of the Fraudulent Price Tags

One of the challenges for a retailer is policing its sales return pol-  substantially higher refund amount. In one such case for another
icy. Customers can unethically or illegally abuse such policies in  retailer, company security officials discovered the fraud and had
many ways. For example, someone could attach JCPenney a couple arrested after they had allegedly bilked the company
store price tags fo cheaper merchandise bought or obtained else-  for over $1 million.

where. They could then return the cheaper goods and receive the

the seller normally issues a credit memorandum. This memorandum is sent to the cus-

O A tomer and indicates the amount the seller is crediting the customer’s account receiv-
i
able for the return or allowance.
$10,000 of merchan- Sales returns and allowances reduce sales revenue. They also result in additional
dise is purchased 2/10, shipping and other expenses. Since managers often want to know the amount of re-
n/30; $4,500 is returned;  turns and allowances for a period, the seller records sales returns and allowances in a
and the invoice is paid separate sales returns and allowances account. Sales Returns and Allowances may be

within the discount period.

viewed as a contra (or offsetting) account to Sales.
What was the amount (or off 8)

To illustrate, assume that on January 13 Online Solutions issued a $2,000 credit

ide
paid? memorandum to Krier Company for merchandise that was returned. The merchandise
$5,390 [$5,500 — was sold on account and the cost of the merchandise sold was $1,200. The entries to
($5 500 X 2%')] record the issuance of the credit memorandum and the receipt of the returned mer-
chandise are as follows:
| scF BS Is |
= Al sEl R Jan. 13 Sales Returns and Allowances 2,000
Accounts Receivable—Krier Company 2,000
— AT se? Ed 13 Merchandise Inventory 1,200
Cost of Merchandise Sold 1,200

Using a perpetual inventory system, the second entry is necessary so that the mer-
chandise inventory account is up to date and reflects the actual merchandise on hand.

What if the customer pays for the merchandise and later returns the merchandise?
In this case, the seller issues a credit memorandum, and the credit may be applied
against other accounts receivable owed by the customer, or cash may be refunded. If
cash is refunded, the seller credits Cash, rather than Accounts Receivable, for the
amount of the refund.

@ PURCHASE TRANSACTIONS

Describe the accounting
for the purchase of
merchandise.

As we indicated earlier in this chapter, most large retailers and many small merchan-
dising businesses use computerized perpetual inventory systems. Under the perpetual
inventory system, cash purchases of merchandise are recorded as follows:

SCF BS IS Jan. 3 Merchandise Inventory 2,500
ol AN — Cash 2,500
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Purchases of merchandise on account are recorded as follows:

Jan. 6 Merchandise Inventory 1,800
Accounts Payable—Smith Corporation 1,800

Purchase Discounts

As we mentioned in our discussion of sales transactions, a seller may offer the buyer
credit terms that include a discount for early payment. The buyer refers to such dis-
counts as purchases discounts, which reduce the cost of merchandise purchased. Under
the perpetual inventory system, the buyer initially debits the merchandise inventory
account for the amount of the invoice. When paying the invoice, the buyer credits the
merchandise inventory account for the amount of the discount. In this way, the mer-
chandise inventory shows the net cost to the buyer.

To illustrate, assume that Online Solutions purchased the $1,800 merchandise from
Smith Corporation in the preceding entry on January 6 under the terms 1/15, n/30.
The entry to record the payment within the discount period is as follows:

Jan. 21 Accounts Payable—Smith Corporation 1,800
Merchandise Inventory 18
Cash 1,782

If Online Solutions does not pay within the discount period, the entry to record the
payment is as follows:

Feb. 5 Accounts Payable—Smith Corporation 1,800
Cash 1,800

Purchases Returns and Allowances

When merchandise is returned (purchase return) or a price adjustment is requested (pur-
chase allowance), the buyer (debtor) usually sends the seller a letter or a debit memo-
randum. A debit memorandum informs the seller of the amount the buyer proposes
to debit to the account payable due the seller. It also states the reasons for the return or
the request for a price reduction.

The buyer may use a copy of the debit memorandum as the basis for recording the
return or allowance or wait for approval from the seller (creditor). To illustrate, assume
that on January 22 Online Solutions returns $5,000 of merchandise purchased from
Quantum Inc. and issues an accompanying debit memorandum. The return is recorded
as follows:

Jan. 22 Accounts Payable—Quantum Inc. 5,000
Merchandise Inventory 5,000

When a buyer returns merchandise or has been granted an allowance prior to pay-
ing the invoice, the amount of the debit memorandum is deducted from the invoice
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amount. The amount is deducted before any purchase discount is computed. For ex-
ample, assume that the merchandise returned to Quantum on January 22 was only part
of an overall purchase of $9,000 with terms 2/10, n/30. If Online pays within the dis-
count period, it would deduct a discount of $80, or ($9,000 — $5,000) X 2%.

®

Describe the accounting
for transportation costs

and sales taxes.

| scF BS IS
— ATLT —
ol AN —

TRANSPORTATION COSTS AND SALES TAXES

Merchandise businesses incur transportation costs in selling and purchasing mer-
chandise. In addition, a retailer must also collect sales taxes in most states. In this sec-
tion, we briefly discuss the unique aspects of accounting for transportation costs and
sales taxes.

Transportation Costs

Does the buyer or the seller pay transportation costs? It depends upon when the own-
ership (title) of the merchandise passes from the seller to the buyer.® The terms of a
sale should indicate when the ownership (title) of the merchandise passes to the buyer.
The ownership of the merchandise may pass to the buyer when the seller delivers
the merchandise to the transportation company or freight carrier. For example,
DaimlerChrysler records the sale and the transfer of ownership of its vehicles to deal-
ers when the vehicles are shipped. In this case, the terms are said to be FOB (free on
board) shipping point. This term means that DaimlerChrysler is responsible for the
transportation charges to the shipping point, which is where the shipment originates.
The dealer then pays the transportation costs to the final destination. Such costs are
part of the dealer’s total cost of purchasing inventory and should be added to the cost
of the inventory by debiting Merchandise Inventory.

To illustrate, assume that on January 19, Online Solutions buys merchandise from
Data Max on account, $2,900, terms FOB shipping point, and prepays the transporta-
tion cost of $150. Online records these two transactions as follows:

Jan. 19  Merchandise Inventory 2,900
Accounts Payable—Data Max 2,900

19  Merchandise Inventory 150
Cash 150

The ownership of the merchandise may pass to the buyer when the buyer receives
the merchandise. In this case, the terms are said to be FOB (free on board) destina-
tion. This term means that the seller delivers the merchandise to the buyer’s final
destination, free of transportation charges to the buyer. The seller thus pays the trans-
portation costs to the final destination. The seller debits Transportation Out or Delivery
Expense, which is reported on the seller’s income statement as an expense.

5 The transfer of ownership (title) also determines whether the buyer or seller must pay other costs, such
as the cost of insurance while the merchandise is in transit.
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To illustrate, assume that on January 24, Online Solutions sells merchandise to
Miller Company on account, $4,700, terms FOB destination. The cost of the merchan-
dise sold is $2,750, and Online pays the transportation cost of $350. Online records the
sale, the cost of the sale, and the transportation cost as shown below.

RT Jan. 24 Accounts Receivable—Miller Company 4,700
Sales 4,700

_ - Eil 24  Cost of Merchandise Sold 2,750

Merchandise Inventory 2,750

ol - Ei 24  Transportation Out 350

Exhibit 11

Shipping Point

SELLER
Terms: FOB Shipping Point

Cash 350

Sometimes FOB shipping point and FOB destination are expressed in terms of the
location at which the title to the merchandise passes to the buyer. For example, if
Toyota Motor Co.’s assembly plant in Osaka, Japan, sells automobiles to a dealer in
Chicago, FOB shipping point could be expressed as FOB Osaka. Likewise, FOB desti-
nation could be expressed as FOB Chicago.

Shipping terms, the passage of title, and whether the buyer or seller pays the trans-
portation costs are summarized in Exhibit 11.

As a convenience to the buyer, the seller may prepay the transportation costs, even
though the terms are FOB shipping point. The seller will then add the transportation
costs to the invoice. The buyer will debit Merchandise Inventory for the total amount
of the invoice, including the transportation costs.

To illustrate, assume that on January 14, Online Solutions sells merchandise to
Golden Company on account, $8,000, terms 2/10, n/30, FOB shipping point. Online

Transportation Terms

Terms: FOB Destination
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$8,000 of merchandise
is purchased 1/15, n/30,
FOB shipping point. The
seller pays $500 shipping
charges as an accommo-
dation. If paid within the
discount period, how much
will the buyer remite

$8,420 [$8,000 —
($8,000 x 1%) + $500]

i

A recent survey reported that the 24 largest retail
store chains, including JCPenney, have lost over
$2 billion to shoplifting and employee theft. Of this
amount, only 4.6% of the losses resulted in any re-
covery. The stores apprehended over 370,000
shoplifters and 35,500 dishonest employees during
2003. Approximately one out of every 28 employ-
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pays the transportation cost of $500 and adds it to the invoice. The cost of the mer-
chandise sold is $4,800. Online records these transactions as follows:

Jan. 14 Accounts Receivable—Golden Company 8,000
Sales 8,000

14 Cost of Merchandise Sold 4,800
Merchandise Inventory 4,800

14 Accounts Receivable—Golden Company 500
Cash 500

When the seller prepays transportation costs for the buyer, any sales discount
applies only to the amount of the merchandise sale. For example, if Golden Com-
pany pays within the discount period, it would remit cash of $8,340 [$8,000 —
($8,000 X 2%) + $500].

Sales Taxes

Almost all states and many other taxing units levy a tax on sales of merchandise.® The
liability for the sales tax is incurred when the sale is made.

At the time of a cash sale, the seller collects the sales tax. When a sale is made on
account, the seller charges the tax to the buyer by debiting Accounts Receivable. The
seller credits the sales account for the amount of the sale and credits the tax to Sales
Taxes Payable. Normally on a regular basis, the seller pays the amount of the sales tax
collected to the taxing unit. The seller records such a payment by debiting Sales Taxes
Payable and crediting Cash.

ees was apprehended for theft from his or her em-
ployer. Each dishonest employee stole approxi-
mately 4.8 times the amount stolen by shoplifters
($660 vs. $137).

Source: Jack L. Hayes International, Sixteenth Annual
Retail Theft Survey, 2004.

®

lllustrate the dual nature
of merchandising
transactions.

DUAL NATURE OF MERCHANDISE TRANSACTIONS

Each merchandising transaction affects a buyer and a seller. In the illustration on the next
page, we show how the same transactions would be recorded by both the seller and
the buyer. In this example, the seller is Scully Company and the buyer is Burton Co.

6 Businesses that purchase merchandise for resale to others are normally exempt from paying sales taxes
on their purchases. Only final buyers of merchandise normally pay sales taxes.
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Scully Company (Seller)

229

Burton Co. (Buyer)

July 1. Scully Company Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 7,500 Merchandise Inventory 7,500

sold merchandise on Sales 7,500 Accounts Payable—Scully Co. 7,500
account to Burton Co.,

$7,500, terms FOB Cost of Merchandise Sold 4,500

shipping point, n/45. The Merchandise Inventory 4,500

cost of the merchandise

sold was $4,500.

July 2. Burton Co. paid No entry. Merchandise Inventory 150
transportation charges Cash 150
of $150 on July 1

purchase from Scully

Company.

July 5. Scully Company Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 5,000 Merchandise Inventory 5,000

sold merchandise on Sales 5,000 Accounts Payable—Scully Co. 5,000
account to Burton Co.,

$5,000, terms FOB Cost of Merchandise Sold 3,500

destination, n/30. The Merchandise Inventory 3,500

cost of the merchandise

sold was $3,500.

July 7. Scully Company Transportation Out 250 No entry.

paid transportation costs Cash 250

of $250 for delivery of

merchandise sold to

Burton Co. on July 5.

July 13. Scully Company Sales Returns & Allowances 1,000 Accounts Payable—Scully Co. 1,000

issued Burton Co. a Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 1,000 Merchandise Inventory 1,000
credit memorandum for

merchandise returned, Merchandise Inventory 700

$1,000. The merchandise Cost of Merchandise Sold 700

had been purchased by

Burton Co. on account

on July 5. The cost of the

merchandise returned

was $700.

July 15. Scully Company Cash 4,000 Accounts Payable—Scully Co. 4,000
received payment from Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 4,000 Cash 4,000
Burton Co. for purchase

of July 5.

July 18. Scully Company Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 12,000 Merchandise Inventory 12,500

sold merchandise on Sales 12,000 Accounts Payable—Scully Co. 12,500
account to Burton Co.,

$12,000, terms FOB Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 500

shipping point, 2/10, Cash 500

n/eom. Scully Company

prepaid transportation Cost of Merchandise Sold 7,200

costs of $500, which were Merchandise Inventory 7,200

added to the invoice. The

cost of the merchandise

sold was $7,200.

July 28. Scully Company Cash 12,260 Accounts Payable—Scully Co. 12,500
received payment from Sales Discounts 240 Merchandise Inventory 240
Burton Co. for purchase Accounts Receivable—Burton Co. 12,500 Cash 12,260

of July 18, less discount
(2% % $12,000).
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Describe the accounting
for merchandise shrinkage.
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MERCHANDISE SHRINKAGE

Under the perpetual inventory system, a separate merchandise inventory account is
maintained in the ledger. During the accounting period, this account shows the amount
of merchandise for sale at any time. However, merchandising businesses may experi-
ence some loss of inventory due to shoplifting, employee theft, or errors in recording
or counting inventory. As a result, the physical inventory taken at the end of the ac-
counting period may differ from the amount of inventory shown in the inventory
records. Normally, the amount of merchandise for sale, as indicated by the balance
of the merchandise inventory account, is larger than the total amount of merchan-
dise counted during the physical inventory. For this reason, the difference is often
called inventory shrinkage or inventory shortage. One recent study estimated that in-
ventory shrinkage exceeds 1.7% of annual sales or $32 billion annually in the United
States.”

To illustrate, Online Solutions” inventory records, called the book inventory, indi-
cate that $63,950 of merchandise should be available for sale on December 31, 2010.
The physical inventory taken on December 31, 2010, however, indicates that only
$62,150 of merchandise is actually available for sale. The inventory shrinkage for the
year ending December 31, 2010, is $1,800, as shown below.

December 31, 2010, unadjusted book inventory $63,950
December 31, 2010, physical inventory 62,150
Inventory shrinkage $ 1,800

The adjusting entry to record the shrinkage is as follows:

Dec. 31 Cost of Merchandise Sold 1,800
Merchandise Inventory 1,800

After this entry has been recorded, the adjusted Merchandise Inventory (book in-
ventory) in the accounting records agrees with the actual physical inventory at the end
of the period. Since no system of procedures and safeguards can totally eliminate it,
inventory shrinkage is often considered a normal cost of operations. If the amount of
the shrinkage is abnormally large, it may be disclosed separately on the income state-
ment. In such cases, the shrinkage may be recorded in a separate account, such as Loss
from Merchandise Inventory Shrinkage.

7 Richard C. Holling, National Retail Security Survey, 2003.
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EFFECTS OF INVENTORY MISSTATEMENTS
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Describe and illustrate the
effects of inventory mis-
statements on the financial ~ Any error in the physical inventory count at the end of the accounting period affects

statements. the income statement and balance sheet. This is because the physical inventory count
is the basis for determining the amount of inventory shrinkage. As we illustrated in
the preceding section, the adjusting entry for inventory shrinkage affects the cost of
merchandise sold and merchandise inventory. Thus, if the physical inventory is mis-
stated, then the amount of inventory shrinkage is misstated and the cost of merchan-
dise sold will be misstated after the inventory shrinkage adjustment is recorded.
Because net income is closed to Retained Earnings at the end of the accounting period,
retained earnings and total assets are misstated. This misstatement of total assets,
current assets, and merchandise inventory equals the misstatement of stockholders’
equity. These effects are shown in Exhibit 12.

‘ Exhibit 12

Effects of Inventory Misstatements

Income Statement Effects

Physical Inventory Cost of Gross Net
Inventory — Shrinkage —> Merchandise —> Profit —> Income
Misstatement Misstated Sold Misstated Misstated Misstated
Physical Adjusted Current Total Retained Total

Inventory —>» Merch. Inv. —> Assets —>» Assets Earnings —> Stockholders’ Equity
Misstatement Misstated Misstated Misstated Misstated Misstated

To illustrate, assume that in taking the physical inventory on December 31, 2008,
Sapra Company incorrectly counted its physical inventory as $115,000 instead
of $125,000. Because the ending physical inventory is understated, the inventory
shrinkage and the cost of merchandise sold will be overstated by $10,000, as shown

below.
Amount of Misstatement
Overstated (Understated)
December 31, 2008, unadjusted book inventory Correct
Less December 31, 2008, physical inventory $(10,000)
Inventory shrinkage (cost of merchandise sold) $ 10,000

Recall from the preceding section that the amount of inventory shrinkage is
recorded by adjusting the cost of merchandise sold. Thus, an overstatement of the
inventory shrinkage overstates the cost of merchandise sold. Because the cost of
merchandise sold is overstated, gross profit and net income for 2008 will be under-
stated by $10,000. Since net income is closed to Retained Earnings at the end of 2008,
the total stockholders” equity on the December 31, 2008, balance sheet will also be un-
derstated by $10,000.
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If the ending physical
inventory is understated by
$6,000, what is the effect
on total assets, retained
earnings, the cost of
merchandise sold, and
gross profit?

Total assets: under-
stated $6,000; Retained
earnings: understated
$6,000; Cost of merchan-
dise sold: overstated
$6,000; Gross profit:
understated $6,000.
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As we discussed, the ending physical inventory determines the ending (adjusted)
merchandise inventory reported on the balance sheet. Thus, on the December 31, 2008,
balance sheet, merchandise inventory, current assets, and total assets are understated
by $10,000 ($125,000 — $115,000).

The effects of the misstatement on Sapra Company’s 2008 financial statements are
summarized below.

Amount of Misstatement

2008 Financial Statements Overstated (Understated)

Balance sheet as of December 31, 2008:

Merchandise inventory $(10,000)
Current assets (10,000)
Total assets (10,000)
Total stockholders’ equity (retained earnings) (10,000)
Income statement for year ended December 31, 2008:
Cost of merchandise sold $ 10,000
Gross profit (10,000)
Net income (10,000)

If the $10,000 understatement of merchandise inventory at the end of 2008 is not de-
tected, the misstatement will also affect the 2009 financial statements. This is because
the merchandise inventory at the end of 2008 becomes the beginning merchandise in-
ventory for 2009. Thus, the book inventory during 2009 will be understated throughout
the year, and as a result, the unadjusted book inventory on December 31, 2009, will be
understated by $10,000. Assuming that the physical inventory count at the end of 2009
is correct, the merchandise shrinkage will be understated by $10,000, as shown below.

Amount of Misstatement
Overstated (Understated)

December 31, 2009, unadjusted book inventory $(10,000)
Less December 31, 2009, physical inventory Correct
Inventory shrinkage (cost of merchandise sold) $(10,000)

Since inventory shrinkage is understated by $10,000, the cost of merchandise sold
will be understated and gross profit will be overstated by $10,000 for 2009. Because the
December 31, 2009, physical inventory is correct and the accounting records are ad-
justed to the physical count, the adjusted balance of merchandise inventory will be cor-
rect on the December 31, 2009, balance sheet. Likewise, the 2009 overstatement of net
income offsets the 2008 understatement of net income, with the result that the December
31, 2009, stockholders’ equity (retained earnings) is correct. Thus, the effects of inven-
tory misstatements if not detected reverse themselves in the following period, and the
balance sheet at the end of the second period will be correct, as shown below.

Amount of Misstatement

2009 Financial Statements Overstated (Understated)

Balance sheet as of December 31, 2009:

Merchandise inventory Correct
Current assets Correct
Total assets Correct
Total stockholders’ equity (retained earnings) Correct
Income statement for year ended December 31, 2009:
Cost of merchandise sold $(10,000)
Gross profit 10,000
Net income 10,000
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In the examples of inventory misstatements, we assumed that an error occurred in
the physical inventory count. This could occur because the quantities of inventory were
miscounted or summarized (added) incorrectly. Other types of errors that could mis-
state the inventory could include using incorrect costs or including items not owned by
the business. For example, merchandise businesses often carry items on consignment
from other retailers. Items on consignment are owned by another retailer, called a con-
signor. The retailer carrying the item is a consignee. The consignee normally earns a
commission or fee when the consigned goods are sold. Since consigned merchandise is
normally displayed along with the consignee’s own merchandise, consigned merchan-
dise on hand at the end of the year may be incorrectly included in the consignee’s phys-
ical inventory. This would overstate the ending physical inventory and misstate the
financial statements. Likewise, merchandise out on consignment might be overlooked
in counting the consignor’s inventory, and thus understate the consignor’s physical
inventory.

Inventory misstatements may also arise for merchandise in transit at year-end. For
example, merchandise may be ordered FOB shipping point near the end of the year.
In such cases, it is likely that the merchandise is in transit at year-end. In determining
the ending physical inventory it would be easy to overlook this merchandise in tran-
sit, since it is not on hand. The result would be that the physical inventory is under-
stated. Similarly, merchandise sold FOB destination could be in transit at year-end.
Even though the merchandise is not on hand, it is still owned by the seller and should
be included in the seller’s ending physical inventory.

®

Describe and illustrate the
use of gross profit and
operating income in
analyzing a company’s
operations.

GROSS PROFIT AND OPERATING
PROFIT ANALYSIS

Gross profit and operating income are two important profitability measures analysts
use in assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of a merchandiser’s operations. In this
section, we use these measures to assess JCPenney’s operating performance for the
past several years against Saks Incorporated, which operates several major depart-
ment stores.

Like many financial statement measures, sometimes referred to as performance
metrics, gross profit and operating income are normally compared to competitors and
analyzed over time as a percent rather than as dollar amounts.

Gross profit and operating profit as a percent of net sales for JCPenney are shown
in Exhibit 13. The data (in millions), shown for three recent years, are taken from the
Securities and Exchange Commission annual filings (Form 10-K). In addition, similar
data (in millions) are shown for Saks for comparison in 2004.

As you can see in Exhibit 13, the gross profit as a percent of sales for JCPenney has
gradually improved over the three-year period, to reach its peak in fiscal year 2004.
Likewise, the operating income to sales has also improved in the three-year period. The
operating income to sales ratio in 2004 is more than twice the ratio in 2002. In addition,
JCPenney appears to have outperformed Saks Incorporated in 2004. JCPenney’s gross
profit and operating profit as a percent of sales in 2004 exceed the equivalent ratios for
Saks, with the operating income to sales ratio a significant 2.5 percentage points above
Saks (5.5%—3%). Obviously, JCPenney made significant improvements from 2002 to
2004. Management credits the improvement to compelling products, a more appealing
and attractive shopping environment, and improved information technology that sup-
ports store operations.
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Exhibit 13

Operating Ratios—
JCPenney and Saks
Incorporated
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JCPenney Saks Incorporated

Fiscal Years’ Ending 2004 2003 2002 2004
Net sales $18,424 $17,786 $17,633 $6,437
Cost of merchandise sold 11,285 11,166 11,299 3,999
Gross profit $ 7,139 $ 6,620 $ 6,334 $2,438
Operating expense 6,119 6,074 5,919 2,243
Operating income $ 1,020 $ 546 $ 415 $ 195
Gross profit as a percent of

net sales 38.7% 37.2% 35.9% 37.9%
Operating income as a percent

of net sales 5.5% 3.1% 2.4% 3.0%

APPENDIX

Statement of Cash Flows: The Indirect Method

Online Solutions” statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010, is
shown in Exhibit 8. The operating activities section is shown in summary form with
net cash flows from operating activities of $47,120. In this appendix, we illustrate how
to prepare the operating activities section of the statement of cash flows using the in-
direct method. This method is used by over 90% of publicly held companies.

The use of the indirect method only affects net cash flows from operating activi-
ties. The other method of preparing the net cash flows from operating activities sec-
tion is called the direct method. The direct method analyzes each transaction and its
effect on cash flows.® In contrast, the indirect method analyzes only the changes in
accounts. However, regardless of whether the direct or indirect method is used, the net
cash flows from operating activities is the same. In other words, use of the direct or in-
direct method affects the method of calculating and reporting cash flows from operating
activities but not the amount of net cash flows from operating activities.

A major reason that the indirect method is so popular is that it is normally less
costly to prepare. However, regardless of whether the indirect or direct method is used,
the reporting of net cash flows from investing and financing activities is not affected.

The indirect method reconciles net income with net cash flows from operating ac-
tivities. Net income is adjusted for the effects of accruals and deferrals that affected the
net income but did not result in the receipt or payment of cash. The resulting amount
is the net cash flows from operating activities.

The indirect method converts net income determined under the accrual basis of ac-
counting to what it would have been under the cash basis of accounting. In other
words, net cash flows from operating activities is equivalent to net income using the
cash basis of accounting.

To illustrate, assume that accounts receivable increases during the period by
$10,000. This increase is included in the period’s revenue and thus increases net in-
come. However, cash was not collected. Thus, an increase in accounts receivable must
be deducted from net income under the indirect method. Likewise, depreciation ex-
pense is deducted in arriving at net income, but does not involve any cash payments.
Therefore, depreciation expense is added to net income under the indirect method.

8 We used the direct method to prepare the statement of cash flows in Chapters 2 and 3 and in the appen-
dix to Chapter 4.
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Indirect Method
Adjustments

Chapter 5  Accounting for Merchandise Operations

The typical adjustments to convert net income to net cash flows from operating ac-
tivities, using the indirect method, are shown in Exhibit 14.

Net income $XXX
Add: Depreciation XXX
Decreases in current assets (accounts receivable,
inventories, prepaid expenses) XXX
Increases in current liabilities (accounts payable,
notes payable, accrued expenses) XXX XXX
Deduct: Increases in current assets (accounts receivable,
inventories, prepaid expenses) XXX
Decreases in current liabilities (accounts payable,
notes payable, accrued expenses) XXX XXX
Net cash flows from operating activities XXX

You should note that, except for depreciation, the adjustments in Exhibit 14 are for
changes in the current assets and current liabilities. This is because changes in the cur-
rent assets and current liabilities are related to operations and thus net income. For ex-
ample, changes in inventories are related to sales, while changes in accounts payable
are related to expenses.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

The statement of cash flows shown in Exhibit 8 for Online Solutions was prepared
using the indirect method. To prepare the operating activities section, we need to
determine depreciation and the changes in the current assets and the liabilities during
the year. This information is included in Exhibit 15, which shows the comparative bal-
ance sheets for Online Solutions as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and related changes.

Based on Exhibit 15, the net cash flows from operating activities is shown below.

Net income $ 60,400
Add: Depreciation expense—store equipment $ 3,100

Depreciation expense—office equipment 2,490

Decrease in office supplies 120

Decrease in prepaid insurance 350

Increase in accounts payable 8,150 14,210
Deduct:

Increase in accounts receivable $(24,080)

Increase in merchandise inventory (2,450)

Decrease in salaries payable (360)

Decrease in unearned rent (600) (27,490)
Net cash flows from operating activities $ 47,120

The depreciation expense of $3,100 for store equipment is determined from the in-
crease in the accumulated depreciation for store equipment. Likewise, the depreciation
expense of $2,490 for office equipment is determined from the increase in the accu-
mulated depreciation for office equipment. The changes in the current assets and cur-
rent liabilities are also taken from Exhibit 15.

Cash Flows Used for Investing Activities

The cash flows for investing activities section can also be prepared by analyzing the
changes in the accounts shown in Exhibit 15. For Online Solutions, the cash flows used
for investing activities is composed of two items. First, additional store equipment
of $7,100 was purchased, as shown by the increase in the store equipment. Likewise,
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Exhibit 15

Online Solutions” Comparative Balance Sheets

December 31,

Changes

2010 2009 Increase (Decrease)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 52,950 $ 41,500 $11,450
Accounts receivable 76,080 52,000 24,080
Merchandise inventory 62,150 59,700 2,450
Office supplies 480 600 (120)
Prepaid insurance 2,650 3,000 (350)
Total current assets $194,310 $156,800 $37,510
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 0
Store equipment 27,100 20,000 7,100
Accumulated depreciation—store equipment (5,700) (2,600) (3,100)
Office equipment 15,570 10,000 5,570
Accumulated depreciation—office equipment (4,720) (2,230) (2,490)
Total property, plant, and equipment $ 52,250 $ 45,170 $ 7,080
Total assets $246,560 $201,970 $44,590
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 22,420 $ 14,270 $ 8,150
Notes payable (current portion) 5,000 5,000 0
Salaries payable 1,140 1,500 (360)
Unearned rent 1,800 2,400 (600)
Total current liabilities $ 30,360 $ 23,170 $ 7,190
Long-term liabilities:
Notes payable (final payment due 2020) 20,000 25,000 (5,000)
Total liabilities $ 50,360 $ 48,170 $ 2,190
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ 0
Retained earnings 171,200 128,800 42,400
Total stockholders’ equity $196,200 $153,800 $42,400
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $246,560 $201,970 $44,590

additional office equipment of $5,570 was purchased. Thus, cash of $12,670 was used

for investing activities, as shown in Exhibit 8.

Cash Flows Used for Financing Activities

The cash flows for financing activities can also be determined from Exhibit 15. For
Online Solutions, the cash flows used for financing activities is composed of two items.
First, dividends of $18,000 are reported on the retained earnings statement shown in
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Exhibit 6. Since no dividends payable appears on the balance sheets, cash dividends of
$18,000 must have been paid during the year. In addition, notes payable decreased
by $5,000 during the year. Thus, cash must have been used in paying off $5,000 of
the notes. As a result, cash of $23,000 was used for financing activities, as shown in
Exhibit 8.

SUMMARY OF LEARNING GOALS

@ Distinguish the activities and financial statements of

a service business from those of a merchandise busi-
ness. The revenue activities of a service enterprise involve
providing services to customers. In contrast, the revenue ac-
tivities of a merchandising business involve the buying and
selling of merchandise.

Describe and illustrate the financial statements of a

merchandising business. The multiple-step income
statement of a merchandiser reports sales, sales returns and
allowances, sales discounts, and net sales. The cost of the
merchandise sold is subtracted from net sales to determine
the gross profit. The cost of merchandise sold is determined
by using either the periodic or perpetual method. Operating
income is determined by subtracting operating expenses
from gross profit. Operating expenses are normally classified
as selling or administrative expenses. Net income is deter-
mined by subtracting income taxes and other expense and
adding other income. The income statement may also be re-
ported in a single-step form. The retained earnings statement
and the statement of cash flows are similar to those for a ser-
vice business. The balance sheet reports merchandise inven-
tory at the end of the period as a current asset.

@ Describe the accounting for the sale of merchandise.

Sales of merchandise for cash or on account are
recorded by crediting Sales. The cost of merchandise sold
and the reduction in merchandise inventory are also
recorded for the sale. For sales of merchandise on account,
the credit terms may allow sales discounts for early pay-
ment. Such discounts are recorded by the seller as a debit to
Sales Discounts. Sales discounts are reported as a deduction
from the amount initially recorded in Sales. Likewise, when
merchandise is returned or a price adjustment is granted,
the seller debits Sales Returns and Allowances. For sales on
account, a subsidiary ledger is maintained for individual
customer accounts receivable.

Under the perpetual inventory system, the cost of mer-
chandise sold and the reduction of merchandise inventory
on hand are recorded at the time of sale. In this way, the
merchandise inventory account indicates the amount of mer-
chandise on hand at all times. Likewise, any returned mer-
chandise is recorded in the merchandise inventory account,
with a related reduction in the cost of merchandise sold.

@ Describe the accounting for the purchase of merchan-
dise. Purchases of merchandise for cash or on account

are recorded by debiting Merchandise Inventory. For pur-
chases of merchandise on account, the credit terms may al-
low cash discounts for early payment. Such purchases
discounts are viewed as a reduction in the cost of the mer-
chandise purchased. When merchandise is returned or a
price adjustment is granted, the buyer credits Merchandise
Inventory.

@ Describe the accounting for transportation costs and

sales taxes. When merchandise is shipped FOB ship-
ping point, the buyer pays the transportation costs and deb-
its Merchandise Inventory. When merchandise is shipped
FOB destination, the seller pays the transportation costs and
debits Transportation Out or Delivery Expense. If the seller
prepays transportation costs as a convenience to the buyer,
the seller debits Accounts Receivable for the costs.

The liability for sales tax is incurred when the sale is
made and recorded by the seller as a credit to the sales taxes
payable account. When the amount of the sales tax is paid
to the taxing unit, Sales Taxes Payable is debited and Cash
is credited.

@ Illustrate the dual nature of merchandising transac-

tions. Each merchandising transaction affects a buyer
and a seller. The illustration in this chapter shows how the
same transactions would be recorded by both.

@ Describe the accounting for merchandise shrinkage.

The physical inventory taken at the end of the account-
ing period may differ from the amount of inventory shown
in the inventory records. The difference, called inventory
shrinkage, requires an adjusting entry debiting Cost of
Merchandise Sold and crediting Merchandise Inventory.
After this entry has been recorded, the adjusted
Merchandise Inventory (book inventory) in the accounting
records agrees with the actual physical inventory at the end
of the period.

Describe and illustrate the effects of inventory mis-
statements on the financial statements. Any errors in
the physical inventory count at the end of the accounting
period affect the income statement and balance sheet. If the
physical inventory is misstated, the amount of inventory
shrinkage is misstated and the cost of merchandise sold will
be misstated after the inventory shrinkage adjustment is
recorded. Because net income is closed to Retained
Earnings at the end of the accounting period, the retained

237



238

Chapter 5  Accounting for Merchandise Operations

earnings and total stockholders’ equity are also misstated.
Likewise, merchandise inventory, current assets, and total
assets are misstated. This misstatement of total assets, cur-
rent assets, and merchandise inventory equals the misstate-
ment of stockholders” equity. The effects of inventory
misstatements on the financial statements are shown in
Exhibit 12.

@ Describe and illustrate the use of gross profit and op-

erating income in analyzing a company’s operations.
Gross profit and operating income are two important prof-
itability measures analysts use in assessing the efficiency
and effectiveness of a merchandiser’s operations. Gross
profit and operating income are normally analyzed over
time as a percent of net sales.

GLOSSARY

Administrative expenses Expenses incurred in the ad-
ministration or general operations of the business.

Book inventory The amount of inventory recorded in the
accounting records.

Consignee The retailer carrying an item for sale (consign-
ment) that is owned by another retailer (consignor).

Consignment Merchandise owned by a retailer (consignor)
that is being carried for sale by another retailer (consignee).

Consignor A retailer who allows another retailer (consignee)
to carry and sell its merchandise (consignment).

Controlling account The account in the general ledger that
summarizes the balances of the accounts in a subsidiary
ledger.

Cost of merchandise sold The cost that is reported as an
expense when merchandise is sold.

Credit memorandum A form used by a seller to inform the
buyer of the amount the seller proposes to credit to the ac-
count receivable due from the buyer.

Credit period The amount of time the buyer is allowed in
which to pay the seller.

Credit terms Terms for payment on account by the buyer
to the seller.

Debit memorandum A form used by a buyer to inform the
seller of the amount the buyer proposes to debit to the ac-
count payable due the seller.

Direct method A method of preparing the statement of
cash flows that analyzes each transaction and its effect on
cash flows.

FOB (free on board) destination Freight terms in which
the seller pays the transportation costs from the shipping
point to the final destination.

FOB (free on board) shipping point Freight terms in
which the buyer pays the transportation costs from the ship-
ping point to the final destination.

Gross profit Sales minus the cost of merchandise sold.

Income from operations (operating income) The ex-
cess of gross profit over total operating expenses.

Indirect method A method of preparing the statement of
cash flows that reconciles net income with net cash flows
from operating activities.

Inventory shrinkage The amount by which the merchan-
dise for sale, as indicated by the balance of the merchandise
inventory account, is larger than the total amount of mer-
chandise counted during the physical inventory.

Invoice The bill that the seller sends to the buyer.

Merchandise available for sale The cost of merchandise
available for sale to customers.

Merchandise inventory Merchandise on hand (not sold)
at the end of an accounting period.

Multiple-step income statement A form of income state-
ment that contains several sections, subsections, and subtotals.

Net sales Revenue received for merchandise sold to cus-
tomers less any sales returns and allowances and sales dis-
counts.

Other expense Expenses that cannot be traced directly to
operations.

Other income Revenue from sources other than the pri-
mary operating activity of a business.

Periodic inventory method The inventory method in
which the inventory records do not show the amount avail-
able for sale or sold during the period.

Perpetual inventory method The inventory method in
which each purchase and sale of merchandise is recorded in
an inventory account.

Physical inventory A detailed listing of the merchandise
for sale at the end of an accounting period.

Purchase return or allowance From the buyer’s perspec-
tive, returned merchandise or an adjustment for defective
merchandise.

Purchases discounts Discounts taken by the buyer for
early payment of an invoice.

Report form The form of balance sheet in which assets, lia-
bilities, and stockholders” equity are reported in a downward
sequence.
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Sales The total amount charged to customers for merchan-
dise sold, including cash sales and sales on account.

Sales discounts From the seller’s perspective, discounts
that a seller may offer the buyer for early payment.

Sales returns and allowances From the seller’s perspec-
tive, returned merchandise or an adjustment for defective

Selling expenses Expenses that are incurred directly in the
selling of merchandise.

Single-step income statement A form of income state-
ment in which the total of all expenses is deducted from the
total of all revenues.

Subsidiary ledger A ledger containing individual accounts

merchandise.

with a common characteristic.

ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEM

The following transactions were completed by Montrose Company during May of the current
year. Montrose Company uses a perpetual inventory system.

May 3 Purchased merchandise on account from Floyd Co., $4,000, terms FOB shipping
point, 2/10, n/30, with prepaid transportation costs of $120 added to the invoice.
5 Purchased merchandise on account from Kramer Co., $8,500, terms FOB destina-
tion, 1/10, n/30.
6 Sold merchandise on account to C. F. Howell Co., $2,800, terms 2/10, n/30. The
cost of the merchandise sold was $1,125.
8 Purchased office supplies for cash, $150.
10 Returned merchandise purchased on May 5 from Kramer Co., $1,300.
13 Paid Floyd Co. on account for purchase of May 3, less discount.
14 Purchased merchandise for cash, $10,500.
15 Paid Kramer Co. on account for purchase of May 5, less return of May 10 and
discount.
16 Received cash on account from sale of May 6 to C. F. Howell Co., less discount.
19 Sold merchandise on nonbank credit cards and reported accounts to the card
company, American Express, $2,450. The cost of the merchandise sold was
$980.
22 Sold merchandise on account to Comer Co., $3,480, terms 2/10, n/30. The cost of
the merchandise sold was $1,400.
24 Sold merchandise for cash, $4,350. The cost of the merchandise sold was
$1,750.
25 Received merchandise returned by Comer Co. from sale on May 22, $1,480. The
cost of the returned merchandise was $600.
31 Received cash from card company for nonbank credit card sales of May 19, less
$140 service fee.
Instructions

1. Journalize the preceding transactions.
2. Journalize the adjusting entry for merchandise inventory shrinkage, $3,750.

Solution
1.
May 3 Merchandise Inventory 4,120
Accounts Payable—Floyd Co. 4,120
5  Merchandise Inventory 8,500
Accounts Payable—Kramer Co. 8,500

(continued)
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May 6

10

13

14

15

16

19

19

22

22

24

24

25

25

31

May 31

Accounts Receivable—C. F. Howell Co.
Sales

Cost of Merchandise Sold
Merchandise Inventory

Office Supplies
Cash

Accounts Payable—Kramer Co.
Merchandise Inventory

Accounts Payable—Floyd Co.
Merchandise Inventory
Cash
[$4,000 — (2% x $4,000) + $120]

Merchandise Inventory
Cash

Accounts Payable—Kramer Co.
Merchandise Inventory
Cash
[($8,500 — $1,300) X 1% = $72;
$8,500 — $1,300 — $72 = $7,128]

Cash
Sales Discounts
Accounts Receivable—C. F. Howell Co.

Accounts Receivable—American Express
Sales

Cost of Merchandise Sold
Merchandise Inventory

Accounts Receivable—Comer Co.
Sales

Cost of Merchandise Sold
Merchandise Inventory

Cash
Sales

Cost of Merchandise Sold
Merchandise Inventory

Sales Returns and Allowances
Accounts Receivable—Comer Co.

Merchandise Inventory
Cost of Merchandise Sold

Cash
Credit Card Expense
Accounts Receivable—American Express

Cost of Merchandise Sold
Merchandise Inventory

2,800

1,125

150

1,300

4,120

10,500

7,200

2,744
56

2,450

980

3,480

1,400

4,350

1,750

1,480

600

2,310
140

3,750

2,800

1,125

150

1,300

80
4,040

10,500

72
7,128

2,800

2,450

980

3,480

1,400

4,350

1,750

1,480

600

2,450

3,750
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SELF-STUDY QUESTIONS Answers at end of chapter

If merchandise purchased on account is returned, the
buyer may inform the seller of the details by issuing a(n):
A. debit memorandum

B. credit memorandum

C. invoice

D. bill

If merchandise is sold on account to a customer for
$1,000, terms FOB shipping point, 1/10, n/30, and the
seller prepays $50 in transportation costs, the amount of
the discount for early payment would be:

A. $0 C. $10.00

B. $5.00 D. $10.50

The income statement in which the total of all expenses is
deducted from the total of all revenues is termed:

5.

A. multiple-step form  C. direct form
B. single-step form D. report form

On a multiple-step income statement, the excess of net
sales over the cost of merchandise sold is called:

A. operating income

B. income from operations

C. gross profit

D. netincome

As of December 31, 2007, Ames Corporation incorrectly
counted its physical inventory as $275,000 instead of
$300,000. The effect on the income statement is:

A. Cost of merchandise sold is understated by $25,000
B. Gross profit is overstated by $25,000

C. Operating income is understated by $25,000

D. Inventory shrinkage is understated by $25,000

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

. What distinguishes a merchandising business from a ser-

vice business?

. Can a business earn a gross profit but incur a net loss?

Explain.

. What is the difference between the cost of merchandise

purchased and the cost of merchandise available for sale?
Can they be the same amount? Explain.

What is the difference between the cost of merchandise
available for sale and the cost of merchandise sold? Can
they be the same amount? Explain.

. Name at least three accounts that would normally appear

in the financial statements of a merchandising business,
but would not appear in the chart of accounts of a service
business.

. How does the accounting for sales to customers using

bank credit cards, such as MasterCard and VISA, differ
from accounting for sales to customers using nonbank
credit cards, such as American Express? Explain.

. Sometimes a retailer will not accept American Express,

but will accept MasterCard or VISA. Why would a re-
tailer accept one and not the other?

. At some Texaco, Chevron, or Conoco gasoline stations,

the cash price per gallon is 3 or 4 cents less than the credit
price per gallon. As a result, many customers pay cash
rather than use their credit cards. Why would a gasoline
station owner establish such a policy?

. Assume that you purchased merchandise with credit

terms 2/10, n/30. On the date the invoice is due, you
don’t have the cash to pay the invoice. However, you can

borrow the necessary money at an 8% annual interest
rate. Should you borrow the money to pay the invoice?
Explain.

. What is the nature of (a) a credit memorandum issued by

the seller of merchandise, (b) a debit memorandum issued
by the buyer of merchandise?

. Who bears the transportation costs when the terms of

sale are (a) FOB shipping point, (b) FOB destination?

. When you purchase a new car, the “sticker price” in-

cludes a “destination” charge. Are you purchasing the
car FOB shipping point or FOB destination? Explain.

. Bernard Office Equipment, which uses a perpetual in-

ventory system, experienced a normal inventory shrink-
age of $19,290. (a) What accounts would be debited and
credited to record the adjustment for the inventory
shrinkage at the end of the accounting period? (b) What
are some causes of inventory shrinkage?

Assume that Bernard Office Equipment in Question 13
experienced an abnormal inventory shrinkage of $315,750.
It has decided to record the abnormal inventory shrink-
age so that it would be separately disclosed on the income
statement. What account would be debited for the ab-
normal inventory shrinkage?

. Assume that Joist Inc. (the consignee) included $40,000 of

inventory held on consignment for Dory Company (the
consignor) as part of its physical inventory. (a) What is
the effect of this error on Joist’s financial statements? (b)
Would Joist’s error also cause a misstatement in Dory’s
financial statements? Explain.
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EXERCISES

Exercise 5-1

Determining gross profit
1,9
a. $8,031,200

Exercise 5-2

Determining gross profit
1,9
a. $10,197,800

Exercise 5-3

Analyzing gross profit and
operating income

1,9

Exercise 5-4

Determining gross profit
1,9
a. $345,000

Exercise 5-5

Determining gross profit
1,9
a. $9,308,560

Exercise 5-6

Income statement for
merchandiser

2

CVS Corporation operates drugstores throughout the United States, selling prescription drugs,
general merchandise, cosmetics, greeting cards, food, and beverages. For 2004, CVS reported (in
thousands) net sales of $30,594,300, cost of sales of $22,563,100, and operating income of
$1,454,700.

a. Determine CVS'’s gross profit.
b. Determine the gross profit as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.
c. Determine the operating income as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.

Walgreen Company operates drugstores throughout the United States, selling prescription
drugs, general merchandise, cosmetics, food, and beverages. For 2004, Walgreen reported (in
thousands) net sales of $37,508,200, cost of sales of $27,310,400, and operating income of $2,126,100.

a. Determine Walgreen’s gross profit.
b. Determine the gross profit as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.
c. Determine the operating income as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.

Based upon the data shown in Exercises 5-1 and 5-2, comment on the operating performance of
CVS in comparison to Walgreen.

During the current year, merchandise is sold for $200,000 cash and for $950,000 on account. The
cost of the merchandise sold is $805,000.

a.  What is the amount of the gross profit?
b. Compute the gross profit as a percent of sales.
c.  Will the income statement necessarily report a net income? Explain.

Office Depot operates a chain of office supply stores throughout the United States. For 2004,
Office Depot reported (in thousands) net sales of $13,564,699, gross profit of $4,256,139, and op-
erating income of $529,977.

Determine the cost of goods sold.

Determine the cost of goods sold as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.
Determine the gross profit as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.
Determine the operating income as a percent of net sales. Round to one decimal place.
What is the difference between the gross profit as a percent of net sales and the operating
income as a percent of net sales? Explain.

PoaoTe

For the fiscal year, sales were $3,570,000, sales discounts were $320,000, sales returns and al-
lowances were $240,000, and the cost of merchandise sold was $2,142,000. What was the amount
of net sales and gross profit?



Exercise 5-7

Identify items missing in
defermining cost of
merchandise sold

2

Exercise 5-8

Cost of merchandise sold and
related items

2

a. Cost of merchandise sold,
$931,000

SPREADSHEET

Exercise 5-9

Cost of merchandise sold
2

Correct cost of merchandise
sold, $599,500

Exercise 5-10

Income statement for
merchandiser

2

Exercise 5-11

Single-step income statement

2
Net income: $1,362,500
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For (a) through (d), identify the items designated by X.

Purchases — (X + X) = Net purchases.

Net purchases + X = Cost of merchandise purchased.

Merchandise inventory (beginning) + Cost of merchandise purchased = X.
Merchandise available for sale — X = Cost of merchandise sold.

ao o

The following data were extracted from the accounting records of Meniscus Company for the
year ended April 30, 2006:

Merchandise inventory, May 1, 2005 $ 121,200
Merchandise inventory, April 30, 2006 142,000
Purchases 985,000
Purchases returns and allowances 23,500
Purchases discounts 21,000
Sales 1,420,000
Transportation in 11,300

a. Prepare the cost of merchandise sold section of the income statement for the year ended
April 30, 2006, using the periodic inventory method.

b. Determine the gross profit to be reported on the income statement for the year ended
April 30, 2006.

Identify the errors in the following schedule of cost of merchandise sold for the current year
ended December 31, 2006:

Cost of merchandise sold:

Merchandise inventory, December 31, 2006 $120,000
Purchases $600,000
Plus: Purchases returns and allowances $14,000
Purchases discounts 6,000 20,000
Gross purchases $620,000
Less transportation in 7,500
Cost of merchandise purchased 612,500
Merchandise available for sale $732,500
Less merchandise inventory, January 1, 2006 132,000
Cost of merchandise sold $600,500

The following expenses were incurred by a merchandising business during the year. In which
expense section of the income statement should each be reported: (a) selling or (b) adminis-
trative?

Advertising expense.

Depreciation expense on office equipment.
Insurance expense on store equipment.
Office supplies used.

Rent expense on office building.

Salaries of office personnel.

Salary of sales manager.

NSk b=

Summary operating data for The Meriden Company during the current year ended June 30,
2006, are as follows: cost of merchandise sold, $3,240,000; administrative expenses, $300,000; in-
terest expense, $47,500; rent revenue, $30,000; net sales, $5,400,000; and selling expenses, $480,000.
Prepare a single-step income statement.
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Exercise 5-12 Two items are omitted in each of the following four lists of income statement data. Determine
the amounts of the missing items, identifying them by letter.

Def?r";‘r;ing amounts for items Sales $393,000 $500,000 $930,000 $ (9
omitted from income statement Sales returns and allowances (a) 15,000 (e) 30,500
2 Sales discounts 18,000 8,000 30,000 37,000
a. $25,000 Net sales . 350,000 (c) 860,000 (h)
Cost of merchandise sold (b) 285,000 (f) 540,000
Gross profit 140,000 (d) 340,000 150,000
Exercise 5-13 How many errors can you find in the following income statement?
Multiple-step income
statement The Plautus Company
) Income Statement

For the Year Ended October 31, 2006

Revenue from sales:

Sales $4,200,000
Add: Sales returns and
allowances $81,200
Sales discounts 20,300 101,500
Gross sales $4,301,500
Cost of merchandise sold 2,093,000
Income from operations $2,208,500
Operating expenses:
Selling expenses $ 203,000
Transportation out 7,500
Administrative expenses 122,000
Total operating expenses 332,500
$1,876,000
Other expense:
Interest revenue 66,500
Gross profit $1,809,500
Exercise 5-14 On January 31, 2006, the balances of the accounts appearing in the ledger of Calloway
Company, a furniture wholesaler, are as follows:
Multiple-step income statement Administrative Expenses $ 80,000 Office Supplies $ 10,600
2 Building 512,500 Retained Earnings 528,580
a. Net income, $77,500 Capital Stock 100,000 Salaries Payable 3,220
! ! Cash 48,500 Sales 925,000
SPREADSHEET Cost of Merchandise Sold 560,000 Sales Discounts 20,000
Dividends 25,000 Sales Returns and Allowances 60,000
Interest Expense 7,500 Selling Expenses 120,000
Merchandise Inventory 130,000 Store Supplies 7,700

Notes Payable 25,000

a. Prepare a multiple-step income statement for the year ended January 31, 2006.
b. Compare the major advantages and disadvantages of the multiple-step and single-step
forms of income statements.



Exercise 5-15

Sales-related transactions,
including the use of credit
cards

3

Exercise 5-16

Sales returns and allowances

3

Exercise 5-17

Sales-related transactions

3

Exercise 5-18

Sales-related transactions

3

Exercise 5-19

Sales-related transactions

3
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Journalize the entries for the following transactions:

a. Sold merchandise for cash, $6,900. The cost of the merchandise sold was $4,830.
. Sold merchandise on account, $7,500. The cost of the merchandise sold was $5,625.

c. Sold merchandise to customers who used MasterCard and VISA, $10,200. The cost of the
merchandise sold was $6,630.

d. Sold merchandise to customers who used American Express, $7,200. The cost of the
merchandise sold was $5,040.

e. Paid an invoice from City National Bank for $675, representing a service fee for process-
ing MasterCard and VISA sales.

f. Received $6,875 from American Express Company after a $325 collection fee had been
deducted.

During the year, sales returns and allowances totaled $235,750. The cost of the merchandise re-
turned was $141,450. The accountant recorded all the returns and allowances by debiting the
sales account and crediting Cost of Merchandise Sold for $235,750.

Was the accountant’s method of recording returns acceptable? Explain. In your explanation,
include the advantages of using a sales returns and allowances account.

After the amount due on a sale of $7,500, terms 2/10, n/eom, is received from a customer within
the discount period, the seller consents to the return of the entire shipment. The cost of the mer-
chandise returned was $4,500. (a) What is the amount of the refund owed to the customer? (b)
Journalize the entries made by the seller to record the return and the refund.

The debits and credits for three related transactions are presented in the following T accounts.
Describe each transaction.

CASH SALES
(5) 9,405 (1) 12,000
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE SALES DISCOUNTS
(1) 12,000 | (3) 2,500 (5) 95
(5) 9,500
MERCHANDISE INVENTORY SALES RETURNS AND ALLOWANCES
(4) 1,625 | (2) 7,800 (3) 2,500

COST OF MERCHANDISE SOLD
(2) 7,800 | (4) 1,625

Merchandise is sold on account to a customer for $18,000, terms FOB shipping point, 3/10, n/30.
The seller paid the transportation costs of $375. Determine the following: (a) amount of the sale,
(b) amount debited to Accounts Receivable, (c) amount of the discount for early payment, and
(d) amount due within the discount period.
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Exercise 5-20

Purchase-related transaction

4

Exercise 5-21

Determining amounts to be
paid on invoices

4
a. $10,500

Exercise 5-22

Purchase-related transactions

4

Exercise 5-23

Purchase-related transactions

4

Exercise 5-24

Purchase-related transactions

4

Exercise 5-25

Purchase-related transactions

4
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Cheddar Company purchased merchandise on account from a supplier for $8,500, terms 2/10,
n/30. Before payment was due, Cheddar Company returned $800 of the merchandise and re-
ceived full credit.

a. If Cheddar Company pays the invoice within the discount period, what is the amount of
cash required for the payment?

b. Under a perpetual inventory system, what account is credited by Cheddar Company to
record the return?

Determine the amount to be paid in full settlement of each of the following invoices, assuming
that credit for returns and allowances was received prior to payment and that all invoices were
paid within the discount period.

Transportation Returns and

Merchandise Paid by Seller Allowances
a. $12,000 — FOB destination, n/30 $1,500
b. 4,500 $200 FOB shipping point, 1/10, n/30 500
C. 5,000 — FOB destination, 2/10, n/30 —
d. 5,000 — FOB shipping point, 1/10, n/30 1,000
e. 1,500 50 FOB shipping point, 2/10, n/30 700

A retailer is considering the purchase of 100 units of a specific item from either of two suppli-
ers. Their offers are as follows:

A: $400 a unit, total of $40,000, 2/10, n/30, plus transportation costs of $625.
B: $403 a unit, total of $40,300, 1/10, n/30, no charge for transportation.

Which of the two offers, A or B, yields the lower price?

The debits and credits from four related transactions are presented in the following T accounts.
Describe each transaction.

CASH ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
() 175 (3) 1,000 | (1) 8,000
(4) 6,860 (4) 7,000

MERCHANDISE INVENTORY

(1 8,000 | (3) 1,000
(2) 175 | (4) 140

Enid Co., a women’s clothing store, purchased $7,500 of merchandise from a supplier on account,
terms FOB destination, 2/10, n/30. Enid Co. returned $1,200 of the merchandise, receiving a
credit memorandum, and then paid the amount due within the discount period. Journalize Enid
Co.’s entries to record (a) the purchase, (b) the merchandise return, and (c) the payment.

Journalize entries for the following related transactions of Regius Company:

a. Purchased $12,000 of merchandise from Loew Co. on account, terms 2/10, n/30.

b. Paid the amount owed on the invoice within the discount period.

c. Discovered that $3,000 of the merchandise was defective and returned items, receiving
credit.



Exercise 5-26

Sales tax

5

Exercise 5-27

Sales tax transactions

5

Exercise 5-28

Sales-related transactions

3,6

Exercise 5-29

Purchase-related transactions

4,6

Exercise 5-30

Normal balances of merchan-
dise accounts

3,4,5,6

Exercise 5-31

Adjusting entry for merchan-
dise inventory shrinkage

7
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d. Purchased $2,000 of merchandise from Loew Co. on account, terms n/30.
e. Received a check for the balance owed from the return in (c), after deducting for the pur-
chase in (d).

A sale of merchandise on account for $4,000 is subject to a 7% sales tax. (a) Should the sales tax
be recorded at the time of sale or when payment is received? (b) What is the amount of the sale?
(c) What is the amount debited to Accounts Receivable? (d) What is the title of the account to
which the $280 is credited?

Journalize the entries to record the following selected transactions:

a.  Sold $9,000 of merchandise on account, subject to a sales tax of 8%. The cost of the mer-
chandise sold was $6,300.
b. Paid $9,175 to the state sales tax department for taxes collected.

Superior Co., a furniture wholesaler, sells merchandise to Beta Co. on account, $11,500, terms
2/15, n/30. The cost of the merchandise sold is $6,900. Superior Co. issues a credit memoran-
dum for $900 for merchandise returned and subsequently receives the amount due within the
discount period. The cost of the merchandise returned is $540. Journalize Superior Co.’s entries
for (a) the sale, including the cost of the merchandise sold, (b) the credit memorandum, includ-
ing the cost of the returned merchandise, and (c) the receipt of the check for the amount due
from Beta Co.

Based on the data presented in Exercise 5-28, journalize Beta Co.’s entries for (a) the purchase,
(b) the return of the merchandise for credit, and (c) the payment of the invoice within the dis-
count period.

What is the normal balance of the following accounts: (a) Cost of Merchandise Sold,
(b) Merchandise Inventory, (c) Sales, (d) Sales Discounts, (e) Sales Returns and Allowances,
(f) Transportation Out?

Jaguar Inc.’s perpetual inventory records indicate that $584,000 of merchandise should be on
hand on July 31, 2007. The physical inventory indicates that $560,000 of merchandise is actually
on hand. Journalize the adjusting entry for the inventory shrinkage for Jaguar Inc. for the year
ended July 31, 2007.
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Exercise 5-32

Effects of inventory misstate-

ments
8

1. 2006 net income
overstated, $20,000

Exercise 5-33

Effects of inventory
misstatements

8

1. 2007 net income
overstated, $2,500

Exercise 5-34

Effects of inventory
misstatements

8
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Following are descriptions of two independent situations that involve inventory misstatements.

1. Ending merchandise inventory is overstated by $20,000 on December 31, 2006. Ending mer-
chandise inventory is correct on December 31, 2007.

2. Ending merchandise inventory is understated by $13,000 on December 31, 2006. Ending
merchandise inventory is overstated by $16,000 on December 31, 2007.

For each situation, indicate the effects of the misstatements on the financial statements for 2006
and 2007. Use the following format for your answers:

Amount of Misstatement
Overstatement (Understatement)

2006 2007

Balance sheet (December 31):
Merchandise inventory
Current assets
Total assets
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Income statement:

Cost of merchandise sold
Gross profit
Net income

Following are descriptions of two independent situations that involve inventory misstatements.

1. Ending merchandise inventory is overstated by $7,500 on December 31, 2006. Ending mer-
chandise inventory is overstated by $10,000 on December 31, 2007.

2. Ending merchandise inventory is understated by $11,000 on December 31, 2006. Ending
merchandise inventory is understated by $9,000 on December 31, 2007.

For each situation, indicate the effects of the misstatements on the financial statements for 2006
and 2007. Use the following format for your answers:

Amount of Misstatement
Overstatement (Understatement)

2006 2007

Balance sheet (December 31):
Merchandise inventory
Current assets
Total assets
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Income statement:

Cost of merchandise sold
Gross profit
Net income

Merchandise of $65,000 was ordered on December 26, 2006, FOB destination, and was received
on December 30, 2006. The invoice from the vendor was not received until January 7, 2007, and
the related accounts payable journal entry was not recorded until January 7, 2007. However,
since the merchandise was on hand at December 31, 2006, it was included in the physical in-
ventory and properly assigned a cost.

Assume that the accounts payable was recorded on January 7, 2007, as a debit to Merchandise
Inventory and a credit to Accounts Payable for $65,000. Also, assume that the December 31, 2007,



Exercise 5-35

Effects of inventory
misstatements

8

Exercise 5-36

Gross profit and operating
income

9
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physical inventory is correct. Indicate the effects of the inventory misstatements on the financial

statements for 2006 and 2007, using the following format for your answers:

Amount of Misstatement
Overstatement (Understatement)

2006

2007

Balance sheet (December 31):
Merchandise inventory
Total assets
Accounts payable
Total liabilities
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Income statement:

Cost of merchandise sold
Gross profit
Net income

Merchandise of $38,000 was ordered on December 29, 2006, FOB shipping point. The vendor
paid the shipping charges of $1,000 as an accommodation to the buyer. The invoice from the
vendor was not received until January 3, 2007, and the related accounts payable journal entry
was not recorded until January 3, 2007. The merchandise was shipped on December 30, 2006,
and was received on January 5, 2007. Since the merchandise was in transit, it was not included

in the physical count of inventory on December 31, 2006.

Assume that the accounts payable was recorded on January 3, 2007, as a debit to Merchandise
Inventory and a credit to Accounts Payable for $39,000. Also, assume that the December 31, 2007,
physical inventory is correct. Indicate the effects of the inventory misstatements on the financial

statements for 2006 and 2007, using the following format for your answers:

Amount of Misstatement
Overstatement (Understatement)

2006

2007

Balance sheet (December 31):
Merchandise inventory
Total assets
Accounts payable
Total liabilities
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Income statement:

Cost of merchandise sold
Gross profit
Net income

Staples, Inc., operates a chain of office supply stores throughout the United States. For 2004 and

2003, Staples reported (in thousands) the following operating data:

2004 2003
Net sales $14,448,378 $13,181,222
Cost of goods sold 10,343,643 9,559,123
Gross profit $ 4,104,735 $ 3,622,099
Operating income $ 1,125,873 $ 798,288

a. Compute the percent of gross profit and operating income to net sales. Round to one dec-

imal place.

b. Based upon (a), comment on Staples” operating performance in 2004 as compared to 2003.
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ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Problem 5-1A

Multiple-step income state-
ment, refained earnings state-
ment, and report form of
balance sheet

2

1. Net income, $81,600

SPREADSHEET

Problem 5-2A

Single-step income statement
and retained earnings
statement

2

SPREADSHEET

Problem 5-3A

Sales-related transactions

3,5

GENERAL LEDGER

The following selected accounts and their current balances appear in the ledger of Sombrero Co.
for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2006:

Cash $ 91,800 Sales $1,802,400
Accounts Receivable 74,400 Sales Returns and Allowances 25,200
Merchandise Inventory 120,000 Sales Discounts 13,200
Office Supplies 3,120 Cost of Merchandise Sold 1,284,000
Prepaid Insurance 8,160 Sales Salaries Expense 252,000
Office Equipment 76,800 Advertising Expense 33,960
Accumulated Depreciation— Depreciation Expense—

Office EQuipment 12,960 Store Equipment 5,520
Store Equipment 141,000 Miscellaneous Selling Expense 1,320
Accumulated Depreciation— Office Salaries Expense 49,200

Store Equipment 58,320 Rent Expense 26,580
Accounts Payable 32,400 Insurance Expense 15,300
Salaries Payable 2,400 Depreciation Expense—

Note Payable Office EQuipment 10,800

(final payment due 2016) 36,000 Office Supplies Expense 1,080
Capital Stock 60,000 Miscellaneous Administrative
Retained Earnings 261,600 Expense 1,440
Dividends 30,000 Interest Expense 1,200
Instructions

1. Prepare a multiple-step income statement.

2. Prepare a retained earnings statement.

3. Prepare a report form of balance sheet, assuming that the current portion of the note payable
is $3,000.

4. Briefly explain how multiple-step and single-step income statements differ.

Selected accounts and related amounts for Sombrero Co. for the fiscal year ended March 30,
2006, are presented in Problem 5-1A.

Instructions

1. Prepare a single-step income statement.
2. Prepare a retained earnings statement.

The following selected transactions were completed by Interstate Supplies Co., which sells irri-
gation supplies primarily to wholesalers and occasionally to retail customers:
Mar. 1 Sold merchandise on account to Babcock Co., $7,500, terms FOB shipping point,
n/eom. The cost of the merchandise sold was $4,500.
2 Sold merchandise for $8,000 plus 6% sales tax to cash customers. The cost of mer-
chandise sold was $4,750.
5 Sold merchandise on account to North Star Company, $16,000, terms FOB destination
1/10, n/30. The cost of merchandise sold was $10,500.
8 Sold merchandise for $6,150 plus 6% sales tax to customers who used VISA cards.
Deposited credit card receipts into the bank. The cost of merchandise sold was $3,700.
13 Sold merchandise to customers who used American Express cards, $6,500. The cost
of merchandise sold was $3,600.
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transactions
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Problem 5-5A

Sales-related and purchase-

related transactions

3,4,56
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Mar. 14  Sold merchandise on account to Blech Co., $7,500, terms FOB shipping point, 1/10,
n/30. The cost of merchandise sold was $4,000.
15 Received check for amount due from North Star Company for sale on March 5.
16 Issued credit memorandum for $800 to Blech Co. for merchandise returned from sale
on March 14. The cost of the merchandise returned was $360.
18 Sold merchandise on account to Westech Company, $6,850, terms FOB shipping
point, 2/10, n/30. Paid $210 for transportation costs and added them to the invoice.
The cost of merchandise sold was $4,100.
24 Received check for amount due from Blech Co. for sale on March 14 less credit
memorandum of March 16 and discount.
27  Received $7,680 from American Express for $8,000 of sales reported March 1-12.
28 Received check for amount due from Westech Company for sale of March 18.
31 Paid Downtown Delivery Service $1,275 for merchandise delivered during March to
customers under shipping terms of FOB destination.
31 Received check for amount due from Babcock Co. for sale of March 1.
Apr. 3 Paid First National Bank $725 for service fees for handling VISA sales during March.
10 Paid $2,800 to state sales tax division for taxes owed on March sales.
Instructions

Journalize the entries to record the transactions of Interstate Supplies Co.

The following selected transactions were completed by Petunia Co. during August of the cur-

rent year:

Aug. 1

Purchased merchandise from Fisher Co., $8,500, terms FOB shipping point, 2/10,
n/eom. Prepaid transportation costs of $250 were added to the invoice.

5 Purchased merchandise from Byrd Co., $10,400, terms FOB destination, n/30.

10  Paid Fisher Co. for invoice of August 1, less discount.

13 Purchased merchandise from Mickle Co., $7,500, terms FOB destination, 1/10, n/30.

14 Issued debit memorandum to Mickle Co. for $2,500 of merchandise returned from
purchase on August 13.

18  Purchased merchandise from Lanning Company, $10,000, terms FOB shipping point,
n/eom.

18  Paid transportation charges of $150 on August 18 purchase from Lanning Company.

19 Purchased merchandise from Hatcher Co., $7,500, terms FOB destination, 2/10, n/30.

23  Paid Mickle Co. for invoice of August 13, less debit memorandum of August 14 and
discount.

29  Paid Hatcher Co. for invoice of August 19, less discount.

31 Paid Lanning Company for invoice of August 18.

31 Paid Byrd Co. for invoice of August 5.

Instructions

Journalize the entries to record the transactions of Petunia Co. for August.

The following were selected from among the transactions completed by Ingress Company dur-
ing January of the current year:

Jan. 3

5

Purchased merchandise on account from Pynn Co., $10,400, terms FOB shipping
point, 2/10, n/30, with prepaid transportation costs of $320 added to the invoice.
Purchased merchandise on account from Wilhelm Co., $8,000, terms FOB destination,
1/10, n/30.
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Appendix Problem
5-7A

Statement of cash flows using
indirect method
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Jan. 6 Sold merchandise on acount to Sievert Co., $7,500, terms 2/10, n/30. The cost of the
merchandise sold was $4,500.
7 Returned $1,800 of merchandise purchased on January 5 from Wilhelm Co.
13 Paid Pynn Co. on account for purchase of January 3, less discount.
15 Paid Wilhelm Co. on account for purchase of January 5, less return of January 7 and
discount.
16 Received cash on account from sale of January 6 to Sievert Co., less discount.
19  Sold merchandise on nonbank credit cards and reported accounts to the card com-
pany, American Express, $6,450. The cost of the merchandise sold was $3,950.
22 Sold merchandise on account to Elk River Co., $3,480, terms 2/10, n/30. The cost of
the merchandise sold was $1,400.
23 Sold merchandise for cash, $9,350. The cost of the merchandise sold was $5,750.
25 Received merchandise returned by Elk River Co. from sale on January 22, $1,480. The
cost of the returned merchandise was $600.
31 Received cash from American Express for nonbank credit sales of January 19, less
$225 service fee.
Instructions

Journalize the transactions.

The following selected transactions were completed during June between Schnaps Company
and Brandy Company:

June 2 Schnaps Company sold merchandise on account to Brandy Company, $14,000,
terms FOB shipping point, 2/10, n/30. Schnaps Company paid transportation costs
of $350, which were added to the invoice. The cost of the merchandise sold was
$8,000.

8 Schnaps Company sold merchandise on account to Brandy Company $12,500, terms
FOB destination, 1/15, n/eom. The cost of the merchandise sold was $7,500.
8 Schnaps Company paid transportation costs of $550 for delivery of merchandise sold
to Brandy Company on June 8.
12 Brandy Company returned $3,000 of merchandise purchased on account on June 8
from Schnaps Company. The cost of the merchandise returned was $1,800.
12 Brandy Company paid Schnaps Company for purchase of June 2, less discount.
23 Brandy Company paid Schnaps Company for purchase of June 8, less discount and
less return of June 12.
24 Schnaps Company sold merchandise on account to Brandy Company, $10,000, terms
FOB shipping point, n/eom. The cost of the merchandise sold was $6,000.
26 Brandy Company paid transportation charges of $310 on June 24 purchase from
Schnaps Company.
30 Brandy Company paid Schnaps Company on account for purchase of June 24.
Instructions

Journalize the June transactions for (1) Schnaps Company and (2) Brandy Company.

For the year ending December 31, 2007, Chippendale Systems Inc. reported net income of
$48,320 and paid dividends of $14,400. Comparative balance sheets as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, are as follows:
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Chippendale Systems Inc.
Balance Sheets
December 31, Changes
2007 2006 Increase (Decrease)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 42,360 $ 33,200 $ 9,160
Accounts receivable 60,864 41,600 19,264
Merchandise inventory 49,720 47,760 1,960
Office supplies 384 480 (96)
Prepaid insurance 2,120 2,400 (280)
Total current assets $155,448 $125,440 $30,008
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land $ 16,000 $ 16,000 $ 0
Store equipment 21,680 16,000 5,680
Accumulated depreciation—store equipment (4,560) (2,080) (2,480)
Office equipment 12,456 8,000 4,456
Accumulated depreciation—office equipment (3,776) (1,784) (1,992)
Total property, plant, and equipment $ 41,800 $ 36,136 $ 5,664
Total assets $197,248 $161,576 $35,672
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 17,936 $ 11,416 $ 6,520
Notes payable (current portion) 4,000 4,000 0
Salaries payable 912 1,200 (288)
Unearned rent 1,440 1,920 (480)
Total current liabilities $ 24,288 $ 18,536 $ 5,752
Long-term liabilities:
Notes payable (final payment due 2012) 16,000 20,000 (4,000)
Total liabilities $ 40,288 $ 38,536 $ 1,752
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 0
Retained earnings 136,960 103,040 33,920
Total stockholders’ equity $156,960 $123,040 $33,920
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $197,248 $161,576 $35,672

1. Net cash flows from Instructions
operating activities, $37,696

1. Prepare a statement of cash flows, using the indirect method.
SPREADSHEET 2.  Why is depreciation added to net income in determining net cash flows from operating
activities? Explain.
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ALTERNATE ACCOUNTING APPLICATION PROBLEMS

Alternate Problem
5-1B

Multiple-step income state-

ment, refained earnings state-

ment, and report form of
balance sheet

2

1. Net income, $80,000

SPREADSHEET

Alternate Problem
5-2B

Single-step income statement
and retained earnings state-
ment

2
SPREADSHEET

Alternate Problem
5-3B

Sales-related transactions

3,5

GENERAL LEDGER

The following selected accounts and their current balances appear in the ledger of Sciatic Co. for
the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006:

Cash $123,000 Sales $1,028,000
Accounts Receivable 96,800 Sales Returns and Allowances 18,480
Merchandise Inventory 140,000 Sales Discounts 17,520
Office Supplies 4,480 Cost of Merchandise Sold 620,000
Prepaid Insurance 2,720 Sales Salaries Expense 138,560
Office Equipment 68,000 Advertising Expense 35,040
Accumulated Depreciation— Depreciation Expense—

Office EQuipment 10,240 Store Equipment 5,120
Store Equipment 122,400 Miscellaneous Selling Expense 1,280
Accumulated Depreciation— Office Salaries Expense 67,320

Store Equipment 27,360 Rent Expense 25,080
Accounts Payable 44,480 Depreciation Expense—

Salaries Payable 1,920 Office Equipment 10,160
Note Payable Insurance Expense 3,120

(final payment due 2016) 44,800 Office Supplies Expense 1,040
Capital Stock 75,000 Miscellaneous Administrative
Retained Earnings 301,600 Expense 1,280
Dividends 28,000 Interest Expense 4,000
Instructions

1. Prepare a multiple-step income statement.

2. DPrepare a retained earnings statement.

3. Prepare a report form of balance sheet, assuming that the current portion of the note payable
is $6,000.

4. Briefly explain how multiple-step and single-step income statements differ.

Selected accounts and related amounts for Sciatic Co. for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006, are
presented in Alternate Problem 5-1B.

Instructions

1. DPrepare a single-step income statement.
2. Prepare a retained earnings statement.

The following selected transactions were completed by Holistic Supply Co., which sells office
supplies primarily to wholesalers and occasionally to retail customers:
Aug. 2 Sold merchandise on account to Runyan Co., $12,800, terms FOB destination, 2/10,
n/30. The cost of merchandise sold was $7,600.
3 Sold merchandise for $5,000 plus 7% sales tax to cash customers. The cost of mer-
chandise sold was $3,000.
4 Sold merchandise on account to McNutt Co., $2,800, terms FOB shipping point,
n/eom. The cost of merchandise sold was $1,800.
5 Sold merchandise for $4,400 plus 7% sales tax to customers who used MasterCard.
Deposited credit card receipts into the bank. The cost of merchandise sold was $2,500.
12 Received check for amount due from Runyan Co. for sale on August 2.
14 Sold merchandise to customers who used American Express cards, $15,000. The cost
of merchandise sold was $9,200.
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Aug. 16  Sold merchandise on account to Westpack Co., $12,000, terms FOB shipping point,
1/10, n/30. The cost of merchandise sold was $7,200.

18 Issued credit memorandum for $3,000 to Westpack Co. for merchandise returned
from sale on August 16. The cost of the merchandise returned was $1,800.

19  Sold merchandise on account to DeGroot Co., $9,500, terms FOB shipping point, 1/10,
n/30. Added $200 to the invoice for transportation costs prepaid. The cost of mer-
chandise sold was $5,700.

26  Received check for amount due from Westpark Co. for sale on August 16 less credit
memorandum of August 18 and discount.

27  Received $7,680 from American Express for $8,000 of sales reported August 1-12.

28 Received check for amount due from DeGroot Co. for sale of August 19.

31 Received check for amount due from McNutt Co. for sale of August 4.

31 Paid Fast Delivery Service $1,050 for delivering merchandise during August to
customers under shipping terms of FOB destination.

Sept. 3 Paid First City Bank $850 for service fees for handling MasterCard sales during August.

15  Paid $4,100 to state sales tax division for taxes owed on August sales.

Instructions

Journalize the entries to record the transactions of Holistic Supply Co.

The following selected transactions were completed by Daffodil Company during March of the
current year:

Mar. 1 Purchased merchandise from Fastow Co., $16,000, terms FOB destination, n/30.
3 Purchased merchandise from Moss Co., $9,000, terms FOB shipping point, 2/10,
n/eom. Prepaid transportation costs of $150 were added to the invoice.
4  Purchased merchandise from Picadilly Co., $7,500, terms FOB destination, 2/10, n/30.
6 Issued debit memorandum to Picadilly Co. for $1,000 of merchandise returned from
purchase on March 4.
13 Paid Moss Co. for invoice of March 3, less discount.
14  Paid Picadilly Co. for invoice of March 4, less debit memorandum of March 6 and
discount.
19  Purchased merchandise from Reardon Co., $12,000, terms FOB shipping point, n/eom.
19  Paid transportation charges of $500 on March 19 purchase from Reardon Co.
20 Purchased merchandise from Hatcher Co., $8,000, terms FOB destination, 1/10, n/30.
30 Paid Hatcher Co. for invoice of March 20, less discount.
31 Paid Fastow Co. for invoice of Marth 1.
31 Paid Reardon Co. for invoice of March 19.
Instructions

Journalize the entries to record the transactions of Daffodil Company for March.

The following were selected from among the transactions completed by Girder Company dur-
ing November of the current year:

Nov. 3

13

Purchased merchandise on account from Whiting Co., $20,000, terms FOB destina-
tion, 2/10, n/30.

Sold merchandise for cash, $7,100. The cost of the merchandise sold was $4,150.
Purchased merchandise on account from Alamosa Co., $10,500, terms FOB shipping
point, 2/10, n/30, with prepaid transportation costs of $300 added to the invoice.
Returned $5,000 of merchandise purchased on November 3 from Whiting Co.

Sold merchandise on account to Bowles Co., $1,800, terms 1/10, n/30. The cost of the
merchandise sold was $1,050.

Paid Whiting Co. on account for purchase of November 3, less return of November 6
and discount.
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Nov. 14  Sold merchandise on nonbank credit cards and reported accounts to the card com-
pany, American Express, $9,850. The cost of the merchandise sold was $5,900.
15 Paid Alamosa Co. on account for purchase of November 5, less discount.
21 Received cash on account from sale of November 11 to Bowles Co., less discount.
24  Sold merchandise on account to Kapinos Co., $4,200, terms 1/10, n/30. The cost of
the merchandise sold was $1,850.
28 Received cash from American Express for nonbank credit card sales of November 14,
les